Fenlan@“b“c Document Pack |oo%
CAMBRIDGESHIRE pepple

Fenland District Council driven
PLANNING COMMITTEE Committee Officer: Jo Goodrum
Tel: 01354 622424 (committee only)
WEDNESDAY, 20 AUGUST 2025 e-mail: memberservices@fenland.gov.uk

1.00 PM

COUNCIL CHAMBER, FENLAND HALL,
COUNTY ROAD, MARCH, PE15 8NQ

1 To receive apologies for absence.
2 Previous Minutes (Pages 5 - 22)
To confirm and sign the minutes from the previous meeting of 23 July 2025.

3 To report additional items for consideration which the Chairman deems urgent by
virtue of the special circumstances to be now specified

4 To receive Members declarations of any interests under the Local Code of Conduct
or any interest under the Local Code of Conduct or any interest under the Code of
Conduct on Planning Matters in respect of any item to be discussed at the meeting.

5 F/YR25/0149/FDC
2 Broad Street, March
Demolition of existing building and erect a max 2.4m fence in a conservation area
(Pages 23 - 46)

To determine the application.

6 F/YR25/0111/0
Land North West of Cobble House, Gull Road, Guyhirn
Erect up to 24 dwellings (outline application with all matters reserved) (Pages 47 -
80)

To determine the application.

Fenland District Council  Fenland Hall ® County Road e March o Cambridgeshire  PE15 8NQ
Telephone: 01354 654321 o Textphone: 01354 622213

"
Email: info@fenland.gov.uk e Website: www.fenland.gov.uk X

&\ INVESTORS
%, IN PEOPLE



7

10

11

F/YR25/0473/0

Land South of 4 - 16 Back Road, Gorefield

Erect up to 9 x dwellings (outline application with all matters reserved) (Pages 81 -
96)

To determine the application.

F/YR25/0280/VOC

Land North and West of 47 Fridaybridge Road, EIm

Variation of conditions 3 (External Materials and Detailing), 4 (Surface Water
Drainage), 5 (Construction Surface Water Run-Off), 9 (External Lighting), 15 (CEMP:
Biodiversity), 18 (Hard and Soft Landscaping), 21 (Levels and Cross Sections) and
23 (Approved Plans and Documents) of Planning Permission F/YR21/0339/F
(Conversion of existing barns to 2 x two storey dwellings and erection of 8 x two
storey dwellings with garaging (and associated works including demolition of existing
dwelling)) to allow change in design (Pages 97 - 112)

To determine the application.

F/YR25/0156/F

Sharman Fabrications, Gaul Farm, Gaul Road, March

Erect 1 x self-build/custom build dwelling and erect 1 x storage shed involving
demolition of existing shed and stable (B2) (Pages 113 - 134)

To determine the application.

F/YR24/1000/F

Update on Planning Application F/YR24/1000/F and Relevant Statutory Duties
Land West Of 27 Norfolk Street Accessed From, Morley Way, Wimblington

Erect 5 dwellings with associated garages and the formation of an attenuation pond
(Pages 135 - 240)

To determine the application.

Appendix 3 to this report comprises exempt information - to exclude the public
(including the press) from a meeting of a committee it is necessary for the following
proposition to be moved and adopted: “that the public be excluded from the meeting
for Items which would involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined
in paragraph 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 (as
amended).

FIYR25/0328/F

Update on Planning Application F/YR25/0328/F and Relevant Statutory Duties
108 High Street, March

Erect 1 x self-build/custom build dwelling involving demolition of shed within a
Conservation Area (Pages 241 - 306)

To determine the application.

Appendix 2 to this report comprises exempt information - to exclude the public



(including the press) from a meeting of a committee it is necessary for the following
proposition to be moved and adopted: “that the public be excluded from the meeting
for Items which would involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined
in paragraph 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 (as
amended).

12 Items which the Chairman has under item 3 deemed urgent

CONFIDENTIAL - ITEMS COMPRISING EXEMPT INFORMATION

To exclude the public (including the press) from a meeting of a committee it is necessary for
the following proposition to be moved and adopted: "that the public be excluded from the
meeting for Items which involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in the
paragraphs XX of Part | of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended)
as indicated."

13 CONFIDENTIAL: Previous Minutes (Pages 307 - 310)
To agree and sign the confidential minutes of the meeting of 23 July 2025.
Monday, 11 August 2025
Members: Councillor D Connor (Chairman), Councillor C Marks (Vice-Chairman), Councillor | Benney,

Councillor Mrs J French, Councillor R Gerstner, Councillor N Meekins and Councillor
E Sennitt Clough



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 2

PLANNING COMMITTEE -enland

CAMBRIDGESHIRE

WEDNESDAY, 23 JULY 2025 -1.00 PM L .
Fenland District Council

PRESENT: Councillor D Connor (Chairman), Councillor | Benney, Councillor Mrs J French and
Councillor N Meekins, Councillor M Purser (Substitute)

APOLOGIES: Councillor C Marks (Vice-Chairman), Councillor R Gerstner and Councillor
E Sennitt Clough,

Officers in attendance: Matthew Leigh (Head of Planning), David Rowen (Development Manager),
Alan Davies (Principal Planning Officer), Richard Fitzjohn (Senior Development Officer), Jade
Allen (Enforcement Assistant), Stephen Turnbull (Legal Officer) and Elaine Cooper (Member
Services)

P23/25 PREVIOUS MINUTES

The minutes of the 11 and 25 June 2025 were signed and agreed as accurate records.

P24/25 F/YR24/0857/F
LAND SOUTH WEST OF THOMAS CLARKSON ACADEMY, CORPORATION
ROAD, WISBECH
ERECT A SECONDARY SCHOOL (3-STOREY) WITH ASSOCIATED FENCING (UP
TO 3.0M HIGH), PE COURTS, EXTERNAL LIGHTING, PARKING, ACCESS,
LANDSCAPING AND DRAINAGE

Richard Fitzjohn presented the report to members.

Members received a presentation, in accordance with the public participation procedure, from
Oliver Corbett, the agent, and Richard Scott, Headteacher. Mr Scott advised members that he was
the Executive Principal of the new Wisbech Academy and would be speaking about the opportunity
to represent the young people of Wisbech. He stated that the new school is a response to a clear
and growing need, they have already received 200 applicants for a second intake of the Wisbech
Academy and the neighbouring school has received 400.

Mr Scott expressed the opinion that it tells them that the families of Wisbech are seeking a high
quality education for their children. He expressed the view that the new Wisbech Academy will be
a distinct school with a strong focus on science, technology, engineering and maths and a smaller
more personalised environment.

Mr Scott stated that a state of the art permanent building would be ideal in supporting such as
curriculum and it would also not be isolated with its location next to Thomas Clarkson Academy
allows for meaningful collaboration, something which is already underway and it will bring shared
benefits from curriculum support to economies of scale and the campus with its wide range of
sports facilities will also be available to the wider community. He stated that they are proud that
Thomas Clarkson achieved two consecutive good Ofsted ratings, the first in its history, and this
gives them the confidence that as part of Brooke Weston Trust, the same academy, the new
school will be in strong hands, with a leadership team that understands the local context and is
committed to continuous improvement.

Page 5



Mr Scott stated that many of its young pupils face significant challenges and the demographic of
the school represents some of the poorest youngsters in Cambridgeshire and in the East of
England more generally. He continued that the school will offer them not just a place to learn but a
place to belong, be supported and to thrive, it will open doors to opportunities that might otherwise
remain closed.

Mr Scott added that the school also offers a broad and enriching curriculum with access to high
quality facilities and extra curricular activities that will help to build confidence and a sense of
purpose for these young people. He stated that he wants every child to feel that their aspirations
are valid and achievable and that they are part of a school community that believes in their
potential.

Mr Scott recognised the concerns raised about traffic and congestion and advised that a robust
travel plan will be in place from the outset and reviewed annually. He stated that they are
committed to being good neighbours and to working with the community to ensure the school’s
presence is a positive one, above all they see this as a chance to invest in the future of Wisbech,
its young people, its families and its wider community, hoping that the committee would see the
value of this vision.

Mr Corbett stated that there is significant interest in places in the school and there is temporary
accommodation at the Thomas Clarkson Academy for some pupils on roll for the Wisbech
Academy currently and there will a further temporary building on site later this year to
accommodate those pupils. He referred to the positive discussions he has had through the course
of the application resolving matters raised by the IDB, the LLFA, Highways and Fenland’s Ecology
Officer to result in the positive recommendation in front of committee, with all of the matters being
addressed or will be dealt with via planning conditions.

Mr Corbett referred to the Town Council objection and it is known that these projects do cause
disruption to residents and their contractors, Henry Brothers, delivering the school will work closely
and in accordance with the Construction Management Plan to try and avoid any detrimental
impacts.

Members asked questions of Mr Scott and Mr Corbett as follows:

e Councillor Mrs French asked about SEND children as this has not been mentioned and is
there provision? Mr Scott responded it would, with there being around 80 children with
ECPH needs and that has had a significant impact on what they are trying to do at Thomas
Clarkson and the needs into the new school. He added that a SENCO has already been
appointed and they have every expectation that they will be supporting ECPH students
within the context of the new school and this is where the campus collaboration will come in
because they will be able to offer opportunities for a best suit for school for some students,
offering a more bespoke setting.

e Councillor Mrs French referred to the concerns of Middle Level regarding site
encroachments and asked if they were going to discuss this with Hundred of Wisbech IDB?
Mr Corbett responded that they have had a number of meetings with the Board over a
number of months and they have dealt with some of their objections and comments and
they have formally withdrawn their objection. He stated that part of what they need to do is
ensure access to their facilities and assets and that is achieved through the planning
application and there is a separate consenting process with the drainage board, which will
be carried out and as part of that there might be some works to widen accesses and enable
future vehicles and operational requirements to be dealt with.

e Councillor Purser referred to buildings of this nature taking some time to construct and it is
on quite a busy road and with the weather having been what is has been like is there
provision for wheel cleaning, etc, for vehicles coming on and off the site to keep the road
clean. Mr Corbett responded that as part of the construction management plan, of which a
draft version was submitted with the application and another one is subject to condition,

Page 6



things like wheel washing and dust mitigation will all be considered and agreed with officers.

Members asked questions of officers as follows:

e Councillor Mrs French referred to the officer’s report stating that it broadly accords with the
plan and asked what does this mean as it either does or does not? Richard Fitzjohn
responded that with any planning application, especially of a major scale, there is always
elements of certain criteria and certain policies of the Local Plan that it might not specifically
comply with but the Development Plan has to be looked at as a whole. He stated that it is
his words in the report that it broadly accords as it is very rare that you would get any
proposal that accord with every specific criteria.

Members made comments, asked questions and received responses as follows:

e Councillor Mrs French sated that she welcomes this as a new secondary school is needed
and is pleased to see there are going to be SEND places, there was supposed to be a
Special Education school for March and unfortunately County Council withdrew that last
year. She asked if it known when this school, if approved, will start? Richard Fitzjohn stated
that his understanding of the opening date for the school is aiming for September next year.
Mr Scott was permitted to confirm that it would be September 2027.

e Councillor Benney expressed his surprise to see this application before committee, councils
usually want to see schools come forward and he does not understand why the Town
Council has objected. He feels it is something that is needed with Wisbech being a growing
town.

e Councillor Mrs French asked if a BNG was submitted with the application? Richard Fitzjohn
confirmed that there was and it is included within the conditions for the BNG to be agreed.

e Councillor Connor expressed the view that the application ticks all the boxes, a robust
construction management plan is required and he does not understand why anyone would
go against something that is so much needed.

Proposed by Councillor Mrs French, seconded by Councillor Purser and agreed that the
application be GRANTED as per the officer’'s recommendation.

(Councillor Meekins declared, in accordance with Paragraph 14 of the Code of Conduct on
Planning Matters, that he is a member of Wisbech Town Council and was on the Town Council’s
Planning Committee when this application was discussed so took no part in the discussion or
voting thereon)

P25/25 F/YR23/1033/F
LAND SOUTH OF 88 WEST STREET, CHATTERIS
ERECT 21 X DWELLINGS (4 X 2-STOREY 2-BED, 15 X 2-STOREY 3-BED & 2 X 2-
STOREY 4-BED) WITH ASSOCIATED ACCESS WORKS, PARKING AND
LANDSCAPING, AND THE FORMATION OF ATTENUATION PONDS, INVOLVING
THE DEMOLITION OF EXISTING BUILDINGS

Alan Davies presented the report to members.

Members received a presentation, in accordance with the public participation procedure, from Kate
Wood, the agent. Ms Wood stated that the application is for 21 houses on this partly brownfield site
immediately adjacent to the edge of the town of Chatteris. She continued that the proposed
development will facilitate the removal and remediation of the noisy engineering company on the
site, which will now be able to move to a larger and more modern facility elsewhere in Chatteris.

Ms Wood expressed the view that the main positive impact of the development will be the
improvement of the road at West Street, all the way from where it starts to be an unmade track
further up the street. She feels the road improvement will benefit neighbouring dwellings that are
effectively accessing their properties off a track currently as well as providing a safer length of

Page 7



access for the many dog walkers using this route towards the pocket park which is further south.

Ms Wood reminded members that a similar application on this site was supported in principle by
the committee in 2022 but at that time they had not resolved the upgrade of the byway through the
Definitive Map Modification process with the Highway Authority and, therefore, the application was
refused for that reason alone. She continued that since then they have worked through that
process with the Public Rights of Way Team at the County Council and the byway has been
formalised in its width through their processes and that has allowed them to reapply for this
application.

Ms Wood made the point that the process resulted in the width of the byway being defined as
wider than assumed at the northern end of the application site and this has required them to lose
one dwelling from the scheme so that they could move the frontage dwellings back off the
definitive right of way and while the access itself will be created as a normal estate road the
hatched area shown on the presentation screen will fall into the front gardens of the first two
properties and the Highway Authority requires them to provide highway markers through these
gardens to make it clear which is highway and which is private land.

Ms Wood expressed the view that committee can be confident to approve the application in the
knowledge that a proper access can be provided now and a further benefit of the application is that
it provides public open space which will result, in her opinion, in a more attractive and pleasant
walking route through the development itself as well as ecological enhancements. She referred to
Paragraph 10.60 of the officer's report where it mentions the timing of the application was such
that BNG is not required, however, they did undertake a biodiversity assessment which concluded
that there would be a net gain in area habitat of 28% and an absolute gain in linear habitat from
the baseline of zero so, in her view, the scheme more than meets the 10% gain that is normally
required.

Ms Wood stated that the proposed development will also result in much needed affordable housing
providing further choice in the area for those seeking homes through affordable routes. She made
the point that all other technical matters as has been said have been resolved, such as flood risk,
drainage and residential amenity impacts and she hoped members would now be able to approve
the application as per the recommendation.

Members asked questions of Ms Wood as follows:

e Councillor Mrs French asked if there was going to be any play equipment on the public open
space? Ms Wood responded that there would be no play equipment as it is not the size of a
site that would require it. Councillor Mrs French made the point that there are 21 homes and
will probably be 50-60 children so thinks they should reconsider.

e Councillor Mrs French referred to drainage board and asked who is going to maintain it after
the development as it does say in the report that it is not considered to be sufficient through
the agent technical response? Ms Wood responded that there is a drainage strategy that
was submitted with the application which sets out how drainage will be managed on the site
and any runoff into the IDB system has been assessed by the IDB. She continued there is a
separate process for a discharge application to the IDB drain, which is the ultimate way that
water will come off the site but there is attenuation and filtration in the drainage strategy
which is that there is permeable paving in parking spaces and there is the attenuation basin
within public open space which are ponds effectively and they collect all the surface water
from the site, roads and roofs and then it filters out and is controlled in its exit from the site
to greenfield runoff rates and that is when it goes into the IDB system clean. Councillor Mrs
French stated that it does say in the report the receiving ditch may need improvements and
asked if they were prepared to improve this ditch that is going to receive the water? Ms
Wood responded that the IDB ditch is maintained by the IDB but if they want to discharge
anything into this ditch, the IDB will ask them to pay for any extra work that is required to do
that and they will have to pay.

Page 8



Councillor Connor asked if a management company will be formed for the upkeep of the
dwellings if approved? Ms Wood responded that the affordable dwellings will be managed
by whichever housing association takes them on and the dwellings themselves are
managed by the occupiers and then everyone pays into a management company which
covers the upkeep of any private areas of road, the drainage system and the public open
space.

Councillor Connor asked if the attenuation pond will be adopted? Ms Wood responded that
she does not have an answer for this yet, sometimes Anglian Water will take on bits of it so
they will take on, for example the flow control system that takes it out but she feels in this
case because they are not using any Anglian Water drainage infrastructure they would not
be interested, which is why there needs to be a separate management company that looks
after this. She stated that this is a requirement of either a condition or the Section 106.
Councillor Connor referred to the roads, lampposts and paths, and asked if they will be
brought up to adoptable standards or will they sign a Section 38 Agreement with the County
Council so they will be adopted? Ms Wood responded that West Street itself will be
upgraded to adoptable standards with footpaths to the correct widths and street lights and
will be adopted. She continued that within the site the main spine road, which is quite short,
is likely to be adopted and will be to adoptable standards and then there are private ways
leading off them that would not be adopted. Ms Wood pointed out on the plan on the
presentation screen where the private drive would be.

Councillor Connor made the point that developers on many applications have said they
would get roads, paths and lights adopted but have not, only the binder course is applied
and then they are left and he likes comfort and he would request, with the private road
having 4 houses, and there being 17 houses in the remainder of the development, if
developers are absolutely honest about their intentions, which he has no thoughts that this
one is not, build the houses but 25% cannot be occupied until such time as the road is
brought up to adoptable standard so that residents are not left with unfinished roads. He
asked if she would agree with this? Ms Wood responded that she does agree and feels
there is a fault in Condition 19, which she read out, and feels it should say the road should
be finished to finish level within 3 months of the final occupation or similar as there is no
trigger point for finishing the road off, which is a problem she has found over the years and
Condition 19 might need amending before it is issued. Councillor Connor stated that could
be looked at but made the point that despite all the good intentions he wants some comfort
so problems can be alleviated for residents going forward. Ms Wood responded that it is the
intention to have the roads adopted, it is easy to do so as the responsibility goes to the
County and it means that not such a high management fee is charged through the
management company to residents. Councillor Connor asked that if this application is
approved she is happy for this to be applied as a condition? Ms Wood responded that she
feels it is already in the conditions. Councillor Connor stated the 25% is not. Ms Wood
expressed the opinion that it is not physically possible because Section 38 agreement takes
years. Councillor Connor made the point that County Council or Fenland District Council
cannot force a developer to enter into a Section 38 Agreement and this would give him
comfort that actually what they say they are going to do will be undertaken. Ms Wood
expressed the view that what she thinks members might want is the road to be to a good
standard when people move in and for it to be maintained thereafter. Councillor Connor
stated that is the least he wants, he does not want a binder course and iron works
protruding from the binder course for x amount of years and feels it will inspire the
developer if there are 4 houses that cannot be occupied to get it done quickly and requested
a yes or no answer. Ms Wood responded in the affirmative and referred to Condition 18.
Councillor Connor agreed it goes someway to achieving what he wants but the agent is not
saying this is fine. Ms Wood stated that she is saying it is fine but what she is concerned
about is promising something that cannot be delivered by the County Council as the
Highway Authority. Councillor Connor stated that this concerns him also and he does not
like making promises to residents but the condition that he outlined would alleviate any
problem, the applicant would be getting their development and committee would be getting

Page 9



the roads resolved which residents would want. Ms Wood agreed but stated that Condition
18 about street maintenance does have the arrangements in there for management which
they have to agree and one of those points in that arrangement could be amended to add a
timescale so there is a timescale in there that could be agreed as she thinks officers would
want to agree this also with the Highway Authority as they may be committing the Highway
Authority to something that they cannot deliver. She stated that she does not want to
promise something that cannot be achieved but if there is a condition there is something
agreed about the timescales and the way it is going to be maintained and, in her view, she
thinks should give committee comfort. Ms Wood referred to Condition 21, which she read
out, and believes this issue is all controlled by conditions.

Councillor Benney stated that he fully understands where Councillor Connor is going about
the road surface and it is requested on many applications. He referred to the previous
application and that plot 1 near 88 West Street was going to be a bungalow when it was
resubmitted but it is still a house because there is overlooking, with No.88 having a
conservatory and this house is going to look over into somebody’s conservatory, which is
not what committee asked for and what committee asked for has not been undertaken.
Councillor Benney requested an explanation. Ms Wood responded that looking at the site
plan the conservatory is on the end of No.88 and plot 1 has been set back from this so that
it does not overlook the conservatory or face it in any way. She added that there are not any
windows in the north elevation of plot 1 and feels that condition 3 could be expanded to
include that no windows at all shall be provided in the north elevation of plot 1, which would
cover any overlooking opportunity. Ms Wood stated that there was a different design for that
house but because they have had to lose a plot to accommodate the changes to road
alignment and not being able to provide any developments other than crossings, paths and
accesses across the public right of way they had to move the house back and there was
less space which was why a house was removed. She added that the previous application
had a garage at that side and was stepping down but they have moved that property down
and south from the boundary of No.88, which she hopes is acceptable. Councillor Benney
made the point that it may have been moved but committee were told that this plot would be
a bungalow and it has not been resubmitted as a bungalow. He feels that the agent is
asking committee to take her word that the roads are going to be made up to adoptable
standard and they have not undertaken what they said they would do when the previous
application was refused so he is not inspired with a great amount of confidence. He referred
to Ellingham Gardens in Chatteris which is exactly what the committee do not want and is
another unmade road and he feels the agent has not listened to what the committee
previously said. Ms Wood apologised and stated they have worked closely with the architect
and on the previous application they did not have the width of the road set and because of
that they were not able to provide what they wanted to provide on the site, they have lost a
whole property from the scheme which has had an huge impact and things have changed
significantly since the previous application. She added that it is not financially possible to put
a bungalow on that site and there is no objection from the neighbour, with officers assessing
the impact on the neighbour and decided it is acceptable, if they had come back and said it
was not acceptable unless it was a bungalow on this plot then they would have obviously
changed it. Ms Wood made the point that this is an expensive scheme now, with the road
improvements to West Street and a bungalow takes up a huge space geographically on the
ground so to do that they would end up with a cramped development or losing another unit
and it needs to be a property that people are going to buy to make the scheme work. She
expressed the opinion, in relation to road adoption, there are very strongly worded
conditions which make sure that the road will be properly provided, made up to proper
standard and thereafter maintained. Councillor Benney stated the fact that a plot has been
lost viability is not a consideration for this committee as is if the land deal is not undertaken
properly that is not a consideration. He reiterated that a bungalow was asked for on this plot
and it has not been delivered. Councillor Benney made the point that every week other
agents readily agree to what the Chairman has proposed regarding occupancy before the
final course goes on the road but there seems to be some resistance against that which he

Page 10



fails to understand. He agrees that there are no objections in the report but a bungalow was
requested and there were assurances that this would be undertaken and it has not been
delivered, and he is hesitant about whether the top course will be put on the road. Ms Wood
responded that she feels the conditions are sufficient and she would just want the officers to
liaise with Highway Authority before putting that condition on but if it is something that has
occurred elsewhere she would accept it. She stated that she has no problem as a planning
agent saying they will make the road up to adoptable standard throughout prior to the
occupation of 25% of the houses as it would probably happen anyway but she is just
wondering if it is legal in meeting the planning tests. Councillor Benney thanked Ms Wood
and feels the answer has been forthcoming that was requested earlier.

Councillor Connor stated that this course of action has been undertaken on about 8-10
occasions as unfinished roads are not wanted and each time agents/applicants have agreed
to it, with there being no challenge to it yet.

Members asked questions of officers as follows:

Councillor Mrs French requested that officers’ answers some of the questions that were
raised by members. David Rowen referred to the issue of the bungalow and as set out in
the officer’s report and in the presentation, the previous application was refused purely on
the issue of the unknown width of the byway and the delivery of the road improvements. He
added that there was a recommended reason for refusal relating to the relationship between
the plot closest to No0.88 which was ultimately not included within the refusal, with that
relationship in the northeastern corner having been assessed and deemed to be an
improvement on the previous application. David Rowen stated that whether members were
under the impression that a bungalow was going to be delivered there or the agent indicated
this is irrelevant given that the application in front of members has been assessed as being
appropriate and committee need to assess whether it is an acceptable relationship or not
and given that the previous reason for refusal regarding that relationship was not carried
through onto that decision it would be difficult to say that an improved relationship is now
unacceptable.

David Rowen referred to the condition regarding the road surface and he feels there may be
some talking at cross purposes between members and the agent as he thinks members are
looking for a condition that requires the road to be to adoptable standards rather than
actually adopted and the Chairman is correct in that has been used in other situations
where there has been a requirement for x number of dwellings to not be occupied until the
road is made up to adoptable standard. He feels the difficulty on this proposal is that there is
about 20% of the development served from a private driveway and there is the issue of
West Street needing to be upgraded to an adoptable standard in any event which would
serve several other dwellings so he feels that to put a blanket condition on of 75% of the
dwellings can be occupied prior to the roads being made to adoptable standard then
nothing beyond that until adoptable standard would be difficult in this particular instance.
David Rowen stated that, however, if members want that form of condition to be included,
the conditions that are set out in the recommendation are draft and delegation could be
sought for the Head of Planning to finalise those. Councillor Connor stated that he would
like that condition included, which would give him, future residents and the committee
comfort.

Councillor Connor referred to the presentation mentioning that the majority of the built form
is in Flood Zone 1 and asked what percentage of the built form is in Flood Zones 2 and 37
David Rowen responded that he could not put a figure on it, however, none of the actual
dwellings are within Flood Zones 2 or 3, with these zones being on the plan on the western
side of the site and do include some car parking spaces and ends of the turning heads on
the access roads.

Councillor Benney referred to a percentage of houses not being occupied but it has also
been undertaken with a number, such as the last 3 houses cannot be occupied until the
road has been made up to adoptable standard so can this not apply here for the last 3
market housing. He made the point that he does not want to see West Street left where this

Page 11



road is not made up all the way down and there is a considerable amount of money to be
spent on this which is worked within the scheme. Councillor Benney made the point that
Ellingham Gardens was worked up and was a viable scheme but the developer refused to
make the roads up and he does not want to see the opportunity missed for a long stretch of
West Street to be brought up to adoptable standard, although it does not have to be
adopted. He stated that he would like comfort on this to know that this is going to happen
and if it is not undertaken as a percentage of houses which is awkward when there is a mix
of housing but on the last three market housing cannot be occupied until the top course has
been applied.

Councillor Connor suggested that the last three market housing be used as proposed by
Councillor Benney and asked that it be added. David Rowen drew members attention to
Condition 21 and read out the wording which he fully anticipates that this condition would
include as part of that timetable an actual schedule for when the final level of tarmac will be
laid relative to the delivery of the wider development so the mechanism that Councillor
Benney is referencing is already included within this condition.

Councillor Connor requested the 3 still be added for extra comfort. Councillor Benney stated
that if it is already covered there should not be any problem with adding a second condition
and as much as 98% of all developments go ahead smoothly and work, councillors get left
with bits that go wrong and that is what is trying to be prevented here as it is known that
developers walk away and save thousands of pounds by not undertaking this. David Rowen
responded that as he indicated earlier if the committees desire to see that form of condition
imposed then that is something that officers can try to take forward. He stated that his
concern would be that potentially putting the kind of triggers that is being talked about may
be less stringent than the scheme that would be brought forward as required through
Condition 21 so there could potentially be two conditions that are slightly working against
each other.

Councillor Benney stated that if committee is being told that the condition already in the
recommendation covers this and what that they are trying to stop then he feels it is
acceptable as it does not want to be in conflict which could cause further trouble later on.
David Rowen responded that he anticipates the scheme submitted as part of Condition 21
would set out at various stages of the delivery of the development what highway
improvement works would be carried out and that would include a commitment to when the
final level of surfacing would be applied to the road. Councillor Benney asked if this
condition would be agreed before the decision notice is issued and if it is, could himself or
whoever proposes or seconds this application and the Chairman take a look at it to make
sure they are happy with it. David Rowen responded that this is not how a condition works,
the condition is including within the planning permission so the planning permission would
be issued and then there would need to be those details submitted through a separate
discharge of condition application at whatever stage that this is brought forward within the
three-year life of the permission. He added that if members are wanting to see that
information submitted before a decision Is made then they are effectively wanting to defer
the decision to allow that information to be submitted, which he feels is not in anybody’s
interest. David Rowen expressed the view that Condition 21 as proposed would deliver the
necessary information that the committee is trying to seek. Councillor Connor stated that
members would like to think so but with the 3 that is a good backup and it may be that if
everything goes smoothly there is nothing to worry about. In his view, he would still like to
see the 3 put in the condition. David Rowen provided a scenario in that members are
wanting a condition requiring 18 dwellings to be delivered prior to the road needing to be
made up to adoptable standard, as part of Condition 21 it could end up with a potential
scenario where the developer says “| want to deliver the road to adoptable standard before
the occupation of say 50%”, which is a better situation under condition 21 which is being
declined because it conflicts with the additional condition so there are two conditions which
are in conflict with one another. Councillor Connor stated that on the other side he referred
to an estate in Wimblington where they were going to put conditions on the roads and paths
had to be installed before 50% occupation and 3-4 years after the path has still not been

Page 12



installed and road not finished so it does not necessarily mean that as you have an
occupation that the developer is going to comply with it.

e Councillor Mrs French suggested that committee moves on, she feels that officers have
answered the questions and the conditions should be left to the officers to resolve.

Members made comments, asked questions and received responses as follows:

e Councillor Benney stated that he has listened to what David Rowen has said and because a
big part of the development is on a private road he does see what he means and in this
case he thinks a Section 38 is a better condition that applying a number to it so long as
West Street is made up which is covered in Section 38 he is happy with this.

e Councillor Meekins referred to no mention about the number of objections and the objection
from the Town Council, with there being a significant number who do not want this proposal
to go ahead. He feels there seems to be a lot of ifs, buts and maybes and the officer did say
it could be deferred until these issues were resolved.

e Councillor Benney stated that it is all very well having 11 individual objections and a petition
with 167 signatures and it is in his ward but it comes down to policy and planning
applications are not about popularity, with this application being refused previously on the
access and the only thing that committee can approve or refuse it on is the access and, in
his view, it is now right. He made the point that issues cannot be brought up that were not
previously included and there is no other reason to refuse this application and if deferred
what would it be deferred for and if it is refused it could go to appeal which could be
overturned and people’s Council Tax will increase to pay for that bad decision. Councillor
Benney stated that whilst he is disappointed with some aspects of the proposal there is no
reason to refuse it and not liking something is not a reason to refuse an application, with this
proposal being policy compliant.

Proposed by Councillor Mrs French, seconded by Councillor Benney and agreed that the
application be GRANTED as per the officer’'s recommendation.

(Councillor Benney declared, in accordance with Paragraph 14 of the Code of Conduct on
Planning Matters, that he is a member of Chatteris Town Council but takes no part in planning)

P26/25 F/YR25/0223/F
LAND SOUTH OF 28-29 JUNIPER CLOSE, DODDINGTON
ERECT 9 X DWELLINGS WITH ASSOCIATED ESTATE ROAD, GARAGES,
PARKING AND LANDSCAPING INVOLVING THE DEMOLITION OF EXISTING
GARAGE/STORE AND CHANGE OF USE OF LAND FOR DOMESTIC PURPOSES
FOR 9 SUTTON WAY

Alan Davies presented the report to members.

Members received a presentation, in accordance with the public participation procedure, from
Councillor Ruth Hufton of Doddington Parish Council. Councillor Hufton stated that Doddington
Parish Council objects to the application as Doddington was designated a growth village in the
current Local Plan and in addition to the 127 homes, the 15% growth required, a further 196 have
already been built and they have confirmation from FDC that no further housing would be required
under that plan. She made the point that there are no affordable homes scheduled and 106
monies will not be allocated to be used in the village, with it likely to be used elsewhere in Fenland.

Councillor Hufton stated that the developer speaks of this development being perfect for the
elderly, but, in her view, to access the High Street from the south of the new development will
mean a 1500 metre walk through the new site into Juniper Close onto Wood Street before joining
High Street, with there being no access directly onto High Street. She feels that this means that
more car journeys will be made leading to additional congestion through the pinch point at the top
of Wood Street that opens onto a Puffin crossing taking children to and from the village school.

Page 13



Councillor Hufton expressed the opinion that construction traffic will cause noise, dirt and
congestion on the High Street through phase one of Juniper Close and onto Wood Street, which is
narrow making it difficult for two HGVs to pass each other. She understands that the plan changes
at 9 Sutton Way to extend the garden and provide a walkway into the site has not been discussed
with or agreed by the resident.

Councillor Hufton stated that residents of 9 The Larches have serious concerns about the impact
of this development on their home, with their main living spaces sitting directly on the eastern
boundary next to plot 7’s proposed 5.2 metre high garage. She expressed the view that this
structure will be overbearing and cause significant overshadowing particularly in the garden room,
which is used daily as a home office and this room is not shown on the plans so the loss of light
has not been properly assessed, with their home already suffering from poor natural light and the
addition of a pond area and 90 metres of dense shrubbery, which could reach 3.3 to 6 metres in
height will worsen this further and force greater reliance on artificial lighting.

Councillor Hufton expressed the opinion that due to the difference in land levels, the public pond
will overlook their home and garden, severely reducing privacy, whilst also exposing the public
space to views from The Larches. She feels the risk of stagnant water and health impacts so close
to a kitchen, diner and patio has not been addressed, with these serious impacts on residential
amenities having not been properly considered.

Councillor Hufton stated that the Grade Il Listed Windmill Tower is the only remaining artifact from
that period of the village’s history and is, in her view, an important part of the heritage of
Doddington. She feels the buffer between the tower and the proposed bungalows now contains an
attenuation pond, which when it is dug may cause damage to the foundations of the building.

Councillor Hufton expressed the opinion that when the first phase of Juniper Close was built, the
fenestration in the Windmill Tower was compromised with all the glass falling out and she felt that
piling had taken place on the site which was categorically denied by Reason Homes but she has
since acquired an e-mail from the Senior Planning Obligations Manager dated 22 June 2022 which
states “in addition to the appraisals that have been submitted | have also received evidence of
piling costs confirmation of the assumed cost for plot specification....” which confirms her suspicion
that the damage was caused by piling and that Reason Homes blatantly lied to herself and her
partner. She, therefore, feels that piling in this new phase could cause irreparable damage to the
foundations of the tower.

Councillor Hufton stated that the roadway in the first phase was not completed and reassurance is
needed that this will happen if and when this second phase is completed, questioning whether it
will be adopted or managed by a residents committee. She made the point that Anglian Water are
concerned that surface water issues have not been addressed properly and could propose a risk of
flooding and pollution, with the site having been flooded for two years to a depth of 6 to 8 inches
when rainfall has been heavy, which is something that is expected to be the norm in the coming
months and years.

Councillor Hufton expressed the view that the site is already teeming with wildlife with a plethora of
mammals, rare birds and myriad insects and plant life and questioned how the developer will
mitigate for that loss but not by building a wildlife pond and the plans also contain no information
as to who will maintain that. She added that the same problems still remain as were present when
this site was put forward for development in the past, with the school being at capacity, the doctor’s
surgery being full and the sewerage system has not been fit for purpose for many years and
despite remedial works that have taken place at Coneywood it is still not functioning without
constant problems.

Councillor Hufton expressed the opinion that add to that poor public transport, parking problems

Page 14



throughout the village but especially on High Street and Wood Street and this development makes
no sense.

Members asked questions of Councillor Hufton as follows:

e Councillor Mrs French asked if there is any proposal to maintain the Windmill Tower?
Councillor Hufton stated that it is privately owned and is nothing to do with Doddington
Parish Council so it is not known but it is weatherproof.

e Councillor Connor asked if and when where Councillor Hufton lives gets brought by some
other person it is possible for that person with money being able to put that Windmill right?
Councillor Hufton confirmed this to be the case.

e Councillor Connor asked Councillor Hufton if it is her belief that the piling for the foundations
or that the attenuation pond digging will put an end to the Windmill or make it non-viable?
Councillor Hufton agreed, she is not capable of saying anything engineering wise but she
has no idea what the footings are like on the Windmill or how deep they are. She expressed
the opinion that not only did the piling take the windows out of the Windmill when it was
undertaken on the first phase of Juniper Close but they have had problems in the house
with noise and a bit of cracking.

Members received a presentation, in accordance with the public participation procedure, from
Anthony Gowing, an objector. Mr Gowing stated that his concerns relate to sustainability and future
management of the estate with open questions. He questioned what adoption processes does the
developer intend to agree for the road in order to maintain it for the future, will it be a signed
Section 38 Agreement which is a binding contract with a bond security or will it be a Section 37
Agreement, like the existing Juniper Close, with there being no guarantee under Section 37 that
adoption will happen apart from the developer’s word.

Mr Gowing referred to SUDs and questioned whether the developer intends to engage with
Anglian Water from the outset to determine the design and maintenance of it as Anglian Water has
said they are unable to provide comments on the sustainability of the surface water management
in the plan, however, in this application, MTC Engineering say they have used the Anglian Water
SUDs adoption process for maintenance, but refer to there being no SUDs approval body in the
UK so if adoption does not take place, it leaves the SUDs unmaintained except by the developer
until handover. He expressed the opinion that there seems no mechanism to provide maintenance
services in perpetuity much like the 2020 existing SUDs in Juniper Close which is overgrown with
vegetation, therefore, what mitigations will be in place to ensure the SUDs and pond are
maintained from day one of the construction.

Mr Gowing stated that MTC also say that detailed design of the surface water drainage system will
only take place once planning permission has been granted but Anglian Water say that the
developer should note that the site drainage details submitted have not been approved for the
purposes of adoption and if he wishes to have the sewers included in a sewer adoption agreement
under Section 104 of the Water Industry Act to contact them. He questioned whether there is a risk
that the costs when problems might occur to unadopted drainage fall to the homeowners to be
shared amongst them?

Mr Gowing queried whether the developer intends to form a management company for
maintenance of the estate or will they sign the necessary declarations for adoption of everything
discussed in collaboration with the relevant authorities? He expressed the view that otherwise they
are in the risk category of an unfinished estate and this plan in its present form to him produces a
vision most people would love, but he finds the detail ambiguous to satisfy him that he will be
seeing a finished adopted estate in the next 3 years or so.

Mr Gowing stated that he lives on Juniper Close, he moved there in 2020 and he has not seen the

road finished and the developer has assured him that once this construction is finished he will
finish the road, but all he has is his word. He made the point that he has had constant

Page 15



communication with the developer and he is not satisfied with the answers that he has been given
over 5 years.

Members asked questions of Mr Gowing as follows:

Councillor Connor assured Mr Gowing that he will be asking the agent the questions that he
has asked.

Councillor Mrs French referred to the information that members had and made the point that
Anglian Water have no objections so it is interesting to hear what he has just said. Mr
Gowing responded that he read forensically all the paperwork on the portal regarding
Anglian Water’s correspondence and there is a hands off approach but the developer can
communicate with them as the SUDs and the pond will not be adopted and they also have
not discussed with them about the drainage, which means at the moment that the sewers
will not be adopted either. He presumes this might happen later on, he did look at previous
applications, the one in 2017 and could not find details of the 104 agreement but he did see
the agreement about connecting the sewers up which had to take place anyway but he sees
a conflict between the hydrology engineering company that Reason Homes have employed
and the lack of communication with Anglian Water, with Anglian Water having their own
conditions as to how SUDs should be designed, built and maintained and if the developer
does not go through that route then they will not consider adoption of the SUDs. Mr Gowing
stated that he has learned the SUDs that already exist in Juniper Close will never be
adopted and it is completely overgrown because it has been unmaintained and the outlet is
almost completely blocked. He expressed concern that this could end up an unmaintained
estate just like the one he lives in, with the developer in the deeds on his estate in the TP1
stating that there will be no maintenance charges to residents so in that case if a
management company is formed in the other part of the estate he can see all sorts of
conflicts occurring if for example residents in existing estate are asked to sign a deed of
variation so that they come in with the maintenance company for the upkeep of the estate.
Mr Gowing stated that he wants the whole estate to be maintained, wanting the binder
course top coat to be completed now and not as the developer says, which he uses the
excuse of that because he is going to drive his vehicles down this road he is going to
damage the road because he actually surfaced Wood Street with a top coat in order to build
the existing Juniper Close anyway so he does not buy this argument. He added that he can
understand it from an engineering point of view because it saves him money but he was
expecting in 2023 to be living on an estate with a finished road and a maintained SUDs and
his fear of what is going to happen is if this proposal goes ahead they are going to end up in
a very risky situation where none of it is finished to adoptable standards and adopted by the
relevant authorities because already the right actions have not taken place. Councillor Mrs
French stated that between himself and Councillor Hufton a lot of questions have been
asked and maybe the agent will be able to answer some of these questions during his
opportunity to speak. She believes under the Drainage Act developers do have the Right to
Connect to Anglian Water and they cannot refuse it and sitting on 10 Drainage Boards they
have been trying to get the Right to Connect discontinued but Parliament will not do it. Mr
Gowing responded that he knows they will connect but he is talking about adoption.

Members received a presentation, in accordance with the public participation procedure, from Lee
Bevens, the agent. Mr Bevens stated that they have worked closely with the Planning Officer, Alan
Davies, throughout the planning process and dealt with any issues proactively and this scheme
follows a previously refused scheme for 16 dwellings in 2022 and 14 dwellings in 2024. He
expressed the view that this scheme is significantly different to previous applications, not only is
there over 35% less numbers but it also provides a greater public benefit for viewing the Grade I
Listed Windmill.

Mr Bevens expressed the opinion that the application does not create any flooding issues and has
been designed to accept surface water runoff from the adjacent development at The Larches,
which have soakaways that do not work in clay soil hence the flood into this site. He made the

Page 16



point that Anglian Water raise no objection and there are no objections from Highways or ecology.

Mr Bevens stated that the proposed density equates to 9 dwellings to the hectare which is very low
density and not overdevelopment. He feels the Conservation Officer clearly rates the setting of the
Grade Il Listed Windmill highly, but, in his view, it cannot be easily seen from any public vantage
point, referring members to the presentation screen he stated that he has walked the public
footpath around the site and there are very limited views of the former Windmill, it cannot be seen
from the High Street which is the main thoroughfare through the village.

Mr Bevens added that he has walked the public footpath FP10 that exists from Benwick Road and
runs north past the village hall, with the first three slides showing the views towards the former
Windmill from various points along this route, with the position of the former Windmill highlighted
as it is obscured by vegetation and the only current views are long distance ones. He referred to
slide four showing the current view of the former Windmill from the application site and again, in his
view, the Windmill is largely hidden by existing trees and vegetation which will remain unaffected
by the proposal.

Mr Bevens expressed the opinion that the Conservation Officer has the chance for the public to
see the former Windmill much clearer rather than trespassing on private land and should there be
the possibility of the Windmill being converted or renovated in the future it is even more important
that the public can see it. He stated that the applicant has suggested they are happy to pay for
signage to allow the public to reach the new area of public open space on the site, which has
seating proposed, allowing much better views of the Windmill as well as improving the setting of
the Listed Building.

Mr Bevens referred to slide 5 showing the comparison between the current scheme of 9 dwellings
and the previously refused 14 and feels that members can see that the layout has significantly
improved the setting of the Listed Building by providing a greater green setting to the north and
east with previous dwellings being removed from this area. He stated that slide 6 shows the area
of public open space and attenuation pond is part of the application site and not just an area that
has been left out of the application, with great attention to landscape detail and ecology having
been made to provide the public with a useable space but also to provide seating that faces
towards the former Windmill, with over 35% of the proposed site being green space.

Mr Bevens expressed the opinion that the slide also shows how the proposed development has
been sympathetically inserted into the site with all single storey dwellings and how the setting of
the Listed Building and Conservation Area have already been eroded by the two sheds directly
next to the former Windmill and the erection of a bland detached house with integral garages built
in the early 80s. He stated that his heritage consultant has tried to address the concerns raised by
the Conservation Officer but the site does not lie within the Doddington Conservation Area, which
is more focused on the High Street and Benwick Road and the curtilages associated with these
properties, with the site being surrounded by suburban development and not visible or appreciated
from any part of the Conservation Area and there are no views into or out of the Conservation Area
across the site due to the tight building line along the High Street to the south and enclosure of the
site by the existing development to the north.

Mr Bevens stated that the Conservation Officer notes that the Windmill is best appreciated from its
immediate setting in close range where it can be appreciated in full view and these views will only
be possible from the application site. He expressed the opinion that the proposal will provide the
views that the Conservation Officer seeks close range, with a large area of public open space to
allow the wider public to appreciate the Windmill.

Mr Bevens referred to the officer’s report noting that there is currently no mechanism proposed for

the public open space to be secured for public use but the applicant will retain the area of public
open space and continue to maintain it so there is guaranteed access to view the windmill in the

Page 17



future. He stated that the sensitivity of the application site and the Listed Windmill and the
proposals will enable much better appreciation of a key building in Doddington without, in his view,
detriment to the character and appearance of the Conservation Area.

Mr Bevens asked members to look at the benefits that this scheme can provide and largely
supporting nature of the planning officer’'s comments and go against the Conservation Officer’s
recommendation. He expressed the view that the scheme is a sustainable development and
according with the Development Plan as a whole they would ask members to support and approve

it.

Members asked questions of Mr Bevens as follows:

Councillor Mrs French asked who owns the trees that are obscuring the Windmill? Mr
Bevens responded that the vast majority of the trees are outside the ownership of the site
and are in adjoining land. He added that there is a hedgerow that runs around the boundary
which is 50/50 ownership and then there is a couple of trees that are outside the application
site.

Councillor Mrs French made the point that the last two speakers had quite a lot of questions
and perhaps Mr Bevens may be able to answer some of their questions. Councillor Connor
stated that he was happy to put some of these questions to Mr Bevens.

Councillor Connor asked if the application is successful will there be a management
company looking after the 9 dwellings? Mr Bevens responded to his knowledge there will be
no management company, with the areas of open space being controlled by Construct
Reason.

Councillor Connor asked about the attenuation pond with Mr Gowing saying the attenuation
pond on the first phase has not been taken over and, in his opinion, is in an awful state and
when he visited he agrees it is not the best. He asked who will be managing the attenuation
pond and will it be adopted? Mr Bevens responded that he has photographs of the current
SUDs at Juniper Close from fairly recently and it is pretty well maintained, with there being a
lot of dry weather and then a lot of wet weather. He stated that the attenuation basin will be
maintained by Construct Reason because it is within that area of open space and if it is
owned by Construct Reason then it will be offered as part of that public area and can
guarantee more that the public can go into that area. Mr Bevens referred to the mention of
piling and believes on the first phase the piling was undertaken by orbit pile and he is
surprised to hear of windows coming out of the Windmill undertaken by orbit piling as if its
flight driven the vibrations can be disruptive but orbit piling generally does not cause that
sort of damage.

Councillor Connor referred to the road and his comments on the last application, what is
going to happen to the road is it going to be adopted by a Section 38 Agreement or will it be
as Mr Gowing said possibly by an Section 37 Agreement because 5 years ago with the
same developer the road has not had anything undertaken to it at all apart from how it was
left with the iron works showing which is wrong. He asked what is going to be the difference
between the 28 houses where the road has not been brought up to adoptable standard and
these 9 houses? Mr Bevens responded that his understanding is that the remainder of the
road will be undertaken under a Section 37 Agreement for the remaining 9 plots, with the
footpaths in Juniper Close already having been brought up to adoptable standard but the
road has not and the reason for this is as discussed is that the County will not allow the
roads to be finished until the development is finished. He continued that there has been
several applications on this site over the last 3-4 years with the intention of extending the
road further than it currently ends at the moment and whilst he has sympathy for the
speaker that has been going on for the last 4-5 years in terms of applications. Mr Bevens
stated that until this is decided and the road put in for the 9 dwellings then the whole
roadway will be finished to adoptable standards. He does not believe there are raised iron
works in the current Juniper Close, they are sitting at base level and they will be lifted to the
correct level when the topcoat goes on. Councillor Connor expressed the opinion that they
are raised and the topcoat has not been put on, he accepts the explanation given but it

Page 18



gives him no comfort for these additional 9 dwellings. He feels that any future maintenance
would fall on residents if there is no management company. Mr Bevens responded that
Section 37 is also for adoption and it will all be offered for adoption, with the footpath
already to adoptable standard.

Councillor Connor asked if the application was successful would they be prepared to build
the dwellings but only 6 to be occupied before the road is made up to adoptable standard
and they would sign an agreement for this? Mr Bevens responded that, as the previous
speaker stated on the previous application, if there is a condition worded, because no
conditions have been agreed currently, that gives the reassurance as he believes it is tricky
to restrict it to three because the construction traffic is still going to need access and the
County will not adopt the road until the development’s finished. Councillor Connor stated he
is saying build the 9 properties if the application is successful but 3 are not to be occupied
until the road was made up, which means there would be no more heavy traffic going
through the development. Mr Bevens responded that on that basis he does not see a
problem with keeping 3 back from occupation until such time as the road is made up to an
agreed standard.

Councillor Connor referred to the Windmill, making the point it is a Grade Il Listed Building
and he was invited by Ms Hufton and her late partner to look at the damage attributed to the
piling and she is absolutely correct. His own feelings are that if the attenuation pond is in the
same place as it is proposed it could undermine the foundations of the Windmill. Councillor
Connor stated that he does like old buildings and wants to preserve them for future
generation and he does not feel comfortable with putting that Windmill into jeopardy. He
continued if the 9 were piled it would cause irreparable damage to the Windmill. Mr Bevens
responded that he understands where Ms Hufton is coming from and he cannot confirm or
not whether that damage was caused by the piling but all he knows is that orbit piling
generally does not cause that sort of damage whereas flight driven does but it was not flight
driven. He acknowledged that the attenuation pond would have to be created sensitively
and he agrees that a Grade Il Listed Building should be kept and looked after, however, if a
condition could be put together that asks for a schedule of works or something similar for
the creation of the attenuation pond that could be judged by officers to ensure that there is a
protocol in making sure there is no damage to the Grade Il Listed Building. Mr Bevens
stated that he does not see piling being used to create the attenuation pond but there will be
heavy machinery involved.

Councillor Connor referred to the proposed pathway from the site, making the point that Mr
Sutton owns the roadway from Wood Street into the site and whilst he notes that the
footpath in the proposal is providing a shortcut into Wood Street and then into the village
nobody has said anything to Mr Sutton and he will not agree to it anyway, which puts
another obstacle in the way possibly. Mr Bevens agreed possibly but those discussions can
take place post agreement of planning permission to ensure that whatever mechanisms are
needed or reassurance can take place. He stated that extra garden is being given to Mr
Sutton. Councillor Connor made the point that Councillor Hufton has spoken to Mr Sutton
and he is adamant that none of this will happen, no one will be able to walk, cycle or enjoy
this pathway and he does not believe he will change his mind.

Councillor Mrs French asked Mr Bevens to answer the questions with regard to Anglian
Water? Mr Bevens responded that they have produced a drainage strategy by experts,
MTC, and Anglian Water have not raised any objection to the scheme. He stated that in the
conclusion in MTC’s report they have said that infiltration testing will be done once all
planning approval is agreed and if the worse case scenario is that the current drainage
strategy is based on zero infiltration taking place then surface water will be discharged to
the adjacent drain along the northern boundary with discharge restricted to the rate of 2
litres a second during all events and the applications will be made to ensure this is all
undertaken properly.

Councillor Benney asked how far away is the Windmill from the nearest build point on this
development? Mr Bevens responded that the distance from the Windmill to the edge of Plot
1, the corner of it with no habitable window, is 31.6 metres and to an actual ground floor

Page 19



window it is 3272 metres.

e Councillor Benney asked what Mr Bevens’ assessment was of the standard of the Windmill
and is the building in fairly good structural state? Mr Bevens acknowledged that it is an
expensive building to repair, he has only seen it from the application site and, in his view, it
in an average condition. He would not say it is at risk but it does need somebody to spend
money on it in order to bring it into use again but that would be costly to undertake.

Members asked questions of officers as follows:

e Councillor Mrs French asked what the reason was that the previous application was refused
last time? Alan Davies responded that it was the same reason as for this application, which
is the impact on the setting of the Grade Il Listed Windmill. He referred to the plan on the
presentation screen and the advice from the Conservation Officer is by developing this site,
which is currently a field, it is slowly eroding the agricultural fields that surround the
Windmill, which is impacting upon the character and significance of that setting. Alan Davies
stated that the refusal reason for this application is heritage due the impact on the setting of
a Grade Il Listed Building and the reason for refusal is not the impact on the Windmill itself
but the setting so the Conservation Officer has not raised concerns with the structural
stability of the Windmill or how it will be affected by vibrations and piling.

e Councillor Benney referred to the roads and drainage being mentioned but the only reason
for refusal is the setting of a Listed Building and he does not see anything that is not seen
every week in Planning Committee about the drainage, with members having concerns
about drainage and the road surface and he agrees with the Chairman about holding 3
houses back in this case. He stated that there is nothing in the report that says there is a
reason for refusal on any of the drainage or the road surface and asked if it is correct that
these are not relevant planning matters? Alan Davies confirmed this to be correct, in terms
of highway impact Highways have commented that they have got no objections to the
scheme, with the layout, parking and car parking spaces for the dwellings considered to be
acceptable. He continued in terms of drainage there are no objections from the LLFA, with
drainage having been satisfactorily addressed.

Members made comments, asked questions and received responses as follows:

e Councillor Mrs French stated that she cannot see anything to debate, members have asked
the questions and received the answers.

e Councillor Purser expressed concern about the access road, with construction traffic
utilising it, the roads being narrow with people parking on the side of the roads and this
having a detrimental impact on the neighbours. He added that he is also concerned about
heavy vehicles damaging the drains underneath as well.

e Councillor Connor referred to Councillor Meekins making a relevant point on the previous
application saying that local members are probably not being taken notice of and the Parish
Council, if this is approved, are not being taken notice of.

e Councillor Mrs French made the point that the Windmill has been there for many years,
probably built in the 1600s, and it is a shame to see it deteriorate. She can understand what
Councillor Hufton has said, but she is concerned that if action is not taken it is going to end
up falling down and then the developer can come back and get the planning application no
problem.

Proposed by Councillor Connor, seconded by Councillor Meekins and agreed that the
application be REFUSED as per the officer’'s recommendation.

(Councillor Connor declared that he knows Councillor Ruth Hufton being the District Councillor for
Doddington and Wimblington but he is not pre-determined and will consider the application with an
open mind)

P27/25 F/YR25/0382/0
LAND NORTH OF 14 GUILDENBURGH CRESCENT, WHITTLESEY

Page 20



ERECT 1NO DWELLING AND FORMATION OF A NEW VEHICULAR ACCESS TO
14 GUILDENBURGH CRESCENT (OUTLINE APPLICATION WITH MATTERS
COMMITTED IN RESPECT OF ACCESS)

This application was withdrawn.

P28/25 ENFORCEMENT- LAND WEST OF 54 CHURCH STREET ACCESSED OFF PARK
LANE

Members considered what action to take on the owner of land west of 54 Church Street accessed
off Park Lane, Whittlesey for failure to comply with the requirements of a Notice under Section 215
of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) presented by Jade Allen.

Members asked questions, made comments and received responses.

Proposed by Councillor Mrs French, seconded by Councillor Benney and AGREED that
officers commence further action under the provisions of Section 216 of the Town and
Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) and authorised referring the matter to the
Council’s Legal Officer to commence prosecution proceedings for non-compliance with the
requirements of the Notice.

(Members resolved to exclude the public for this item of business on the grounds that it involves
the disclosure of exempt information as defined in Paragraph 7 of Part 1 of Schedule 12a of the
Local Government Act 1972)

P29/25 ENFORCEMENT - 10 MARKET PLACE, WISBECH

Members considered what action to take on the owner of 10 Market Place, Wisbech for failure to
comply with the requirements of a Notice under Section 215 of the Town and Country Planning Act
1990 (as amended) presented by Matthew Leigh.

Members asked questions, made comments and received responses.

Proposed by Councillor Meekins, seconded by Councillor Purser and AGREED that officers
commence further action under the provisions of Section 216 of the Town and Country
Planning Act 1990 (as amended) and authorised referring the matter to the Council’s Legal
Officer to commence prosecution proceedings for non-compliance with the requirements of
the Notice.

(Members resolved to exclude the public for this item of business on the grounds that it involves
the disclosure of exempt information as defined in Paragraph 7 of Part 1 of Schedule 12a of the
Local Government Act 1972)

P30/25 ENFORCEMENT - FENVIEW LODGE, 5 FEN VIEW, DODDINGTON

Members considered what action to take on the owner of Fenview Lodge, 5 Fen View, Doddington
for failure to comply with the requirements of a Notice under Section 215 of the Town and Country
Planning Act 1990 (as amended) presented by Jade Allen.

Members asked questions, made comments and received responses.
Proposed by Councillor Connor, seconded by Councillor Mrs French and AGREED that
officers commence further action under the provisions of Section 216 of the Town and

Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) and authorised referring the matter to the
Council’s Legal Officer to commence prosecution proceedings for non-compliance with the

Page 21



requirements of the Notice.

(Members resolved to exclude the public for this item of business on the grounds that it involves
the disclosure of exempt information as defined in Paragraph 7 of Part 1 of Schedule 12a of the
Local Government Act 1972)

4.03 pm Chairman

Page 22



Agenda Iltem 5

F/YR25/0149/FDC
Applicant: Mr Mark Greenwood Agent: Mrs Fiona Bage
Fenland District Council ELG Planning

2 Broad Street, March, Cambridgeshire, PE15 8TG
Demolition of existing building and erect a max 2.4m fence in a conservation area
Officer recommendation: Refuse

Reason for Committee: Fenland District Council are the applicants

1 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1 The application seeks full planning permission and relevant demolition of an
unlisted building in a conservation area, to demolish the existing former Barclays
Bank building and erect 2.4m high fencing surrounding the site following
demolition.

1.2 The building has been purchased by Fenland District Council with the express
intention of demolition and Government funding has been secured for this under
the Future High Street Fund. The funding arrangements that have led to this
approach are not considered material to the assessment of the application,
having regard to the Local Planning Authority’s legal duties.

1.3 Itis acknowledged that there is an opportunity for redevelopment of this site to
make a positive contribution to the heritage assets and the vitality and viability of
the town centre as a whole, hence the demolition of the building could be
accepted if it is demonstrated that its replacement would provide a high quality
development, with an active ground floor use, which enhances its local setting
and the historic and local built environment and would provide a public benefit
which would outweigh the less than substantial harm caused by the loss of the
existing building.

1.4 However, in this case there is no proposal for redevelopment of the site, the
application merely seeks permission to demolish the existing building and erect
a 2.4m high fence around it; there are no proposals for remediation of the site or
a meanwhile use, which may mitigate impact of the loss of the existing structure.
The building is not considered such an eyesore as to warrant its demolition
without any safeguards in place as to its future development.

1.5 There is no evidence of a marketing exercise to otherwise demonstrate re-use is
unviable or unattractive to other potential commercial enterprises. There is no
evidence as to why it is necessary to demolish the building prior to a scheme for
its redevelopment having been secured, and without a proposed scheme and/or
evidence of the viability of such a scheme, no evidence that the demolition of the
building would result in the site being viable in future.

1.6 Therefore, there is a distinct risk that the site would remain vacant with fencing to

Page 23



secure it indefinitely, which would be more harmful to the character of the area
than current appearance and condition of the site. This would result in
unjustified harm to the historic environment, the character and visual amenity of
the area and the vitality and viability of the town centre, which has recently been
subject to substantial regeneration, involving the introduction of large extents of
public realm, immediately in front of the application site and along Broad Street,
enhancing the setting and appreciation of the War Memorial and Conservation
Area as a whole and which would be detracted from should this development be
approved. As such, there are not considered to be any public benefits to the
proposal which would outweigh the identified harm.

1.7 Paragraph 56 of the NPPF 2024 states that Local Planning Authorities should

consider whether otherwise unacceptable development could be made
acceptable through the use of conditions or planning obligations. However,
these can only be used in certain circumstances as set out in Paragraph 57 and
58 of the NPPF 2024 and Regulation 122 of The Community Infrastructure Levy
Regulations 2010 (as amended). It could not be considered reasonable to
prevent the demolition of the building until such time as a redevelopment
proposal came forward, or secure redevelopment of the site, as such, there is no
planning mechanism to secure the future of the site should this application be
approved.

1.8 As set out above, it is considered that there are no benefits to the proposal which

would outweigh the harm identified, and there is no planning mechanism to
secure the future of the site should this application be approved, as such, the
application is recommended for refusal.

3.2

3.3

SITE DESCRIPTION

The application site consists of the former Barclays Bank, a ‘Brutalist’ style building

part 2-storey, part single-storey, located on a prominent corner plot between Broad
Street and Grays Lane, immediately abutting the recently regenerated public realm
on Broad Street. To the rear of the building is a former car park, partially
surrounded by a brick wall where the temporary public toilets have been sited. The
site is located within March Conservation Area and situated between the Grade |l
listed buildings of the War Memorial on Broad Street and the Old Bank House on
West End, there are also a number of non-designated heritage assets in the
vicinity. It is within the Town Centre Boundary, Primary Shopping Area and
constitutes Primary Shopping Frontage. The site is in Flood Zone 1 and is not at
risk of surface water flooding.

PROPOSAL

The application seeks full planning permission and relevant demolition of an
unlisted building in a conservation area, to demolish the existing building and erect
2.4m high solid timber fencing surrounding the site following demolition, the finish
of which is to be agreed.

The building has been purchased by Fenland District Council with the express
intention of demolition and Government funding has been secured for this under
the Future High Street Fund, however there are currently no proposals for future
redevelopment of the site.

Full plans and associated documents for this application can be found at:

Page 24




5.1

5.2

5.3

https://www.publicaccess.fenland.gov.uk/publicaccess/

SITE PLANNING HISTORY
There have been numerous applications on this site, predominately for
advertisements, and the most recent application is detailed below:

FIYR21/0753/F Removal of signage and ATM from existing  Granted
building 27/8/21

CONSULTATIONS

Town Council
Recommendation: Approval

Cambridgeshire County Council Archaeology

We have reviewed the documents and have no comments or recommendations
based on the archaeological implications or the demolition of the existing building.
We would however welcome reconsultation with regards to any future
development plans.

Cambridgeshire County Council Highways

Initial comments were received on 17/3/25 which queried whether the existing
access would be retained, following clarification the following comments were
received on 11/7/25:

Recommendation

Following a careful review of the documents provided to the Local Highway
Authority as part of the above planning application, no significant adverse effect
upon the public highway should result from this proposal, should it gain benefit of
planning permission.

Comments

Following clarification from the applicant that the existing access will remain
required, the previously requested condition is no longer necessary. Instead,
please append the following condition:

No demolition (including any temporary or enabling works, for example ground
works and vegetation clearance) shall commence on site until a Demolition Traffic
Management Plan (DTMP) has been agreed with the Local Planning Authority in
consultation with the Local Highway Authority. The Local Highway Authority
requests that the DTMP be a standalone document separate from any
Environment Construction Management Plan or the like, as the risks and hazards
associated with construction traffic using the public highway are quite different
from those associated with the internal site arrangements. The principal areas of
concern that should be addressed are:

1.Movements, control, and timings of muck away lorries (all loading and unloading
shall be undertaken off the adopted public highway).

2.Contractor parking, during the demolition phase shall be within the curtilage of
the site and not on the street. If the site has limited potential to provide on-site car
parking the applicant must provide details of how any off-site parking will be
controlled, e.g., a managed list of contractor/employee vehicles parking on-street
and their drivers telephone contact details.

3. Movements, control, and timings of all deliveries (all loading and unloading shall
be undertaken off the adopted public highway).

Page 25


https://www.publicaccess.fenland.gov.uk/publicaccess/

5.4

4. Control of dust, mud, and debris in relationship to the functioning of the adopted
public highway, including repairs to highway damage caused by site vehicles.
Please include wording that the adopted public highway within the vicinity of the
site will also be swept within an agreed time frame as and when reasonably
requested by any officer of the Local Highway Authority and that any highway
damage (including verges) will be repaired in a timely manner at no expense to the
Local Highway Authority.

The DTMP must relate solely to how the operation of the site will affect the
adopted public highway, other information for example noise levels, is not a
highway matter and should not be included within the plan. The approved DTMP
shall be adhered to throughout any demolition and construction periods for the
proposed development.

Reason: in the interests of highway safety.

Designing Out Crime Team

Thank you for the opportunity to comment on this application. | have viewed the
documents in relation to crime, disorder, and the fear of crime. | have searched the
Constabulary crime and incident systems covering the immediate location and
March East / West Ward for the last 2 years. | would consider the proposed
location to be an area of medium risk to the vulnerability to crime.

It is important that security and crime prevention are considered and discussed at
the earliest opportunity to ensure that the security of buildings, homes, amenity
space and the environment provide a safe place for people living, working in, and
visiting this location.

NPPF Para 135(f) states - Planning policies and decisions should ensure that
developments - create places that are safe, inclusive, and accessible and which
promote health and well-being, with a high standard of amenity for existing and
future users and where crime and disorder, and the fear of crime, do not
undermine the quality of life or community cohesion and resilience.

| can advise that having considered the proposal; | have no objections but have
the following recommendations during the demolition / construction phase.

Construction Phase Security (Advisory Note) — There are many crimes which
occur during the construction phase of a development; the most significant include
theft of plant equipment, materials, tools, and diesel fuel. Secured by Design
recommend that security should be in place prior and during the construction
phase. This should include robust perimeter fencing of the site

and a monitored alarm system (by a company or individual who provide a
response) for site cabins and those structures facilitating the storage of materials
and fuel.

The developer is advised that the name of the contractor and signage with an
emergency contact telephone number should be displayed at several places on
the perimeter fencing. This allows the public to report suspicious circumstances.
Mobile or part time CCTV systems can be used as an effective aid to the security
of a site and can act as a deterrent to criminal activity. This office will always
provide specific advice regarding site security if required. Security lighting will
CCTV systems, enhancing the quality and effectiveness of the surveillance
footage, especially during nighttime hours.

Page 26



5.5

5.6

5.7

5.8

Historic England

Historic England provides advice when our engagement can add most value. In
this case we are not offering advice. This should not be interpreted as comment on
the merits of the application.

We suggest that you seek the views of your specialist conservation and
archaeological advisers. You may also find it helpful to refer to our published
advice at https://historicengland.org.uk/advice/find/

Ecology Officer (FDC)
Initial comments were received on 7/3/25 which set out the requirement for further
bat surveys, upon receipt of this the following comments were provided:

. | would accept the results of the bat emergence survey that the building to be
demolished does not support a bat roost. No further level of survey is required
prior to deciding the application.

. The application is exempt from the requirement to provide a net gain in
biodiversity because the proposals will not affect any substantive areas of semi-
natural habitat.

Arboricultural Officer (FDC)
| have no objection.

Environmental Health (FDC)

Thank you for the opportunity to view the attached documents and comment on
this application. Environmental Health raise no objection to this application. We
would like to raise the following observations.

In note the age of the building and therefore recommend that prior to demolition
the operator undertakes an asbestos survey of the property. Should materials
containing asbestos be found, then a risk assessment for safe removal of these
materials and disposal should be undertaken.

Due to the proximity of this property and residents, businesses and pedestrians,
the site should operate effective dust and noise management practices. During
demolition should there be any visible emissions of dust leaving the boundary of
the demolition site, mitigation measures should be implemented.

Please find the following informatives for your consideration.
A.1. Asbestos

The existing structure, which is formed of asbestos containing materials, should be
removed by a licensed asbestos removal contractor. However, if the amount of
asbestos is such that a licensed waste removal facility is prepared to receive a
minimal amount of such material without the need for a contractor to remove it,
then this requirement can be waived.

If a Licensed Asbestos Removal Contractor is required to be engaged, then an
Asbestos Removal Work Plan should be submitted to and approved by Fenland
District Council before any work on the removal of the structure commences. The
applicant is to advise Fenland District Council which course of action is to be taken
in either event and must ensure that they notify Fenland District Council’s
environmental health team on completion of works.

Page 27



A.2. Demolition

No demolition work should take place outside the hours of 08:00 hours and 18:00
hours on Monday to Friday, 08:00 hours to 13:00 hours on Saturday and at no
time on Sundays, Bank or Public Holidays unless otherwise previously agreed in
writing with the Local Planning Authority. There should be adequate protection for
nearby residents from dust created in the demolition phases of the development
and adequate and effective means of suppression of dust must be provided.

Prior to the demolition phase commencing, at least 7 days advanced notice is
given to the occupiers of the immediate neighbouring properties.

Reason: To protect the amenity of the adjoining properties

Conservation Officer (FDC)

The site is host to the former Barclays Bank premises in Broad Street, March.

The site is prominent both within the streetscene and within the setting of a host of
designated and non-designated heritage assets.

The building is highlighted within the March Conservation Area Appraisal and
Management Plan as a negative frontage that has a detrimental impact on the
character and appearance of the streetscene and March Conservation Area.

Despite the above and the public’s mixed views on such architectural style.
Brutalist architecture, as this building presents itself as an example of, is
increasingly becoming rare and many good examples nationally have been lost to
redevelopment. Despite the often stark contrast between brutalist style buildings
and historic buildings of more traditional form in towns and cities, these buildings
represent the varied urban grain that makes up the character of our streets and
are examples of an important architectural movement at a particular point in time.
Such buildings with comparatively simple form and materials often present
themselves as ‘ugly’ owing to weathering and lack of maintenance. Clean and
simple lines don’t look well when they are unmaintained and cluttered, for which
these buildings are often burdened.

Despite mixed opinions, it would be difficult to defend the loss of a building that is
identified in the CAAMP as a negative feature. The concern here principally lies
with prominent demolition within a conservation area being approved without a
forward plan for future development on the site.

Justifications have been put forward in the form of a viability report, as well as
information surrounding the former bank vault that is said to be difficult to remove
without affecting the structure of the building. However, this does not overcome
the principal concern of the risk associated with demolition with no forward
proposals, thus rendering the site vacant.

Although a vacant building does nothing for the vitality and character of a
streetscene, a long-term ‘missing tooth’ in terms of a vacant site has the potential
for much greater impact. This is evidenced by the harm caused by a number of
long-term vacant sites in both March and Wisbech.

Although there is a clear wish from the applicants that the demolition is simply a

building block to getting the site sold and redeveloped, there are indeed no
guarantees.

Page 28



Permission to demolish without a future plan, essentially renders the site vacant,
with risks to the character and appearance of the conservation area for an
unknown period of time.

It is considered that the decision makers need to be fully aware of this potential for
long-term harm, which would ultimately be contrary to national and local planning
policy and guidance in relation to heritage assets.

The proposed plan shows a tall hoarding fence to be installed around the
perimeter of the site to screen the development. If the council decides to approve
this application, conditions should be applied to ensure that details of colour can
be agreed. An appropriate hoarding colour would likely reduce the negative impact
to some degree in the short term.

On the basis of the unknowns highlighted above, there are concerns with
approving demolition with no forward plan, which would be contrary to national and
local planning policy. It is not clear from the submission documents where the
public benefit lies and how this outweighs the identified harm of a vacant site with
no forward plan.

As such, the proposal is not considered to be in accordance with LP19 of the
Fenland Local Plan, Section 16 of the NPPF and S72 Planning (Listed Buildings
and Conservation Areas) Act 1990.

RECCOMENDATION: Objection

5.10 Local Residents/Interested Parties

One objection has been received, from New Road, Chatteris regarding the

following:
Objecting Comments Officer Response
The application should be referred to This application does not relate to a
Cambridgeshire County Council for County matter so cannot be
determination as the applicant is determined by Cambridgeshire County

Fenland District Council and concerns | Council.
that Fenland District Council will be
dealing with it's own application to
develop the site.

The building should be made available The material considerations in
for rental publicly for a period of time, relation to the loss of the building will
not automatically demolished be assessed in the sections below.

6 STATUTORY DUTY
Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires a
planning application to be determined in accordance with the Development Plan
unless material planning considerations indicate otherwise. The Development Plan
for the purposes of this application comprises the adopted Fenland Local Plan
(2014) the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Local Plan
(2021) and the March Neighbourhood Plan (2017)

Sections 66 and 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act
1990 require Local Planning Authorities when considering development to pay

Page 29



special attention to preserving a listed building or its setting and to the desirability
of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of a conservation area.

POLICY FRAMEWORK

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2024

Chapter 2 - Achieving sustainable development

Chapter 4 — Decision-making

Chapter 6 — Building a strong, competitive economy

Chapter 7 — Ensuring the vitality of town centres

Chapter 8 — Promoting healthy and safe communities

Chapter 11 — Making effective use of land

Chapter 12 — Achieving well-designed places

Chapter 14 — Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change
Chapter 15 — Conserving and enhancing the natural environment
Chapter 16 - Conserving and enhancing the historic environment

National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)
Determining a Planning Application

National Design Guide 2021
Context — C1, C2

Identity - 11, 12

Nature — N3

Public Spaces -P1, P2, P3

Fenland Local Plan 2014

LP1 - A Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development

LP2 — Facilitating Health and Wellbeing of Fenland Residents

LP3 — Spatial Strategy, the Settlement Hierarchy and the Countryside
LP6 — Employment, Tourism, Community Facilities and Retail

LP9 — March

LP14 — Responding to Climate Change and Managing the Risk of Flooding in
Fenland

LP15 — Facilitating the Creation of a More Sustainable Transport Network in
Fenland

LP16 — Delivering and Protecting High Quality Environments across the District
LP17 — Community Safety

LP18 — The Historic Environment

LP19 — The Natural Environment

March Neighbourhood Plan 2017
TC1 — Primary Shopping Frontages

Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2021
Policy 14 - Waste management needs arising from residential and commercial
Development

Delivering and Protecting High Quality Environments in Fenland SPD 2014

DM3 — Making a Positive Contribution to Local Distinctiveness and character of
the Area

DM6 — Mitigating Against Harmful Effects

Cambridgeshire Flood and Water SPD 2016

Page 30



9.1

9.2

9.3

March Conservation Area Appraisal and Management Strategy 2008

Emerging Local Plan

The Draft Fenland Local Plan (2022) was published for consultation between 25th
August 2022 and 19 October 2022, all comments received will be reviewed and
any changes arising from the consultation will be made to the draft Local Plan.
Given the very early stage which the Plan is therefore at, it is considered, in
accordance with Paragraph 49 of the NPPF, that the policies of this should carry
extremely limited weight in decision making. Of relevance to this application are
policies:

LP1: Settlement Hierarchy

LPS:  Health and Wellbeing

LP7: Design

LP11: Community Safety

LP15: Employment

LP16: Town Centres

LP20: Accessibility and Transport
LP21: Public Rights of Way
LP23: Historic Environment
LP24: Natural Environment
LP25: Biodiversity Net Gain
LP27: Trees and Planting

LP32: Flood and Water Management

KEY ISSUES

Principle of Development

Town Centre and Economic Growth
Heritage

Amenity and Health and Wellbeing
Highways

Flood Risk

Ecology and Trees

Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG)

ASSESSMENT

Principle of Development

Policy LP1 of the Fenland Local Plan 2014 is a high level, overarching policy
supporting a presumption in favour of sustainable development; planning
applications that accord with the policies within the Local Plan will be approved
without delay unless material considerations indicate otherwise.

There are no specific policies in relation to demolition, however the proposal
relates to a building formerly used as a bank, which is in a prominent location
within the Town Centre boundary, Primary Shopping Area and constitutes Primary
Shopping Frontage. It is located within March Conservation Area and within the
setting of Listed Buildings, hence the following policies are the primary points of
consideration:

Policy LP6 of the Fenland Local Plan 2014 seeks to support development where it
would strengthen the role of Market Towns, enabling these to adapt and provide a
wide range of facilities in a high-quality environment. Town Centre uses will be
supported within the Primary Shopping Frontage providing there is no impact on
the vitality and viability of the centre as a whole and community facilities and

Page 31



commercial uses at ground floor level within the Town Centre boundary should be
retained unless evidence indicates why the use can no longer be justified.

9.4 Policy LP16 of the Fenland Local Plan 2014 seeks to protect and deliver high
quality environments, ensuring that development makes a positive contribution to
local distinctiveness and character of the area, enhances its local setting, improves
the character of the local built environment and avoids adverse impacts.

9.5 Policy LP18 of the Fenland Local Plan 2014 seeks to protect, conserve and seek
opportunities to enhance the historic environment. All development proposals that
would affect any designated or undesignated heritage asset are required to
describe and assess the significance of the asset and/or its setting, identify the
impact of the proposed works on the special character of the asset and provide a
clear justification for the works, especially if this would harm asset or setting, so
that the harm can be weighed against public benefits.

9.6 Hence, the principle of demolition may be accepted subject to compliance with all
relevant policies and material considerations.

Town Centre and Economic Growth

9.7 Policy LP6 of the Fenland Local Plan 2014 seeks to support development where it
would strengthen the role of Market Towns, enabling these to adapt and provide a
wide range of facilities in a high-quality environment. Town Centre uses will be
supported within the Primary Shopping Frontage providing there is no impact on
the vitality and viability of the centre as a whole. Community facilities and
commercial uses at ground floor level within the Town Centre boundary should be
retained unless evidence indicates why the use can no longer be justified.

9.8 Policy TC1 of the March Neighbourhood Plan 2017 relates predominantly to the
retention of retail in the Primary Shopping Frontages, however the justification for
this policy sets out that it seeks to ensure the future viability of the town centre,
recognising the importance of providing local residents with shops and associated
facilities as an important contribution towards sustainable development objectives.

9.9 Paragraph 90 of the NPPF 2024 seeks to support the role that town centres play at
the heart of their communities, by taking a positive approach to their growth,
management and adaption and promote their long-term vitality and viability.
Paragraph 85 of the NPPF 2024 states that significant weight should be placed on
the need to support economic growth and productivity, taking into account both
local business needs and wider opportunities for development.

9.10 The building subject of this application is a former bank (Use Class E) which is
understood to have closed in 2021, and the site is within the Town Centre
Boundary, Primary Shopping Area and constitutes Primary Shopping Frontage.

9.11 Whilst the former use of the building would be considered a community facility, the
introduction of the wider ranging Class E of the Town and Country Planning (Use
Classes) Order 1987 (as amended) in 2020, and the fact that there are no
conditions restricting the use of the building, means the building has the option of
being utilised by a variety of commercial uses without the need for planning
permission and as such its use as a community facility could not be retained.

9.12 The building has been purchased by Fenland District Council with the express

intention of demolition and Government funding has been secured for this under
the Future High Street Fund, however there are currently no proposals for future

Page 32



redevelopment of the site, hence the scheme would result in the loss of a building
which could be reused for a town centre use without a replacement being secured.
The funding arrangements that have led to this approach are not considered
material to the assessment of the application, having regard to the Local Planning
Authority’s legal duties.

9.13 Policy LP6 seeks to retain commercial uses at ground floor level unless evidence
indicates why this can no longer be justified. The application is accompanied by a
viability assessment in respect of the retention and conversion of the existing
building as a wholly commercial premises, and alternatively with use of the first
floor as residential, and this concludes that retention and conversion is unviable in
either case. The supporting documentation raises a number of constraints to
conversion, including the vault which would require removal, the presence of
asbestos and the upgrades required in order to meet current Building Regulations
standards. It is acknowledged that redevelopment of the site has potential for
significant improvement, in terms of the usability of the building, potential housing
provision and in respect of the quality of the environment and character of the
area.

9.14 However, the building is not considered such an eyesore to warrant its demolition
without any safeguards, or indeed any proposals, in place as to its future
redevelopment. There is no evidence of a marketing exercise to otherwise
demonstrate re-use is unviable or unattractive to other potential commercial
enterprises. There is no evidence as to why it is necessary to demolish the
building prior to a scheme for its redevelopment having been secured, and without
a proposed scheme and/or evidence of the viability of such a scheme, no evidence
that the demolition of the building would result in the site being viable in future.

9.15 Therefore, there is a distinct risk that the site would remain vacant with fencing to
secure it indefinitely, which would be more harmful to the character of the area
than the current appearance and condition of the site. This would result in
unjustified harm to the vitality and viability of the town centre, which has recently
been subject to substantial regeneration, involving the introduction of large extents
of public realm, immediately in front of the application site and along Broad Street.
As such, the development is considered contrary to the aforementioned policies.

Heritage and Character of the area

9.16 Under the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990, the
Council has a legal duty to have special regard to preserving a listed building or its
setting when considering whether to grant planning permission which affects a
listed building or its setting; and in deciding whether to grant planning permission
for development in a conservation area, the Council has a legal duty to pay special
attention to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance
of the conservation area.

9.17 Policy LP16 of the Fenland Local Plan 2014 seeks to protect and deliver high
quality environments, ensuring that development makes a positive contribution to
local distinctiveness and character of the area, enhances its local setting, improves
the character of the local built environment and avoids adverse impacts.

9.18 Policy LP18 of the Fenland Local Plan 2014 seeks to protect, conserve and seek
opportunities to enhance the historic environment. All development proposals that
would affect any designated or undesignated heritage asset are required to
describe and assess the significance of the asset and/or its setting, identify the
impact of the proposed works on the special character of the asset and provide a

Page 33



clear justification for the works, especially if this would harm asset or setting, so
that the harm can be weighed against public benefits.

9.19 DM3 of the Delivering and Protecting High Quality Environments in Fenland SPD
2014 seeks to ensure that as a minimum, development provides high quality and
attractive public places, which should aim to improve and reinforce positive
features of local identity.

9.20 Paragraph 131 of the NPPF 2024 states that the creation of high quality, beautiful
and sustainable buildings and places is fundamental to what the planning and
development process should achieve. Good design is a key aspect of sustainable
development, creates better places in which to live and work and helps make
development acceptable to communities.

9.21 Paragraph 135 of the NPPF 2024 seeks to ensure that developments function well
and add to the overall quality of the area, not just for the short term but over the
lifetime of the development, are visually attractive are sympathetic to local
character and history, including the surrounding built environment and landscape
setting.

9.22 Paragraph 208 of the NPPF 2024 states that Local planning authorities should
identify and assess the particular significance of any heritage asset that may be
affected by a proposal (including by development affecting the setting of a heritage
asset) taking account of the available evidence and any necessary expertise. They
should take this into account when considering the impact of a proposal on a
heritage asset, to avoid or minimise any conflict between the heritage asset’s
conservation and any aspect of the proposal.

9.23 Paragraph 210 of the NPPF 2024 states that in determining applications, local
planning authorities should take account of:
a) the desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of heritage assets
and putting them to viable uses consistent with their conservation;
b) the positive contribution that conservation of heritage assets can make to
sustainable communities including their economic vitality; and
c) the desirability of new development making a positive contribution to local
character and distinctiveness.

9.24 Paragraph 212 of the NPPF 2024 states when considering the impact of a
proposed development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, great
weight should be given to the asset’s conservation (and the more important the
asset, the greater the weight should be). This is irrespective of whether any
potential harm amounts to substantial harm, total loss or less than substantial harm
to its significance.

9.25 Paragraph 213 of the NPPF 2024 states that any harm to, or loss of the
significance of a designated heritage asset should require clear and convincing
justification.

9.26 Paragraph 215 of the NPPF 2024 states that where a development proposal will
lead to less than substantial harm to the significance of a designated heritage
asset, this harm should be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal
including, where appropriate, securing its optimum viable use.

Page 34



9.27 Paragraph 217 of the NPPF 2024 states that local planning authorities should not
permit the loss of the whole or part of a heritage asset without taking all reasonable
steps to ensure the new development will proceed after the loss has occurred.

9.28 Paragraph 219 of the NPPF 2024 states that local planning authorities should look
for opportunities for new development within Conservation Areas and within the
setting of heritage assets, to enhance or better reveal their significance.

9.29 The application site consists of the former Barclays Bank, a ‘Brutalist’ style building
located on a prominent corner plot at the terminus of the continuous built form on
the western side of Broad Street, and immediately abutting the recently
regenerated public realm, which has opened up this area and results in this site
appearing even more prominent in the street scene. The site is located within
March Conservation Area and situated between the Grade Il listed buildings of the
War Memorial, now within the public realm on Broad Street in front of the site, and
the Old Bank House on West End, there are also a number of non-designated
heritage assets in the vicinity.

9.30 The March Conservation Area Appraisal and Management Strategy 2008
(CAAMS) identifies the application site as an enhancement opportunity which is
currently a negative frontage that has a detrimental impact on the character and
appearance of the street scene and March Conservation Area. Notwithstanding
this a vacant site could not be considered an enhancement and would fail to meet
the objectives of the CAAMS, furthermore, Brutalist architecture is becoming
increasingly rare and these buildings represent the varied urban grain that makes
up the character of our streets and are examples of an important architectural
movement at a particular point in time.

9.31 It is acknowledged that there is an opportunity for redevelopment of this site to
make a positive contribution to the heritage assets and the town centre as a whole,
hence the demolition of the building could be accepted if it is demonstrated that its
replacement would provide a high quality development, which enhances its local
setting and the historic and local built environment and would provide a public
benefit which would outweigh the less than substantial harm caused by the loss of
the existing building.

9.32 However, in this case there is no proposal for redevelopment of the site, the
application merely seeks permission to demolish the existing building and erect a
2.4m high fence around it; there are no proposals for remediation of the site or a
meanwhile use which may mitigate impact of the loss of the existing structure. The
building is not considered such an eyesore to warrant its demolition without any
safeguards, or indeed any proposals, in place as to its future development. There
is no evidence of a marketing exercise to otherwise demonstrate re-use is unviable
or unattractive to other potential commercial enterprises. There is no evidence as
to why it is necessary to demolish the building prior to a scheme for its
redevelopment having been secured, and without a proposed scheme and/or
evidence of the viability of such a scheme, no evidence that the demolition of the
building would result in the site being viable in future.

9.33 Therefore, there is a distinct risk that the site would remain vacant with fencing to
secure it indefinitely, which would be more harmful to the character of the area
than current appearance and condition of the site. This would result in unjustified
harm to the historic environment and the character and visual amenity of the area,
which has recently been subject to substantial regeneration, involving the
introduction of large extents of public realm, immediately in front of the application

Page 35



site and along Broad Street, enhancing the setting and appreciation of the War
Memorial and Conservation Area as a whole and which would be detracted from
should this development be approved. As such, there are not considered to be
any public benéefits to the proposal which would outweigh the identified harm and
the development is considered contrary to the aforementioned policies.

9.34 Notwithstanding this, it is noted that the building appears physically attached to 8
Broad Street to the north and limited information has been provided regarding the
proposed fencing, hence should the application be approved it would be necessary
to impose conditions in this regard to secure further details of how it is proposed to
demolish/make good No.8 and the appearance, management and maintenance of
the proposed fencing.

Amenity and Health and Wellbeing

9.35 Policy LP2 of the Fenland Local Plan 2014 seeks to ensure that proposals
positively contribute to creating a healthy and safe environment, reduce crime, the
fear of crime and anti-social behaviour and avoid adverse impacts.

9.36 Policy LP16 of the Fenland Local Plan 2014 seeks to protect and deliver high
quality environments, ensuring that development makes a positive contribution to
local distinctiveness and character of the area, enhances its local setting, improves
the character of the local built environment and avoids adverse impacts.

9.37 Paragraph 135 f) of the NPPF 2024 seeks to create places that are safe, inclusive
and accessible and which promote health and well-being, with a high standard of
amenity for existing and future users, and where crime and disorder, and the fear
of crime, do not undermine the quality of life or community cohesion and resilience.

9.38 To the immediate north and attached to the building it is proposed to demolish, is
the commercial unit of 8 Broad Street and residential properties of 27 and 29
Grays Lane, and located to the west on the other side of Grays Lane is the
residential property of the Old Bank House. The site is located within the town
centre, immediately abutting the public realm, as such it is necessary to consider
the impact of the proposal on the amenity of residents, workers, businesses and
the general public using this area.

9.39 No information has been provided regarding how it is proposed to demolish the
existing structure, how long this is likely to take, any mitigation measures proposed
to prevent adverse impacts or how the subsequent waste will be dealt with. The
Environmental Health team have raised concerns regarding dust and noise
management, asbestos and hours of demolition.

9.40 Should the application be approved, it is acknowledged that there will be some
adverse impact and disruption during the course demolition and the removal of
materials, however given the scale of the site this is likely to be only for a short
time, would therefore not create a significant adverse impact and one that could be
adequately mitigated by the imposition of conditions to secure further details in
respect of the demolition, dust and noise management and hours of demolition.
Environmental Health also recommend imposing a condition regarding asbestos
management as this is likely to be present on site, however given that this is
covered by separate legislation it is not considered reasonable or necessary to
impose.

9.41 Given that the site would become vacant following demolition there is potential for
this to become targeted by anti-social behaviour, and the Designing Out Crime

Page 36



Team have also raised concerns regarding potential criminal activity during the
demolition phase. As such, should the application be approved it is considered
necessary to impose a condition with regards to security measures, including the
timeframe for erecting the proposed fencing; any lighting will have to have regard
to its impact on ecology given the location of the site close to the river. Therefore,
subject to conditions, the proposal is considered to comply with the
aforementioned policies.

Highways
9.42 Policy LP15 states that development proposals should demonstrate that they
provide well designed, safe and convenient access for all.

9.43 Paragraph 116 of the NPPF 2024 states that development should only be
prevented or refused on highways grounds if there would be an unacceptable
impact on highway safety.

9.44 The application does not seek to alter the existing access, and the proposal will
have no impact on the highway network once demolished. The Local Highway
Authority have no objections to the proposal, however, should the application be
approved it is recommended that a condition is imposed to secure a Demolition
Traffic Management Plan (DTMP) to mitigate any potential detrimental impact on
the highway network during demolition. Therefore, subject to condition, the
proposal is considered to comply with the aforementioned policies.

Flood Risk

9.45 Policy LP14 of the Fenland Local Plan 2014 and Chapter 14 of the NPPF 2024
seek to steer developments to the areas with the least probability of flooding and
seek to ensure that development can be made safe for its lifetime and will not
increase flood risk elsewhere

9.46 The application site falls within Flood Zone 1 (low risk) and as such the proposal is
considered to be appropriate development and does not require the submission of
a flood risk assessment or inclusion of mitigation measures; the site is not at risk of
surface water flooding. Therefore, the proposal is considered to comply with the
aforementioned policies.

Ecology and Trees
9.47 Policy LP19 of the Fenland Local Plan 2014 and Paragraph 187 of the NPPF 2024
seek to conserve, enhance and promote biodiversity and the natural environment.

9.48 The site is close to a number of trees on adjoining land, albeit on the opposite side
of Grays Lane, the Council’s Arboricultural Officer has been consulted and has no
objections or recommendations regarding mitigation, as such, it is considered that
the surrounding trees would not be detrimental affected should the development be
approved.

9.49 The application is accompanied by a biodiversity checklist for which all answers
are no expect for bats and a great crested newts (the site is in a green zone).

9.50 Given that there are no natural features on site it is not considered that it could be

a potential habitat or dispersal route for great crested newts and as such no further
information is considered necessary in this regard.

Page 37



9.51 With regards to bats, the application is accompanied by a Preliminary Roost
Assessment and subsequent Phase 2 Bat Survey, which concluded that no
evidence of roosting activity was captured during the nocturnal bat activity survey
and therefore there are currently no further constraints with respect to roosting
bats. A precautionary approach to works was however recommended, and should
the application be approved a condition can be imposed to ensure that the
recommendations set out are adhered to. Therefore, subject to condition, the
proposal is considered to comply with the aforementioned policies.

Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG)

9.52 The Environment Act 2021 requires development proposals to deliver a net gain in
biodiversity following a mitigation hierarchy which is focused on avoiding ecological
harm over minimising, rectifying, reducing and then off-setting. This approach
accords with Local Plan policies LP16 and LP19 which outlines a primary objective
for biodiversity to be conserved or enhanced and provides for the protection of
Protected Species, Priority Species and Priority Habitat.

9.53 There are statutory exemptions, transitional arrangements and requirements
relating to irreplaceable habitat which mean that the biodiversity gain condition
does not always apply. In this instance, one or more of the exemptions /
transitional arrangements are considered to apply and a Biodiversity Gain
Condition is not required to be approved before development is begun because the
pre-development biodiversity value is too low to require statutory net gain.

10 CONCLUSIONS

10.1 The policies in the NPPF (December 2024) when taken as a whole constitute the
Government's view of what sustainable development means. Paragraph 8 of the
NPPF (December 2024) lists the three dimensions to sustainable development; the
economic, social and environment objectives, and sets out that these roles should
not be undertaken in isolation. Therefore, to achieve sustainable development a
proposed development should jointly and simultaneously deliver net gains across
each of these key objectives.

10.2 To be sustainable, development must strike a satisfactory balance between the
applicable economic, social considerations. This stance is supported by Policy
LP1 of the Fenland Local Plan 2014, which is a high level, overarching policy
supporting a presumption in favour of sustainable development.

10.3 It is acknowledged that there is an opportunity for redevelopment of this site to
make a positive contribution to the heritage assets and the vitality and viability of
the town centre as a whole, hence the demolition of the building could be accepted
if it is demonstrated that its replacement would provide a high quality development,
with an active ground floor use, which enhances its local setting and the historic
and local built environment and would provide a public benefit to which would
outweigh the less than substantial harm caused by the loss of the existing building.

10.4 However, in this case there is no proposal for redevelopment of the site, the
application merely seeks permission to demolish the existing building and erect a
2.4m high fence around it; there are no proposals for remediation of the site or a
meanwhile use which may mitigate impact of the loss of the existing structure. The
building is not considered such an eyesore to warrant its demolition without any
safeguards in place as to its future development.

10.5 There is no evidence of a marketing exercise to otherwise demonstrate re-use is
unviable or unattractive to other potential commercial enterprises. There is no

Page 38



evidence as to why it is necessary to demolish the building prior to a scheme for its
redevelopment having been secured, and without a proposed scheme and/or
evidence of the viability of such a scheme, no evidence that the demolition of the
building would result in the site being viable in future.

10.6 Therefore, there is a distinct risk that the site would remain vacant with fencing to

secure it indefinitely, which would be more harmful to the character of the area
than current appearance and condition of the site. This would result in unjustified
harm to the historic environment, the character and visual amenity of the area and
the vitality and viability of the town centre, which has recently been subject to
substantial regeneration, involving the introduction of large extents of public realm,
immediately in front of the application site and along Broad Street, enhancing the
setting and appreciation of the War Memorial and Conservation Area as a whole
and which would be detracted from should this development be approved. As
such, there are not considered to be any public benefits to the proposal which
would outweigh the identified harm.

10.7 Paragraph 56 of the NPPF 2024 states that Local Planning Authorities should

consider whether otherwise unacceptable development could be made acceptable
through the use of conditions or planning obligations. However, these can only be
used in certain circumstances as set out in Paragraph 57 and 58 of the NPPF 2024
and Regulation 122 of the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as
amended). It could not be considered reasonable to prevent the demolition of the
building until such time as a redevelopment proposal came forward, or secure
redevelopment of the site, as such, there is no planning mechanism to secure the
future of the site should this application be approved.

10.8 As set out above, it is considered that there are no benefits to the proposal which

11

would outweigh the harm identified, and there is no planning mechanism to secure
the future of the site should this application be approved, as such, the application
is recommended for refusal.

RECOMMENDATION

Refuse; for the following reasons:

1 | Policy LP6 of the Fenland Local Plan 2014, Policy TC1 of the March
Neighbourhood Plan 2017 and paragraphs 85 and 90 of the NPPF 2024 seek
to support development where it would strengthen the role of Market Towns,
enabling these to adapt and provide a wide range of facilities in a high-quality
environment, ensure the future vitality and viability of the town centres, and
recognising the role that town centres play at the heart of their communities as
an important contribution towards sustainable development objectives.

The application fails to justify the loss of a commercial use on a site within the
Town Centre Boundary, Primary Shopping Area and constituting Primary
Shopping Frontage, and there is no proposal for redevelopment of the site,
resulting in unjustified harm to the vitality and viability of the town centre. As
such, the development is considered contrary to the aforementioned policies.

2 | Policy LP16 and Policy LP18 of the Fenland Local Plan 2014, DM3 of the
Delivering and Protecting High Quality Environments in Fenland SPD 2014 and
Paragraphs 131, 135, 208, 210, 212, 213, 215, 217 and 219 of the NPPF 2024
seek to protect, conserve and seek opportunities to enhance the historic
environment and deliver high quality environments and attractive public places,

Page 39



ensuring that development makes a positive contribution to local
distinctiveness and the character of the area, enhances its local setting, avoids
adverse impacts and that any harm to or loss of significance of designated
heritage assets should have clear and convincing justification and be weighed
against the public benefit of the proposal.

The application fails to justify the demolition of a building located on a
prominent corner plot within March Conservation Area and in the setting of two
Grade Il listed buildings. There is no proposal for redevelopment of the site,
and the resultant vacant and fenced off site would result in unjustified harm to
the historic environment and the character and visual amenity of the area. As
such, it is considered that there are no public benefits to the proposal which
would outweigh the harm identified and the development is therefore
considered contrary to the aforementioned policies.

Page 40



F=

Marwick

Car Park

Ward

Memorial

Fenland
CAMBRIDGESHIRE

Fenland District Council

i

El Sub Sta

Created on: 28/02/2025

ESSs
ast (telecommunication)

George
Campbell

Car Park
M
PCs

|

250

F/YR25/0149/FDC

Scale = 1:1

Page 41

© Crown Copyright and database
rights 2025 Ordnance Survey 10023778




Page 42

TOPOGRAPHICAL & MEASURED BUILDING SURVEYS
ABBREVIATIONS & SYMBOLS
AH Arch Head Height ER Earth Rod RSD  Roller Shutter Door
:m_ r_m_ :m_ r_m_ :m_ cm_ AB Air Brick ET EP+Transformer i
S S S S S S RSJ Rolled Steel Joist
S S S S S S AR Assumed Route FB Flower Bed sl Sign Post
= S S mw. S = AV Air Valve FBD  Floor Board Direction  gp Arch Spring Point Height
m m m m m m BB Belisha Beacon FH Fire Hydrant sv Stop Valve
0 0 0 © 0 0 BH Bore Hole FL Floor Level Sw Surface Water
BL Bed Level FP Flag Pole sy Cable Stay
BO Bollard Fw Foul Water Tac  Tactile Paving
BrP Brace Post GG Gully Grate TC Telecom Cover
BS Bus Stop GV Gas Valve TH Trial Pit
T|o BU  Bush HH  Head Height THL  Threshold Level
= .W B/W Barbed Wire Fence IC Inspection Cover T Traffic Light
x m BX Box (Utilities) IL Invert Level ToW  Top of Wall
ANU .m C/B Close Board Fence IIR Iron Railings ) Telegraph Pole
- CH Cill Height Ko Kerb Outlet TS Traffic Signal Cover
CL Cover Level LP Lamp Post v Cable TV Cover
C/L Chain Link Fence MH Manhole uB Universal Beam
I C-Lev Ceiling Level MP Marker Post uc Unknown Cover
W.m Col Column NB Name Board UK Unknown Tree
< C/P Chestnut Paling Fence OHL  Overhead Line (approx) UMG  Unmade Ground
W.\ 399473.86 +394 o400 Tow CR Om.c_m _»_wm.ﬂ Pan Panel Fence USB  Under Side Beam
296800.000mN 3+ BV STO1 Wh® 6.62 296800.000mN C/W  Chicken Wire PB Post Box UTL  Unable To Lift
—+ -+ . 5404 + 4024k + + + DC  Drainage Channel PM  Parking Meter UTS  Unable To Survey
Private Land .W-w w01 | 0 F | DH Door Head Height PO Post VP Vent Pipe
Q™ ! &5 v Dil.  Dilapidated P/R  Post & Rail Fence WB  Waste Bin
wMe i W.M | Conrete DP Down Pipe P/W  Post & Wire Fence WH  Weep Hole
! oy 4.08 _ DR  Drain P/Wall Partition Wall WL Water Level
304 \2 8 | 4404 EBx  Electric Box RE Rodding Eye WM Water Meter
wm +3.92 4.04 EC Electric Supply Cover ~ RL Ridge Level e Wash Out
| 4.04) I EL Eaves Level RP szmo.wﬂ Post @ Floor to Ceiling Height
[ m.w@ EP Electric Pole RS Road Sign @Io Floor to False Ceiling Ht
[ I RL
0o | 1061 DRAWING NOTES /A Survey Control Station
MH
cL380 \\ Topographical Surveys
\\ Trees are drawn to scale showing the average canopy spread. Descriptions and
\ | Private Dwellings heights should be used as a guide only.
\ Two Storey - Brick Construction
All building names, descriptions, number of storeys, construction type including
e roof line details are indicative only and taken externally from ground level.
3.77
+3.91
RL 376 All below ground details including drainage, voids and services have been
T Private Dwellin Private Garden 8 identified from above ground and therefore all details relating to these features
- Three Storey - Brick ogméa_% s 305 g including; sizes, depth, description etc will be approximate only. All critical
L+ 304 \ dimensions and connections should be checked and verified prior to starting
3.93 work.
EL
\ 8.92 +3.83 . . .
| Detail, services and features may not have been surveyed if obstructed or not
| reasonably visible at the time of the survey.
WM
3.87
\w - @ 878 \ a8 Surveyed physical features may not necessarily represent the legal boundary
® . i ’ line.
296780.000mN I g 296780.000mN
+ — + g + + ildi
J Commercial Buildings AL T \ a6 Measured Building Surveys
3.68 . " Two Storey - Brick Construction +12.44 Wa o Construction Site . .
- \ 4382 399+ —— 8 Unable to Survey Measurements to internal walls are taken to the wall finishes at approx 1m
3 & T e———_ RL =28 Due to Restricted Access above the floor level and the wall assumed to be vertical.
373 \E_ M Container . ToH118s Wﬁﬁmww \ . . . .
MH \ S = : / _ k Cill heights are measured as floor to the cill and head heights are measured
e 1g a5 L] J 383 from cill to the top of window.
\ 3.99 S
+3.99 N
/\ PO o : 2z General
s
ol | 719 \ = The contractor must check and verify all site and building dimensions, levels,
brivato Gard 64 \ PO Asphalt 404+ | m utilities and drainage details and connections prior to commencing work. Any
rivate Garden / 3 86 | 5 | 55 £ errors or discrepancies must be notified to Survey Solutions immediately.
- < = = <
2 S b 12 +7.14 =
& > ST202 [ 2% ' The accuracy of the digital data is the same as the plotting scale implies. All
a § O Roofing Felt S5 i i i i
\ | S le . . RL av \ O g dimensions are in metres unless otherwise stated.
< |2 e [ e o og
s/Hg I N 3.70 . . .
23 ] 2} 5 1247 a9 The survey control listed is only to be used for topographical surveys at the
JRog, +3.78 5|5 408 Hm,nm 3884|277 \ . stated scale. All control must be checked and verified prior to use.
3.88 Vet o Gv10. i
4340 o = . o2l 0a E ZESA Construction Site © Land Survey Solutions Limited holds the copyright to all the information
West End T o mm 3 \ Unable to Survey contained within this document and their written consent must be obtained
20mph - Asphalt a5 e a3 & +3.75 X Due to Restricted Access before copying or using the data other than for the purpose it was originally
36 ' mvm > supplied.
Og +3.90 00 £ \
- (Uncovered) D 2 Bonot-scate-from-this-drawing:
399+ A/C Units D<<w
P 6%,
Roofing Felt 3.68:
+3.87 Asphalt \
296760.000mN 4 L PivateLang 2 8 L / paved L 296760.000mN
9 0\ 2
S ]
3 // nm. 3.88 \ Steps Up
5, o) s wCunit - SiepUP w_s: 377 D SURVEY CONTROL CO-ORDINATES
. <N A = I \ wolar STATIONS EASTINGS NORTHINGS LEVEL DESCRIPTION
~ +3.86 9.13 | -+ .
8@@ ~o Rm_m_ - SS01 541653.535 296741.697 3.630 Mag Nail
N RL — - 3.77 S .
bmvmq wumv/ 1155 rﬂw s 2l ° 388 < SS02 541615.000 296755.922 3.752 Mag Nail
e O~ ko I & \m + wz \ 367 S STO1 541618.489  296800.329 3.970
Brick Setts S © 395 & gl 3.66 — C_ & ST02 541612.226 296757.352 3.812
_ / 377 5 2 Broad Street L yes0 £l 4o 380 Wall03h_ Wallo3n ' 355] & ST03 541642.331  296742.695 3.566 Mag Nail
Private Land 386 M ) Two Storey - Brick Construction | | %:ﬂ MH <\\ \ 375 Brick Setts mru. ' . ' .
AN 374 w I ue 1 Class Ya sg Paved E ST04 541662.980 296737.412 3.646 Mag Nail
8OO\ kazs o, 151 a ST101 541622.434  296832.072 3.971 Mag Nail
oak 1on O 2378 389 P R ol s Q I oy pa 22 379 ST201 541611.811  296761.940 3.665 Mag Nail
i . o -~ ootway - FPave .
> 8Eis/ Jome. o 1237 ate+[K, \ @ /) ;oﬁ - ST202 541625938  296771.306 4.002 Mag Nail
38 e — o gy \ I & ST301 541645.160  296733.907 3.473 Mag Nail
+3.
:‘ / Tac
I \
3.88 Aoo SURVEY GRID AND LEVEL DATUM
3.82 3.64
Oak 10h The coordinate system established for this survey is related to Ordnance Survey
- national grid at a single point using Smartnet, then orientated to grid no
+358 0S) national grid at a single point using Smartnet, th ientated to grid north
- e with a scale factor of 1.000.
=}
FH +3.62 3.58 Grays Lane
3.40+ mmmmw.a Brick Setts /M.o uosum.ﬁug: The level datum established for this survey is related to Ordnance Survey (OS)
) g 3.30 N H
Grass \\\7@““@‘@._ +337 Brick Setts 3.49 using GPS Smartnet.
Unable to Survey Due to ~ 328 \\#m Q7 ~_ - 80O Tae3 354 To avoid discrepancies any coordinated data used in conjunction with this survey
Dense Brambles 1-2h R wﬂ/«m 33T Flower Bed™ : 50 O b e must be derived directly from this control data.
) Z B
3.30 = 3.66 \3.55
Grass Bank Footway - Paved SS01 / T\
296740.000mN ) 358y \ 296740.000mN
+ + 35— — — Bsksers R L= + S5 e +
EL /T T L T~ 3.55 Ny .
600, /' Ppaved —— T slof/
\Tﬁ?@ ﬂom<m //%a\m,, NW/4 -~ ~ .n@\\\ma_v 369 3.60
=~ ~k Sycamore 12h * Insallation Post ™ 5% m.«ﬁow A 372F CW M.M
i 045 T & 33 A | Scale Bar Added TWL JIA 27111724
m\%mem Sycamore 12h W\ / /5704 > Q@
O Conrete SO or \\ Footway - Paved NS X REV | DESCRIPTION DRAWN | APPR DATE
ZN _F =7
S CL223 5 O DR =,
M“mm_w% >:nummm<mc:m © [ Paved N\ ° R\ \w o e =317
) LR PPy s F L2 gz~
7.96 N ~. =7
Q. Oo_.// /V
e\»\ 76 5 \ \ Footway - Paved
0 R\
380 n// D 3.81
80 B \& 391
Bus Shelter Mw \ /nm-wxu
Paved el \ D +3.90
0 10m 20m | B
15m | °
\ F383 LAND SURVEYING
wc__._u_zwwcﬁmw_zm o 0845 040 5969
UNDERGROUND SURVEYIN .
SITE ENGINEERING survey-solutions.co.uk
Grass Bank zoz:-g_zm
mom_m wm_.. Ash 12h PSWICH BEDFORD COVENTRY GLASGOW LONDON MANCHESTER NORWICH
NOTTINGHAM YEOVLL
iy ~ Ash 12h
Ly 008"~ - o
~
PROJECT TITLE
296720.000mN 296720.000mN 2 BROAD STREET,
n i 4+ + + MARCH, PE15 8TG.
DRAWING DETAIL
TOPOGRAPHICAL SURVEY
Sheet 1 of 1
CLIENT SCALE
FENLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 1:200
SURVEYOR SURVEY DATE | CHECKED BY | APPROVED BY | DWG STATUS
ELB 09/11/2023 MG JIA FINAL
DRAWING NUMBER REVISION ISSUE DATE
62191NOLS-01 A 27/11/2023
w w w w w w
g g g g g g
o o o o o o
S S S S S S
m 8 I S 3 2
2 e e e e © RICS h g
3 3 3 3 3 3 PP THE SURVEY
ICES ASSOCIATION
IS0
14001 : 2015
REGISTERED

Original Sheet Size A1H

©Land Survey Solutions Limited 01/01/2010




TOPOGRAPHICAL & MEASURED BUILDING SURVEYS

c rwm;m
~-eV 6.48
FL415 (%]
(Carpet) 68
ERE
2»2 3
Q& ° 3
Ng
3

Safe
Gheyoss
(Carpet) Om»w\ wm,mm
(Carpet)

Worktop
Tow 6.03

OOEom
~Lev 6,83 HL7.11
FL4.14 Cill-
ﬂOmSm@ L 4.97
Break Room
C-Lev .81
FL4.14
(Carpet)
HL 7.09
Cill-L 4.23

Wooy gz

HL 6.22
HL 7.1 GillL 423 []]

Cill-L 4.2 i <
I \
ot all

HL7.13
Cill-L 4.8 ev7.1
. .10 AN
FLa13" pL
«Om_‘umc m.wW\.V:

HL 7.09
Cill-L 4.23

HL 719
Cill-L 6.49

Ground Floor Plan

Insertion Point

m

HL 6.37
Cill-L 4.99

~Lev 7
FL4. iom
(Carpet)
DL m.S\
C-Lev 6,83
FL4.15
(Carpef, LG40
HL7.13 y s.\
Cill-L 5 57 Office
: C-Lev 6 g3
FL4.14
(Carpet)
hmorQ Room
~Lev 7.0,
Amr 4.13 o
arpet) HL7.11
Cill-L 4.97
DL6.11
\
14
ma_‘mmm

g

_ Roof Overhan,
—_

—_
—_

—_
—_

First Floor Plan

Insertion Point

m

r|=|[3

Scale Bar

H | /
B lﬂ. N\

DL 10.24

HL 10.46
Cill-L 9 21 ..
Steps Up

Office
C-Lev 1

FL7 7939
(Carpet)

HL 10.4¢
Cill-L g, 16

e i
/./

HL 10.4¢
Cill-L 9,21
Locker Room,
om..? 10.47

Steps Up
Hal|

C-Lev 1
FL7 g3-40 DLg7g
(Carpet)

HL 10.46
\ Cill-L 9,27

\ HL 10.4¢
@ 4 CillL g5y
/op 9.75

Hallw,
C-Ley ﬂm
FL782"
. «Om_ﬁmc
wic
C-Lev 1
FL7 549
(Vinyi)
HL 10 4¢ ) . HL 10 4
Cill-L 9,24 ) Cill-L g, mo.ﬂ
\ \
DL 9 7g b=
C-Ley 1 50
/ FL780
y (Th 80 I._.,a.\a
/ yl) Cill-L 9,24
DL9.7g

(Carpet)

HL 10.4¢
Cill-L g 16

—_

Tl
Ra
ols
Zl <

ABBREVIATIONS & SYMBOLS

AH Arch Head Height ER Earth Rod RSD Roller Shutter Door
AB  Air Brick ET  EP+Transformer RSJ  Rolled Steel Joist
AR Assumed Route FB Flower Bed sl Sign Post

AV Air Valve FBD  Floor Board Direction  gp Arch Spring Point Height
BB Belisha Beacon FH Fire Hydrant sV Stop Valve

BH Bore Hole FL Floor Level sw Surface Water

BL Bed Level FP Flag Pole sy Cable Stay

BO Bollard Fw Foul Water Tac  Tactile Paving

BrP Brace Post GG Gully Grate TC Telecom Cover

BS  BusStop GV GasValve TH  Trial Pit

BU  Bush HH  Head Height THL  Threshold Level
B/W Barbed Wire Fence IC Inspection Cover TL Traffic Light

BX Box (Utilities) IL Invert Level ToW  Top of Wall

C/B Close Board Fence IIR Iron Railings TP Telegraph Pole

CH  Cill Height KO Kerb Outlet TS Traffic Signal Cover
CL  CoverLevel LP  Lamp Post TV Cable TV Cover
C/IL Chain Link Fence MH Manhole uB Universal Beam
C-Lev Ceiling Level MP Marker Post uc Unknown Cover
Col Column NB Name Board UK Unknown Tree

C/P Chestnut Paling Fence OHL  Overhead Line (approx) UMG  Unmade Ground

CR  Cable Riser Pan  Panel Fence USB  Under Side Beam
C/W  Chicken Wire PB  PostBox UTL  Unable To Lift

DC Drainage Channel PM Parking Meter UTS Unable To Survey

DH Door Head Height PO Post VP Vent Pipe

Dil. Dilapidated P/R Post & Rail Fence WB Waste Bin

DP Down Pipe P/W Post & Wire Fence WH Weep Hole

DR Drain P/Wall  Partition Wall WL Water Level

EBx  Electric Box RE Rodding Eye WM  Water Meter

EC Electric Supply Cover ~ RL Ridge Level WO  Wash Out

EL Eaves Level RP Reflector Post @) Floor to Ceiling Height
EP  Electric Pole RS Road Sign @FIC  Floor to False Ceiling Ht
DRAWING NOTES [\ Survey Control Station

Topographical Surveys

Trees are drawn to scale showing the average canopy spread. Descriptions and
heights should be used as a guide only.

All building names, descriptions, number of storeys, construction type including
roof line details are indicative only and taken externally from ground level.

All below ground details including drainage, voids and services have been
identified from above ground and therefore all details relating to these features
including; sizes, depth, description etc will be approximate only. All critical
dimensions and connections should be checked and verified prior to starting
work.

Detail, services and features may not have been surveyed if obstructed or not
reasonably visible at the time of the survey.

Surveyed physical features may not necessarily represent the legal boundary
line.

Measured Building Surveys

Measurements to internal walls are taken to the wall finishes at approx 1m
above the floor level and the wall assumed to be vertical.

Cill heights are measured as floor to the cill and head heights are measured
from cill to the top of window.

General

The contractor must check and verify all site and building dimensions, levels,
utilities and drainage details and connections prior to commencing work. Any
errors or discrepancies must be notified to Survey Solutions immediately.

The accuracy of the digital data is the same as the plotting scale implies. All
dimensions are in metres unless otherwise stated.

The survey control listed is only to be used for topographical surveys at the
stated scale. All control must be checked and verified prior to use.

© Land Survey Solutions Limited holds the copyright to all the information
contained within this document and their written consent must be obtained
before copying or using the data other than for the purpose it was originally
supplied.

SURVEY CONTROL CO-ORDINATES

STATIONS EASTINGS NORTHINGS LEVEL DESCRIPTION

SURVEY GRID AND LEVEL DATUM

The coordinate system established for this survey is related to Ordnance Survey
(OS) national grid at a single point using Smartnet, then orientated to grid north
with a scale factor of 1.000.

The level datum established for this survey is related to Ordnance Survey (OS)
using GPS Smartnet.

To avoid discrepancies any coordinated data used in conjunction with this survey
must be derived directly from this control data.

A | Scale Bar Added TWL JIA - |27/11/24

REV | DESCRIPTION DRAWN | APPR DATE

B SURVEY
2 SOLUTIONS

LAND SURVEYING
oo aee | oo 040 5969

SITE ENGINEERING survey-solutions.co.uk
MONITORING

IPSWICH BEDFORD COVENTRY GLASGOW LONDON MANCHESTER NORWICH
NOTTINGHAM YEOVIL

PROJECT TITLE
2 BROAD STREET, MARCH,
CAMBRIDGESHIRE, PE16 8TQ.

DRAWING DETAIL
MEASURED BUILDING SURVEY (FLOOR PLANS)
Sheet 1 of 1

CLIENT SCALE
FENLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 1:100
SURVEYOR | SURVEY DATE| CHECKED BY | APPROVED BY | DWG STATUS
PNC 09/11/2023 MG JIA FINAL
DRAWING NUMBER REVISION ISSUE DATE
62191NOLS-02 A 27/11/2023
RICS chartSred THE SURVEY
ICES ASSOCIATION
ISO
14001 : 2015

REGISTERED

Original Sheet Size A1H

Page 43

©Land Survey Solutions Limited 01/01/2010




1 abed

12.39 — 12.39
11.55 11.55
11.55
Hiont Rendering Rendering
1049 10.49 10.49 o7
Brick
9.19 9.19 919
B . .
Concrete Concrete Concrete Brick Building
Concrete
7.11 7.14 7.4 7.14
71—
Brick 539
2
Brick =
3 2 2
5 = 5
< — & 2 2
2 — & g
3.95 Brick
= Concrete
g 413 - 4.16 Concrete Concrete
l S wd 308 401 »
3.91 —
Elevation 1
12.49 —— 1249 1250 s
VP ]
Slate wp |:| 1155 1155 Brick
11,55 — 11.48 9 11.55
H Rendering Rendering
Bricl [MoP [Top Light []oP Rendering
10.85 g
10.50 10.50 — 10.50 op||||[PP
10.55 0
] Bx
Brick
- 9.80 D )
Brick
. Vent
Brick 9.45 —
LR — ) 920 — )
-9.12 Brick
ml LU
8.80 — Brick g
<
8.17 5 .
Building = 8.08 SLi o vp . Light
808 L:Iight = Brick |_9__|
7.16 7.16
Light Bx [ Vent T 7.37
- 7.12
N O If I:l D Vent o
> Brick
Light 6.31-
—
DP]
Brick
oF — 556
5.56
[(
4.86 —
05 408 403
4.05 4.03 4.03
390
Elevation 3
—_
B —
— o
=
™
S /
(@)
=
I5 |
>
D /
]

Elevation 1

12.39 —12.39
11.55 — 1155
Rendering Rendering
10.49
1049 — ‘ ‘ L ‘ ‘ — 1049 Brick
Brick
8.13 — v
8.13
Concrete Concrete Concrete
7.37 — 710 7.11
7.10 - > — 7.1
£
: ]
°
3 6.37
© 6.38
j=2}
£
@
2 5.24
4.75 5] -
& .
4.86 Brick
L 475
Elec. Elec. : . i
Brick Bx Bx Brick Brick 395
3.94 3.95 - 410
3.89 —
Elevation 2
12.39 12.39
Alarm i
O 11.55 Brick 11.55
— 11.55
Rendering _ Rendering
N Light Light
Brick 10.50 — — 10.50
1048 —— 10.50
DP|
— bP
<~ 923 — 9.20
I~ -9.15
) Bx .
Brick AIC Brick
>
7op | |2
[ 1 7.98 '
K
Concrete Brick O
712 — )
- Brick
Light [ Bx O
—
623 | ight
Building 6.16
3.98
—’j_. 4.03 1
4.03

Elevation 4

— 737

[

Above OS Datum Line 1.00m

Elevations Layout

ols3
Zl £

10m

Scale Bar

15m

20m

TOPOGRAPHICAL & MEASURED BUILDING SURVEYS
ABBREVIATIONS & SYMBOLS

AH Arch Head Height ER Earth Rod RSD Roller Shutter Door
A/B Air Brick ET EP+Transformer RSJ  Rolled Steel Joist

AR Assumed Route FB Flower Bed Sl Sign Post

AV Air Valve FBD Floor Board Direction sp Arch Spring Point Height
BB Belisha Beacon FH Fire Hydrant sV Stop Valve

BH Bore Hole FL Floor Level SW  Surface Water

BL Bed Level FP Flag Pole sy Cable Stay

BO Bollard Fw Foul Water Tac  Tactile Paving

BrP  Brace Post GG Gully Grate TC Telecom Cover

BS Bus Stop GV GasValve TH  Trial Pit

BU  Bush HH  Head Height THL  Threshold Level

B/W  Barbed Wire Fence IC Inspection Cover TL Traffic Light

BX Box (Utilities) IL Invert Level ToW  Top of Wall

C/B Close Board Fence IIR Iron Railings TP Telegraph Pole

CH Cill Height KO Kerb Outlet TS Traffic Signal Cover
CL  Cover Level LP  Lamp Post TV Cable TV Cover

C/L  Chain Link Fence MH  Manhole uB Universal Beam
C-Lev Ceiling Level MP Marker Post uc Unknown Cover

Col Column NB Name Board UK Unknown Tree

c/P Chestnut Paling Fence OHL  Overhead Line (approx) UMG  Unmade Ground

CR  Cable Riser Pan  Panel Fence USB  Under Side Beam
C/W  Chicken Wire PB Post Box UTL  Unable To Lift

DC Drainage Channel PM Parking Meter UTS  Unable To Survey

DH  Door Head Height PO Post VP VentPipe

Dil. Dilapidated P/R Post & Rail Fence wB Waste Bin

DP Down Pipe P/W Post & Wire Fence WH Weep Hole

DR Drain P/Wall  Partition Wall WL Water Level

EBx  Electric Box RE Rodding Eye WM  Water Meter

EC Electric Supply Cover ~ RL Ridge Level WO  Wash Out

EL Eaves Level RP Reflector Post Floor to Ceiling Height
EP  Electric Pole RS RoadSign @FIC Floor to False Ceiling Ht
DRAWING NOTES /A Survey Control Station

Topographical Surveys

Trees are drawn to scale showing the average canopy spread. Descriptions and
heights should be used as a guide only.

All building names, descriptions, number of storeys, construction type including
roof line details are indicative only and taken externally from ground level.

All below ground details including drainage, voids and services have been
identified from above ground and therefore all details relating to these features
including; sizes, depth, description etc will be approximate only. All critical
dimensions and connections should be checked and verified prior to starting
work.

Detail, services and features may not have been surveyed if obstructed or not
reasonably visible at the time of the survey.

Surveyed physical features may not necessarily represent the legal boundary
line.

Measured Building Surveys

Measurements to internal walls are taken to the wall finishes at approx 1m
above the floor level and the wall assumed to be vertical.

Cill heights are measured as floor to the cill and head heights are measured
from cill to the top of window.

General

The contractor must check and verify all site and building dimensions, levels,
utilities and drainage details and connections prior to commencing work. Any
errors or discrepancies must be notified to Survey Solutions immediately.

The accuracy of the digital data is the same as the plotting scale implies. All
dimensions are in metres unless otherwise stated.

The survey control listed is only to be used for topographical surveys at the
stated scale. All control must be checked and verified prior to use.

© Land Survey Solutions Limited holds the copyright to all the information
contained within this document and their written consent must be obtained
before copying or using the data other than for the purpose it was originally
supplied.

SURVEY GRID AND LEVEL DATUM
The coordinate system established for this survey is related to Ordnance Survey

(OS) national grid at a single point using Smartnet, then orientated to grid north
with a scale factor of 1.000.

The level datum established for this survey is related to Ordnance Survey (OS)
using GPS Smartnet.

To avoid discrepancies any coordinated data used in conjunction with this survey
must be derived directly from this control data.

A Scale Bar Added TWL JIA

SURVEY CONTROL CO-ORDINATES

STATIONS EASTINGS NORTHINGS LEVEL DESCRIPTION

27/11/24

REV | DESCRIPTION

DRAWN | APPR DATE

B SURVEY
2 SOLUTIONS

LAND SURVEYING

BUILDING SURVEYING 0845 040 5969

e RO SURVEYING survey-solutions.co.uk
MONITORING

IPSWICH BEDFORD COVENTRY GLASGOW LONDON MANCHESTER NORWICH
NOTTINGHAM YEOVLL

PROJECT TITLE

2 BROAD STREET, MARCH,
CAMBRIDGESHIRE, PE16 8TQ.

DRAWING DETAIL
MEASURED BUILDING SURVEY (ELEVATIONS)
Sheet 1 of 1

CLIENT SCALE
FENLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 1:100
SURVEYOR SURVEY DATE | CHECKED BY | APPROVED BY | DWG STATUS
PNC 09/11/2023 MG JIA FINAL
DRAWING NUMBER REVISION ISSUE DATE
62191NOLS-03 A 27/11/2023
RICS N %
g THE SURVEY
ASSOCIATION

/ QM ISO
\, 14001 : 2015

©Land Survey Solutions Limited 01/01/2010

Original Sheet Size A1H




Gy abed

Old Bank House

P
oﬂland Hous
e

Nene Quay

\

Site Plan - As Proposed

scale - 1:200

PR OJECT .

Proposed Mixed-Used Development at 2 Broad Street, March
for Fenland District Council

D RAWING®G T |1 T L E :

PLANNING SUBMISSION
Post-Demolition Plan

D A T E

Oct 24

S C A L E :

Var @ A1

Key

@ Existing tree - indicative size and location.

Fencing - 8ft high painted solid timber fence.

Fence Elevation - As Proposed

0 02 04 06 08 m
scale - 1:20
S HEE T :

FD-178-P100

© RHOCHI ARCHITECTURE & DESIGN LTD

All dimensions to be checked on site and any discrepancies to be reported.
Units shown are in 'mm'’ unless otherwise stated.

or

\ Po’ﬂand
Hoys s

War
Memorial

© Crown copyright and database rights 2023 OS 100041041

Location Plan

0 5 10 25 50 62.5m

scale - 1:1250

Solid timber fencing with top
and bottom rails and vertical
supports.

Painted in neutral colour -
dark blue / green.

RHOCHI ARCHITECTURE & DESIGN LTD

WWwWWw.

RHOCHI.CO.UK 01354 742703



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Iltem 6

F/YR25/0111/0

Applicant: Mr Luke Boekestyn Agent: Mr Jamie Burton
Burmor Construction Swann Edwards Architecture Ltd

Land North West Of Cobble House, Gull Road, Guyhirn, Cambridgeshire
Erect up to 24 dwellings (outline application with all matters reserved)
Officer recommendation: Refuse

Reason for Committee: Parish Council comments contrary to Officer
Recommendation.

1 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1. The proposal is for up to 24 dwellings, (Outline with all matters reserved) on
agricultural land on the edge of Guyhirn considered a Small Village in policy
LP3 of the Fenland Local Plan. LP3 states that development in Small
Villages will be considered on its merits but will normally be limited in scale
to residential infilling. This proposal seeks to develop across an entire area
of open countryside circa 320 metres in width to the east of Gull Road. The
principle of development of this site is therefore considered contrary to Policy
LP3 the Council's Settlement Hierarchy and Spatial Strategy resulting in
unsustainable development contrary to the golden thread that runs through
the NPPF.

1.2. Policy LP12 of the Fenland Local Plan also states that new development
within villages will be supported where it satisfies Policy LP3, as well as the
criteria set out therein. Policy LP16 (d) requires development to deliver and
protect high quality environments through, amongst other things, making a
positive contribution to the local distinctiveness and character of the area.
Development of up to 24 dwellings on an area of land that currently
contributes to the countryside character of this rural village is considered
likely to result in a detrimental urbanising impact to the settlement form of the
village of Guyhirn, resulting in linear development leading to visual harm to
the character of this part of Guyhirn and the open countryside and therefore
considered contrary to Policy LP12(c d and e) and LP16(d).

1.3. Policy LP14 states that development in an area known to be at risk will only
be permitted following the successful completion of a Sequential Test, and
Exception Test (where appropriate), and the demonstration that the proposal
meets an identified need and appropriate flood risk management. The site is
on land substantially lower than the existing road and is within Flood Zone 3,
land at the highest risk of flooding. Given that Guyhirn is classified as a
small village, the application proposes a scale of development over and
above that which has been identified as being required to sustain the
settlement and which must therefore be linked to wider strategic housing

Page 47



1.4.

delivery within the district as a whole. Thus, the submitted sequential test,
which limits the area of search to Guyhirn only is too limited given the
circumstances of the proposal and thus the sequential test is deemed to be
failed.

Whilst the provision of up to 24 affordable housing units offers some weight
to the case for supporting this scheme, it does not overcome the policy
contraventions with respect to development in an unsustainable location,
noting the conflicts with Policies LP3, LP12, LP14, and LP16 as discussed in
detail below. Accordingly, the scheme is recommended for refusal.

2.1.

2.2.

3.1.

3.2.

SITE DESCRIPTION

This application relates to a 1.03-hectare site on the eastern side of Gull
Road, Guyhirn that currently comprises agricultural land. The site fronts Gull
Road and currently appears in the streetscene as a circa 320m stretch of
open countryside. The site is bounded to the north and south by existing
residential development, to the east the boundary is demarcated by an
existing IDB drainage ditch with open countryside beyond. The western
boundary is formed by the highway. Additional residential development is
located to the western side of the highway opposite the site.

The site is within flood Zone 3, an area considered to be at highest risk of
flooding. The land sits lower than the existing road. The Applicant’s Flood
Risk Assessment identifies the existing ground levels at the site are typically
between -0.2m OD and +0.3m OD. Alongside Gull Road the site slopes from
the carriageway level which is between +1.6m OD and +2.0m OD, i.e. the
site sits around 1.75m below the highway on average.

PROPOSAL

This application is outline in nature with all matters reserved and proposes a
linear residential development of up to 24 dwellings. Indicative plans have
been submitted indicating that the proposed dwellings would be a mix of
detached and semi-detached properties between 1-3 bedrooms; and it is
proffered that these will be 100% affordable. The dwellings are intended to
be served by shared driveways with parking, and the plots include gardens
to the east. A central visitor parking area is shown, with an attenuation pond
to the rear. A proposed 1.8m footpath is shown across the frontage of the
site.

Full plans and associated documents for this application can be found at:
https://www.publicaccess.fenland.gov.uk/publicaccess/

Page 48



https://www.publicaccess.fenland.gov.uk/publicaccess/

4 SITE PLANNING HISTORY

Refused
01.02.2018
F/YR17/1213/0 Erec_tlon_ of up to 4 dwellings (Outline
application with all matters reserved) Appeal
Dismissed
28.03.2019
Erection of up to 4 dwellings (Outline Refused
F/YR16/1181/0 application with all matters reserved) 20.07.2017
Erection of 4no 3 bed and 8no 2 bed 2 Refused
F/YR13/0648/F  storey dwellings with associated
) 19.12.2013
external works and parking
Erection of a 4/5-bed detached house Approved
F/YR08/0446/RM with detached double garage with 26.06.2008
playroom over
: : Granted
F/YRO07/0392/0  Erection of a dwelling 07.09.2007
5 CONSULTATIONS

5.1. Wisbech St Mary Parish Council
The Parish Council would like to recommend approval for this application
subject to it complying with a local lettings policy, The open space on the
plan should be an area for visitor car parking and councillors would also like
the speed limit of the road to be reduced from 40MPH to 30MPH due to the
amount of homes within this area, for the safety of new and existing
residents.

5.2. Cambridgeshire County Council (Growth & Economy)
Table 1 below summarises the contributions requested by the Council.

Contribution Project grdexatlon Trigger
ate
To be
calculated in
Early aqcordance Early years
Years with Table 9 places in 1Q2025
*£88,408 Guyhirn 50% prior to first
indicative occupation and
contribution 50% prior to
To be occupation of
calculated in 50% of the
accordance Primary school development
Primary with Table 10 facilities serving | 1Q2025
*£265,224 Guyhirn
indicative
contribution

Page 49




5.3.

5.4.

5.5.

5.6.

To be
calculated in
accordance
with Table 11 Secondary
.£2.12’ ‘.900 education
Secondary | indicative facilities servin 1Q2025
contribution Guvhirn g
Secondary 4
education
facilities serving
Guyhirn
SEND
Education
SEND .
Education £47,850 flfiaeces serving | 4Q2024
development
100% prior to
, , Enhancemgnt occupation of
Libraries £2,800 of the mobile 1Q2019 50% of the
library service development
10 days of
IIF/I:enltorlng £1,400 1Q2025 g??;r:encement
development

[..]

NHS England (Cambridgeshire & Peterborough
System)

Following on from the revised proposal and previous comments from
CAPICS (please see attached), as the number of dwellings has reduced
from 28 to 24 dwellings, | can confirm that CAPICS calculates the level of
contribution required is £20,633.31 (3.949sqm at £56224 per sqm).

Integrated Care

NHS England (East of England Ambulance Service)
A developer contribution will be required to mitigate the impacts of this
proposal and is calculated at £9,520 (discounted rate).

FDC Housing Strategy & Enabling Officer

My understanding is that this site is being presented as 100% affordable and
as such | welcome to proposed development as it will help meet the need for
affordable housing in Guyhirn and the wider area.

[...Outlined required AH provision should the proposal change to not being
100% affordable...]

FDC Housing Strategy & Enabling Officer — additional clarification
provided (07.08.25)

Guyhirn | Wisbech | Murrow | Thorney | Rings Totalled
St Mary Toll End
1 bed 15 28 20 1 4 68
2 bed 6 37 10 0 4 57

Page 50



3 bed 6 18 10 0 0 34
4 bed 3 4 2 1 2 12
5+ bed 1 3 1 0 0 5
Total 31 90 43 2 10 176

The above is for affordable rent only from the housing register.

These are those on the housing register that have a local connection to
Guyhirn (the other places are the same, all local connection to each place).

They can currently live anywhere but they would qualify for the housing
based on standard rural exception site local connection criteria, the other
places listed because there is a cascade which would usually go, Guyhirn,
wider parish, adjoining parishes, districtwide, HomeLink area. Based on the
number of units proposed on Gull Road, | would think it would be unlikely to
ever cascade out of the parish.

We would anticipate these numbers going up if granted permission and the
news of the development spreads. Many do not register on HomeLink as
they feel they have no chance of getting a place in the village.

9 of the 31 are using Guyhirn in their current address, although one of those
has Rings End, Guyhirn as the address.

Environment Agency

Thank you for your consultation dated 07 May 2025. We have reviewed the
documents as submitted and we are able to remove our objection to this
planning application, providing that you have taken into account the flood
risk considerations which are your responsibility. We have highlighted these
in the flood risk section below.

Please note our comments on water resources in our previous letter
referenced AC/2025/132608/01, dated 27 February 2025 remain relevant.

Flood Risk

We strongly recommend that the development should be carried out in
accordance with the submitted Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) (Ref:
ECL1382a/SWANN EDWARDS ARCHITECTURE; dated May 2025;
submitted by Ellingham Consulting LTD) and the following mitigation
measures it details:

e Finished floor levels shall be set 2.0m AOD

e Flood Resilient Construction to 0.3m above Finished Floor Levels

These mitigation measures should be fully implemented prior to occupation
and subsequently in accordance with the scheme's timing/ phasing
arrangements. The measures detailed above should be retained and
maintained thereafter throughout the lifetime of the development. This is to
reduce the risk of flooding to the proposed development and future
occupants and to protect against risk to life.

Page 51



5.8.

5.9.

We note that internal layout plans have not been submitted at this stage, and
therefore we have not been able to review if ground floor sleeping is
proposed for this development. If ground floor sleeping is proposed at the
reserved matters stage, we may look to object due to possible risks posed.

CCC (Lead Local Flood Authority)

We have reviewed the following documents:

e Additional Drainage Info, James Burton, 5th June 2025

e Proposed Drainage Layout, WE Consulting Engineers Ltd,
WECE/24/506/A0/C/100 Rev P03

Based on these, as Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) we have no objection
in principle to the proposed development.

The above documents demonstrate that surface water from the proposed
development can be managed through the use of an attenuation pond,
restricting surface water discharge to greenfield equivalents.

The LLFA is supportive of the use of ponds as in addition to controlling the
rate of surface water leaving the site it also provides water quality treatment
which is of particular importance when discharging into a watercourse).

Water quality has been adequately addressed when assessed against the
Simple Index Approach outlined in the CIRIA SuDS Manual.

We request the following conditions are imposed:

Full conditions wording omitted for brevity, conditions include:
e Submission of detailed drainage strategy;

Construction surface water management methods;
Survey report required prior to adoption;

Management and maintenance details required; and

FFLs minimum for freeboard.

Anglian Water Services Ltd

ASSETS

Section 1 - Assets Affected

There are assets owned by Anglian Water or those subject to an adoption
agreement within or close to the development boundary that may affect the
layout of the site. Anglian Water would ask that the following text be included
within your Notice should permission be granted.

Anglian Water has assets close to or crossing this site or there are assets
Subject to an adoption agreement. Therefore, the site layout should take this
into account and accommodate those assets within either prospectively
adoptable highways or public open space. If this is not practicable then the
sewers will need to be diverted at the developers cost under Section 185 of
the Water Industry Act 1991. or, in the case of apparatus under an adoption
agreement, liaise with the owners of the apparatus. It should be noted that
the diversion works should normally be completed before development can
commence.

Page 52



WASTEWATER SERVICES

Section 2 - Wastewater Treatment

When assessing the receiving water recycling centre’s (WRC) dry weather
flow (DWF) headroom we take the latest DWF figures, as verified by the
Environment Agency and add to this, sites with planning consent. Based on
the above assessment West Walton WRC is within the acceptance
parameters and can accommodate the flows from the proposed growth.

Section 3 - Used Water Network-Objection

We have reviewed the submitted Concept Foul Drainage Strategy Plan
WECE-24-506-SK-C-002 and the Foul water drainage strategy - Gull Road,
Guyhirn email correspondence with Anglian Water and the Applicant,
submitted with the application.

Anglian Water’s objection to a connection to our vacuum sewerage system
remains as per our previous response.

In order to overcome our objection, we require that the applicant continues to
engage with Anglian Water regarding the capacity of the existing vacuum
main system, in order to define a Sustainable Point of Connection (SPOC)
for the proposed development. Once a SPOC has been identified and a
strategy has been agreed with Anglian Water, we would expect the applicant
fo submit these details as part of their submitted documents for this
application. We will then review the information and respond accordingly.

If Local Planning Authority are minded to approve the planning application,
despite our objection, we recommend a condition which prevents occupation
until any required upgrades are completed.

Condition: Prior to commencement a scheme for foul drainage works will be
submitted to the Local Planning Authority identifying any necessary
upgrades. Prior to occupation the identified upgrades must be completed in
accordance with the approved scheme. This scheme will identify a
sustainable point of connection to the vacuum sewerage system and any
necessary upgrades.

Reason: To protect water quality, prevent pollution and flooding and secure
sustainable development having regard to paragraphs 7/8 and 180 of the
National Planning Policy FrameworKk.

[..]

5.10. North Level Internal Drainage Board
The Board's comments in its letter of 21 February 2025 regarding consent
being needed for surface water disposal remain valid.

In relation to maintenance of the riparian watercourse, the agent's

confirmation that responsibility for this is expected to remain with a single
party/landowner is noted.

Page 53



The Board would, however, suggest that any easement strip needs to
continue along where an attenuation area is indicated. As substantial
ground raising is suggested, detailed design/construction plans will also
have to clarify how this will be implemented adjacent to the watercourse,
including how it may affect the position of the easement strip. | would
suggest such details could form part of imposed pre-commencement "site
drainage" condition(s).

5.11. Cambridgeshire County Council Highways Authority
On behalf of the Local Highway Authority, | have no objection to the principal
of the proposed development. However, this is an "All Matters Reserved"
application and the below issues would need to be addressed in any future
planning submissions to make the development acceptable in highway
terms.

e Gull Road along the length of the boundary of the site, has a posted
speed limit of 40mph. Therefore, inter-vehicle visibility splays would need
to be 2.4m x 120m in either direction at each access point. These splays
have not been shown within this application and therefore | cannot confirm
if they are achievable. These splays would need to be either within the
extent of the adopted highway or over the land under the control of the
applicant and then Conditioned accordingly.

e The vehicle access arrangement shows a lot of new access points with
the highway and is not ideal as could be detrimental to the safety of the
highway. However, access approval is not sort or included within this
application so | cannot comment on this aspect of this submission as any
reserved matters application would deal with this.

e In order to make any development in this location acceptable to the
highways authority. There would be a requirement to install a footway
fronting the site which must have appropriate and official pedestrian
crossing points. There are no existing or proposed safe crossing points
along the frontage of the site. The dropped kerbs opposite are vehicle
access points to the existing dwellings and should not be perceived as
crossing points. If approved in its current proposed layout, this would be
detrimental to the safety of the highway, as pedestrians would be crossing
to a live vehicle access over a 40mph road with no facilities for the visually
impaired.

e [ am unable to confirm the extent of the highway fronting this site. | would
recommend that the applicant supply this information prior to the
determination of this application. As it is possible that land dedication
would be required in order to facilitate safe pedestrian access and it would
need to be established if safe access can be achieved (e.g. visibility

splays)

e Please consider how refuse collect will be achieved and where bins would
be stored and collected off the highway.

Page 54



e Gull Road along the length of the has a solid white line. This prohibits
vehicle from “Stopping At Any Time” and may require an amendment to
the Traffic Regulation Order or the alteration of the restriction to allow
access to this site. No proposal has been made on this aspect therefore |
am unable to comments what is required. | would recommend that the
applicant contact the CCC Policy & Regulations team to determine what is
required, if and when it is appropriate.

e There are utility poles along the length of the site within the highway.
These might need to be relocated, or alternative arrangements made with
the utility company to allow safe access with the highway.

[.]

5.12. Cambridgeshire Fire & Rescue Service
With reference to the above application for planning. Should you the
Planning Authority grant approval, Cambridgeshire Fire & Rescue Service
will require a planning condition against this application, for the provision of
fire hydrants to be installed, for the purposes of providing water for
firefighting.

The condition should read as follows:

No above ground development should take place until a water scheme for
the provision of fire hydrants has been submitted to and agreed with the fire
authority.

No occupation of the development can occur prior to the installed fire
hydrants being inspected and tested for operational use by the fire authority.
Proposed water schemes should be submitted via email in pdf format. All
required hydrants will be plotted and the pdf returned.

Discharge can only be given as follows:

a. Partial discharge once a water scheme has been submitted to the fire
authority for processing and or a phase of the development is complete.

b. Full discharge will be given once all water scheme fire hydrants have
been inspected, tested and are ready for operational use.

All proposed water schemes and installation inspections can be booked via
email to: Hydrants.User@cambsfire.gov.uk (Please note this a free service
provided by the fire authority)

All cost for the installations of fire hydrants proposed are to be borne by the
developer.

Where a Section 106 agreement or a planning condition has been secured,
the cost of Fire Hydrants will be recovered from the developer.

The number and location of fire hydrants will be determined following a risk
assessment and with reference to guidance contained within the “National
Guidance Document on the Provision of Water for Fire Fighting” 3rd Edition,
published January 2007. Access and facilities for the Fire Service should
also be provided in accordance with the Building Regulations Approved

Page 55



Document B5 Vehicle Access. Dwellings Section 13 and/or Vol 2. Buildings
other than dwellings Section 15 Vehicle Access.

5.13. Designing Out Crime Officers
| have searched the constabularies crime and incident systems covering a
two year period Guyhirn forms part of the Wisbech St Mary and Parsons
Drove council ward, crimes for this ward over the period are 483 and
incidents 1,379, | have drilled down to Guyhirn Gull Road as far as Gull
Drove, | would consider this to be a low risk to the incidents of crime based
on the current figures.

I would be happy to arrange a meeting with the developer to discuss
Secured by Design (SBD) as | believe this development could achieve the
accreditation with discussion.

| withhold further comment until this office receives a full or reserved matters
application. | am happy for the above to be conditioned should planning be
approved.

I currently have no further comments.
Additional comment received 15 May 2025:

The 3-meter maintenance strip must be enclosed and gated with a 1.8m
gate anti-cut/anti-climb at both ends of the open space (attenuation pond) to
protect the rear gardens of the residential properties.

5.14. Natural England
NO OBJECTION
Based on the plans submitted, Natural England considers that the proposed
development will not have significant adverse impacts on statutorily
protected nature conservation sites or landscapes.

5.15. FDC Ecology
Thank you for consulting me on the additional information provided to inform
the above planning application. | have visited the site.

o While I do note the advice provided by Natural England on the application
(they raise no objections), nevertheless | have prepared an HRA for the
application because of the proximity of the application site to the Nene
Washes designated sites and because | have identified a Likely
Significant Effect on the designated sites which | consider needs to be
mitigated. | have attached the HRA.

e | welcome the proposals by the applicant to enhance the watercourse
which runs along the eastern boundary of the site and note that
enhancements to this watercourse will achieve an overall net gain in
biodiversity for the development in excess of the required 10%.

e | would accept that, providing a Construction Environment Method

Statement is prepared and implemented, no impact will be caused to
national or local designated wildlife sites.

Page 56



e Having now viewed the site in April, | would not disagree with the habitat
assessment provided by the applicant.

I would raise no further objections to the application, but | would advise that
a number of Conditions are imposed on any permission which may be
granted to the scheme to protect biodiversity.

Biodiversity Net Gain

The statutory Biodiversity Gain Condition will apply to any permission, to
require the pre-commencement submission of a detailed Biodiversity Gain
Plan and a Habitat Management and Monitoring Plan. Since the
enhancements to the adjacent watercourse are outside the red line boundary
of the application site they are classed as ‘off-site biodiversity gain’ and will
therefore need to be secured through an S106 planning obligation.

Other Conditions / Informatives
Condition - Construction Environmental Method Statement

No development shall take place (including ground works and vegetation
clearance) until a more detailed Construction Environmental Method
Statement (CEMS: Biodiversity) has been submitted to and approved in
writing by the local planning authority. The CEMS (Biodiversity) must include
the following:

a) Risk assessment of potentially damaging construction activities.

b) Identification of “biodiversity protection zones”.

c¢) Practical measures (both physical measures and sensitive working
practices) to avoid or reduce impacts during construction (may be
provided as a set of method statements). This particularly applies to the
need to avoid water pollution.

d) The location and timings of sensitive works to avoid harm to biodiversity
features.

e) The times during which construction when specialist ecologists need to be
present on site to oversee works.

f) Responsible persons and lines of communication.

g) The role and responsibilities on site of an ecological clerk of works
(ECoW) or similarly competent person.

h) Use of protective fences, exclusion barriers and warning signs if
applicable.

The approved CEMS shall be adhered to and implemented throughout the
construction period strictly in accordance with the approved details, unless
otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning authority.

Reason: to protect biodiversity

Informative

Page 57



The Applicant is reminded that under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981,
as amended (section 1), it is an offence to remove, damage or destroy the
nest of any wild bird while that nest is in use or being built. Planning consent
for a development does not provide a defence against prosecution under this
act. Vegetation is most likely to contain nesting birds between 1st March and
31st August inclusive. No vegetation clearance should take place within this
period, unless a recent survey has been undertaken by a competent
ecologist to assess the nesting bird activity on site during this period and has
shown it is absolutely certain that nesting birds are not present.

5.16. Arboricultural Officer (FDC)
The accompanying arboricultural report categorises the trees appropriately
and indicates the better quality tree T3 will be retained and can be suitably
protected. The low quality trees in G3 will need to be removed which | do not
object with.

For a detailed application, a tree protection method statement will be
required and a robust landscape plan to include suitable tree planting for the
scheme.

5.17. Environmental Services (FDC)
We have 'No Objections' in principle but -

o Will a path be built as part of the development?

o New residents will require notification of collection details by the developer
before moving in and the first collection takes place.

e Refuse and recycling bins will be required to be provided as an integral
part of the development.

5.18. Environment & Health Services (FDC)
The Environmental Health Team note and accept the submitted information
and have 'No Objections' in principle to the proposal.

Construction Noise, Dust and Vibration:

There are certain aspects that need to be considered given the nature and
scale of the proposed development, with the issues of primary concern to
this service during the construction phase being the potential for noise, dust
and possible vibration to adversely impact on the amenity of the occupiers at
the nearest residential properties.

Therefore, this service would welcome a condition requiring the submission
of a robust Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) that shall
include working time restrictions in line with the template for developers, now
available on Fenland District Council's website at: Construction
Environmental Management Plan: A template for development sites
(fenland.gov.uk) In the interests of respect for the locally amenity, a
submitted CEMP shall be required to include working time restrictions in line
with those covered within the aforementioned template.

Vibration impact assessment methodology, mitigation measures, monitoring

and recording statements in accordance with the provisions of BS 5228-
2:2009+A1:2014 Code of Practice for noise and vibration control on

Page 58



construction and open sites may also be relevant, as would details of any
piling construction methods / options, as appropriate.

| trust that the information clarifies the stance of this service at this outline
stage.

5.19. Senior Archaeologist (CCC)

Thank you for the re-consultation with regards to the updated plans. We
have reviewed these and confirm they do not alter previously issued advice.
Namely that due to the archaeological potential of the site a further
programme of investigation and recording is required in order to provide
more information regarding the presence or absence, and condition, of
surviving archaeological remains within the development area, and to
establish the need for archaeological mitigation of the development as
necessary. Usage of the following condition is recommended:

Archaeology Condition

No demolition/development shall commence until the applicant, or their
agents or successors in title, has implemented a programme of
archaeological work, commencing with the evaluation of the application area,
that has been secured in accordance with a Written Scheme of Investigation
(WSI) that has been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning
Authority in writing. For land that is included within the WSI, no
demolition/development shall take place other than under the provisions of
the agreed WSI, which shall include:

a. The statement of significance and research objectives;

b. The programme and methodology of investigation and recording and the
nomination of a competent person(s) or organisation to undertake the
agreed works;

c. The timetable for the field investigation as part of the development
programme;

d. The programme and timetable for the analysis, publication &
dissemination, and deposition of resulting material and digital archives.

REASON: To safeguard archaeological assets within the approved
development boundary from impacts relating to any demolitions or
groundworks associated with the development scheme and to ensure the
proper and timely preservation and/or investigation, recording, reporting,
archiving and presentation of archaeological assets affected by this
development, in accordance with national policies contained in the National
Planning Policy Framework (DLUHC 2023).

Informatives:

Partial discharge of the condition can be applied for once the fieldwork at
Part c) has been completed to enable the commencement of development.
Part d) of the condition shall not be discharged until all elements have been
fulfilled in accordance with the programme set out in the WSI.

5.20. Local Residents/Interested Parties

Page 59



6.1.

7.1,

7.2.

7.3.

The LPA received no comments in support of the scheme. Contrastingly, 5
letters of objection were received from local residents of Gull Road and Nene
Close, Guyhirn. The reasons for objection can be summarised as follows:

Objecting Comments

Officer Response

Countryside character impacts

See Character & Appearance section
below.

Local infrastructure unable to cope

See Developer Contributions section
below.

Ecological concerns

See Ecology section below.

Flood risk and drainage concerns

See Flood Risk section below.

Parking, traffic & road safety
concerns

See Access & Parking section below.

No community consultation exercise

See Principle of Development section
below.

Potential overlooking concerns

Noise & disturbance concerns

See Residential Amenity section
below.

Relevant planning history of refusals

See Site Planning History and
Background sections below.

Loss of countryside views

Loss of view is not a material
planning consideration.

STATUTORY DUTY

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires a
planning application to be determined in accordance with the Development
Plan unless material planning considerations indicate otherwise. The
Development Plan for the purposes of this application comprises the

adopted Fenland Local Plan

(2014)

and the Cambridgeshire and

Peterborough Minerals and Waste Local Plan (2021).

POLICY FRAMEWORK

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2024
Chapter 2 - Achieving sustainable development

Chapter 4 — Decision-making

Chapter 5 — Delivering a sufficient supply of homes

Chapter 8 — Promoting healthy and safe communities

Chapter 9 — Promoting sustainable transport

Chapter 11 — Making effective use of land

Chapter 12 — Achieving well-designed places

Chapter 14 — Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal

change

Chapter 15 — Conserving and enhancing the natural environment

National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)

Determining a Planning Application

National Design Guide 2021
Context

Page 60



7.4.

7.5.

7.6.

7.7.

7.8.

7.9.

Identity

Built Form
Movement

Nature

Public Spaces
Homes and Buildings
Resources

Lifespan

Fenland Local Plan 2014

LP1 — A Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development

LP2 — Facilitating Health and Wellbeing of Fenland Residents

LP3 — Spatial Strategy, the Settlement Hierarchy and the Countryside
LP4 — Housing

LP5 — Meeting Housing Need

LP12 — Rural Areas Development Policy

LP13 — Supporting and Managing the Impact of a Growing District

LP14 — Responding to Climate Change and Managing the Risk of Flooding
LP15 — Facilitating the Creation of a More Sustainable Transport Network
LP16 — Delivering and Protecting High Quality Environments

LP19 — The Natural Environment

Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Local Plan
2021

Policy 14 - Waste management needs arising from residential and
commercial Development

Delivering and Protecting High Quality Environments in Fenland SPD
2014

DM2 — Natural Features and Landscaping Schemes

DM3 — Making a Positive Contribution to Local Distinctiveness and character
of the Area

DM4 — Waste and Recycling Facilities

DM6 — Mitigating Against Harmful Effects

Developer Contributions SPD 2015
Cambridgeshire Flood and Water SPD 2016

Emerging Local Plan

The Draft Fenland Local Plan (2022) was published for consultation between
25th August 2022 and 19 October 2022, all comments received will be
reviewed and any changes arising from the consultation will be made to the
draft Local Plan. Given the very early stage which the Plan is therefore at, it
is considered, in accordance with Paragraph 49 of the NPPF, that the
policies of this should carry extremely limited weight in decision making. Of
relevance to this application are policies:

LP1: Settlement Hierarchy

LP2: Spatial Strategy for the Location of Residential Development
LP4: Securing Fenland’s Future

LP5: Health and Wellbeing

Page 61



9.1.

9.2.

9.3.

9.4.

LP7: Design

LP8: Amenity Provision

LP11: Community Safety

LP12: Meeting Housing Needs
LP18: Development in the Countryside
LP20: Accessibility and Transport
LP22: Parking Provision

LP24: Natural Environment

LP25: Biodiversity Net Gain

LP27: Trees and Planting

LP28: Landscape

LP32: Flood and Water Management

KEY ISSUES

Principle of Development
Character and Appearance
Residential Amenity
Access and Parking

Flood Risk and Drainage
Biodiversity & Ecology
Infrastructure Contributions
Sustainability

BACKGROUND

The application site as a whole includes two separate areas that were
subject of previous planning applications;

In the northern part of the site, F/YR13/0648/F was refused for the erection
of 4no 3 bed and 8no 2 bed 2 storey dwellings (totalling 12) with associated
works and parking. The application was refused owing to impacts of
residential amenity and highway safety and failure of the sequential test.
However, it should be noted that assessment of this scheme was based on
the now superseded Fenland District Wide Local Plan (1993) and the
Fenland Local Plan Core Strategy (2013) and thus should be given limited
weight in decision making.

More recently, however, an area in the southern part of the site was subject
to a number of outline applications seeking the erection of up to 4 dwellings
(F/'YR16/1181/0 & F/YR17/1213/0). Of which, the most recent (17/1213)
was refused owing to the incursion into the open countryside and flood risk,
contrary to Policies LP3, LP12, LP14 and LP16 of the current adopted
Fenland Local Plan (2014). (Noting that F/YR16/1181/O was refused for the
same reasons.)

The application F/YR17/1213/0 was subject to a planning appeal
(APP/D0515/W/18/3204206), where the Inspector concluded that:

Page 62



e The scheme did not constitute infill development, as the application site
was part of a substantial gap in the built form, and thus was contrary to
Policy LP3;

e The development would have a detrimental impact on the character and
appearance of the area, by extending linear features contrary to Policy
LP12 and LP16;

e The application failed the Sequential Test; contrary to Policy LP14.

Accordingly, the appeal was dismissed.

9.5. It should be noted that the applications discussed above were relevant only
to parts of the current application site, whereas the current application seeks
wholesale development of the entire length the currently undeveloped site.
Notwithstanding, the conclusions reached by Officers and the Planning
Inspectorate within the site’s recent planning history should be given material
weight in the below assessment, particularly as these were assessed using
the current development plan.

10 ASSESSMENT
Principle of Development

Infill development

10.1. Policy LP3 of the Fenland Local Plan 2014 defines Guyhirn as a ‘small
village’ whereby development will be restricted to that of a very limited nature
and normally be limited in scale to residential infilling or a small business
opportunity. Policy LP12 of the Local Plan also states that new development
within villages will be supported where it satisfies Policy LP3, as well as the
criteria set out therein.

10.2. The glossary within the Local Plan defines residential infilling as
‘Development of a site between existing buildings.” The Planning Portal
defines this as ‘The development of a relatively small gap between existing
buildings.’

10.3. The site forms a 320m gap between a residential dwelling at No.6 Gull Road
to the north, and Cobble House to the south. This undeveloped expanse
cannot be considered as a ‘relatively small gap’ as defined within the
Development Plan. As such, the proposal to develop the site for up to 24
dwellings cannot be considered as residential infill on the basis of the
accepted definitions. The linear form of this site and its position in a large
element of open countryside which is not an area of otherwise built-up
frontage renders this proposal in excess of that which could reasonably be
considered small scale.

10.4. Thus, the proposal is considered contrary to Policy LP3, which seeks, inter
alia, to restrict development within ‘small villages'’ to residential infilling that is
limited in scale.

Community consultation exercise

Page 63



10.5. Policy LP12 of the Local Plan states that if a proposal within or on the edge
of a village would, in combination with other development built since 2011
and committed to be built (i.e. with planning permission), would increase the
number of dwellings in a small village by 10% or more, then the proposal
should have demonstrable evidence of clear local community support for the
scheme (with such support generated via a thorough and proportionate pre-
application community consultation exercise or a Neighbourhood Plan
exercise); or if, despite a thorough and proportionate pre-application
consultation exercise, demonstrable evidence of support or objection cannot
be determined, then there will be a requirement for support from the
applicable Parish or Town Council.

10.6. It is acknowledged that, as of 23 June 2025, the FDC Village Thresholds
Position Statement outlines that Guyhirn has already exceeded its 10%
growth threshold, with 86 dwellings committed/built over a threshold of 25.
However, an appeal decision received in respect of an application that was
refused purely on this basis (planning application reference: F/YR14/0838/0)
indicates that the threshold considerations and requirement for community
support should not result in planning permission being refused.

10.7. Therefore, despite the proposed development being in conflict with policy
LP12 of the Local Plan in terms of a community consultation exercise, with
consideration given to the referenced appeal decision, the absence of clear
community support does not render the scheme unacceptable in planning
terms.

Character and Appearance

10.8. LP12 includes criteria for development in villages and refers to Part A which
sets development criteria for rural villages which includes the following:

(c) It would not have an adverse impact on the character and appearance
of the surrounding countryside and farmland,

(d) The proposal is of a scale and in a location that is in keeping with the
core shape and form of the settlement, and it would not harm its
character and appearance.

(e) It would extend existing linear features of the settlement.

10.9. Policy LP16 (d) refers to development making a positive impact to local
distinctiveness and the character of the area and amongst other things
should not have an adverse impact on landscape character. It is also a core
planning principle in the NPPF that recognises the intrinsic value of the
countryside therefore consideration needs to be given to any harm caused.

10.10. The proposed development on this currently undeveloped parcel of land
would cause an irreversible transformation of the area’s rural character. This
site makes a vital contribution to the open, expansive countryside setting that
defines the identity of this small rural village. The introduction of a
development of this scale — up to 24 dwellings, accompanied by extensive
hard landscaping, parking areas, a visitor car park, and a new footpath -
would result in the wholesale urbanisation of a last remaining key piece of
open land.

Page 64



10.11. The open nature of the site presently allows for uninterrupted, far-reaching
views across the countryside to the east, serving as one of the final
remaining visual links to the wider rural landscape along Gull Road. This
openness is not only a visual asset but an essential component of the semi-
rural character that remains here, despite recent encroachments of
development to the north. By enclosing both sides of Gull Road with linear
development, this visual and spatial connection would be severely restricted,
creating a sense of enclosure and resulting in suburbanised streetscene with
limited rural outlook and a permanent erosion of what is left of the remaining
countryside character.

10.12. Furthermore, owing to the requirement to raise finished floor levels (with
respect to flood mitigation) and the low ground levels of the site when
compared with the highway level, it may also be such that the overall scale
of the dwellings will be markedly higher than adjacent development which
would increase the prominence. However, it is noted that the final height of
the dwellings is not yet committed, with final design of layout and scale
reserved for later planning stages.

10.13. Notwithstanding final design, the location of the development is considered
unacceptable with respect to its impact on the surrounding countryside
character. The proposal is considered contrary to Policies LP12(c, d and e)
and LP16(d) of the adopted Fenland Local Plan in that it results in harm to
the open countryside, results in an extension of already harmful ribbon
development and fails to contribute positively to local distinctiveness and the
character of the area by virtue of the resulting enclosure of the land.

10.14. It is noted that the position relating to both the principle of development and
the impact on the character and appearance of the area was echoed by the
Planning Inspector  during the appeal for F/YR17/1213/O
(APP/D0515/W/18/3204206), who dismissed the appeal on the basis that the
development, inter alia, would be contrary to the settlement hierarchy as set
out within LP3, and that it would result in material harm to the character and
appearance of the area contrary to Policies LP12 and LP16.

Residential Amenity

10.15. Policy LP2 and LP16(e) considers the impact of development on residential
amenity. The application does not submit the details of scale or layout.
However, it is noted that the FRA recommends finished floor levels to be set
between 1.7 and 2.2m above existing ground level, which is a technical
requirement to ensure the development is made safe from flooding and
consequently would likely have a significant impact on scale.

10.16. The indicative drawing shows Plot 1 to be set approximately 16.3m
southeast of No.6 Gull Road and Plot 24 approximately 17.5 metres
northwest of Cobble house. There is no evidence of how the development
would impact on external ground levels; however, it follows that to achieve
the finished floor levels requirement there will likely be some ground raising
necessary. Accordingly, there is some concern that if garden levels or the
dwellings themselves were raised significantly above adjacent development

Page 65



levels, then the impact of overlooking and overshadowing to any lower-level
adjacent dwellings or garden spaces would detrimentally impact on
residential amenity.

10.17. Whilst this detail would be considered at the reserved matters stage, it may
prove difficult to develop in a satisfactory form without harming the amenity
of the occupiers of adjacent dwellings and accord with Policies LP2 and
LP16 (e).

Access and Parking
10.18. Policy LP15 of the Fenland Local Plan 2014 seeks to ensure safe and
convenient access for all within the district.

10.19. The application proposes multiple points of access off Gull Road for each
dwelling leading to private driveways which will provide parking for the
dwellings. In addition, a central visitor parking area has been proposed to
mitigate parking overspill onto the public highway (an issue that has been
perpetuated by a number of the newly constructed dwellings to the north).
However, the application is outline only with all matters reserved, so the
exact access and parking arrangements are not yet committed. However, it
appears that the plots are potentially large enough to provide appropriate
parking/turning for the development.

10.20. Comments from the Highway Authority raised no objection in principle to the
development, however there were a number of concerns raised that must be
addressed at Reserved matters stage to potentially make the scheme
acceptable, including the requirement for appropriate visibility splays,
concerns over the number of access points proposed, whether the footway
proposed to the front of the site is feasible in respect of the available
highway verge and land levels, as well as the lack of official pedestrian
crossing points (which in its current guise would be considered
unacceptable), and the potential requirement for a TRO and/or relocation of
a number of utility poles. Notwithstanding, it is considered that subject to
matters of detailed design, the development of the site is considered capable
of according with Policy LP15.

Flood Risk and Drainage

10.21. Policy LP14 of the Fenland Local Plan (2014) and chapter 14 of the National
Planning Policy Framework set out the policy approach towards
development in areas of flood risk. Both of these policies seek to encourage
development first within areas of lower flood risk, before considering
development in areas at higher risk of flooding. They also seek to ensure
developments remain safe from all sources of flooding.

10.22. The application site is located entirely within Flood Zone 3 and there are
some areas of the site that may be subject to a low chance of surface water
flooding, as depicted on the Environment Agency flood maps.

Sequential Test

10.23. The submitted sequential test focuses the area of search on the settlement
of Guyhirn and concludes that there are no other reasonably available sites

Page 66



which could accommodate the development. As set out in the ‘Principle’
section above the Local Plan settlement hierarchy identifies Guyhirn as a
Small Village where limited infill proposals should only normally be
considered.

10.24. The sequential test justifies that the area of search should be limited to
Guyhirn as “the site is located within the built-up limits of this village, which
would fall within the definition set out in Policy LP12. This approach is
consistent with the NPPF and the NPPG which state that the sequential test
should be applied to the catchment area for the development dictated by
local circumstances.” The document also refers to the ‘Approach to the
Sequential Test for Housing’ (Fenland Flood Risk Sequential Test
Methodology, Feb 2018). Which stated that “the area of search for the
purposes of carrying out the Sequential Test will be:

A) Developments in the countryside — The whole of the rural area;
B) Developments in towns and villages — The town/villages that the
proposal would sustain”.

Thus, this is the evidence base provided by the applicant with respect to the
area of search chosen.

10.25. However, as of 27 June 2025, the Council has formally withdrawn its
Fenland Flood Risk Sequential Test Methodology. This document is no
longer a material planning consideration and has been removed from the
Council’'s website. It must therefore no longer be relied upon when preparing
or submitting planning applications.

10.26. Clarification on the area of search for a sequential test is now provided on
the Council’'s website , which states:

"Applicants must define and justify an appropriate area of search when
preparing the Sequential Test. The extent of this area will depend on the
location and role of the settlement, as well as the type and scale of
development proposed:

e for developments within or adjacent to Market Towns and Growth
Villages, the area of search will normally be limited to land within or
adjacent to the settlement in which the development is proposed.

e For all other locations — including Limited Growth, Small and Other
Villages, or Elsewhere Locations — the area of search will normally be
expected to be district-wide. (Emphasis added)

To pass the Sequential Test, applicants must demonstrate that there are no
reasonably available sites, within the defined search area, with a lower
probability of flooding that could accommodate the proposed development. A
poorly defined or unjustified area of search may result in the Sequential Test
being considered invalid."

10.27. Notwithstanding, as the application proposes a scale of development over

and above that which has been identified as being required to sustain the
settlement and which must therefore be linked to wider strategic housing

Page 67



delivery within the district, it is therefore considered that the area of search
must be wider than just Guyhirn in this instance. Accordingly, the sequential
test is deemed to be failed.

10.28. It should be noted that the sequential test submitted during the appeal for
FIYR17/1213/0 (APP/D0515/W/18/3204206) also concentrated the area of
search to Guyhirn only. The Appellant considered that as “the site is located
within the village of Guyhirn as it constitutes an infill plot and therefore the
area of search would be Guyhirn” which echoes the conclusion reached by
the Applicant within the current sequential test as above.

10.29. However, the Inspector considered the following with respect to the
sequential test, and in particular, the area of search:

"Moreover, | do not find the appellant’s argument that the search area for the
development should be restricted to Guyhirn alone compelling as the PPG
makes it clear that this should be justified with evidence which has not been
provided. In addition, the Council’s approach to the Sequential Test states
that, within the countryside, the search area is the whole of the rural area....
However, from the FRA that was submitted to the EA for consideration, the
appellant has not provided information to support a Sequential Test and in
the absence of any evidence on the matter, | am unable to conclude that the
requirements of the Sequential Test have been met."

10.30. Thus, whilst the current application seeks to evidence the area of search
using the now out-of-date Fenland Flood Risk Sequential Test Methodology
(Feb 2018) to address the Inspector’s concerns, the scale of development
proposed in this case (24 dwellings) and the fact that Guyhirn, as a small
village, would likely be unable to accommodate developments of this
quantum, it follows that the area of search must be widened to ensure
development is appropriately located with respect to flood risk, in
accordance with Policy LP14, the NPPF and NPPG.

Exception Test

10.31. Notwithstanding the failure of the sequential test, had this been deemed as
passed it would then be necessary for the application to pass the Exception
Test, which comprises of demonstration of the following:

a) the development would provide wider sustainability benefits to the
community that outweigh the flood risk; and

b) the development will be safe for its lifetime taking account of the
vulnerability of its users, without increasing flood risk elsewhere, and
where possible, will reduce flood risk overall.

10.32. In respect of the latter (b); The inclusion of flood mitigation measures
including raised finished floor levels, flood resilient construction measures
and sustainable drainage systems within the proposal are highlighted within
the flood risk assessment technically address the need for safety in times of
flooding at the site, and as such would satisfy the Exception Test in this
regard.

Page 68



10.33. However, notwithstanding the Environment Agency’s position on this matter,
officers retain concern that the implementation of these measures, such as
raising FFLS to 2.0m AOD (between 1.7m and 2.2m above existing site
level) may result in an unviable or impractical solution that, whilst may
address matters of flood safety, may also give rise to a number of other
issues with respect to scale, access, and impact on the streetscene.

10.34. In respect of a); the most recent Fenland District Council Five Year Housing
Land Supply (June 2025) demonstrates a 6.6 year supply of housing land
over the five-year period within the district. Thus, the Council has a sufficient
supply of housing delivery land and is meeting its requirement as
demonstrated through recent housing delivery test results.

10.35. It is noted, however, that the scheme will offer 24 affordable housing units,
and will offer reasonable contribution toward mitigation impacts on
community infrastructure (discussed in more detail below). Accordingly, it is
acknowledged that this may offer some material benefit to the wider
community in this regard. However, the application is in Outline form which
itself reduces the weight to be given to the immediate delivery of houses. In
addition, the submitted planning statement suggests that, to date, there is no
registered provider finalised for the scheme. No additional substantive
benefits have been identified within the submitted FRA, other than the
delivery of the housing itself. The SPD explicitly states that “the general
provision of housing itself would not normally be considered as a wider
sustainability benefit’.

10.36. In addition, the ‘tilted balance’ as set out in the footnote to para. 11 of the
NPPF (where Councils are unable to demonstrate a sufficient supply of
housing) specifically excludes development in high flood risk areas from any
presumption in favour of development. This clearly indicates the
government’s objective of avoiding development in areas of flood risk, unless
demonstrably necessary.

Drainage

Surface Water

10.37. The application is supported by a proposed drainage layout that
demonstrates that surface water can be managed though the use of an
attenuation pond with controlled discharge to greenfield run-off rates to a
nearby IDB watercourse. This method was considered acceptable in
principle to both the LLFA and IDB, subject to conditions and appropriate
IDB consents.

Foul Water

10.38. The application includes a concept foul drainage strategy, indicating groups
of dwellings to link to a new vacuum pot to discharge to the AW vacuum
sewer. Anglian Water initially objected to this scheme, as a Sustainable
Point of Connection (SPOC) was not initially confirmed to ensure that
sufficient capacity was available in the current system to accept foul flows
from the development.

Page 69



10.39. In response to this, the applicant sought additional information to confirm a
SPOC, and submitted a Tier 1 Pre-Planning Assessment Report - Domestic
Foul Water Drainage Feasibility Study (Reference: PPE-0229167) from
Anglian Water directly, which considered a number of drainage matters, but
with respect specifically to the foul water proposals concluded:

“West Walton WRC is within the acceptance parameters and can
accommodate the flows from the proposed growth”... “This connection point
has been determined in reference to the calculated discharge flow and on
this basis, the proposed connection to the public vacuum sewer network, as
defined in the submitted flood risk assessment (Reference: ECL1382 -
November 2024), has been considered. The network from this point has
been assessed up to the water recycling centre and determined that the
additional foul flow from the proposed development would not create an
unacceptable risk of flooding to our existing customers and the
environment.”

Accordingly, given the evidence submitted, it is considered that the concept
foul water drainage strategy is acceptable in principle, subject to conditions.

Flood risk and drainage conclusion

10.40. From the evidence submitted and noting consultee responses on such
matters, it is considered that the proposed surface and foul water drainage
proposals are acceptable in principle, subject to appropriate conditions and
consents obtained.

10.41. However, notwithstanding matters of detailed design, the site lies in a high-
risk area for flooding and the application fails to pass the sequential test and
is unable demonstrate that development of this site is necessary, or that the
benefits accrued would outweigh the flood risk. Development of the site
would therefore place people and property in an unwarranted risk of flooding
for which there is a strong presumption against both through policies of the
development plan and national planning policy. The proposal is in direct
conflict with local policy LP14 and the NPPF and should therefore be
refused.

Biodiversity & Ecology

10.42. The Environment Act 2021 requires development proposals to deliver a net
gain in biodiversity following a mitigation hierarchy which is focused on
avoiding ecological harm over minimising, rectifying, reducing and then off-
setting. This approach accords with Local Plan policies LP16 and LP19
which outlines a primary objective for biodiversity to be conserved or
enhanced and provides for the protection of Protected Species, Priority
Species and Priority Habitat.

10.43. In accordance with statutory guidelines, the application was supported by an
Ecological Impact Assessment (EIA) and a Biodiversity Net Gain Metric and
statement. The EIA concluded that there are no ecological features that
would be of sufficient ecological value to warrant wholescale protection from

Page 70



development. Considerations for mitigation were recommended with respect
to site clearance, best practice methods for amphibians and reptiles, and
external lighting, along with enhancements proposed including the
installation of bat and bird boxes. No further survey work for protected
species was deemed necessary.

10.44. A Habitats Regulations Assessment was undertaken by FDC Ecology
Officers to determine any likely significant effects on the special nature
conservation interests of the Nene Washes designated sites. It concluded
that providing mitigation measures are implemented to avoid water pollution
during any groundworks and construction period, the integrity of the
designated sites will not be affected by the development.

10.45. Accordingly, the mitigation and enhancement proposed is supported by
Ecology Officers, providing appropriate conditions are imposed.

10.46. In addition, the application included an Arboricultural Impact Assessment
(AIA), which concluded the indicative layout would see the removal of a low-
grade tree, with limited impact on arboricultural or landscape values. It also
outlined the requirement for tree protection methods for retained trees on the
site. The findings of the AIA were reviewed by the FDC Arboricultural
Consultant who agreed with the findings and methods proposed, subject to
conditions.

10.47. The Biodiversity Net Gain results show that an on-site biodiversity net gain of
13.24% was identified following the completion of baseline and on-site post
intervention calculations, with an overall net gain for watercourses of 118%
achieved by enhancing the off-site ditch.

10.48. As such, a Biodiversity Gain Condition is required to secure provision of the
on-site units. Whilst the off-site units, with respect to the watercourse
enhancements (that fall outside the red line boundary of the application)
would require a S106 planning obligation to secure. This would ensure the
scheme complies with Policies LP16, LP19 and the Environment Act 2021.

Sustainability

10.49. For the sake of completeness, the scheme has also been assessed against
Paragraph 8 of the NPPF (2024). Paragraph 8 states:

Achieving sustainable development means that the planning system has
three overarching objectives, which are interdependent and need to be
pursued in mutually supportive ways (so that opportunities can be taken to
secure net gains across each of the different objectives)

a) an economic objective — to help build a strong, responsive and
competitive economy, by ensuring that sufficient land of the right types is
available in the right places and at the right time to support growth,
innovation and improved productivity; and by identifying and coordinating
the provision of infrastructure;

Page 71



b) a social objective — to support strong, vibrant and healthy communities,
by ensuring that a sufficient number and range of homes can be
provided to meet the needs of present and future generations; and by
fostering well-designed, beautiful and safe places, with accessible
services and open spaces that reflect current and future needs and
support communities’ health, social and cultural well-being; and

c) an environmental objective — to protect and enhance our natural, built
and historic environment; including making effective use of land,
improving biodiversity, using natural resources prudently, minimising
waste and pollution, and mitigating and adapting to climate change,
including moving to a low carbon economy.

10.50. In respect of this proposal the development of this site will further these
sustainability objectives as follows:

a) Economic: It is recognised that the construction of the development
would provide some employment for the duration of the work contributing
to a strong responsive and competitive economy and it may also be
argued that there may be some potential for increased expenditure with
regard to local facilities.

b) Social: There will be limited opportunities for community cohesion in the
wider locality of the settlement given the relationship of the site to the
main village. The proposal has a benefit of providing 100% affordable
housing, thus contributing to the range of homes on offer and giving the
opportunity for new residents to settle in the locality. However, these
dwellings will be at some distance from the main village core which in
itself offers only limited services and facilities to support community
cohesion. It is further acknowledged that the development of this site
may serve to sustain some local facilities and bring with it community
benefits such as an enhanced footpath network and/or potential
improvements to highway safety.

c) Environmental: It is considered that the proposal will result in an
unacceptable incursion into the open countryside rather than small scale
infilling. This will result in the loss of the open character of the site and a
detrimental urbanisation of the area. In addition, the site is within an area
of high flood risk and as such there are environmental consequences of
the development proposal.

10.51. Matters of sustainability, with respect to Guyhirn specifically, were
considered in a recent Appeal Decision for a site approximately 550m north
of the site at Gull Road (APP/D0515/W/25/3361673), where similar site and
sustainability constraints exist. Of note, the Inspector, in their assessment of
the Appeal site stated:

On my visit, | observed a bus stop a short distance from the site, however |
have limited information on the frequency of service and where it connects
to. | cannot therefore be sure it offers a sustainable alternative to a private
car. The site would be accessed via a footway enabling future occupiers to
walk to local services and facilities. However, whilst noting playing fields, a

Page 72



primary school, farm shop and restaurant on High Road, overall, | observed
a limited range of services and facilities within Guyhirn. Taking these points
together, | consider any future occupiers would need to travel to access
services and facilities in the nearer larger settlements, contrary to the aims of
Policy LP3. ...

Given the level of services and facilities within the village, limited weight is
afforded to the potential economic and social benefits of the appeal scheme
supporting these and generating local expenditure and revenues in the
longer term.

Similarly to the current scheme, the Inspector concluded:

... the development would provide some material positive planning benefits.
However, for the reasons given, these carry only limited weight. Even in
combination, they amount to no more than moderate weight. | have found
that the proposal would conflict with the spatial strategy of the development
plan and would result in harm to the character and appearance of the area.
These are significant factors weighing against the scheme that overall
outweighs the benefits.

Infrastructure Contributions

10.52. A number of representations received cited concerns over impacts to
services and infrastructure, such as school and health care services, arising
from the development.

10.53. Local Plan policy LP13 sets out that planning permission will only be granted
if it can be demonstrated that there is, or will be, sufficient infrastructure
capacity to support and meet all the requirements arising from the proposed
development. Conditions or a planning obligation are likely to be required for
many proposals to ensure that new development meets this principle.
Developers will either make direct provision or will contribute towards the
provision of local and strategic infrastructure required by the development
either alone or cumulatively with other developments. Where a planning
obligation is required, in order to meet the above principles of infrastructure
provision, this will be negotiated on a site-by-site basis. This will be required
in addition to the affordable housing requirement as set out in Policy LP5.

10.54. Statutory tests set out in the Community Infrastructure Regulations 2010
(Regulation 122) requires that S106 planning obligations must be necessary
to make the development acceptable in planning terms, directly related to
the development and fairly and reasonable related in scale and kind to the
development.  S106 obligations are intended to make development
acceptable which would otherwise be unacceptable in planning terms.

10.55. The following contributions and infrastructure are sought through this
proposal (based on 24 dwellings) and are considered to be CIL compliant;

o Affordable Housing (discussed in more detail below)

e Education:
o Early Years: £88,408

Page 73



Primary: £265,224

Secondary: £212,800

SEND: £47,850

All of the above to be provided 50% prior to first occupation and 50%
prior to occupation of 50% of the development;

O O O O

e Libraries — £2,800 — to be provided 100% prior to occupation of 50% of
the development.

e CCC Monitoring Fee — £1,400 to be paid within 10 days of
commencement of development.

e NHS (Cambridgeshire & Peterborough Integrated Care System) —
£20,633.31 — to be paid prior to commencement of development;

e NHS (East of England Ambulance Service) - £9,520 — to be paid prior to
commencement of development;

e Open Space — £22,660 — Off-site provision to be paid prior to
commencement of development.

Affordable housing

10.56. Policy LP5 of the Local Plan states that, on sites of 10 or more dwellings, the
Council will seek the provision of 25% of the dwellings to be affordable
houses (rounded to the nearest whole dwelling) with a 70% affordable rented
tenure and 30% shared ownership tenure split. This would equate to the
delivery of 4 affordable rented homes and 2 shared ownership based on the
provision of 25% affordable housing for a 24-dwelling scheme.

10.57. As of 15t December 2024, FDC require a site-specific and independently
reviewed viability report to be submitted should a development wish to
reduce the number of affordable dwellings below that required under Policy
LP5 of the Fenland Local Plan. There was no viability report submitted for
the current application.

10.58. However, the application is accompanied by a Heads of Terms agreeing to
the erection of up to 24 affordable houses (equating to 100% of the
development). Thus, in any event of planning permission being granted, it is
recommended that the grant of planning permission is subject to a legal
agreement to secure 100% affordable units in accordance with the Heads of
Terms. It is noted that this would surpass the minimum requirements as set
out in Policy LP5 and would weigh substantially in favour of the scheme.

Housing mix

10.59. Policy LP3 of the Local Plan states that development should provide a scale
and mix of housing types that will meet the identified need for Fenland (as
informed by an up-to-date Cambridge Sub Region Housing Market
Assessment (SHMA)) and a range of new job opportunities in order to
secure balanced communities.

Page 74



10.60.

10.61.

10.62.

10.63.

10.64.

The latest SHMA data, contained within the Cambridgeshire and West
Suffolk Housing Needs of Specific Groups 2021, suggests the following
housing mix for Fenland for the 2020-2040 period:

Tenure 1-bedroom 2-bedrooms 3-bedrooms 4+-bedrooms
Market 0-10% 25-35% 40-50% 15-25%
Affordable

Home 20-30% 35-45% 25-35% 0-10%
ownership

Affordable

housing 35-45% 35-45% 15-25% 0-10%
(rented)

It is noted that the application form does not commit the specific housing
mix, although the indicative plan suggests the following housing mix for the
proposed development:

Tenure 1-bed 2-bed 3-bed Total
Market 0 (0%)* 0 (0%)* 0 (0%)* 0
Affordable

Housing 0/ \* 0/ \* 0/ \*
(owned/rented 2 (8.333%) 8 (33.333%) 14 (58.333%)* | 24
tbc)

*% across total proposed for each tenure

The proposed housing mix broadly accords with the suggested housing mix
specified within the Cambridgeshire and West Suffolk Housing Needs of
Specific Groups 2021 and will likely accord with policy LP3 of the Local Plan
albeit skewed towards more 3-bedroom properties. However, it should be
acknowledged that the mix of units is not currently committed within this
outline application. Therefore, to ensure a policy compliant scheme, details
of the intended mix should be secured by condition in any event of planning
permission being granted. The FDC Housing Strategy team welcomed the
proposal to deliver a 100% affordable scheme but was silent on the
indicative mix proposed.

Thus, in any event of planning permission being granted, it is recommended
that the grant of planning permission is subject to a legal agreement to
secure the provision of 100% affordable houses in a suitable mix (in
consultation with the Housing Strategy team) to ensure the scheme
contributes a mix that meets the needs of the district at the time.

Healthcare and infrastructure contributions

Requests for financial contributions totalling £31,153.31 have been received
from NHS (Integrated Care and Ambulance). Education contributions
totalling £614,282 have been requested by CCC. In addition, funds for
Libraries (£2,800) and monitoring (£1,400) were requested. These
contributions seek to appropriately mitigate any infrastructure impacts arising
from the proposed development.

Contributions conclusion

Page 75




10.65. In summary, it is concluded that the above infrastructure requirements are
necessary to make the development acceptable and would meet the tests of
CIL regulations in that they are, i) necessary to make the development
acceptable in planning terms; ii) directly related to the development; and, iii)
fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development. These
contributions would be secured through an appropriate legal agreement.

11 PLANNING BALANCE and CONCLUSION

11.1. Itis understood from the FDC Housing Strategy team that there are currently
31 individuals registered on the current housing list that are seeking
affordable housing provision within or near to Guyhirn. The proposal
comprises a 100% affordable housing scheme and would therefore provide a
substantial contribution towards this need, and as such should be given
moderate weight in favour of the scheme.

11.2. However, in respect of housing provision more generally, whilst the scheme
will deliver 24 dwellings and will therefore contribute in part to Fenland’s
housing supply, it is noted above that the most recent Fenland District
Council Five Year Housing Land Supply (June 2025) demonstrates a 6.6
year supply of housing land over the five-year period within the district.
Accordingly, the council has in excess of a five-year supply and this this
reduces the level of weight that can be attributed to the supply of homes (of
any tenure) in this case.

11.3. Furthermore, as indicated above the scheme has no significant sustainability
credentials over and above a limited economic benefit during the
construction phase in terms of goods and services and in terms of potentially
sustaining the limited services and facilities within Guyhirn. Its social
credentials whilst positive are not so convincing as to overcome the
significant concerns highlighted above with regard to flood risk and the
detrimental impact on the character of the area. Thus, whilst the provision of
up to 24 affordable housing units offers some weight to the case for
supporting this scheme, noting the conflicts with Policies LP3, LP12, LP14,
and LP16, this benefit does not overcome the clear planning argument to
resist this development as unsustainable and as such, these contraventions
are considered to outweigh any social benefits arising from the scheme. It
must be borne in mind that planning law requires that applications for
planning permission be determined in accordance with the development plan
unless material considerations indicate otherwise.

11.4. Fundamentally, the proposal is contrary to the Council's Spatial Strategy
(LP3) by failing to be a small or infill site; fails the sequential test as other
sites may exist that are reasonably available within the district that are
sequentially preferable (LP14); and also results in the development of the
open countryside resulting in harm to the character of the village (LP12 and
LP16). Accordingly, it is considered that these are significant factors
weighing against the scheme that outweighs any arising social benefits, and
the principle is therefore unacceptable and should be refused.

Page 76



12 RECOMMENDATION

Refuse, for the following reasons;

1 Policy LP3 of the Fenland Local Plan 2014 defines Guyhirn as a
‘small village’ whereby development will be restricted to that of a
very limited nature and normally be limited in scale to residential
infilling. Policy LP12 of the Local Plan also states that new
development within villages will be supported where it satisfies
Policy LP3, as well as the criteria set out therein. Policy LP16 (d) of
the Fenland Local Plan (2014) and Policy DM3 of Delivering and
Protecting High Quality Environments in Fenland Supplementary
Planning Document (2014) requires development to deliver and
protect high quality environments through, amongst other things,
making a positive contribution to the local distinctiveness and
character of the area.

The application site constitutes a considerable gap between built
forms where the open countryside meets the village. The
development proposal, seeking up to 24 dwellings, would result in
significant incursion into the open countryside rather than small
scale infilling and would result in the permanent loss of the open
character of the site and detrimental urbanisation of the area.
Therefore, the proposal is considered to be contrary to Policies
LP3, LP12 and LP16 of the Fenland Local Plan (2014) and as such
represents unsustainable development contrary to the aims and
objectives of the NPPF (2024).

2 Policy LP14 of the Fenland Local Plan, Section 14 of the National
Planning Policy Framework (2024) and Cambridgeshire Flood and
Water Supplementary Planning Document (2016) require
development proposals to adopt a sequential approach to flood risk
from all forms of flooding, and Policy LP14 states that development
in an area known to be at risk will only be permitted following the
successful completion of a Sequential Test, and Exception Test
(where appropriate), and the demonstration that the proposal meets
an identified need and appropriate flood risk management.

The development is located within Flood Zone 3, the area of
highest flood risk and therefore would result in a ‘more vulnerable’
development being located in the area of highest flood risk. The
application has failed to demonstrate there are no reasonably
available sites in sequentially preferable locations available to meet
the need of the development. Therefore, the sequential test is
considered failed and contrary to the NPPF (2024), Policy LP14 of
the Fenland Local Plan (2014) and guidance in the adopted
Cambridgeshire Flood and Water Supplementary Planning
Document (2016).

Page 77



Created on: 13/02/2025

© Crown Copyright and database
rights 2025 Ordnance Survey 10023778

F/YR25/0111/0
Scale = 1:2,500

Fenland

CAMBRIDGESHIRE

Fenland District Council

Page 78




6/ abed

Green Acres

Accommodation Schedule

= 3B5P - 2no. - 93m2

= 2B4P -8no. - 79m2

 I—  I—
= 3B5P - 12n0. - 93m2
| I I
=1B2P - 2no. - 58m2
- -

=1.8m wide footpath and crossing points
subject to civil engineer design and
S278 agreement including relocating of
any signs and services as required.

(|
(|

B
B H

B H

B B

B B

B E
=

B H

B =
=

B H

B H

B H

B H

B H

B B
=

B H

B B
=

B H

w o w w W
oo ofto cftoofo

B H

B H

B H

B H

B B
=

B H
B H
B H
B B
=
B H
B H
=
B H
B H
B B
B H
B H

OAa

The Gables

Roman Way

The Conifers

Starboard
Cottage

Port
Cottage

Fern House

Sondial

Hunting

0 5 10 15 20
Indicative Site Plan memremsirr

Scale: 1:500 metres

House

Bramley

Birchwood

0 5 10 15 20
Indicative Street Scene T

Scale: 1:500 metres

Green Acres

Hunting

Birchwood

Cobble House
Bramley
House

Location Plan

Scale: 1:1250

Rivendale

g

General Notes

1. This drawing shall not be scaled, figured dimensions only to be used.

2. All dimensions are shown in 'mm' unless otherwise stated.

3.The contractor, sub-contractors and suppliers must verify all
dimensions on site prior to the commencement of any work.

4.This drawing is to be read in conjunction with all relevant engineers
and specialist sub-contractors drawings and specifications.

5.Any discrepancies are to be brought to the designers attention.

Revisions

A Feb Validation Requirements
2025

B March One Bed Dwellings Added
2025

c April Number of Units Reduced, Footpath,
2025 Maintenance Strip and Street Scene Addeq

D July Visitor Parking to replace Open Space

2025 as Parish Council Request

Status

FOR APPROVAL

B SVVANN
M EDWARDS

AR C H T E C T U R E

Swann Edwards Architecture Limited, Black Barn, Fen Road,
Guyhirn, Wisbech, Cambs. PE13 4AA
t 01945 450694 e info@swannedwards.co.uk w www.swannedwards.co.uk

Job Title

. Date Drawn by
Proposed Affordable Housing B
Development, Gull Road, Guyhirn |November

2024 Checked by

GE

Drawing Title Job No. Sh si
Outline Planning Drawing SOE—?490 eetAolze

Dwg No. Revision

PP1000 D

Swann Edwards Architecture Limited ©



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 7

F/YR25/0473/0

Applicant: Executors Of Estate of GE Agent: Ms Shanna Penney
Salter Swann Edwards Architecture Limited

Land South Of 4 - 16, Back Road, Gorefield, Cambridgeshire
Erect up to 9 x dwellings (outline application with all matters reserved)
Officer recommendation: Grant

Reason for Committee: Parish Council comments contrary to Officer
Recommendation

1 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1. The proposal seeks outline planning permission with all matters reserved for the
erection of up to 9no. dwellings.

1.2. Whilst concerns are maintained in respect of the location/principle of
development, impact of the development on the character and appearance of
the area, and inefficient use of land by virtue of the extremely low density of
development, consideration is given to the previous committee decision made
under application F/'YR24/0772/0, which found these matters to be acceptable.
As such, it is considered that it would be unreasonable to resist the development
on these grounds.

1.3. As such, the only issue to overcome is therefore the flood risk implications of the
development and previous inability to pass the sequential and exception test as
set out in the NPPF. The current application is supported by sufficient
information to demonstrate that these tests are passed by virtue of an absence
of alternatively available sites within the search area of Gorefield to
accommodate the development, that the development will be safe from flood risk
for its lifetime without increasing flood risk elsewhere, and that there will be
wider sustainability benefits to outweigh the harm caused by the development.

1.4. 1t will be necessary for detailed proposals for the identified sustainability benefits
to be secured through the Reserved Matters submission following the granting of
outline planning approval.

1.5. ltis therefore considered, on balance that the proposal is acceptable in planning
terms and is accordingly recommended for approval in this instance.

2  SITE DESCRIPTION

2.1. The application site is located on Land South of 4 — 16 Back Road, Gorefield. The
site is currently characterised as an undeveloped greenfield site.

Page 81



2.2. The site is adjoined by residential development to the west and north, with a small
portion of the eastern boundary of the site adjoined by residential development.
The remainder of the site is adjoined by undeveloped greenfield land.

2.3. The site is to be accessed via an opening between two residential properties on
Back Road, but there is no existing formal access to the site.

2.4. The site measures approximately 1.4 hectares.

2.5. The application site is located in Flood Zone 3 and has an area of Low Surface
Water Flood Risk in the centre of the site.

3 PROPOSAL

3.1. The application seeks outline planning permission with all matters reserved for the
erection of up to 9 dwellings.

3.2. The indicative site plan submitted with the application indicates a cul-de-sac style
development, and the creation of a new footpath extending east along Back Road
from the access point onto the site.

3.3. Full plans and associated documents for this application can be found at:

https://www.publicaccess.fenland.gov.uk/publicaccess/

4  SITE PLANNING HISTORY

FIYR24/0772/0O | Erect up to 9 x dwellings (outline application with all | Refused
matters reserved) 17.12.24

5 CONSULTATIONS

5.1. Gorefield Parish Council — 19.07.25

Gorefield Parish Council object to this application as the access is on to a very
narrow road with no footpath and is situated in Flood Zone 3

5.2. Environmental Health — 23.06.25

No objection subject to condition requiring submission of Construction
Environmental Management Plan (CEMP).

5.3. North Level Drainage Board — 24.06.25

No objection subject to pre-commencement condition requiring submission of
surface water systems and outfalls.

5.4. Environment Agency — 30.06.2025

No objection subject to development being carried out in accordance with Flood
Risk mitigation measures set out in Flood Risk Assessment.

5.5. CCC Archaeology — 30.06.25

No objection subject to pre-commencement condition for submission of
programme of archaeological work.

Page 82


https://www.publicaccess.fenland.gov.uk/publicaccess/

5.6. Natural England - 03.07.25
No objection
5.7. FDC Ecology — 06.08.25

I would accept that the revised information provides a more accurate description of
the ecological value of the site, and that the submitted Biodiversity Metric is
correct. Taking into account the revised information | would agree that the
development is capable of achieving at least a 10% net gain in biodiversity on-site
through the provision of new garden spaces, new tree planting and other
landscaping measures.

The statutory Biodiversity Gain Condition will apply to any permission which may
be granted to the application, to require the submission and approval by the
Council of a Biodiversity Gain Plan and a long-term Habitat Management and
Monitoring Plan before any development commences. Detailed landscaping plans
should be required at Reserved Matters stage.

The site has low potential to support any specially protected or notable species,
although it does have some potential to support nesting birds. | would advise the
applicant by way of an informative that no vegetation clearance required to
facilitate the proposals should be undertaken during the optimum time of year for
bird nesting (March to August inclusive) unless nesting birds have been shown to
be absent by a suitably qualified person. All nesting birds their eggs and young are
legally protected under the terms of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as
amended).

The site would benefit from the introduction of bird nesting and bat roosting boxes,
these measures should be incorporated into landscaping plans. Boundary features
should provide gaps to allow for the movement of small mammals through the site.

5.8. Local Residents/Interested Parties

Objectors

1no. letter of objection was received from a resident of Back Road, Gorefield,
raising the following summarised issues.

Objecting Comments Officer Response
Impact on dyke between application Civil matter — drainage to be secured
site and residential dwellings via condition
Concerns around means of foul and Foul and surface water drainage to be
surface water drainage secured via condition

Concerns around means of boundary Boundary treatments to be secured at
treatment between application site and | Reserved Matters Stage
adjacent residential dwelling

Supporters

8 letters of support were received on the application from residents of Parson
Drove, Leverington & Gorefield, raising the following points (summarised)

Supporting Comments Officer Response
Will improve local amenities Provision of new dwellings will help

Page 83



6.1.

support local amenities
Will result in environmental benefits, Addressed in Flood Risk & Drainage
green space and energy efficiency Section — to be secured via condition
Will align with the character of the See Character and appearance section
village and will integrate with of report
environment

STATUTORY DUTY

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires a
planning application to be determined in accordance with the Development Plan
unless material planning considerations indicate otherwise. The Development Plan
for the purposes of this application comprises the adopted Fenland Local Plan
(2014) the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Local Plan
(2021).

POLICY FRAMEWORK

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2024

Chapter 2 - Achieving sustainable development

Chapter 4 — Decision-making

Chapter 5 — Delivering a sufficient supply of homes

Chapter 9 — Promoting sustainable transport

Chapter 11 — Making effective use of land

Chapter 12 — Achieving well-designed places

Chapter 14 — Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change
Chapter 15 — Conserving and enhancing the natural environment

Chapter 16 - Conserving and enhancing the historic environment

National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)
Determining a Planning Application

National Design Guide 2021
Context

Identity

Built Form

Movement

Nature

Homes and Buildings

Fenland Local Plan 2014

LP1 — A Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development

LP3 — Spatial Strategy, the Settlement Hierarchy and the Countryside

LP4 — Housing

LP5 - Meeting Housing Need

LP12 — Rural Areas Development Policy

LP14 — Responding to Climate Change and Managing the Risk of Flooding in
Fenland

LP15 — Facilitating the Creation of a More Sustainable Transport Network in
Fenland

LP16 — Delivering and Protecting High Quality Environments across the District

LP19 — The Natural Environment

Delivering and Protecting High Quality Environments in Fenland SPD 2014

Page 84



DM3 — Making a Positive Contribution to Local Distinctiveness and character of
the Area

Cambridgeshire Flood and Water SPD 2016

Emerging Local Plan

The Draft Fenland Local Plan (2022) was published for consultation between 25th
August 2022 and 19 October 2022, all comments received will be reviewed and
any changes arising from the consultation will be made to the draft Local Plan.
Given the very early stage which the Plan is therefore at, it is considered, in
accordance with Paragraph 49 of the NPPF, that the policies of this should carry
extremely limited weight in decision making. Of relevance to this application are
policies:

LP1:  Settlement Hierarchy

LP2: Spatial Strategy for the Location of Residential Development
LP7: Design

LP8: Amenity Provision

LP12: Meeting Housing Needs

LP18: Development in the Countryside
LP20: Accessibility and Transport
LP22: Parking Provision

LP25: Biodiversity Net Gain

LP27: Trees and Planting

LP28: Landscape

LP32: Flood and Water Management

8 KEYISSUES

Principle of Development

Design and Appearance

Impact on Amenities

Flood Risk and Drainage

Parking Provision and Highway Safety
Biodiversity Impact

Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG)

9 BACKGROUND

9.1.The application is a re-submission of that which was previously refused by Planning
Committee under reference number F/YR24/0772/0O. The application was reported
to Planning Committee on 11" December 2024 with four recommended reasons for
refusal. The sole reason for refusal accepted by the Committee is shown below, with
the other proposed reasons for refusal concerning backland development (principle
and character impact) and low density not being accepted:

The application site is located within Flood Zone 3 and fails to meet the sequential
or exception test. It is considered that the proposal is at an unacceptable risk of
flooding that would fail to be suitably mitigated against. The proposal is therefore
considered to be contrary to Policy LP14 of the Fenland Local Plan (2014) and
Chapter 14 of the NPPF (2023).

10 ASSESSMENT

Principle of Development

Page 85



10.1. The proposal seeks outline planning permission with all matters reserved for the
erection of up to 9no. dwellings. The site is located adjacent to the built form of the
settlement of Gorefield, which is identified as a ‘Small Village’ in Policy LP3 of the
Fenland Local Plan.

10.2. Policy LP3 states that development in these villages will be of a limited nature and
normally limited to residential infilling or small business opportunities.

10.3.In this instance, the application site is situated to the rear of frontage residential
development along Back Road and Cattle Dyke. Whilst the indicatively identified
access point passes between two existing properties, the developable area of the
site constitutes a backland site forming an extension to the settlement. On this
basis the development is not considered to constitute infill development and is
therefore considered to be contrary to Policy LP3 of the Fenland Local Plan (2014).

10.4.Regard must be given to the development approved to the east of the application
site under reference number F/YR21/1031/F, which is currently being built out, and
which was not of a small-scale infill nature. However, this was for the re-
development of a site previously used for B8 (Storage and Distribution purposes,
and weight was accordingly given to the re-development of this site when granting
that application as per the NPPF. As such it is not considered that this
development sets any precedent in principle in terms of the consideration of the
current site.

10.5. Notwithstanding this, weight is given to the previous decision of the Council under
application F/YR24/0772/0O, whereby it was concluded that this issue did not justify
the refusal of the application. As such, it is accordingly considered that it would be
unreasonable to refuse the current application on this basis.

Design and Appearance

10.6. As the application is submitted in outline form with all matters reserved, no detailed
plans have been submitted alongside the application. However, an indicative site
layout plan has been submitted showing a cul-de-sac style development.

10.7. As previously highlighted, the site is located to the rear of two existing linear
patterns of development along Back Road and Dyke Road, therefore constituting
tandem, backland development, contrary to the prevailing character of
development in the immediate vicinity and which would be clearly visible behind
those frontage properties.

10.8. Again, the site to the east must be considered in this context. It is considered that
there is a different circumstance with the current application given that substantial
commercial buildings already had a visual impact in that other case which does not
occur here.

10.9. Consideration should also be given to Paragraphs 129 and 130 of the NPPF
(2024), which seeks to ensure that developments make efficient use of land.

10.10. The application site measures 1.4 hectares in size, and the proposal is for up to
9no. dwellings. Therefore, the development equates to a density of just under 7
dwellings per hectare.

10.11. It Is considered that a density of 7dph is significantly below that which would
usually be considered acceptable when giving weight to the prevailing density in
the surrounding area. Using the development approved under reference 21/1031
as an example, this sought the erection of 38 dwellings on a 2.4-hectare site. This

Page 86



equates to a density of approximately 17dph, which is considered to be a more
appropriate density in a location such as this.

10.12. Notwithstanding this, weight is given to the previous decision made under
application F/YR24/0772/0, whereby it was concluded that this material
consideration did not justify the refusal of the application. As such, minimal weight
can be given to this consideration, and it is accordingly considered that it would be
unreasonable to refuse the current application on this basis.

Impact on Amenities

10.13. It is not possible to fully assess the amenity impact of the development due to the
application being outline in nature. However, due to the low density of
development, it is considered that a Reserved Matters application could suitably
accommodate the development whilst retaining appropriate separation distances
between plots and existing dwellings and providing suitable plot sizes to provide
suitable private amenity space provision.

10.14. Notwithstanding this, the indicative layout identifies an access point passing
between The Strines and Number 10 Back Road. The access road is
approximately 10m in width and does not appear to currently serve any existing
vehicular movements.

10.15. It is considered that the creation of a vehicular access to serve 9no. properties in
this location would result in an increase in traffic movements in close proximity to
the residential dwellings on either side of the access. Whilst the increase in traffic
movements could result in some noise disturbance to the dwellings adjacent to the
access, it is not considered that this would result in an unacceptable impact on the
amenities of these properties.

10.16. It is overall considered that the proposal can adequately provide for the amenities
of the proposed dwellings and can preserve the amenities of the existing dwellings
adjacent to the site. Therefore, the proposal is considered to comply with Policy
LP16 of the Fenland Local Plan (2014) in this regard.

Flood Risk and Drainage

10.17. The application site is located primarily within Flood Zone 3, with a small area
falling within Flood Zone 2. There are two small areas of low surface water flood
risk on the site, with the majority of the site at very low risk.

10.18. Policy LP14 of the Fenland Local Plan and Chapter 14 of the NPPF seeks to
direct development away from the areas at high risk of flooding, unless the
sequential and exception test can be met.

10.19. The submitted sequential test focuses the area of search on the settlement of
Gorefield and concludes that there are no other reasonably available sites which
could accommodate the development. As set out in the ‘Principle’ section above
the Local Plan settlement hierarchy identifies Gorefield as a ‘Small Village’ where
limited infill proposals should only normally be considered. The Council’s adopted
approach to the Sequential Test states the area of search will be “determined by
considering the proposal’s objectives, linked to the spatial policies of the Local
Plan. For proposals that demonstrate a clear objective to sustain particular
settlements or the countryside, the area of search will be:

A) Developments in the countryside — The whole of the rural area

Page 87



B) Developments in towns & villages — The town/villages that the proposal would
sustain”.

9.20. As set out in the ‘Principle’ section above, the previous committee decision under
F/IYR24/0772/0 found the proposal to be acceptable in principle and, therefore, it is
considered that the area of search should be as per option B), above. In this

instance, the appropriate search area is considered to be the settlement of
Gorefield.

9.21.The application is supported by a Sequential Test and Exception Test document. A
number of sites within Gorefield have been assessed and the document discounts
them as being reasonably available for the following reasons:

- Development completed

- Site within Flood Zone 3 and therefore not sequentially preferable.
- Site does not benefit from planning permission

- Site outside of agreed search area

9.22. A review of the data set out in the document finds that several sites and
applications have either been wrongly discounted or inaccurately represented
within the document. For example:

-F/YR15/0699/0 (Dennicks Yard, Back Road) — This site is referred to as being
“‘under consideration” and is therefore discounted. However, this application was
granted planning permission on 29/10/19. Further to this, application
F/YR21/1031/F was granted planning permission on the same site for residential
development, an application also referenced in the document.

-F/YR23/0548/0 (Land West of 176 High Road) — This site is discounted due to
the site lying wholly within Flood Zone 3. However, as it has an extant permission
it would be deemed as sequentially preferable. As such, it cannot be considered
that the Sequential Test as submitted is a robust assessment of the alternative
sites available within the search area.

9.23. Further to this, the report dismisses sites on the basis that the development is for
conversions or where the site is under the control of a separate developer. It is not
considered that such sites should be dismissed as they key element of the
Sequential Test is whether development can be steered away from areas of higher
risk, as is the case with these alternatively identified sites.

9.24. Application F/YR19/0889/0 has been discounted on the basis that the site owner is
a client of the agent for the application and has advised that only one plot of the
five permitted is to be developed. However, on further review by Officers this
outline permission has lapsed and no further reserved matters application could
now be submitted.

9.25. Summarising the above findings, it is concluded by the LPA that the submitted
Sequential Test is not robust in fully assessing whether there are any alternative
reasonably available sites and at lower risk of flooding.

9.26. However, a full assessment of the sites set out in the Sequential Test concludes
that there are sites available for 6 dwellings that would be sequentially preferable
across the following applications:

-F/YR22/0972/0 (1no dwelling)

- F/YR23/0548/0 (5no dwellings)

Page 88



9.27. Therefore, whilst the submitted Sequential Test is flawed, there are only
alternatively available sites to cumulatively provide 6 dwellings, therefore falling
short of the 9 dwellings sought in this application.

9.28.0n this basis, it is considered and concluded that there are no sequentially
preferable sites available for this proposal, either singularly or cumulatively.
Therefore, the Sequential Test is considered to be passed.

9.29. As such, it is necessary to consider the exception test. In order to pass the
exception test, it should be demonstrated that:

a) The development would provide wider sustainability benefits to the community
that outweigh the flood risk; and

b) The development will be safe for its lifetime taking account of the vulnerability
of its users, without increasing flood risk elsewhere, and, where possible, will
reduce flood risk overall.

9.24.1n respect of criterion a) above, the submitted Sequential Test and Exception Test
document submitted by the applicant states that the following sustainable design
features shall be incorporated into the proposed dwellings:

- Air source heat pumps

- Photovoltaic cells

- Rainwater harvesting

- Energy Efficiency rating of at least ‘B’

9.25. These sustainability design features provided sustainability in excess of that which
is required by current legislation and Building Regulations. It is therefore
considered that this would represent a betterment in this respect and weighs in
favour of the scheme.

9.26. It is considered that these features could be achieved through the submission of a
Reserved Matters condition requiring detailed proposals to be included at
Reserved Matters stage. Accordingly, a condition is recommended to require the
inclusion of these features as set out in the applicant’s submission.

9.27. Further to this, the proposal would contribute 9no. dwellings towards the Council’s
housing supply, therefore offering some benefits in this regard, albeit modest
benefits.

9.28. 1t is therefore considered that the proposal would meet the following themes and
issues as set out in the Cambridgeshire Flood and Water SPD:

-Land and water resources
- Climate change mitigation and renewable energy
- Pollution

9.29. Whilst the aforementioned benefits are modest, they are benefits nonetheless and
would, on balance, outweigh the harm caused by the flood risk associated with the
erection of dwellings in an area of higher flood risk.

9.30. Therefore, criterion a) of the Exception Test is considered to be met.

9.31.In respect of criterion b), the proposal is considered to be safe from flood risk for
the lifetime of the development without increasing flood risk elsewhere by virtue of

Page 89



the submission of a suitable Flood Risk Assessment that sets out clear flood
resilience measures to ensure that the dwellings are safe in the event of a flood
event.

9.32.1t is therefore considered that criterion b) of the Exception Test is also passed.

9.33.0n this basis, it is considered that the proposal is acceptable in terms of its flood
risk and is accordingly in compliance with Policy LP14 of the Fenland Local Plan
(2014).

Parking Provision and Highway Safety

9.34. The application is submitted in outline form. As such, there are no detailed plans
and no definitive requirements in terms of parking provision for the site. However,
due to the low density of development as identified on the indicative site plan, it is
considered that it will be possible for adequate parking provision to be included in
the scheme at Reserved Matters stage.

9.35. The Highway Authority have considered the proposal and have raised no objection
to the scheme in terms of the principle of creating an access off Back Road and
providing a footpath link from the access to the site extending east.

9.36. It is considered that a Reserved Matters application would be capable of providing
a suitable detailed scheme in terms of highway safety and parking provision in
accordance with Policy LP15 of the Fenland Local Plan (2014) and the NPPF
(2024).

Biodiversity Impact

9.37.The application is supported by an Ecological Impact Assessment that has been
considered by both the Council’s ecologist and Natural England. No objections
have been raised by either body to the application in respect of the impacts on
protected species or habitats.

9.38.1t is therefore considered that the proposal is acceptable in respect of its
biodiversity impacts, in accordance with Policy LP19 of the Fenland Local Plan
(2014).

Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG)

9.39. The Environment Act 2021 requires development proposals to deliver a net gain in
biodiversity following a mitigation hierarchy which is focused on avoiding ecological
harm over minimising, rectifying, reducing and then off-setting. This approach
accords with Local Plan policies LP16 and LP19 which outlines a primary objective
for biodiversity to be conserved or enhanced and provides for the protection of
Protected Species, Priority Species and Priority Habitat.

9.40. In this instance a Biodiversity Gain Condition is required to be approved before
development is begun.

11  CONCLUSIONS

12.1. The proposal seeks outline planning permission with all matters reserved for the
erection of up to 9no. dwellings.

Page 90



12.2. Whilst concerns are maintained in respect of the location/principle of development,
impact of the development on the character and appearance of the area, and
inefficient use of land by virtue of the extremely low density of development,
consideration is given to the previous committee decision made under application
F/IYR24/0772/0, which found these matters to be acceptable. As such, it is
considered that it would be unreasonable to resist the development on these
grounds.

12.3. As such, the only issue to overcome is therefore the flood risk implications of the
development and previous inability to pass the Sequential and Exception Tests as
set out in the NPPF. The current application is supported by sufficient information
to demonstrate that these tests are passed by virtue of an absence of alternatively
available sites within the search area of Gorefield to accommodate the
development, that the development will be safe from flood risk for its lifetime
without increasing flood risk elsewhere, and that there will be wider sustainability
benefits to outweigh the harm caused by the development.

12.4.1t will be necessary for detailed proposals for the identified sustainability benefits to
be secured through the Reserved Matters submission following the granting of
outline planning approval.

12.5.1t is therefore considered, on balance that the proposal is acceptable in planning
terms and is accordingly recommended for approval in this instance.

12 RECOMMENDATION

Grant; subject to the following conditions:

1. Approval of the details of:

i the layout of the site

ii. ii. the scale of the building(s);

iii. iii. the external appearance of the building(s);

iv. iv. the means of access thereto;

V. v. the landscaping

(hereinafter called "the Reserved Matters") shall be obtained from the Local
Planning Authority prior to the commencement of development.

Reason - To enable the Local Planning Authority to control the details of the
development hereby permitted.

2. Application for approval of the Reserved Matters shall be made to the Local
Planning Authority before the expiration of 3 years from the date of this
permission.

Reason - To ensure compliance with Section 92 of the Town and Country
Planning Act 1990.

3. The development hereby permitted shall begin before the expiration of 2
years from the date of approval of the last of the Reserved Matters to be
approved.

Reason - To ensure compliance with Section 51 of the Planning and
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

4. Prior to the commencement of any development, a scheme for the provision
and implementation of foul water drainage shall be submitted and agreed in

Page 91



writing with the Local Authority. The scheme shall subsequently be
implemented in accordance with the approved details before the relevant
parts of the development are first brought into use and thereafter retained in
perpetuity.

Reason - To ensure a satisfactory method of foul water drainage and to
prevent the increased risk of pollution to controlled waters in accordance
with Policy LP14 of the Fenland Local Plan 2014.

Prior to the commencement of any development, a surface water drainage
scheme for the site, based on sustainable drainage principles and an
assessment of the hydrological and hydro geological context of the site has
been submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
The scheme shall subsequently be implemented in accordance with the
approved details before the relevant parts of the development are first
brought into use and thereafter retained in perpetuity.

Reason - To prevent the increased risk of flooding, to improve and protect
water quality, to improve habitat amenity and to ensure the future
maintenance of these in accordance with Policy LP14 of the Fenland Local
Plan 2014.

Prior to any work commencing on the site a Construction Environmental
Management Plan (CEMP) shall be submitted to and agreed in writing with
the Local Planning Authority regarding mitigation measures for noise, dust
and lighting during the construction phase. These shall include, but not be
limited to, other aspects such as access points for deliveries and site
vehicles, and proposed phasing/timescales of development etc. The CEMP
shall be adhered to at all times during all phases.

Reason: To safeguard the residential amenity of neighbouring occupiers, in
accordance with policies LP2 and LP16 of the Fenland Local Plan, adopted
May 2014. The condition is pre-commencement as it would be unreasonable
to require applicants to undertake this work prior to consent being granted.

No demolition/development shall commence until the applicant, or their
agents or successors in title, has implemented a programme of
archaeological work, commencing with the evaluation of the application
area, that has been secured in accordance with a Written Scheme of
Investigation (WSI) that has been submitted to and approved by the Local
Planning Authority in writing. For land that is included within the WSI, no
demolition/development shall take place other than under the provisions of
the agreed WSI, which shall include:

a. the statement of significance and research objectives;

b. The programme and methodology of investigation and recording and the
nomination of a competent person(s) or organisation to undertake the
agreed works;

c. The timetable for the field investigation as part of the development
programme;

d. The programme and timetable for the analysis, publication &
dissemination, and deposition of resulting material and digital archives.

Reason: To safeguard archaeological assets within the approved
development boundary from impacts relating to any demolitions or

Page 92



groundworks associated with the development scheme and to ensure the
proper and timely preservation and/or investigation, recording, reporting,
archiving and presentation of archaeological assets affected by this
development, in accordance with national policies contained in the National
Planning Policy Framework.

The development hereby permitted shall be constructed in accordance with
the Flood Mitigation Measures set out in Section 5 of the Flood Risk
Assessment prepared by Ellingham Consulting Ltd (April 2025).

Reason: To ensure that the development is safe from flooding for its lifetime
in accordance with Policy LP14 of the Fenland Local Plan (2014) and
Chapter 14 of the NPPF (2024).

10.

No demolition or construction work shall be carried out and no plant or
power operated machinery operated other than between the following hours:
08:00 hours and 18:00 hours on Monday to Friday, 08:00 hours and 13:00
hours on Saturday and at no time on Sundays, Bank or Public Holidays,
unless otherwise previously agreed in writing with the Local Planning
Authority.

Reason: To protect the amenity of the nearby occupiers in accordance with
Policy LP16 of the Fenland Local Plan (2014).

11.

Development may not be begun unless:

(a) a biodiversity gain plan has been submitted to the planning authority, and
(b) the planning authority has approved the plan.

Reason: To ensure compliance with Schedule 7A of the Town and Country
Planning Act 1990 (inserted by the Environment Act 2021).

12.

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with
the following approved plans and documents.

Page 93




F/YR25/0473/0

rchn
ﬂl':; = I'a
. ir;zrf.-,: J
Gorefield
: ER P35
oAU S.C/: 0aq-
5l e
| - w2 ll':
lq_ 1
Sy
H;' &
) Gorefi
Lo Primary §
R.’ = = =
Back Roag
.28 1:2,500
6/23/2025, 12:38:10 PM 0 15 230 460 ft
| } ! ! | ! ! ! |
I T T T T T T T 1
|:| Fenland District Boundary 0 35 70 140 m

Fenland District Council

Uniform
© Crown Copyright and database rights 2025 Ordnance Suﬁsey AC000631 5148.
age 94



G6 abed

N

F/YR21/1031/F - Erect 38

Location Plan

Scale: 1:2500

SITE PLAN

wpcL

~ -~
-—
-~

.p\'

::::=====L::

Ordnance Survey (c) Crown Copjyright 2024. All rights reserved. Licence number 10002432

—_

0O 20 40 60 80

5 I o —

metres

KEY

Indicates buildings un-surveyed
(from ordinance survey location

plan)

Indicates proposed single storey
dwellings

Indicates proposed parking
spaces

Indicates adoptable standard
shared access road in
accordance with Cambridgeshire
County Council specification

Indicates site access points

Indicates 2.4m x 43m vision
splay

indicates existing trees and
hedges

Indicates proposed trees (to be
determined at a later date via
reserved matters application)

Indicates proposed dwellings permitted
under application F/YR21/1031/F -
Erect 38 No. dwellings - Extent
Approved

Indicates electric overhead powerlines

Indicates proposed 2.0m wide footpath

::::::::::::

LOCATION PLAN KEY

Indicates buildings taken from
OS map

Indicates proposed dwellings permitted
under application F/YR21/1031/F -
Erect 38 No. dwellings - Extent
Approved

7
¥

i'&‘ »‘

R TTAN
JEE8)

Proposed Indicitive Site Plan 0
Scale: 1:500 _:I

metres

AT T T
S e

SN
LR
AL

%0
i

s

Ptable standard and mainta;
Mmainta
Ompany who are to enter into agreeme':te ¢

with FDC for Recap compliance.

PLOT
8

ed drive to ado,

garden

Indicates shar,
by management

iiiiiiii

shared surface

garden C

==
E3

5 10 15 20

i)

Application permitted - F/'YR21/1031/F
Erect 38 no dwellings

General Notes

1. All dimensions are shown in 'mm' unless otherwise stated.
2.The contractor, sub-contractors and suppliers must verify all
dimensions on site prior to the commencement of any work.
3.This drawing is to be read in conjunction with all relevant engineers
and specialist sub-contractors drawings and specifications.
4.Any discrepancies are to be brought to the designers attention.

Status

FOR APPROVAL

B SVWANN
o EDWAR

T E C T UR E

A R C H

DS

Swann Edwards Architecture Limited, Swann Edwards Architecture,
Black Barn, Fen Road, Guyhirn, Wisbech, Cambs. PE13 4AA
t 01945 450694 e info@swannedwards.co.uk w www.swannedwards.co.uk

Job Title

Proposed Residental Development
Land off Back Road, Gorefield
For: G E Salter Estates

Drawing Title
Planning Drawing
Indicative Site and Location Plans

Date Drawn by
Feb W
2024 Checked by
GE
Job No. Sheet Size
SE-2055 A1
Dwg No. Revision
PP1000 B

Swann Edwards Architecture Limited ©




This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Iltem 8

F/YR25/0280/VOC
Applicant: L Allen Agent: Jordan Trundle
Grafton Ventures Ltd Peter Humphrey Associates Ltd

Land North And West Of 47, Fridaybridge Road, EIm,

Variation of conditions 3 (External Materials and Detailing), 4 (Surface Water
Drainage), 5 (Construction Surface Water Run-Off), 9 (External Lighting), 15
(CEMP: Biodiversity), 18 (Hard and Soft Landscaping), 21 (Levels and Cross
Sections) and 23 (Approved Plans and Documents) of Planning permission
F/YR21/0339/F (Conversion of existing barns to 2 x two storey dwellings and
erection of 8 x two storey dwellings with garaging (and associated works
including demolition of existing dwelling)) to allow change in design

Officer recommendation: Grant

Reason for Committee: Parish Council Comments contrary to Officer
Recommendation

1 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1. The application seeks the variation of conditions on planning permission
F/YR21/0339/F relating to external materials, surface water drainage,
construction surface water management, external lighting, biodiversity
enhancements, landscaping, levels and approved plans and documents.

1.2. The variations relate to the wording of conditions that have previously been dealt
with via discharge of condition applications, and the submission of details to
satisfy the conditions pursuant to the new-build element of the scheme only.

1.3. Conditions 5 & 15 have previously been dealt with under condition discharge
application F/YR24/3110/COND and therefore there are no objections to the
variation of this condition to require compliance with the approved details.

1.4. In respect of condition 18, there are no objections to the trigger point of the
condition being varied from ‘no works above slab level’ to ‘pre-occupation’ for
the submission of a detailed soft and hard landscaping scheme.

1.5. In respect of conditions 3, 4, 9, 21 and 23, the submitted details have been
considered by the LPA and relevant consultees, with no objections or concerns
raised. As such, it is considered that the details submitted in relation to these
conditions is acceptable and accordingly it is recommended that the conditions
are varied to require that the new-build element of the scheme is carried out in
accordance with these details. Where required, the conditions will retain wording
to require the submission of further details prior to the commencement of the
conversion element of the scheme.

Page 97



2.1.

2.2.

2.3.

3.1.

3.2.

SITE DESCRIPTION

The site comprises land historically associated with Redmoor House, 47
Fridaybridge Road, with the host property excluded from the application site. The
site benefits from extant planning permission — to which this proposal relates —
granted under application F/YR21/0339/F. This was for the conversion of a barn
into 2no. dwellings and the erection of a further 8no. dwellings.

The application site lies within Flood Zone 1 and is at very low risk of surface water
flooding.

The surrounding area is characterised by residential development comprising a
mix of single and two storey dwellings, as well as detached and semi-detached
properties.

PROPOSAL

The proposal seeks the variation of the following conditions on planning permission
F/YR21/0339/F.

- Condition 3 (External Materials) — The application seeks to agree the proposed
materials and detailing for the new build dwellings only.

- Condition 4 (Surface Water Drainage) — The application seeks to agree the
surface water drainage scheme and to amend the condition to be a compliance
condition.

- Condition 5 (Construction Surface Water Run-Off) — The scheme for managing
Construction Surface Water Run-Off was approved under condition discharge
application F/YR24/3110/COND. It is therefore proposed to amend the condition
to require compliance with the approved scheme.

- Condition 9 (External Lighting) — The application seeks to agree the external
lighting scheme and to amend the condition to be a compliance condition.

- Condition 15 (CEMP: Biodiversity) — The CEMP: Biodiversity was approved under
condition discharge application F/YR24/3110/COND. It is therefore proposed to
amend the condition to require compliance with the approved scheme.

- Condition 18 (Hard and Soft Landscaping) — The application seeks very the
trigger point for the condition from ‘no works above slab level’ to ‘pre-occupation’
for the submission of a detailed soft and hard landscaping scheme.

- Condition 21 (Levels and Cross Sections) — The Levels and Cross Sections were
approved under condition discharge application F/'YR24/3110/COND. It is
therefore proposed to amend the condition to require compliance with the
approved scheme.

- Condition 23 (Approved Plans and Documents) — The application seeks to amend
the list of approved plans in accordance with the amendments set out in the
preceding conditions.

Full plans and associated documents for this application can be found at:

Page 98



5.1.

5.2.

5.3.

https://www.publicaccess.fenland.gov.uk/publicaccess/

SITE PLANNING HISTORY

F/YR21/0339/F Conversion of existing barns to 1 x 4-bed Grant
and 1 x 5-bed two storey dwellings and 23.09.21
erection of 8 x dwellings with garaging (6 x 2-
storey 4-bed and 2 x 2-storey 5-bed) and
associated works including demolition of
existing dwelling

F/YR24/3110/COND Details reserved by conditions 5, 15 and 21 Approved

of F/'YR21/0339/F 09.10.24
F/YR24/0582/NONMAT | NMA: Variation of conditions 2 and 14 to Approved
enable commencement of work relating to 09.08.24

planning permission F/YR21/0339/F

F/YR25/0217/NONMAT | NMA: Amendment to wording of description | Approved
to remove the bedroom descriptions relating | 22.05.25
to planning permission F/YR21/0339/F

CONSULTATIONS

Elm Parish Council — 10.07.25

Council maintains the objections submitted to the original application in 2021.
Council requests that variations relating to construction surface water run-off and
surface water drainage are fully investigated noting concerns that have already
been raised by Cambridgeshire County Council in their role as the lead local flood
authority.

LFA - 16.07.25

We have reviewed the submitted documents and based on these we can support
the variation of Conditions 4 and 5 of planning permission F/YR21/0339/F. The
above documents demonstrate that surface water can be managed on site through
the use of permeable paving over the private parking, with attenuation provided in
tanks. Water will then be treated further in proprietary treatment, before discharge
into the IDB drain at a restricted rate, to be agreed formally with the IDB. It has
also been demonstrated that the system can be maintained in perpetuity. Condition
5 wording to be amended following the discharge of conditions under
F/YR24/3110/COND.

Local Residents/Interested Parties

A total of one letter of objection was received from a resident of Wales Bank
raising the following points:

Objecting Comments Officer Response

Existing brick wall taller than proposed | The existing brick wall was shown to
1.8m fence resulting in increased be removed and replaced by a 1.8m
overlooking. timber fence on the approved

documents. This is unchanged by this
application and is therefore not a
consideration under this application.

Page 99


https://www.publicaccess.fenland.gov.uk/publicaccess/

6.1.

STATUTORY DUTY

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires a
planning application to be determined in accordance with the Development Plan
unless material planning considerations indicate otherwise. The Development Plan
for the purposes of this application comprises the adopted Fenland Local Plan
(2014) the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Local Plan
(2021).

POLICY FRAMEWORK

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2024

Chapter 2 - Achieving sustainable development

Chapter 4 — Decision-making

Chapter 5 — Delivering a sufficient supply of homes

Chapter 9 — Promoting sustainable transport

Chapter 11 — Making effective use of land

Chapter 12 — Achieving well-designed places

Chapter 14 — Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change
Chapter 15 — Conserving and enhancing the natural environment

National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)
Determining a Planning Application

National Design Guide 2021
Context

Identity

Built Form

Movement

Nature

Homes and Buildings

Fenland Local Plan 2014

LP1 — A Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development

LP2 — Facilitating Health and Wellbeing of Fenland Residents

LP3 — Spatial Strategy, the Settlement Hierarchy and the Countryside

LP4 — Housing

LP5 — Meeting Housing Need

LP12 — Rural Areas Development Policy

LP14 — Responding to Climate Change and Managing the Risk of Flooding in
Fenland

LP15 — Facilitating the Creation of a More Sustainable Transport Network in
Fenland

LP16 — Delivering and Protecting High Quality Environments across the District

LP19 — The Natural Environment

Cambridgeshire Flood and Water SPD 2016

Emerging Local Plan

The Draft Fenland Local Plan (2022) was published for consultation between 25th
August 2022 and 19 October 2022, all comments received will be reviewed and
any changes arising from the consultation will be made to the draft Local Plan.
Given the very early stage which the Plan is therefore at, it is considered, in
accordance with Paragraph 49 of the NPPF, that the policies of this should carry

Page 100



8.2.

8.3.

8.4.

10

10.1.

extremely limited weight in decision making. Of relevance to this application are
policies:

LP1: Settlement Hierarchy

LP2: Spatial Strategy for the Location of Residential Development
LP5: Health and Wellbeing

LP7: Design

LP8: Amenity Provision

LP12: Meeting Housing Needs

LP18: Development in the Countryside
LP20: Accessibility and Transport
LP22: Parking Provision

LP24: Natural Environment

LP25: Biodiversity Net Gain

LP27: Trees and Planting

LP28: Landscape

LP32: Flood and Water Management

BACKGROUND

. The development was originally permitted under application reference

F/YR21/0339/F. The description of development was subsequently amended
under Non-Material Amendment Application F/'YR25/0217/NONMAT to remove
reference to the number of bedrooms proposed on the new-build units.

A Non-Material Amendment was also sought under reference number
F/IYR24/0582/NONMAT to amend the wording of conditions 2 & 14, to allow the
commencement of development on the new-build units only, and for the required
information to be submitted to and approved by the LPA prior to the
commencement of works on the stable conversion element of the scheme.

Accordingly, the amendments to the original description of development and
conditions 2 and 14 have been incorporated into the current VOC application.

In respect of the implementation of the original planning permission, the submitted
application form states that development commenced on 16.09.2024, prior to the
expiry of the permission on 23.09.2024. Correspondence with the agent confirms
that the development was commenced by virtue of the demolition of the existing
bungalow on site known as ‘Red Roofs’. It is considered that this sufficiently
demonstrates the commencement of the development in accordance with the
criteria set out in the Town and Country Planning Act.

KEY ISSUES

. Principle of Development
. Acceptability of variation of conditions
. Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG)

ASSESSMENT
Principle of Development

The principle of development in this instance has been established by virtue of the
granting of planning permission F/YR21/0339/F, which remains extant.

Page 101



10.2. As the quantum of development and nature of development is unchanged, it is
considered that the principle of the residential development remains established
and acceptable in this instance.

Acceptability of variation of conditions

Condition 3 (External Materials and Detailing)

10.3. The application is supported by the submission of the following details in respect of
external materials and detailing:

- Bricks: Vandersanden Old Farmhouse Blend (Plots 1, 4, 5 & 7), Vandersanden
Flemish Antique (Plots 2, 3, 6 & 8)

- Roof Tile: FP Mcann Thin Flat Roof Tile in Anthracite (Plots 1-8)

- Windows & Doors: Flush Casement Cream Double Glazed Windows, Composite
to Front Doors and Cream Frame to Side Doors, Aluminium Anthracite Grey to
Bi-Fold Doors, Sectional Garador to Garage (Plots 1-8)

- Features: Re-constituted Stone Cills and Lintels to all openings (Plots 1-8),
Weberplast TF or equivalent Cream Render (Plots 1, 2, 6 & 8)

- Other Details: Black Brett Martin Cascase Cast Iron Effect Rainwater Goods,
Cream uPVC Facias and Soffits, Oak Porches, Round buff Chimney Pots (Plots
1-8)

10.4. The submitted details are supported by samples and product brochures/info
sheets.

10.5. The proposed materials are specified to only be used on the new-build plots, with
details of materials on the conversion element of the scheme to be submitted
separately at a later point.

10.6. The materials proposed in this instance are considered to be sympathetic to and in
keeping with the character and appearance of the area, with similar external
materials present on residential dwellings in the area surrounding the site. It is
further considered that the proposed materials and detailing would represent a
high standard of development in this locality.

10.7.1t is therefore considered that the submitted details are suitable to accord with
Policy LP16 of the Fenland Local Plan (2014) and it is therefore considered
appropriate to vary Condition 3 to require compliance with the submitted details on
the new-build element of the scheme only.

Condition 4 (Surface Water Drainage)

10.8. The application is supported by the submission of a detailed Drainage Strategy
Plan prepared by ‘Parsons’ which has been reviewed and considered by the LLFA.

10.9. The scheme involves the use of permeable paving over the parking areas with
attenuation provided via tanks on-site.

10.10. The LLFA are satisfied with the submitted details and are content that this will be
sufficient for the site to mitigate its own surface water flood risk.

10.11. It is therefore considered that the submitted Surface Water Drainage Scheme
complies with Policy LP14 of the Fenland Local Plan (2014) and Chapter 14 of the

Page 102



NPPF (2024) in respect of Flood Risk and Drainage. It is therefore considered that
the condition wording should be varied to require compliance with the submitted
surface water drainage strategy prepared by Parsons.

Condition 5 (Construction Surface Water Run-Off)

10.12. The details required by this condition have previously been submitted for
consideration under discharge of condition reference F/YR24/3110/COND and
found to be acceptable by the LLFA, with the condition subsequently discharged
on this basis and subject to the development being carried out in accordance with
the approved details.

10.13. Given that the details have already been found acceptable and are unchanged, it is
not considered that there are any new factors to consider in this regard, and the
condition is therefore recommended to be amended in wording to require
compliance with the already approved details.

Condition 9 (External Lighting)

10.14. The application is supported by the submission of a Lighting Scheme plan
prepared by Kingfisher Lighting. The plan shows the provision of a total of 6no.
streetlights throughout the site, all of which face into the public highway.

10.15. The location of the proposed streetlights is such that it will not cause undue
disturbance on the properties within the site, or any existing properties adjacent to
the site.

10.16. It is therefore considered that the scheme is sufficient to accord with Policy LP16 of
the Fenland Local Plan (2014) in respect of amenity impact. It is accordingly
recommended that the condition is varied to require compliance with the submitted
external lighting scheme.

Condition 15 (CEMP: Biodiversity)

10.17. The details required by this condition have previously been submitted for
consideration under discharge of condition reference F/YR24/3110/COND and
found to be acceptable by the CCC Ecology, with the condition subsequently
discharged on this basis and subject to the development being carried out in
accordance with the approved details.

10.18. Given that the details have already been found acceptable and are unchanged, it is
not considered that there are any new factors to consider in this regard, and the
condition is therefore recommended to be amended in wording to require
compliance with the already approved details.

Condition 18 (Hard and Soft Landscaping)

10.19. The application requests the variation of the condition to replace the trigger point
from being ‘no works above slab level’ to ‘pre-occupation’ for the submission of a
detailed soft and hard landscaping scheme.

10.20. This change will still allow the LPA to secure a suitable scheme for landscaping
prior to the first occupation of the development, and will allow the landscaping
scheme to be implemented prior to the occupation of each dwelling to which it
relates.

Page 103



10.21. It is therefore recommended that the condition is varied to require the submission
of a detailed soft and hard landscaping scheme prior to the first occupation of the
development.

Condition 21 (Levels and Cross Sections)

10.22. The details required by this condition have previously been submitted for
consideration under discharge of condition reference F/YR24/3110/COND and
found to be acceptable by the LPA, with the condition subsequently discharged on
this basis and subject to the development being carried out in accordance with the
approved details.

10.23. Given that the details have already been found acceptable and are unchanged, it is
not considered that there are any new factors to consider in this regard, and the
condition is therefore recommended to be amended in wording to require
compliance with the already approved details.

Condition 23 (Approved Plans and Documents)

10.24. As set out above, the preceding conditions are considered to have been suitably
addressed through the submission of the relevant information, both in this
application and preceding discharge of condition applications.

10.25. Given that the submitted details are considered to accord with local and national
policy, it is considered appropriate to amend the list of approved plans and
documents, as set out in Condition 23, to reflect the plans and documents
submitted alongside this application.

Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG)

10.26. The Environment Act 2021 requires development proposals to deliver a net gain in
biodiversity following a mitigation hierarchy which is focused on avoiding ecological
harm over minimising, rectifying, reducing and then off-setting. This approach
accords with Local Plan policies LP16 and LP19 which outlines a primary objective
for biodiversity to be conserved or enhanced and provides for the protection of
Protected Species, Priority Species and Priority Habitat.

10.27. There are statutory exemptions, transitional arrangements and requirements
relating to irreplaceable habitat which mean that the biodiversity gain condition
does not always apply. In this instance, one or more of the exemptions /
transitional arrangements are considered to apply and a Biodiversity Gain
Condition is not required to be approved before development is begun because the
original application to which this variation relates was submitted prior to the
requirement for statutory net gain coming into force.

11 CONCLUSIONS

11.1. The application seeks the variation of conditions on planning permission
F/YR21/0339/F relating to external materials, surface water drainage, construction
surface water management, external lighting, biodiversity enhancements,
landscaping, levels and approved plans and documents.

11.2. The variations relate to the wording of conditions that have previously been dealt
with via discharge of condition applications, and the submission of details to satisfy
the conditions pursuant to the new-build element of the scheme only.

Page 104



11.3.Conditions 5, 15 & 21 have previously been dealt with under condition discharge
application F/YR24/3110/COND and therefore there are no objections to the
variation of this condition to require compliance with the approved details.

11.4.1In respect of condition 18, there are no objections to the trigger point of the
condition being varied from ‘no works above slab level’ to ‘pre-occupation’ for the
submission of a detailed soft and hard landscaping scheme.

11.5.1In respect of conditions 3, 4, 9, 21 and 23, the submitted details have been
considered by the LPA and relevant consultees, with no objections or concerns
raised. As such, it is considered that the details submitted in relation to these
conditions is acceptable and accordingly it is recommended that the conditions are
varied to require that the new-build element of the scheme is carried out in
accordance with these details. Where required, the conditions will retain wording to
require the submission of further details prior to the commencement of the
conversion element of the scheme.

12 RECOMMENDATION

Grant; subject to the following conditions:

1. Prior to the commencement of development on the barns, a level 3 Historic
Building Recording is to be carried out for the stable block in accordance
with Historic England guidelines and to be lodged with the Cambridgeshire
Historic Environment Record.

Reason - To ensure that an appropriate record is made of the historic
building fabric that may be affected by the development.

2. Prior to the commencement of any development pursuant to the Stable
Conversion, samples of all external materials, including joinery details
to be used in the construction of the development shall be required to
be submitted to and approved in writing by the LPA. 1m x 1m sample
panels should be provided to indicate brick, mortar and bonding, and
joinery details should be satisfied by scale drawings of no less than
1:10 scale for the stable conversion.

The new build dwellings shall be constructed in accordance with the
details hereby approved details, as shown on the submitted
Development Schedule (Peter Humphrey Associates).

Reason - To ensure that the appearance of the development is
acceptable in the context of the site noting the presence of the non-
designated heritage assets which form part of the development/form
its setting, thereby satisfying the aims of the NPPF (2021) and Policy
LP18 of the Fenland Local Plan (2014).

3. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the Surface
Water Drainage Strategy as shown on Drawing Number 21120-001 Rev
P04.

The drainage strategy shall be implemented in full prior to the first
occupation of the development hereby permitted.

Reason - To ensure that the proposed development can be adequately
drained and to ensure that there is no increased flood risk on or off

Page 105



site resulting from the proposed development and to ensure that the
principles of sustainable drainage can be incorporated into the
development, noting that initial preparatory and/or construction works
may compromise the ability to mitigate harmful impacts.

The development shall be carried out in accordance with the details
approved under application reference F/'YR24/3110/COND in respect of
Construction Surface Water Run-Off Management.

Reason - To ensure surface water is managed appropriately during the
construction phase of the development, so as not to increase the flood
risk to adjacent land/properties or occupied properties within the
development itself; recognising that initial works to prepare the site
could bring about unacceptable impacts.

The vehicle turning and parking spaces shown on the approved plans shall
be provided before the development is brought into use and shall be
retained thereafter.

Reason - To ensure the permanent availability of the parking / manoeuvring
area, in the interests of highway safety.

Prior to first occupation of the development hereby approved, visibility splays
shall be provided as shown on the approved plan and shall be maintained
thereafter free from any obstruction exceeding 0.6m above the level of the
adjacent highway carriageway.

Reason - In the interests of highway safety.

No part of the development shall be occupied until details of the proposed
arrangements for future management and maintenance of the proposed
private drive have been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning
Authority. The private drive shall thereafter be maintained in accordance
with the approved management and maintenance details in perpetuity
thereafter; this management plan shall extend to include the external lighting
secured under condition 07 of this approval.

Reason - To ensure a satisfactory means of access in accordance with
policies LP15 and LP16 of the Fenland Local Plan 2014.

The development shall be carried out in accordance with the External
Lighting Scheme as shown on Drawing Number D54054/JB/B.

The lighting scheme shall be implemented prior to the first occupation
of the development hereby permitted.

Reason - In order to ensure that the site meets the crime prevention
guidelines in accordance with Policies LP16 and LP17 of the Fenland
Local Plan 2014

Prior to the first occupation of the development any gate or gates to the
vehicular access shall be set back the minimum distance detailed on the
approved plan. Any access gate or gates shall be hung to open inwards.

Reason - In the interests of highway safety.

Page 106



10.

No vehicular access(es) from the development hereby approved are
permitted to access Wales Bank.

Reason - In the interests of highway safety.

11.

The existing access(es) to Wales Bank shall be permanently and effectively
closed and the highway verge shall be reinstated in accordance with a
scheme to be agreed with the Local Planning Authority in consultation with
the Highway Authority, within 28 days of the bringing into use of the new
access.

Reason - In the interests of highway safety.

12.

The buildings shall not be occupied until the means of vehicular access has
been laid out and constructed in accordance with the approved plans.

Reason - In the interests of highway safety and to ensure satisfactory
access into the site.

13.

Development shall not in any circumstances commence on the barns unless
the local planning authority has been provided with either:

a) a licence issued by Natural England pursuant to Regulation 53 of The
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 authorizing the
specified activity/development to go ahead; or

b) a statement in writing from the relevant licensing body or a suitably
qualified bat ecologist to the effect that it does not consider that the specified
activity/development will require a licence.

Reason: As recommended within section 1.1.5 of the EclA (Glaven Ecology,
2021). This will ensure that the development aligns with the National
Planning Policy Framework and Fenland Local Plan.

14.

The development shall be carried out in accordance with the details
approved under application reference F/'YR24/3110/COND in respect of
the CEMP: Biodiversity.

Reason - To ensure that the recommended mitigation and
compensation suggested in section 5 of the EclA (Glaven Ecology,
2021) and section 5.21 of the Ecological Survey Report (Golden Tree
Surgeon, 2021) are followed correctly. This will ensure that the
development aligns with the National Planning Policy Framework and
Fenland Local Plan (2014).

15.

No removal of hedgerows, trees or shrubs shall take place between 1st
March and 31st August inclusive, unless a competent ecologist has
undertaken a careful, detailed check of vegetation for active birds' nests
immediately before the vegetation is cleared and provided written
confirmation that no birds will be harmed and/or that there are appropriate
measures in place to protect nesting bird interest on site. Any such written
confirmation should be submitted to the local planning authority.

Reason - Protected species are a material concern for Local Planning

Page 107



Authorities as per the National Planning Policy Framework and Fenland
Local Policy. The disturbance of protected species may be an infraction as
described within the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981.

16.

No part of the development hereby approved shall be occupied until such
time as a refuse strategy has been submitted to and approved in writing by
the Local Planning Authority. The agreed strategy shall be adhered to
thereafter in perpetuity.

Reason - To ensure a satisfactory form of refuse collection in accordance
with Policy LP16 of the Fenland Local Plan 2014.

17.

Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted, a
scheme for the hard and soft landscaping of the site shall be submitted
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Subsequently, these works shall be carried out as approved. The
landscaping details to be submitted shall include:-

a) hard surfacing, other hard landscape features and materials

b) existing trees, hedges or other soft features to be retained

c) planting plans, including specifications of species, sizes, planting
centres number and percentage mix

d) details of planting or features to be provided to enhance the value of
the development for biodiversity and wildlife

e) details of siting and timing of all construction activities to avoid
harm to all nature conservation features

f) location of service runs

g) management and maintenance details

Where it is intended to create semi-natural habitats, all species used in
the landscaping schedules shall be locally native species of local
provenance unless otherwise agreed in writing with the local planning
authority. The approved hard landscaping scheme shall be carried out
with regard to the dwelling to which it relates, prior to the occupation
of that dwelling and the soft landscaping shall be carried out within the
first available planting season following completion of the
development or first occupation (whichever is the sooner) or
alternatively in accordance with a timetable for landscape
implementation which has been approved as part of the submitted
landscape scheme.

Reason - The landscaping of this site is required in order to protect
and enhance the existing visual character of the area and to reduce the
visual and environmental impacts of the development hereby permitted
in accordance with Policy LP16 of the Fenland Local Plan 2014.

18.

All hard and soft landscape works including any management and
maintenance plan details, shall be carried out in accordance with the
approved details. All planting seeding or turfing and soil preparation
comprised in the above details of landscaping shall be carried out in the first
planting and seeding seasons following the occupation of the buildings, the
completion of the development, or in agreed phases whichever is the
sooner, and any plants which within a period of five years from the
completion of the development die, are removed or become seriously
damaged or diseased (except those contained in enclosed rear gardens to
individual dwellings) shall be replaced in the next planting season with

Page 108




others of similar size and species, unless the local planning authority gives
written consent to any variation. All landscape works shall be carried out in
accordance with the guidance contained in British Standards, unless
otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason - To ensure proper implementation of the agreed landscape details
in the interest of the amenity value of the development in accordance with
Policy LP16 of the Fenland Local Plan 2014

19.

Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby approved, a scheme
for the provision of fire hydrants or equivalent emergency water supply shall
be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The
approved details shall be implemented and made available for use prior to
the occupation of the first dwelling.

Reason - In the interests of the safety of the occupiers and to ensure there
are available public water mains in the area to provide for a suitable water
supply in accordance with infrastructure requirements within Policy LP13 of
the Fenland Local Plan 2014.

20.

The development shall be carried out in accordance with the details
approved under application reference F/'YR24/3110/COND in respect of
site levels and cross sections.

Reason - To ensure that the precise height of the development can be
considered in relation to adjoining dwellings to protect and safeguard
the amenities of the adjoining occupiers in accordance with Policies
LP2 and LP16 of the Fenland Local Plan 2014.

21.

If, during development, contamination not previously identified is found to be
present at the site then no further development (unless otherwise agreed in
writing with the Local Planning Authority) shall be carried out until the
developer has submitted, and obtained written approval from the Local
Planning Authority for, an amendment to the remediation strategy detailing
how this unsuspected contamination shall be dealt with. The development
shall then be carried out in full accordance with the approved remediation
strategy. Reason - To control pollution of land and controlled waters in the
interests of the environment and public safety in accordance with the
National Planning Policy Framework and Policy LP16 of the Fenland Local
Plan 2014.

22.

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance
with the following approved plans and documents:

7009/C03 Condition Drawing 3 (Proposed Site Sections)
(revision C)

21120 Storm Water Calculations Aug 2021

7009/C02 Condition Drawing 2 (Proposed Site Layout)
(revision C)

7009/C01 Condition Drawing 1 (Existing Site Plan)

7009/C03 Condition Drawing 3 (Site Sections) (revision
C)

RH-005 Roof Plans - Existing Barns and House
Drainage Design Report

21120-002 Exceedance Flows August 2021 (revision P3)

Page 109




7009/PL0O3 Planning Drawing 3 (Garages) (revision C)

7009/PL02 Planning Drawing 2 (Type 2) (revision E)

7009/PLO1 Planning Drawing 1 (Type 1) (revision E)

PP2003 Barn Conversion - Elevations and Floor
Layouts (revision A)

7009/PLO4 Planning Drawing 4 (Site Plan) (revision D)

2152-GE-SE Ecological Impact Assessment - Bats June
2021

21120-003 Flow Control Manhole Detail (revision P1)

21120-001 Drainage Plan (revision P4)

Page 110



2%ar
25

Ny 7 G
S ,

. .

. ,
e .

.
.
| :

Woodlea
House

Brnic
dge

Richmond

[

osnop udied
E]poomuﬂl!a
Lo

Created on: 14/04/2025

© Crown Copyright and database
rights 2025 Ordnance Survey 10023778

F/YR25/0280/VOC
Scale = 1:1,250

N Fenland
CAMBRIDGESHIRE
[ Fenland District Council

Page 111



37

O . .
wall with 1.8m high close
// o I
— Existing to be
closed off.

Remove existing boundary
WALES BANK .
boarded timber fence. Existing to be

/ closed off. 1.8m brick wall. ! 0

g
ﬁr I PLOT 6 1.8m brick = o
) : PLOT 7 | PLoT® wall, PLOTS ™ 56T 10
LOT 5 § . - 7 Courtyard §
............. Courtyard [F

[ A D ¢ 2o E Existing two storey |

TYPE 1 ST m T . 1 _ structure to be demolished |

TYPE 2 and replaced. |

Yy

retained and converted. I
I 2.4m x43.0m
Vispbility Splay.

E:] i TYPE 2 TYPE 2 Existing barns to be /

4905

/] N
P :/1 L’ ‘.1 i [ﬂa
= 0y 0Py
]21 : -l -l

1
| S|
TIod
[T59l
NS
1
L
—
N

ew|/wall to
atch existing in

5.5m PRIVATE DRIVE height and

1.8m high close
boarded timber fence
with hedgehog gaps. x
1 Jd i Vi i - . ials.
' ' . 1.8m brick wall ateria
Reiﬂ&‘eQVehlcle / Fire u u 7 | —— 0 — O@& O
Appliance Turning — — ~ with 2m high
_ e SN piers. C ® j / O

i | |
8453 TYP
</ /
)/
04
|
N

i):\
I
1
e

-
ﬁ/ﬁ
=

AL

New access to 5/5m
wide by 10.0m deep
to LHA specification.

(P

New access

@ /Redmoor Ho

Q
oc
Ly
- O
C ® j 09: 2.0m x 2.0m
<
Q
Qc
LL

|

(]
)
| </
il <
lJ N—A

‘ i
ARy gty
= =5 = 5 O C@@B

O L)v @W p.ec.jsirinl
C . j y pplay.

1M

1954
Bat loft within Plot 4 — . T ° </ v
garage roofspace. q S o % O <_/
- ¥ D M > B
— (T 1) N ] N 0 -
] [ 100 1.8m high close Ne waII.to. .
==y \ ] ] b.oarded timber fence o -tCh exsting ! Residential development
O TYPEl_’II with hedgehog gaps hgight and under construction
E [] E [] . aterials. opposite
— TYPE 2 | TYPE 2 | | | 2.4m x 43.0m
y “ " : “ V Sibility Splay. D - 20.05.25 - Amendments following client instructions.
2956 ""! ”-‘! - : |:| , .. |: |:| , , .. h gé\}%?gﬁg-Amendments following client instructions and validation comments.
71 04y S Lot B e e Redmoor House O

Exigting access to
be closed off.

PLOT

9990

19236

PETER HUMPHREY
ASSOCIATES

ADDRESS: 2 CHAPEL ROAD, WISBECH, CAMBS, PE13 1RG.

6261

TELEPHONE: 01945 466966
D E-MAIL: info@peterhumphrey.co.uk
WEB: www.peterhumphrey.co.uk

B3

CLIENT

GRAFTON VENTURES LTD

\E/I q ith 9 ° PROJECT
nclose garaens wi PROPOSED RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT

21T abed

1.8m high close
boarded timber fence
with hedgehog gaps.

SITE

LAND NORTH AND WEST OF
47 FRIDAYBRIDGE ROAD
ELM

WISBECH

CAMBS

DRAWING

PLANNING DRAWING 4 (SITE PLAN)

JOB NO. PAPER SIZE DATE
7009/PLO4D | A1 FEB 2025
49 Notes:

SITE PLAN 1:200
10

Om 5

15 20m

This drawing is the permission of Peter Humphrey Associates Ltd. and may not be
reissued, loaned or copied in whole or part without written consent.

All dimensions shown on the drawing are in millimeters unless stated otherwise. If
the drawing is received electronically (PDF) it is the recipient's responsibility to
ensure it is printed to the correct paper size. All dimensions to be checked on site
prior to commencing work and any discrepancies to be highlighted immediately.

The Construction (Design and Management) Regulations 2015:

Peter Humphrey Associates' form of appointment with the client confirms whether
the agent is appointed as 'Designer’ or 'Principal Designer' under these
regulations. Nevertheless, the design phase has been carried out with due
consideration for the safety during construction, occupation and maintenance of
the finished project. No extraordinary hazards or risks were identified outside of
the routine construction operations that would not already been apparent to a
competent contractor.




Agenda Item 9

F/YR25/0156/F
Applicant: Mr G Sharman Agent : Mr G Boreham
Morton & Hall Consulting Ltd
Sharman Fabrications, Gaul Farm, Gaul Road, March Cambridgeshire PE15 0YY

Erect 1 x self-build/custom build dwelling and erect 1 x storage shed involving
demolition of existing shed and stable (B2)

Officer recommendation: Refuse

Reason for Committee: Deferral from previous Committee meeting

1 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1 This application was heard at Planning Committee on 28" May 2025 where it was
agreed to defer the application to allow for further information to be provided to
demonstrate the operating model of the business, including details of expansion
and to prove that the business is viable and to substantiate the need for the

dwelling on site, including evidence to prove that the employees listed as working
there actually do.

1.2 The applicant has provided further information in the form of a business plan and
confidential financial statement from 2020-2023.

1.3 The submitted business plan identifies availability of staff on site and security as
reasons for the functional need of the dwelling, however it is not considered that
these reasons are sufficient to justify a dwelling on site, particularly considering
that the address detailed within the application form is approximately 0.6 miles
from the application site, which is equates to a 3 minute drive.

1.4 The submission largely fails to address the requirements of Policy LP12 — Part D
in terms of a functional need for a dwelling on site as it is not considered that the
increased security or convenience from the applicant residing adjacent to the site
is a material factor sufficient to overcome the policy requirement to direct
development away from such sites.

1.5 As such, the application is recommended for refusal.

2 UPDATE

2.1 This application was presented at Planning Committee on 28" May 2025 where it
was agreed to defer the application to allow for further information to be provided
to demonstrate the operating model of the business, including details of expansion
and to prove that the business is viable and to substantiate the need for the
dwelling on site, including evidence to prove that the employees listed as working
there actually do.

Page 113



2.2 The submitted business plan provides an overview of the history of the business,
noting that the business has been operating on this site since 2004. The business
plan indicates that the business has recently expanded and diversified into other
areas of work including fencing and gates for schools and homes; supply of
beams for house; repair work to lorries and their equipment. Prospective activity
detailed within the business plan include being on call to repair lorries and
equipment during evenings and weekends, shot blasting and powder coating.

2.3 The business plan appears to indicate two reasons for the need for a dwelling on
site. The first reason is to allow for availability of an employee to undertake on call
lorry repairs on evenings and weekends. The business plan notes that the
applicant would be available 24 hours a day to take delivery of equipment and for
goods to be collected. The second reason is regarding site security. The business
plan states that the business has had items stolen. The plan does note that the
materials are left on site in a building which is secure, however the business
owners have received phone calls when vehicles are outside of the site so
therefore travel to check the site.

2.4 The submitted business statement notes that the applicant would be living in the
property, with his wife and two children.

2.5 Contained within Appendix A is the Officer’s original committee report.
3  ASSESSMENT AND CONCLUSIONS

Functional need of the dwelling

3.1 The submitted business plan provides an overview of the history of the business
and proposed expansions, including looking into expanding the company into shot
blasting and powder coating. The business plan notes that the business is open to
expansion in work and would take more employees if the work was to increase.
The submitted financial statements appear to indicate that the business is
relatively low risk.

3.2 The submitted business statement identifies that having an employee on site 24
hours of the day would allow for improved availability of staff on site. The business
plan states that applicant would be available to be on call and to take
delivery/collection of equipment and goods.

3.3 The applicant currently lives 0.6 miles from the application site, which is a 3-
minute drive. This is not considered an unreasonable journey time to travel to the
site to take collection/delivery of goods within the site. In addition to this, it is
unlikely that collection and deliveries would be outside of normal, reasonable
working hours.

3.4 ltis also not clear from the submitted information why the applicant living on site
would allow for the applicant to be available 24 hours for on call repair works,
especially considering the proximity of the applicant’s current address to the
application site. As a result, it is not considered that the scheme would result in
significant sustainability benefits given that the existing distances involved in
travelling from their permanent address to the site would be considered
reasonable.

3.5 The submitted business statement identifies site security as justification for a
dwelling on the site. The business statement however does note that the buildings

Page 114



on site are secure. In addition to this, no crime details or police crime numbers
have been provided.

3.6 Security is a matter to be considered in relation to the acceptability or otherwise of
a planning application, however it would not be uncommon or unreasonable for
business premises of this type to operate under a scheme of security cameras and
alarms. It should also be noted that the site itself is not unduly remote or isolated
given its proximity to the A141 to the east of the application site.

3.7 With regards to the issue of safety and security this is not generally held to
demonstrate an essential requirement for a dwelling to be required on site given
the range of other measures there are to address this such as CCTV, alarms etc.
This is borne out by the number of planning appeals around the country which are
dismissed in this regard. An on-line search shows of appeals in 2024 and 2025
concerning dwellings submitted in connection with business premises with security
cited as justification, that 13 out of 15 were dismissed with the two allowed relating
to businesses with animal welfare justification.

3.8 Accordingly, the submission largely fails to address the requirements of Policy
LP12 — Part D in terms of a functional need for a dwelling on site as it is not
considered that the increased security or convenience from the applicant residing
adjacent to the site is a material factor sufficient to overcome the policy
requirement to direct development away from such sites, especially considering
that the applicant is currently situated 0.6 miles away from the site, whichisa 3
minute drive.

3.9 In addition to the above, Paragraph 84(a) of the NPPF states that the development
of isolated homes in the countryside should be avoided unless there is an
essential need for a rural worker to live permanently at or near their place of work
in the countryside.

3.10 The additional information submitted has failed to demonstrate that there is an
essential need for a worker to live permanently on site and thus the application is
also considered to be contrary to Paragraph 84 of the NPPF.

4 RECOMMENDATION

4.1 Refuse; for the following reasons:

1 | Policy LP3 of the Fenland Local Plan 2014 and National Planning Policy
Framework (NPPF) steer new development to sustainable areas that offer the
best access to services and facilities. The exception to this approach is where
it can be demonstrated that such development is essential to the effective
operation of local agriculture, horticulture, forestry, outdoor recreation,
transport or utility services, or that there is a justifiable reason for locating
development in otherwise unsustainable locations.

The proposed dwelling would be located in the open countryside and whilst it
is asserted that it is essential for business reasons, the justification given
does not meet the requirements of LP12(D) in terms of evidencing a clear
functional need or that no other suitable accommodation is available. Whilst
the NPPF seeks to support a prosperous rural economy this does not override
the need to ensure that development is located in the most accessible and
sustainable locations. The proposed development is located outside any
settlement limits and the justification given is not sufficient to warrant the

Page 115



development being considered as an exception. The proposal is therefore
contrary to Local Plan Policies LP3 and LP12 of the Fenland Local Plan
(adopted May 2014).

Policy LP14 of the Fenland Local Plan, and paragraphs 155-165 of the
National Planning Policy Framework 2021, set out the approach to developing
land in relation to flood risk, with both documents seeking to steer new
development in the first instance towards available land at a lower risk of
flooding. This is achieved by means of requiring development proposals to
undertake a sequential test to determine if there is land available for
development at a lower risk of flooding than the application site, and only
resorting to development in higher flood risk areas if it can be demonstrated
that there are no reasonably available sites at a lower risk of flooding.

Fenland District Council's adopted approach to sequential testing is that
where a site is located in the countryside, the area of search for application of
the sequential test is the whole District. The Sequential Test accompanying
the application (contained within the submitted Flood Risk Assessment) does
not consider sites across the whole of the District and therefore the
Sequential Test is lacking proper application and is accordingly failed. As a
result, the proposal would fail to accord with the provisions of the NPPF,
Policy H2(c) of the March Neighbourhood Plan 2017, Policy LP14 of the
Fenland Local Plan 2014 and the Cambridgeshire Flood and Water SPD
2016.

Policy LP16 of the Fenland Local Plan (2014) requires development
proposals to deliver and protect high quality environments throughout the
district. Proposals are required to demonstrate that they make a positive
contribution to the local distinctiveness and character of the area, enhancing
their local setting and both responding to and improving the character of the
local built environment whilst not adversely impacting on the street scene,
settlement pattern or landscape character of the surrounding area.

The proposal is for the construction of a new dwelling within an area
characterised by sporadic development with a close relationship to the wider
open countryside. The development would result in the consolidation of
existing sporadic built form and an urbanisation of the area, detracting from
the open and sporadic character of this rural location. The result would be a
development that results in harm to the existing distinctiveness and open
character of the area which would be contrary to policy LP16 of the Fenland
Local Plan (2014).

Page 116



Appendix A

F/YR25/0156/F
Applicant: Mr G Sharman Agent : Mr G Boreham
Morton & Hall Consulting Ltd
Sharman Fabrications, Gaul Farm, Gaul Road, March Cambridgeshire PE15 0YY

Erect 1 x self-build/custom build dwelling and erect 1 x storage shed involving
demolition of existing shed and stable (B2)

Officer recommendation: Refuse

Reason for Committee: Number of representations contrary to Officer
recommendation

Government Planning Guarantee

Statutory Target Date For Determination: 23 April 2025
EOT in Place: Yes

EOT Expiry: 4 June 2025

Application Fee: £2312

Risk Statement:

This application must be determined by 4" June 2025 otherwise it will be out of
time and therefore negatively affect the performance figures.

1 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1 This application seeks to erect a self-build/custom build dwelling and a storage
shed, involving the demolition of an existing shed and stable.

1.2 The application states that the dwelling is to be in association with the existing
fabrication business on site, however limited justification has been provided as to
the functional need for the dwelling on site. In addition to this, the existing
business use on site does not fall within the development criteria listed under
Policy LP3 of the Fenland Local Plan 2014.

1.3 Accordingly, the submission largely fails to address the requirements of Policy
LP12 — Part D in terms of a functional need for a dwelling on site as it is not
considered that the increased security from the applicant residing adjacent to the
site is a material factor sufficient to overcome the policy requirement to direct
development away from such sites.

1.4 A further permanent dwelling in this predominantly rural location is considered
unjustified in this case and would significantly detract from, and undermine, the
rural character of this part of the district.

1.5 The application is not accompanied by a sequential test exploring the availability
of alternative sites in location of lower flood risk.

Page 117



1.6 The application is therefore recommended for refusal.

2.1

2.2

2.3

3.1

3.2

3.3

3.4

SITE DESCRIPTION

The application site is situated to the southwest of the junction of the A141 Isle of
Ely Way and Gaul Road, to the west of March.

The site features a corrugated metal workshop building, stables, paddock land and
a gravelled parking/turning area. There is an existing gated access off Gaul Road
leading to the parking/turning area.

The application site is situated within Flood Zone 3 (high risk).
PROPOSAL

This application seeks to erect 1 x self-build/custom build dwelling and erect 1 x
storage shed involving the demolition of the existing shed and stable. The
proposed dwelling would be a detached 2-storey. 4-bed dwelling, with attached
single-storey garage. The dwelling would have a greatest depth of 10.8 metres
approx and a greatest width of 21.2 metres approx (including the garage). The
dwelling would feature dual-pitched roofs with an eaves height of 5.2 metres and a
ridge height of 7.9 metres approx. the dwelling would be finished in a buff brick,
with red brick plinth and detailing and red roof tiles.

The dwelling would be situated to the north-east of the site, with parking and
turning space situated to the front of the dwelling. Private amenity space would be
to the side and rear of the dwelling itself.

The proposed storage shed would be situated to behind the existing workshop and
would have a floor area of 15 x 10 metres. The storage shed would feature a dual-
pitched roof and would have a ridge height of 5.1 metres approx. The storage
shed would be finished in a green sheet cladding.

Full plans and associated documents for this application can be found at:

https://www.publicaccess.fenland.gov.uk/publicaccess/

4 SITE PLANNING HISTORY

5.1

Reference Description Decision
F/IYR21/0657/F Formation of a ménage Granted
11/08/2021
F/YR06/1289/0 Erection of a workplace Refused
home 22/12/2006
F/YR06/1002/0 Erection of a workplace Refused
home 17/10/2006
F/YRO04/3057/F Change of Use of existing | Granted
building to workshop for 07/04/2004
the manufacture of
playground equipment

CONSULTATIONS

March Town Council

Page 118



https://www.publicaccess.fenland.gov.uk/publicaccess/

5.2

Recommendation; Approval
FDC Environmental Health

| confirm receipt of the above application details and have considered the
implications of the proposed development in terms of:

Noise

Air pollution
Contaminated land
Artificial light

| conclude that the Environmental Health Team do not object to the principle of this
application but would like to raise the following observations.

Noise / Light from the Fabrication business

| note that the residential property is linked to the fabrication business, therefore |
would not propose that noise or light will be a matter to consider. However, should
the residential property be sold or occupied separately to the business, the
business will not be able to operate without exceeding noise levels that will be
likely to cause a nuisance to the residential property.

Land affected by contamination

Historic land use likely to results in the potential for contamination to be left in the
soils have ben identified. Site photos also identify made ground and deposits of
construction and demolition waste. Therefore, | recommend that the standard
contaminated land conditions are applied to this application.

No development approved by this permission shall be commenced prior to a
contaminated land assessment and associated remedial strategy, being submitted
to the LPA and receipt of approval of the document/documents from the LPA. This
applies to paragraphs a), b) and c). This is an iterative process and the results of
each stage will help decide if the following stage is necessary..

(a) The contaminated land assessment shall include a desk study to be submitted
to the LPA for approval. The desk study shall detail the history of the site uses, the
proposed site usage, and include a conceptual model. The site investigation
strategy will be based on the relevant information discovered by the desk study.
The strategy shall be approved by the LPA prior to investigations commencing on
site.

(b) The site investigation, including relevant soil, soil gas, surface and groundwater
sampling, shall be carried out by a suitable qualified and accredited
consultant/contractor in accordance with a quality assured sampling and analysis
methodology.

(c) A site investigation report detailing all investigative works and sampling on site,
together with the results of the analysis, risk assessment to any receptors and a
proposed remediation strategy shall be submitted to the LPA. The LPA shall
approve such remedial works as required prior to any remediation commencing on
site. The works shall be of such a nature as to render harmless the identified
contamination given the proposed end use of the site and surrounding
environment including any controlled waters. No development approved by this
permission shall be occupied prior to the completion of any remedial works and a
validation report/s being submitted to the LPA and receipt of approval of the
document/documents from the LPA. This applies to paragraphs d), e) and f).

Page 119



5.3

54

5.5

(d) Approved remediation works shall be carried out in full on site under a quality
assurance scheme to demonstrate compliance with the proposed methodology
and best practice

(e) If, during the works, contamination is encountered which has not previously
been identified then the additional contamination shall be fully assessed and an
appropriate remediation scheme agreed with the LPA.

(f) Upon completion of the works, this condition shall not be discharged until a
validation/closure report has been submitted to and approved by the LPA. The
closure report shall include details of the proposed remediation works and quality
assurance certificates to show that the works have been carried out in full in
accordance with the approved methodology. Details of any post-remedial sampling
and analysis to show the site has reached the required clean-up criteria shall be
included in the closure report together with the necessary documentation detailing
what waste materials have been removed from site, and what has been brought
on to site. Reason: To control pollution of land or water in the interests of the
environment and public safety.

FDC Ecology
| have no objections to the above planning application on Ecology grounds.

The proposed new hedge at the southern boundary of the site represents a
suitable biodiversity enhancement for the scheme.

CCC Highways
Recommendation

On the basis of the information submitted, from the perspective of the Local
Highway Authority, | consider the proposed development to be acceptable.

Comments
The existing access is suitable for the proposed development outlined. Therefore,
this proposal is acceptable to the Local Highway Authority.

Environment Agency

We have no objection to the proposed development on flood risk grounds but wish
to make the following comments:

We consider that the main source of flood risk at this site is associated with
watercourses under the jurisdiction of the Internal Drainage Board (IDB).

As such, the IDB should be consulted with regard to flood risk associated with
watercourses under their jurisdiction and surface water drainage proposals.

In all circumstances where flood warning and evacuation are significant measures
in contributing to managing flood risk, we expect local planning authorities to
formally consider the emergency planning and rescue implications of new
development in making their decisions.

NPPF Flood Risk Sequential Test
In accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (paragraph 162),

development should not be permitted if there are reasonably available sites
appropriate for the proposed development in areas with a lower probability of

Page 120



5.6

6.1

7.1

7.2

7.3

7.4

flooding. It is for the Local Planning Authority to determine if the sequential test
needs to be applied and whether there are other sites available at lower flood risk.
Our flood risk standing advice reminds you of this and provides advice on how to
apply the test.

Local Residents/Interested Parties

Eight letters of support were received regarding this application from addresses
within March (Whittlesey Road x2, Burrowmoor Road x2, Corner Lodge Industrial
Estate, Brewin Avenue, Millfield Close and Brewin Avenue), several of these
appear to be business addresses. The reasons for support are summarised as
follows:

eAllow business to grow
eEconomic growth

eAsset to the community
eSecurity for business

eHouse would not impact anyone

STATUTORY DUTY

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires a
planning application to be determined in accordance with the Development Plan
unless material planning considerations indicate otherwise. The Development Plan
for the purposes of this application comprises the adopted Fenland Local Plan
(2014) the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Local Plan
(2021) and the March Neighbourhood Plan (2017).

POLICY FRAMEWORK

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2024

Chapter 2 - Achieving sustainable development

Chapter 4 — Decision-making

Chapter 9 — Promoting sustainable transport

Chapter 12 — Achieving well-designed places

Chapter 14 — Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change
Chapter 16 - Conserving and enhancing the historic environment

National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)
Determining a Planning Application

National Design Guide 2021
Context

|dentity

Built Form

Uses

Homes and Buildings

Fenland Local Plan 2014

LP1 — A Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development

LP2 — Facilitating Health and Wellbeing of Fenland Residents

LP3 — Spatial Strategy, the Settlement Hierarchy and the Countryside

LP12 — Rural Areas Development Policy

LP14 — Responding to Climate Change and Managing the Risk of Flooding in
Fenland

Page 121



7.5

7.6

7.7

9.1

9.2

LP15 — Facilitating the Creation of a More Sustainable Transport Network in
Fenland

LP16 — Delivering and Protecting High Quality Environments across the District

LP19 — The Natural Environment

March Neighbourhood Plan 2017
H2 —  Windfall Development

Cambridgeshire Flood and Water SPD 2016

Emerging Local Plan

The Draft Fenland Local Plan (2022) was published for consultation between 25th
August 2022 and 19 October 2022, all comments received will be reviewed and
any changes arising from the consultation will be made to the draft Local Plan.
Given the very early stage which the Plan is therefore at, it is considered, in
accordance with Paragraph 49 of the NPPF, that the policies of this should carry
extremely limited weight in decision making. Of relevance to this application are
policies:

LP1: Settlement Hierarchy

LP2: Spatial Strategy for the Location of Residential Development
LP5: Health and Wellbeing

LP7: Design

LP8: Amenity Provision

LP18: Development in the Countryside

LP20: Accessibility and Transport

LP22: Parking Provision

LP24: Natural Environment

LP32: Flood and Water Management

KEY ISSUES

Principle of Development
Self-build

Character and Appearance
Residential Amenity
Access and Parking

Flood Risk

Ecology and Trees
Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG)

ASSESSMENT
Principle of Development

The application site is situated to the southwest of the junction of the A141 Isle of
Ely Way and Gaul Road, to the west of the built-up settlement of March. This is an
‘elsewhere’ location when applying the criteria outlined in Policy LP12; given that it
is clearly outside the built-up settlement of March. There is one additional dwelling
on this section of Gaul Road, and therefore whilst the site is not necessarily
‘physically’ isolated, the lack of nearby services and facilities would render the
location ‘functionally’ isolated.

As identified under Policy LP3, development in such areas should be restricted to
that which is essential for agriculture, horticulture, forestry, outdoor recreation,

Page 122



9.3

9.4

9.5

9.6

9.7

9.8

transport or utility services and to minerals or waste development. The current use
of the site is a B2 use for the manufacturing of playground equipment and
therefore clearly does not accord with these prescribed uses. In addition to
compliance with Policy LP3, Policy LP12 Part D requires the application to
demonstrate the following:

(a) The existing functional need for the dwelling

(b) The number of part time and full-time worker(s) to live in the dwelling

(c) The length of time the activity has been established

(d) The financial viability of the enterprise

(e) The availability of other suitable accommodation on site or in the area

(f) How the proposed size of the dwelling relates to the viability of the enterprise

Justification of need

The justification provided for the functional need for the dwelling is limited. The
submitted design & access statement highlights that the business use has been
on site for an excess of twenty years with two full time workers on site, noting that
this may expand. The statement also notes that there is no alternative
accommodation within the area as the site is already established for the business.
An economy statement has also been submitted with the application which
contradicts the design and access statement, as this clearly sets out there no
additional jobs would be created as part of this proposal. This statement also
highlights that the proposal would not have a distinct community benefit and that
the dwelling on site would safeguard the existing business.

No business plan has been submitted as part of the application and thus no detail
has been provided to satisfy parts (d), or (f) of the Policy. It is therefore unclear
why the applicant considers it is essential for a full-time worker to occupy the
dwelling. Nor has any business case been provided to be able to confirm that the
business is viable to support this.

The application has failed to justify why an additional dwelling would be required to
support the business needs. Accordingly, the submission largely fails to address
the requirements of Policy LP12 — Part D in terms of a functional need for a
dwelling on site as it is not considered that an additional dwelling would be
necessary and it is not considered that convenience from the applicant residing
adjacent to the site is a material factor sufficient to overcome the policy
requirement to direct development away from such sites.

In addition to the above, Paragraph 84(a) of the NPPF states that the development
of isolated homes in the countryside should be avoided unless there is an
essential need for a rural worker to live permanently at or near their place of work
in the countryside.

The application submitted has failed to demonstrate that there is an essential need
for a rural worker to live permanently on site and thus the application is also
considered to be contrary to Paragraph 84 of the NPPF.

Self — build

Policy LP5, Part C seeks to provide, in appropriate circumstances, housing
solutions that meet market expectations including self build homes, which is
supported by para 62 of the NPPF. Under Section 1 of the Self Build and Custom
Housebuilding Act 2015, local authorities are required to keep a register of those

Page 123



seeking to acquire serviced plots in the area for their own self-build and custom
house building. They are also subject to duties under sections 2 and 2A of the Act
to have regard to this and to give enough suitable development permissions to
meet the identified demand. Weight would therefore be given to this, the amount
dependant on identified demand.

9.9 The proposal is for self/custom build dwellings, however the Council can currently
demonstrate that the number of permissions given for self/custom builds exceeds
identified demand. The register currently demonstrates that 3 permissions are
required, with 58 permissions granted to date. As such very limited weight can be
afforded to this.

Character and Appearance

9.10 This application proposes to erect one self-build/custom build dwelling and a
storage shed, involving the demolition of an existing shed and stable.

9.11 The character of development along this area of Gaul Road is predominantly
agricultural, with the presence of one singular dwelling. The character of
development could therefore be classed as sporadic and loose knit, due to the
large and spacious fields forming gaps between the existing development.

9.12 Policy H2 of the March Neighbourhood Plan 2017 states that development should
be of a high standard of design. Policy LP16 of the Fenland Local Plan requires
development to ‘make a positive contribution to the local distinctiveness and
character of the area, enhancing its local setting, responding to and improving the
character of the local built environment, providing resilience to climate change,
reinforcing local identity and not adversely impacting on the street scene,
settlement pattern or landscape character of the surrounding area’.

9.13 The design and appearance of the proposed dwelling is not considered to be
objectionable in its own right, the proposal however by its very nature and
location, would detract from the relationship between the site and its rural and
undeveloped surroundings. The proposed development would undermine this
relationship by the consolidation of existing sporadic and loose-knit built form
notable in this area and would therefore be contrary to Policy LP16 of the adopted
Fenland Local Plan.

9.14 The proposed storage shed would be situated to the rear of the existing workshop
and whilst this would be visible from the surrounding public realm (given the open
nature of the surrounding area), it is not considered to be out of character in this
location.

Residential Amenity

9.15 There are no immediate neighbours surrounding the application site and therefore
the scheme will not adversely impact upon residential amenity and as such there
are no issues to address with regard to Policy H2(a) of the March Neighbourhood
Plan 2017 and Policy LP2 and LP16 of the Fenland Local Plan 2014.
Access and Parking

9.16 The proposed development would utilise the existing access into the site and
extending the gravel/hardcore to create a driveway to the proposed dwelling.

Page 124



Upon consultation with CCC Highways, no objections have been raised to the
utilisation of this access to serve the proposed development.

9.17 Appendix A of the Fenland Local Plan states that dwellings with four or more
bedrooms should provide three onsite parking spaces. One parking space is
detailed to the front of the dwelling, and two within the garage. It is therefore
considered that sufficient parking space could be achieved on site. As such, there
are no issues to address with regard to Policy LP15.

Flood Risk

9.18 The application site is located within Flood Zone 3. Policy LP14 of the Fenland
Local Plan requires new development to be the subject of a sequential test, which
aims to direct new development to the areas at the lowest risk of flooding.

9.19 The application is accompanied by a Flood Risk Assessment which states ‘the
proposed dwelling will be tied to the business that is based at the site and
therefore can be considered to pass the Sequential Test. Justification for the need
for a dwelling is provided within a separate document .

9.20 The matter of need for the dwelling to be located on site is addressed above. It is
concluded that there is no site specific need for the dwelling on site and therefore
the sequential test needs to be applied.

9.21 ltis considered that applying the sequential test across the whole of the District, as
is the Council’s adopted approach for a site outside the settlement, would result in
identifying sites at lower risk, capable of accommodating a single dwelling.
Therefore, the proposal is deemed to have failed the sequential test.

9.22 On matters of flood risk, therefore, the application site would not accord with the
planning requirements at set out under the NPPF, Policy H2(c) of the March
Neighbourhood Plan 2017, Policy LP14 of the Fenland Local Plan 2014 and the
Cambridgeshire Flood and Water SPD 2016.

Ecology and Trees

9.23 The application is accompanied by a tree statement confirming that no trees will
be removed on the site. A Preliminary Ecological Appraisal has also been
submitted which confirms that precautionary working methods should be put in
place to prevent disturbance to wildlife. Recommended enhancements have also
been suggested. The FDC Ecologist has raised no objections to the scheme and
therefore there are no issues to address with regards to Policy LP19.

Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG)

9.24 The Environment Act 2021 requires development proposals to deliver a net gain in
biodiversity following a mitigation hierarchy which is focused on avoiding
ecological harm over minimising, rectifying, reducing and then off-setting. This
approach accords with Local Plan policies LP16 and LP19 which outlines a
primary objective for biodiversity to be conserved or enhanced and provides for
the protection of Protected Species, Priority Species and Priority Habitat.

9.25 There are statutory exemptions, transitional arrangements and requirements

relating to irreplaceable habitat which mean that the biodiversity gain condition
does not always apply. In this instance, one or more of the exemptions /

Page 125



transitional arrangements are considered to apply and a Biodiversity Gain
Condition is not required to be approved before development is begun because
the nature of the development being self / custom build is exempt from statutory
net gain.

10 CONCLUSIONS

10.1 The site lies within an ‘elsewhere’ location as such, the erection of a dwelling is
contrary to the settlement policies outlined in Policy LP3 of the Fenland Local Plan
2014. Furthermore, the scheme fails to evidence the ‘need’ for the property in this
location as required by Policy LP12 — Part D and would detrimentally impact on
the character of the area. Given that the scheme fails to demonstrate that the
development is justified in terms of a functional need and the visual harm that
ensues, development plan policies indicate that the application should be refused
and there are no material considerations to indicate a departure from the
development plan is warranted in this instance.

10.2 The Sequential Test accompanying the application does not consider sites across
the whole of the District and therefore the Sequential Test is lacking proper
application and is accordingly failed. As a result, the proposal would fail to accord
with the provisions of the NPPF, Policy H2(c) of the March Neighbourhood Plan
2017, Policy LP14 of the Fenland Local Plan 2014 and the Cambridgeshire Flood
and Water SPD 2016.

11 RECOMMENDATION

11.1 Refuse; for the following reasons:

1 | Policy LP3 of the Fenland Local Plan 2014 and National Planning Policy
Framework (NPPF) steer new development to sustainable areas that offer the best
access to services and facilities. The exception to this approach is where it can be
demonstrated that such development is essential to the effective operation of local
agriculture, horticulture, forestry, outdoor recreation, transport or utility services, or
that there is a justifiable reason for locating development in otherwise
unsustainable locations.

The proposed dwelling would be located in the open countryside and whilst it is
asserted that it is essential for business reasons, the justification given does not
meet the requirements of LP12(D) in terms of evidencing a clear functional need or
that no other suitable accommodation is available. Whilst the NPPF seeks to
support a prosperous rural economy this does not override the need to ensure that
development is located in the most accessible and sustainable locations. The
proposed development is located outside any settlement limits and the justification
given is not sufficient to warrant the development being considered as an
exception. The proposal is therefore contrary to Local Plan Policies LP3 and LP12
of the Fenland Local Plan (adopted May 2014).

Page 126



Policy LP14 of the Fenland Local Plan, and paragraphs 155-165 of the National
Planning Policy Framework 2021, set out the approach to developing land in
relation to flood risk, with both documents seeking to steer new development in the
first instance towards available land at a lower risk of flooding. This is achieved by
means of requiring development proposals to undertake a sequential test to
determine if there is land available for development at a lower risk of flooding than
the application site, and only resorting to development in higher flood risk areas if it
can be demonstrated that there are no reasonably available sites at a lower risk of
flooding.

Fenland District Council's adopted approach to sequential testing is that where a
site is located in the countryside, the area of search for application of the
sequential test is the whole District. The Sequential Test accompanying the
application (contained within the submitted Flood Risk Assessment) does not
consider sites across the whole of the District and therefore the Sequential Test is
lacking proper application and is accordingly failed. As a result, the proposal would
fail to accord with the provisions of the NPPF, Policy H2(c) of the March
Neighbourhood Plan 2017, Policy LP14 of the Fenland Local Plan 2014 and the
Cambridgeshire Flood and Water SPD 2016.

Policy LP16 of the Fenland Local Plan (2014) requires development proposals to
deliver and protect high quality environments throughout the district. Proposals are
required to demonstrate that they make a positive contribution to the local
distinctiveness and character of the area, enhancing their local setting and both
responding to and improving the character of the local built environment whilst not
adversely impacting on the street scene, settlement pattern or landscape character
of the surrounding area.

The proposal is for the construction of a new dwelling within an area characterised
by sporadic development with a close relationship to the wider open countryside.
The development would result in the consolidation of existing sporadic built form
and an urbanisation of the area, detracting from the open and sporadic character of
this rural location. The result would be a development that results in harm to the
existing distinctiveness and open character of the area which would be contrary to
policy LP16 of the Fenland Local Plan (2014).

Page 127



Highfield

Created on: 04/03/2025

© Crown Copyright and database
rights 2025 Ordnance Survey 10023778

F/YR25/0156/F
Scale = 1:1,250

CAMBRIDGESHIRE

Fenland District Council

Page 128




621 abed

60MPH SPEED LIMIT

LEGEND:

EXISTING DWELLINGS

PAVEMENT

\

GRASS

N

PERMEABLE BLOCK
PAVING (NON SLIP)

\

TARMAC

N

GRAVEL

SLAB PAVING

=

| WHEELIE BINS

=

Z—1

e ) -
Y by

T
m
o
Q
=z
©

/ o o

VEGETATION

PROPOSED SITE PLAN (1:250)

METERS

. 0 5 10 15 !

20

EXISITNG ACCESS A

A

OVERHEAD CABLES

EXISITNG 8m GATI

48.75m

PROPOSED LOCATION
OF NEW SHED

3—4m HAWTHORNE
HEDGE ALL ROUND

/T

S
-—
-— -
- -
—
TARMAC
HARDCORE
EXTENSION OF GRAVEL
/ HARDCORE TRACK
TO SUPPLY NEW
DWELLING
34.4m
WORKSHOP
SERVIC
BOX
il
HARDCORE
v,
2l

PAVEMENT

TRAFFIC KIGHT

?NWN‘O

RAFFIC LIGHT

— 2
r“"'__j
| |
v 000

S\

STREET SCENE A-A

%
5
.
O
/4r\
.
"2
=

Z

/6

STREET SCENE B—B

3%

_—
T
_—

Copyright on all drawings prepared by Morton & Hall
Consulting Limited is their property. Drawings and
designs may not be reproduced in part or in whole
without their written permission.

Please read, if in doubt ask. Change nothing without
consulting the Engineers.

Contractor to check all dimensions on site before work
starts or materials are ordered. If in doubt

ask. All dimensions are in mm unless stated otherwise.

Where materials, products and workmanship are not fully
specified they are to be of the standard appropriate to
the works and suitable for the purpose stated in or
reasonably to be inferred from the drawings and
specification. All work to be in accordance with

good building practice and BS 8000 to the extent that the
recommendations define the quality of the finished work.
Materials products and workmanship to comply with all
British Standards and EOTA standards with, where
appropriate, BS or EC marks.

All products and materials to be handled, stored, prepared
and used or fixed in accordance with the manufacturers
current recommendations.

The contractor is to arrange inspections of the works
by the BCO (or NHBC) as required by the Building
Regulations and is to obtain completion certificate and
forward to the Engineer

All finishes, insulation and damp—proofing to architect’s
details

B UPDATED FOR PLANNING JAN 2025
A CLIENT COMMENTS DEC 2024
REVISIONS DATE

MoRrToN & HALL
CoNSULTING LIMITED

CONSULTING STRUCTURAL ENGINEERS |

1 Gordon Avenue, Tel: 01354 655454

March, Fax: 01354 660467
Combridgeshire. E—mail: info@mortonandhall.co.uk

PE15 8AJ Website: www.mortonconsultingengineers.co.uk

‘ Fenland District Council
Building

LABC LABC
Design Awards
Building Excellence in Fenland .

1102 8 6002
HINNIM AHOOILYO

CLIENT

Mr Sharman

PROJECT

Sharman Fabrications

Gaul Road, March
Cambridgehsire
PE1S OYY

TITLE

Proposed Site Plan

DRAWN DATE OF ISSUE
G.Boreham

CHECKED

DATE DRAWING NUMBER

Dec 2024

— H10015,/05,

As Shown



AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1
REVISIONS

AutoCAD SHX Text_2
CLIENT

AutoCAD SHX Text_3
PROJECT

AutoCAD SHX Text_4
TITLE 

AutoCAD SHX Text_5
DRAWN 

AutoCAD SHX Text_6
CHECKED

AutoCAD SHX Text_7
DRAWING NUMBER

AutoCAD SHX Text_8
SCALE

AutoCAD SHX Text_9
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_10
Consulting Limited is their property. Drawings and 

AutoCAD SHX Text_11
Copyright on all drawings prepared by Morton & Hall

AutoCAD SHX Text_12
forward to the Engineer

AutoCAD SHX Text_13
Regulations and is to obtain completion certificate and

AutoCAD SHX Text_14
by the BCO (or NHBC) as required by the Building 

AutoCAD SHX Text_15
The contractor is to arrange inspections of the works

AutoCAD SHX Text_16
current recommendations.

AutoCAD SHX Text_17
and used or fixed in accordance with the manufacturers

AutoCAD SHX Text_18
All products and materials to be handled, stored, prepared 

AutoCAD SHX Text_19
appropriate, BS or EC marks.

AutoCAD SHX Text_20
British Standards and EOTA standards with, where 

AutoCAD SHX Text_21
Materials products and workmanship to comply with all 

AutoCAD SHX Text_22
recommendations define the quality of the finished work. 

AutoCAD SHX Text_23
good building practice and BS 8000 to the extent that the 

AutoCAD SHX Text_24
specification. All work to be in accordance with 

AutoCAD SHX Text_25
reasonably to be inferred from the drawings and

AutoCAD SHX Text_26
the works and suitable for the purpose stated in or 

AutoCAD SHX Text_27
specified they are to be of the standard appropriate to

AutoCAD SHX Text_28
Where materials, products and workmanship are not fully

AutoCAD SHX Text_29
ask. All dimensions are in mm unless stated otherwise.

AutoCAD SHX Text_30
starts or materials are ordered. If in doubt 

AutoCAD SHX Text_31
Contractor to check all dimensions on site before work

AutoCAD SHX Text_32
consulting the Engineers.

AutoCAD SHX Text_33
Please read, if in doubt ask. Change nothing without

AutoCAD SHX Text_34
without their written permission.

AutoCAD SHX Text_35
designs may not be reproduced in part or in whole 

AutoCAD SHX Text_36
DATE OF ISSUE

AutoCAD SHX Text_37
All finishes, insulation and damp-proofing to architect's 

AutoCAD SHX Text_38
details

AutoCAD SHX Text_39
1 Gordon Avenue, March, Cambridgeshire. PE15 8AJ

AutoCAD SHX Text_40
Tel: 01354 655454 Fax: 01354 660467 E-mail: info@mortonandhall.co.uk Website: www.mortonconsultingengineers.co.uk

AutoCAD SHX Text_41
LABC

AutoCAD SHX Text_42
east anglia

AutoCAD SHX Text_43
LABC

AutoCAD SHX Text_44
east anglia

AutoCAD SHX Text_45
Mr Sharman

AutoCAD SHX Text_46
Sharman Fabrications

AutoCAD SHX Text_47
Gaul Road, March

AutoCAD SHX Text_48
Cambridgehsire

AutoCAD SHX Text_49
PE15 0YY

AutoCAD SHX Text_50
Proposed Site Plan

AutoCAD SHX Text_51
G.Boreham

AutoCAD SHX Text_52
Dec 2024

AutoCAD SHX Text_53
As Shown

AutoCAD SHX Text_54
H10015/05

AutoCAD SHX Text_55
ISLE OF ELY WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text_56
Drain

AutoCAD SHX Text_57
0.7m

AutoCAD SHX Text_58
Drain

AutoCAD SHX Text_59
PROPOSED SITE PLAN (1:250)

AutoCAD SHX Text_60
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_61
SLAB PAVING 

AutoCAD SHX Text_62
WHEELIE BINS

AutoCAD SHX Text_63
GRAVEL

AutoCAD SHX Text_64
PERMEABLE BLOCK  PAVING (NON SLIP)

AutoCAD SHX Text_65
VEGETATION 

AutoCAD SHX Text_66
EXISTING DWELLINGS

AutoCAD SHX Text_67
PAVEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text_68
HEDGING

AutoCAD SHX Text_69
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_70
LEGEND:

AutoCAD SHX Text_71
GAUL ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_72
GAUL ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_73
A141

AutoCAD SHX Text_74
1:250

AutoCAD SHX Text_75
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_76
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_77
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_78
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_79
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_80
METERS

AutoCAD SHX Text_81
EXISITNG 8m GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_82
1.5m POST AND RAIL FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text_83
EXISTING TREATMENT PLANT

AutoCAD SHX Text_84
WORKSHOP

AutoCAD SHX Text_85
PAVEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text_86
PAVEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text_87
PAVEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text_88
PAVEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text_89
SL

AutoCAD SHX Text_90
SL

AutoCAD SHX Text_91
SL

AutoCAD SHX Text_92
SL

AutoCAD SHX Text_93
TRAFFIC LIGHT

AutoCAD SHX Text_94
TRAFFIC LIGHT

AutoCAD SHX Text_95
60MPH SPEED LIMIT

AutoCAD SHX Text_96
3-4m HAWTHORNE HEDGE ALL ROUND

AutoCAD SHX Text_97
3-4m HAWTHORNE HEDGE ALL ROUND

AutoCAD SHX Text_98
OVERHEAD CABLES

AutoCAD SHX Text_99
SERVICE BOX

AutoCAD SHX Text_100
TARMAC

AutoCAD SHX Text_101
HARDCORE

AutoCAD SHX Text_102
GRASS

AutoCAD SHX Text_103
EXTENSION OF GRAVEL / HARDCORE TRACK TO SUPPLY NEW DWELLING

AutoCAD SHX Text_104
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_105
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_106
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_107
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_108
STREET SCENE A-A

AutoCAD SHX Text_109
STREET SCENE B-B

AutoCAD SHX Text_110
HARDCORE

AutoCAD SHX Text_111
PROPOSED LOCATION OF NEW SHED

AutoCAD SHX Text_112
PROPOSED MIXED HEDGE

AutoCAD SHX Text_113
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_114
CLIENT COMMENTS

AutoCAD SHX Text_115
DEC 2024

AutoCAD SHX Text_116
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_117
EXISITNG ACCESS

AutoCAD SHX Text_118
MANEGE

AutoCAD SHX Text_119
1.5m POST AND RAIL FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text_120
56.5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_121
27.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_122
48.75m

AutoCAD SHX Text_123
34.4m

AutoCAD SHX Text_124
74m

AutoCAD SHX Text_125
8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_126
22.15m

AutoCAD SHX Text_127
24.5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_128
11.3m

AutoCAD SHX Text_129
10.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_130
2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_131
5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_132
5.1m

AutoCAD SHX Text_133
2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_134
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_135
UPDATED FOR PLANNING

AutoCAD SHX Text_136
JAN 2025


Copyright on all drawings prepared by Morton & Hall
Consulting Limited is their property. Drawings and
designs may not be reproduced in part or in whole
without their written permission.

Please read, if in doubt ask. Change nothing without
consulting the Engineers.

Contractor to check all dimensions on site before work
starts or materials are ordered. If in doubt

ask. All dimensions are in mm unless stated otherwise.

Where materials, products and workmanship are not fully
specified they are to be of the standard appropriate to
the works and suitable for the purpose stated in or
reasonably to be inferred from the drawings and

specification. All work to be in accordance with

good building practice and BS 8000 to the extent that the
recommendations define the quality of the finished work.
Materials products and workmanship to comply with all
British Standards and EOTA standards with, where
appropriate, BS or EC marks.

All products and materials to be handled, stored, prepared
and used or fixed in accordance with the manufacturers
current recommendations.

The contractor is to arrange inspections of the works
by the BCO (or NHBC) as required by the Building
Regulations and is to obtain completion certificate and
forward to the Engineer

All finishes, insulation and damp—proofing to architect’s
details

ISLE OF ELY WAY o, e W s, ba, % v ite, ¥ g e W s b8, el Wy & s,
Al141 U\’;:W\V\ﬁ ,%?«y\f%x g q%\mﬁ % QW\V%A Jd ¢ ’g”%* W Y 7 7 7 ‘ U\’J%\X%* % " \V\F qd ¢ QW\V\Q W 4

\Speal (2@*2 2@1\@2@1&@1%@ - v 2@ 5& : i\?/%iw%i>%i

SN k@’@?% Sl NN M@L&M LOBREI S RORFEIT S SR 2 : S RERRICIN A ROEReI T RORFEIN Y ROE

EXISTING STREET SCENE A—A
(1:200)

B 05 s, K e, W
U\’::%\X%a % " \V\ﬂa d %\V\FA " U\E:W\X%*
5@;‘1\ 2@7\1 2@*1%@/*15

W b T e,
&U\r@\w@ W’w\% gy ,,\Vh al

7 4

"’”#&%@@3 # RLE

ISLE OF ELY WAY %’3 @{il
q%\m@a% q%\v%ﬁa‘ ,aw\fh\ﬁ U\’\I/

Al141

4

@2 %@i\ @, o S

23 . : :
e Nyl %;gi\ SNl Spreal x@ Sz s e

e R e BGRICS M@L&M RORIA A RORTEI T

RN k@@@% kﬁ%@?@éw I AR T

0¢T abed

PROPOSED STREET SCENE A—A
(1:200)

REVISIONS DATE

S I R Vit K R a8 b, % 5
K m,\vg PRy Po e m\vg‘fw Wl \vg %g,\m( m\vh o m\% 2 F e %\Vﬁ ,ﬁ\% ﬁ“wc;% ’

3 vy TN
SR R AR e e e

e

U\F’/
3 G oy 43, 7 . ‘
&iiﬁﬁigﬁéii@ﬁiigﬁiﬂwgémkm¥ %fiﬁﬁfigﬁizgﬂ

\/ CONSULTING STRUCTURAL ENGINEERS

Tel: 01354 655454

EXISTING STREET SCENE B-B :chr;gr:fjon Avenue, Fax: 01354 660467

. Cambridgeshire. E—mail: info®@mortonandhall.co.uk
1 . 2 O O PE15 8AJ Website: www.mortonconsultingengineers.co.uk

‘ Fenland District Council
LABS™ LABS™ o
Building

Design Awards
Building Excellence in Fenland ‘

1102 ® 6002
Y3INNIM AHOO3LVYO

CLIENT

—. - Mr Sharman

PROJECT

Sharman Fabrications
Gaul Road, March
Cambridgehsire

PE15 0OYY

TITLE

R PRI A A il A s
] ‘U\rr/%\v%* .&:ﬁ\r,/%\f'?;% ‘U\’:/%\V\Kg % U\rr/ \X%»g N ‘U\]::%\X%A % U\’\I/ ;

é@ﬁ &@, el %&Vi@%@iw@i N@

N NEE AR e AL Vit
\vh R e SN S : \ 3 NS e N\ o
) PR Existing and Proposed

! fﬂ’\
> o RNEat 5@ ¥ L Ul S 7, ’i el
42 : il B R s R S
e o S0 MU S ToET T o e s — Street Scenes

R e RGNl %mﬁw a
PROPOSED STREET SCENE B-—B

( 1 : 2 O O) DRAWN G-Borehom DATE OF ISSUE

CHECKED

DATE DRAWING NUMBER

Jan 2025

— H10015/06

As Shown



AutoCAD SHX Text_137
EXISTING STREET SCENE B-B (1:200)

AutoCAD SHX Text_138
PROPOSED STREET SCENE A-A (1:200)

AutoCAD SHX Text_139
PROPOSED STREET SCENE B-B (1:200)

AutoCAD SHX Text_140
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_141
REVISIONS

AutoCAD SHX Text_142
CLIENT

AutoCAD SHX Text_143
PROJECT

AutoCAD SHX Text_144
TITLE 

AutoCAD SHX Text_145
DRAWN 

AutoCAD SHX Text_146
CHECKED

AutoCAD SHX Text_147
DRAWING NUMBER

AutoCAD SHX Text_148
SCALE

AutoCAD SHX Text_149
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_150
Consulting Limited is their property. Drawings and 

AutoCAD SHX Text_151
Copyright on all drawings prepared by Morton & Hall

AutoCAD SHX Text_152
forward to the Engineer

AutoCAD SHX Text_153
Regulations and is to obtain completion certificate and

AutoCAD SHX Text_154
by the BCO (or NHBC) as required by the Building 

AutoCAD SHX Text_155
The contractor is to arrange inspections of the works

AutoCAD SHX Text_156
current recommendations.

AutoCAD SHX Text_157
and used or fixed in accordance with the manufacturers

AutoCAD SHX Text_158
All products and materials to be handled, stored, prepared 

AutoCAD SHX Text_159
appropriate, BS or EC marks.

AutoCAD SHX Text_160
British Standards and EOTA standards with, where 

AutoCAD SHX Text_161
Materials products and workmanship to comply with all 

AutoCAD SHX Text_162
recommendations define the quality of the finished work. 

AutoCAD SHX Text_163
good building practice and BS 8000 to the extent that the 

AutoCAD SHX Text_164
specification. All work to be in accordance with 

AutoCAD SHX Text_165
reasonably to be inferred from the drawings and

AutoCAD SHX Text_166
the works and suitable for the purpose stated in or 

AutoCAD SHX Text_167
specified they are to be of the standard appropriate to

AutoCAD SHX Text_168
Where materials, products and workmanship are not fully

AutoCAD SHX Text_169
ask. All dimensions are in mm unless stated otherwise.

AutoCAD SHX Text_170
starts or materials are ordered. If in doubt 

AutoCAD SHX Text_171
Contractor to check all dimensions on site before work

AutoCAD SHX Text_172
consulting the Engineers.

AutoCAD SHX Text_173
Please read, if in doubt ask. Change nothing without

AutoCAD SHX Text_174
without their written permission.

AutoCAD SHX Text_175
designs may not be reproduced in part or in whole 

AutoCAD SHX Text_176
DATE OF ISSUE

AutoCAD SHX Text_177
All finishes, insulation and damp-proofing to architect's 

AutoCAD SHX Text_178
details

AutoCAD SHX Text_179
1 Gordon Avenue, March, Cambridgeshire. PE15 8AJ

AutoCAD SHX Text_180
Tel: 01354 655454 Fax: 01354 660467 E-mail: info@mortonandhall.co.uk Website: www.mortonconsultingengineers.co.uk

AutoCAD SHX Text_181
LABC

AutoCAD SHX Text_182
east anglia

AutoCAD SHX Text_183
LABC

AutoCAD SHX Text_184
east anglia

AutoCAD SHX Text_185
Mr Sharman

AutoCAD SHX Text_186
Sharman Fabrications

AutoCAD SHX Text_187
Gaul Road, March

AutoCAD SHX Text_188
Cambridgehsire

AutoCAD SHX Text_189
PE15 0YY

AutoCAD SHX Text_190
Existing and Proposed

AutoCAD SHX Text_191
Street Scenes

AutoCAD SHX Text_192
G.Boreham

AutoCAD SHX Text_193
Jan 2025

AutoCAD SHX Text_194
As Shown

AutoCAD SHX Text_195
H10015/06

AutoCAD SHX Text_196
ISLE OF ELY WAY A141

AutoCAD SHX Text_197
EXISTING STREET SCENE A-A (1:200)

AutoCAD SHX Text_198
ISLE OF ELY WAY A141


TET abed

ELEVATION 1——
®

ELEVATION 2

RWP RWP RWP RWP
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
- - - - i
| | | | |
|NDU%TR|AL SHED
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
o o o o NN
| | | | |
| | | | |
il | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
fffffffff O L N |
RWP | RWP | RWP | RWP
| | | | |
K | 3750 1 3750 - 3750
ELEVATION 4
15000
PROPOSED FLOOR PLAN (1 150)
| |
| T |
2
INDUSTRIAL SHED
3600

ka2

TYPICAL SECTION X—X (1:50)

PROPOSED ROOF PLAN
(1:250)

3000

=T ELEVATION 3

4000

3000

10C

00

5139

PROPOSED FRONT ELEVATION 1
(1:50)

RAL 1740 60 40

5139

PROPOSED REAR ELEVATION 3
(1:50)

RAL 140 60
40

PROPOSED SIDE ELEVATION 4
(1:50)

PROPOSED SIDE ELEVATION 2
(1:50)

Copyright on all drawings prepared by Morton & Hall
Consulting Limited is their property. Drawings and
designs may not be reproduced in part or in whole
without their written permission.

Please read, if in doubt ask. Change nothing without
consulting the Engineers.

Contractor to check all dimensions on site before work
starts or materials are ordered. If in doubt
ask. All dimensions are in mm unless stated otherwise.

Where materials, products and workmanship are not fully
specified they are to be of the standard appropriate to
the works and suitable for the purpose stated in or
reasonably to be inferred from the drawings and
specification. All work to be in accordance with

good building practice and BS 8000 to the extent that the
recommendations define the quality of the finished work.
Materials products and workmanship to comply with all
British Standards and EOTA standards with, where
appropriate, BS or EC marks.

All products and materials to be handled, stored, prepared
and used or fixed in accordance with the manufacturers
current recommendations.

The contractor is to arrange inspections of the works
by the BCO (or NHBC) as required by the Building
Regulations and is to obtain completion certificate and
forward to the Engineer

All finishes, insulation and damp—proofing to architect’s
details

B UPDATED FOR PLANNING JAN 2025
A CLIENT COMMENTS DEC 2024
REVISIONS DATE

MoRrToN & HALL
CoNsULTING LiMITED

‘CONSULTING STRUCTURAL ENGINEERS

1 Gordon Avenue, Tel: 01354 655454

March, Fax: 01354 660467
Combridgeshire. E—mail: info@mortonandhall.co.uk

PE15 8AJ Website: www.mortonconsultingengineers.co.uk

Fenland District Council
Building

LABC” LABC
Design Awards
Building Excellence in Fenland .

1102 8 6002
HINNIM AHOOILYO

CLIENT

Mr Sharman

PROJECT

Sharman Fabrications

Gaul Road, March
Cambridgehsire
PE1S OYY

TITLE

Proposed Shed Plans
& Elevations

DRAWN DATE OF ISSUE
G.Boreham

CHECKED

DATE DRAWING NUMBER

Dec 2024

— H10015,/04,

As Shown



AutoCAD SHX Text_199
PROPOSED FRONT ELEVATION 1  (1:50)

AutoCAD SHX Text_200
PROPOSED SIDE ELEVATION 4  (1:50)

AutoCAD SHX Text_201
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_202
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_203
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_204
PROPOSED REAR ELEVATION 3  (1:50)

AutoCAD SHX Text_205
PROPOSED SIDE ELEVATION 2 (1:50)

AutoCAD SHX Text_206
TYPICAL SECTION X-X (1:50)

AutoCAD SHX Text_207
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_208
D

AutoCAD SHX Text_209
FFL

AutoCAD SHX Text_210
3600

AutoCAD SHX Text_211
RAL 140 60 40

AutoCAD SHX Text_212
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_213
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_214
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_215
15°

AutoCAD SHX Text_216
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_217
REVISIONS

AutoCAD SHX Text_218
CLIENT

AutoCAD SHX Text_219
PROJECT

AutoCAD SHX Text_220
TITLE 

AutoCAD SHX Text_221
DRAWN 

AutoCAD SHX Text_222
CHECKED

AutoCAD SHX Text_223
DRAWING NUMBER

AutoCAD SHX Text_224
SCALE

AutoCAD SHX Text_225
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_226
Consulting Limited is their property. Drawings and 

AutoCAD SHX Text_227
Copyright on all drawings prepared by Morton & Hall

AutoCAD SHX Text_228
forward to the Engineer

AutoCAD SHX Text_229
Regulations and is to obtain completion certificate and

AutoCAD SHX Text_230
by the BCO (or NHBC) as required by the Building 

AutoCAD SHX Text_231
The contractor is to arrange inspections of the works

AutoCAD SHX Text_232
current recommendations.

AutoCAD SHX Text_233
and used or fixed in accordance with the manufacturers

AutoCAD SHX Text_234
All products and materials to be handled, stored, prepared 

AutoCAD SHX Text_235
appropriate, BS or EC marks.

AutoCAD SHX Text_236
British Standards and EOTA standards with, where 

AutoCAD SHX Text_237
Materials products and workmanship to comply with all 

AutoCAD SHX Text_238
recommendations define the quality of the finished work. 

AutoCAD SHX Text_239
good building practice and BS 8000 to the extent that the 

AutoCAD SHX Text_240
specification. All work to be in accordance with 

AutoCAD SHX Text_241
reasonably to be inferred from the drawings and

AutoCAD SHX Text_242
the works and suitable for the purpose stated in or 

AutoCAD SHX Text_243
specified they are to be of the standard appropriate to

AutoCAD SHX Text_244
Where materials, products and workmanship are not fully

AutoCAD SHX Text_245
ask. All dimensions are in mm unless stated otherwise.

AutoCAD SHX Text_246
starts or materials are ordered. If in doubt 

AutoCAD SHX Text_247
Contractor to check all dimensions on site before work

AutoCAD SHX Text_248
consulting the Engineers.

AutoCAD SHX Text_249
Please read, if in doubt ask. Change nothing without

AutoCAD SHX Text_250
without their written permission.

AutoCAD SHX Text_251
designs may not be reproduced in part or in whole 

AutoCAD SHX Text_252
DATE OF ISSUE

AutoCAD SHX Text_253
All finishes, insulation and damp-proofing to architect's 

AutoCAD SHX Text_254
details

AutoCAD SHX Text_255
1 Gordon Avenue, March, Cambridgeshire. PE15 8AJ

AutoCAD SHX Text_256
Tel: 01354 655454 Fax: 01354 660467 E-mail: info@mortonandhall.co.uk Website: www.mortonconsultingengineers.co.uk

AutoCAD SHX Text_257
LABC

AutoCAD SHX Text_258
east anglia

AutoCAD SHX Text_259
LABC

AutoCAD SHX Text_260
east anglia

AutoCAD SHX Text_261
Mr Sharman

AutoCAD SHX Text_262
Sharman Fabrications

AutoCAD SHX Text_263
Gaul Road, March

AutoCAD SHX Text_264
Cambridgehsire

AutoCAD SHX Text_265
PE15 0YY

AutoCAD SHX Text_266
Proposed Shed Plans

AutoCAD SHX Text_267
& Elevations

AutoCAD SHX Text_268
G.Boreham

AutoCAD SHX Text_269
Dec 2024

AutoCAD SHX Text_270
As Shown

AutoCAD SHX Text_271
H10015/04

AutoCAD SHX Text_272
INDUSTRIAL SHED

AutoCAD SHX Text_273
PROPOSED ROOF PLAN (1:250)

AutoCAD SHX Text_274
PROPOSED FLOOR PLAN (1:50)

AutoCAD SHX Text_275
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_276
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_277
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_278
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_279
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_280
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_281
X

AutoCAD SHX Text_282
X

AutoCAD SHX Text_283
ELEVATION 2

AutoCAD SHX Text_284
ELEVATION 4

AutoCAD SHX Text_285
ELEVATION 3

AutoCAD SHX Text_286
ELEVATION 1

AutoCAD SHX Text_287
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_288
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_289
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_290
C

AutoCAD SHX Text_291
D

AutoCAD SHX Text_292
15000

AutoCAD SHX Text_293
10000

AutoCAD SHX Text_294
INDUSTRIAL SHED

AutoCAD SHX Text_295
3750

AutoCAD SHX Text_296
3750

AutoCAD SHX Text_297
3750

AutoCAD SHX Text_298
3750

AutoCAD SHX Text_299
3000

AutoCAD SHX Text_300
4000

AutoCAD SHX Text_301
3000

AutoCAD SHX Text_302
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_303
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_304
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_305
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_306
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_307
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_308
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_309
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_310
RAL 140 60 40

AutoCAD SHX Text_311
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_312
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_313
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_314
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_315
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_316
CLIENT COMMENTS

AutoCAD SHX Text_317
DEC 2024

AutoCAD SHX Text_318
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_319
3750

AutoCAD SHX Text_320
5139

AutoCAD SHX Text_321
3750

AutoCAD SHX Text_322
5139

AutoCAD SHX Text_323
5139

AutoCAD SHX Text_324
3750

AutoCAD SHX Text_325
5139

AutoCAD SHX Text_326
3750

AutoCAD SHX Text_327
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_328
UPDATED FOR PLANNING

AutoCAD SHX Text_329
JAN 2025


2sT abed

Copyright on all drawings prepared by Morton & Hall
Consulting Limited is their property. Drawings and
designs may not be reproduced in part or in whole
without their written permission.

Please read, if in doubt ask. Change nothing without
:A C consulting the Engineers.
SOLAR PANELS TO

Contractor to check all dimensions on site before work

REFER T0' TECHNIOA. o O e ot ctharvse
g\ILIJ:gI\F/IQI'\#I:Zr:Z?N Where materials, products and workmanship are not fully
ye— 7350 specified they are to be of the standard appropriate to
[ LLLLLL L] 500 | ine ore and suilebe for, the pupose stcted in or
L L [ L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L = E{ﬁ > specifico_tio_n. All wo‘rk to be in accordance with
e e e e A L "] = o commendotions. define. the quality of the. finsned work.
Y S (R, e et T R
LLiLLLL LLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLL LLL 1@ 7000 appropriate, BS or EC marks.
L L | L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L \ All products aqd m_qteriqls to be hqndled, stored, prepared
L L B L L L L ‘ ‘ ‘ ‘ L L L L L ‘ ‘ ‘ ‘ ‘ ‘ ‘ ‘ ‘ ‘ ‘ L L L L OM L 1@ \ gEsreﬁecriecoormf#](:gd(ljr]do%?sc':ordonce with the manufacturers
L L | L L L L L L L L L L o The contractor is to arrange inspections of the works
[ 4000| DINING ROOM T KITCHEN IR Ll == by the BCO (or NHBC) as required by ihe Buidng
LLiLLLL LLLLLL 7LLLL \[L\[\[LL{ foerng;?dlotr;)Stﬂz El:gin(:ae(; ain completion certificate an
L L | L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L L All fi_nishes, insulation and damp—proofing to architect’s
e tedied L OO CCCCCCCCECEE OO fENCEr PROPOSED ROOF PLAN seole
S T O N C L (1:250)
S I O O O ST S N O N O O O W j
N T O S I T O O Y O N T N O O O ) B “ i hado-
| 7 LM\V“""L/l““A\“WV“““““ 2] GARAGE 7000 7700
K7 % 4000
10800 7 ] @ Q%\
{ HE ~ 700~
133SC 7 OFFICE 3900
; = ENTRANCE Q\
— — O
6000 e I =
LOUNGE c ;;;>
1338 P
) ] 7 %o BEDROOM 3 BEDROOM 4
— == | 7350 2400
i l
!8100
| 2100 - | /A /C| 2400 OFFICE UTILITY ROOM
B> 5000 J |- ¢ | { 1
{ v
\Wi \ PROPOSED SECTION A—A
(1:100)
5700
PROPOSED GROUND FLOOR PLAN
(1:50)
NA C
13800
R = N R s
5000 1 1;; &L 2800 4000 \
NERASA I N NP
4 EN=SUITE || L L L
g : Ll L M@ BATHROOM | — 2900 BEDROOM 1
LIS NS
4000 BEDROOM 2 e B t t t t i BEDROOM 4 4000 A | CUENT commente DEC 2024
| ] REVISIONS DATE
Naawun | 2400  LOUNGE
— —— — Ny
< 7 8700 CONSULTING STRUCTURAL ENGINEERS
A/\V ; 2050 %J PROPOSED SECTION B_ B 1 Gordon Avenue, Tel: 01354 655454
00— 900

| ——

f‘ﬁ\f

O

H (1 ‘1 OO) March, Fax: 01354 660467
B t t t@?t t ;%?C LANDING 2006 : Combridgeshire. Webette: wwrw mertonconsultivgengineers.co.uk
00 ) EN—SUITE| | 500 « S 7, Fenland District Council ;
T LABC LABC 2

— ‘ ‘ i@@é—‘ 00— [J L] (] B I . %
HINNERRE 7%50 uilding |

Design Awards

10800 {

N

E—

| | | | ]J_ 7 o . ‘
] A il Aﬂ'—l%1 200— Building Excellence in Fenland
>
\/ K BEDROOM 3 R [ T N R

1 | =y | | Mr Sharman
’ 1200 ? ppppppp
1400 LEDROOM 1 4 i Sharman Fabrications
Gaul Road, March
| | | | Cambridgehsire

— 8100 \ 2550 GARAGE PE15 OYY
‘ i /A c L e
B\ <005 2100 /E{I

Proposed Floor Plans

PROPOSED SECTION C-C & Sections
(1:100)

5700 —

G.Boreham
PROPOSED FIRST FLOOR PLAN

(1:50)
Dec 2024
SSSSS — H10015/02,



AutoCAD SHX Text_330
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_331
REVISIONS

AutoCAD SHX Text_332
CLIENT

AutoCAD SHX Text_333
PROJECT

AutoCAD SHX Text_334
TITLE 

AutoCAD SHX Text_335
DRAWN 

AutoCAD SHX Text_336
CHECKED

AutoCAD SHX Text_337
DRAWING NUMBER

AutoCAD SHX Text_338
SCALE

AutoCAD SHX Text_339
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_340
Consulting Limited is their property. Drawings and 

AutoCAD SHX Text_341
Copyright on all drawings prepared by Morton & Hall

AutoCAD SHX Text_342
forward to the Engineer

AutoCAD SHX Text_343
Regulations and is to obtain completion certificate and

AutoCAD SHX Text_344
by the BCO (or NHBC) as required by the Building 

AutoCAD SHX Text_345
The contractor is to arrange inspections of the works

AutoCAD SHX Text_346
current recommendations.

AutoCAD SHX Text_347
and used or fixed in accordance with the manufacturers

AutoCAD SHX Text_348
All products and materials to be handled, stored, prepared 

AutoCAD SHX Text_349
appropriate, BS or EC marks.

AutoCAD SHX Text_350
British Standards and EOTA standards with, where 

AutoCAD SHX Text_351
Materials products and workmanship to comply with all 

AutoCAD SHX Text_352
recommendations define the quality of the finished work. 

AutoCAD SHX Text_353
good building practice and BS 8000 to the extent that the 

AutoCAD SHX Text_354
specification. All work to be in accordance with 

AutoCAD SHX Text_355
reasonably to be inferred from the drawings and

AutoCAD SHX Text_356
the works and suitable for the purpose stated in or 

AutoCAD SHX Text_357
specified they are to be of the standard appropriate to

AutoCAD SHX Text_358
Where materials, products and workmanship are not fully

AutoCAD SHX Text_359
ask. All dimensions are in mm unless stated otherwise.

AutoCAD SHX Text_360
starts or materials are ordered. If in doubt 

AutoCAD SHX Text_361
Contractor to check all dimensions on site before work

AutoCAD SHX Text_362
consulting the Engineers.

AutoCAD SHX Text_363
Please read, if in doubt ask. Change nothing without

AutoCAD SHX Text_364
without their written permission.

AutoCAD SHX Text_365
designs may not be reproduced in part or in whole 

AutoCAD SHX Text_366
DATE OF ISSUE

AutoCAD SHX Text_367
All finishes, insulation and damp-proofing to architect's 

AutoCAD SHX Text_368
details

AutoCAD SHX Text_369
1 Gordon Avenue, March, Cambridgeshire. PE15 8AJ

AutoCAD SHX Text_370
Tel: 01354 655454 Fax: 01354 660467 E-mail: info@mortonandhall.co.uk Website: www.mortonconsultingengineers.co.uk

AutoCAD SHX Text_371
LABC

AutoCAD SHX Text_372
east anglia

AutoCAD SHX Text_373
LABC

AutoCAD SHX Text_374
east anglia

AutoCAD SHX Text_375
Mr Sharman

AutoCAD SHX Text_376
Sharman Fabrications

AutoCAD SHX Text_377
Gaul Road, March

AutoCAD SHX Text_378
Cambridgehsire

AutoCAD SHX Text_379
PE15 0YY

AutoCAD SHX Text_380
Proposed Floor Plans

AutoCAD SHX Text_381
& Sections

AutoCAD SHX Text_382
G.Boreham

AutoCAD SHX Text_383
Dec 2024

AutoCAD SHX Text_384
As Shown

AutoCAD SHX Text_385
H10015/02

AutoCAD SHX Text_386
LOUNGE

AutoCAD SHX Text_387
ENTRANCE

AutoCAD SHX Text_388
4000

AutoCAD SHX Text_389
10000

AutoCAD SHX Text_390
3000

AutoCAD SHX Text_391
4000

AutoCAD SHX Text_392
7000

AutoCAD SHX Text_393
7000

AutoCAD SHX Text_394
4000

AutoCAD SHX Text_395
3900

AutoCAD SHX Text_396
5000

AutoCAD SHX Text_397
6000

AutoCAD SHX Text_398
5000

AutoCAD SHX Text_399
4000

AutoCAD SHX Text_400
1500

AutoCAD SHX Text_401
3000

AutoCAD SHX Text_402
900

AutoCAD SHX Text_403
700

AutoCAD SHX Text_404
900

AutoCAD SHX Text_405
700

AutoCAD SHX Text_406
4400

AutoCAD SHX Text_407
5000

AutoCAD SHX Text_408
4000

AutoCAD SHX Text_409
3900

AutoCAD SHX Text_410
4000

AutoCAD SHX Text_411
4000

AutoCAD SHX Text_412
1300

AutoCAD SHX Text_413
2850

AutoCAD SHX Text_414
2850

AutoCAD SHX Text_415
2500

AutoCAD SHX Text_416
1200

AutoCAD SHX Text_417
1200

AutoCAD SHX Text_418
2050

AutoCAD SHX Text_419
BEDROOM 2

AutoCAD SHX Text_420
BEDROOM 1

AutoCAD SHX Text_421
BEDROOM 3

AutoCAD SHX Text_422
BEDROOM 4

AutoCAD SHX Text_423
BATHROOM

AutoCAD SHX Text_424
EN-SUITE

AutoCAD SHX Text_425
EN-SUITE

AutoCAD SHX Text_426
LANDING

AutoCAD SHX Text_427
C

AutoCAD SHX Text_428
C

AutoCAD SHX Text_429
C

AutoCAD SHX Text_430
900

AutoCAD SHX Text_431
1500

AutoCAD SHX Text_432
GARAGE

AutoCAD SHX Text_433
UTILITY ROOM

AutoCAD SHX Text_434
KITCHEN

AutoCAD SHX Text_435
DINING ROOM

AutoCAD SHX Text_436
OFFICE

AutoCAD SHX Text_437
PROPOSED GROUND FLOOR PLAN (1:50)

AutoCAD SHX Text_438
PROPOSED FIRST FLOOR PLAN (1:50)

AutoCAD SHX Text_439
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_440
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_441
C

AutoCAD SHX Text_442
C

AutoCAD SHX Text_443
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_444
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_445
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_446
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_447
C

AutoCAD SHX Text_448
C

AutoCAD SHX Text_449
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_450
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_451
PROPOSED SECTION A-A (1:100)

AutoCAD SHX Text_452
PROPOSED SECTION B-B (1:100)

AutoCAD SHX Text_453
PROPOSED SECTION C-C (1:100)

AutoCAD SHX Text_454
LOUNGE

AutoCAD SHX Text_455
BEDROOM 1

AutoCAD SHX Text_456
OFFICE

AutoCAD SHX Text_457
UTILITY ROOM

AutoCAD SHX Text_458
BEDROOM 3

AutoCAD SHX Text_459
BEDROOM 4

AutoCAD SHX Text_460
GARAGE

AutoCAD SHX Text_461
2400

AutoCAD SHX Text_462
2400

AutoCAD SHX Text_463
30°

AutoCAD SHX Text_464
2400

AutoCAD SHX Text_465
2400

AutoCAD SHX Text_466
42.5°

AutoCAD SHX Text_467
2550

AutoCAD SHX Text_468
30°

AutoCAD SHX Text_469
PROPOSED ROOF PLAN (1:250)

AutoCAD SHX Text_470
W.C

AutoCAD SHX Text_471
700

AutoCAD SHX Text_472
1338

AutoCAD SHX Text_473
C

AutoCAD SHX Text_474
700

AutoCAD SHX Text_475
1338

AutoCAD SHX Text_476
900

AutoCAD SHX Text_477
1800

AutoCAD SHX Text_478
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_479
CLIENT COMMENTS

AutoCAD SHX Text_480
DEC 2024

AutoCAD SHX Text_481
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_482
10800

AutoCAD SHX Text_483
5700

AutoCAD SHX Text_484
2100

AutoCAD SHX Text_485
8100

AutoCAD SHX Text_486
500

AutoCAD SHX Text_487
7350

AutoCAD SHX Text_488
7700

AutoCAD SHX Text_489
7350

AutoCAD SHX Text_490
500

AutoCAD SHX Text_491
13800

AutoCAD SHX Text_492
13800

AutoCAD SHX Text_493
8700

AutoCAD SHX Text_494
8100

AutoCAD SHX Text_495
2100

AutoCAD SHX Text_496
5700

AutoCAD SHX Text_497
10800

AutoCAD SHX Text_498
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_499
UPDATED FOR PLANNING

AutoCAD SHX Text_500
JAN 2025

AutoCAD SHX Text_501
SOLAR PANELS TO REAR ELEVATION, REFER TO TECHNICAL INFORMATION SUBMITTED


g 3 Q — x [ormsaon e o
> e Lw o9 3 N
x ¢ S8 o o5 ) S e = °
5 o + 8903 TS o 20w ol & i £ T g & o
= + = O =3 Y3 ~ 3} < © [ | ©
S o 3 3 3 vz = - O 15! <u 2 =
2 2 5 £ 66 ° —-oS SN S o 2 Sa] A £ 23 C al5 /
o < o O c- = .0 =c0 = 2 Xe Q = | To)
O c e} [ [ cC o'z 0 e c B 3
S E= = ° vt D..I.m o C ul T 5 5 O o oo @) dA c
o ® & o Po_Scyn 2 oc =0 S +Rh=f B — <l
c c @ oO4ag ZTOLE= c O £35& ©ss O "= ol d v
£ o o o 9S40 0923 = =
» ) < £ ms ) c
S o c < © g9 € ] . S +3zve = a o
£ 2o = oo+ Q00O 0 - “ o -+ 0958 [72] o2 (-
6 £ £50 c_Hpelcoeoc ) Cwv o cgs = MAalg @)
o S =380 c _wEos28S 2 0 ) 0
MW [©] »OoHh 0P 2 C ..LC.M w..hL n+ m.. Gs.m.m m O (-
cT c © So0ooo. o = c_ S = 66 T [ .— —
o ful Y— [e) Y= <+ i
858 g 6Scf g28S5_ %78 £ 2B 8 2 38¢: & 2 = 5 o . . T
. o = o s o o _ = —_ 7 2
v3c £ puet T95088225 2% $sa - TS S s S Q e ’ :
oL - > o =®»T ap g | 2 o9Ly S 5 ¢
Lo < o = ~0Ono?c O n.s o = =8 s o .— (D) O " s
00T 0O ‘po o 3 E 09 cS0 G ..39% O £ z
ao0®§ 2B E vSEEHTIL . € =go S z T XES g — . > 2 °
ocoo . G2 c¥So ™M Evg o8 3] o o m 20,2 FO o0 = .=
5630+% 28E 5.720Cex_£L 2P 9gfc <o > T, PLhw= mmB ) )
L8020 £P2c O5700ESS5E5 08 . £08 o = 2 S - O 1
888E g 20" 20 805, 50€E ©ov g9%1 < = 5 O L _~< Lol
€508 853eQ 390L* 25 596 5~%6 © <n = T O
s @30 °506 Tonlx8ccvg B Lol ¢ az m O O
0.2 o0 O C x 0l8oeLlovocld ©vio oM+ C (- ©
285 P Esdwn 5 2E0%T o £ o £ > 2 ol E . - O ©
O 2 c20s5c T05 29 "0 5 v ZOC B o= w 9 O @) O
_owE2E5E5Cc06 .tapo_Puvoe 5238 0 w =2 = = S O x ‘C n
=4+~ O°C C> O o= c Qo x . > c [0} |-
h= [ [} X E o o
R o2 = %5520 ¢c o o 2] o = - £ h c
£ o & 050 Soom oY g 52EQ2 ¢ ol Z F > =< 0 O o ~
sSog g8 2EE 3Re gEEET 0uf §o0F 2.5 © 23 7 c_2wu | a AN EE
o oo S c =—=UsgSo¢g 2L 3] O n - El S 3 Q o
o] [ + 9T o o] o ®» < %} < o2 O ) S
O C o n>5=°¢ + ) O O ¢ < | %)
..ant mm...wrd mdkb..m.weab&.m SO- smeo+ @ o W [¢] O o O O an %)
SE 0. 5 06°9= O5°03Eg . S 8L §S 5o B Lol & e £ T U W (. ) ) @
C5ED V85 P gL o3 5E” E2€§ 25€ gQITE co SOEX H = 0y OO (A @ o1 <
020 s+ . S0  povsgols o P =39 &3 O L C— o) - 9
oc'pS c E5x 09 OO ogrEa oL o OF S S ouw im c 2 z ¢ w
= O O o O O (8] = — [ -+ z Y W H o w Y
Qoo 20 0°® ocpal0pl8ta =c35 cx0¢g5 =0 —=00 < g 3 o Z 2 w 2
OO0z o0O0Owo T aoslonol=moc Too F3xl =o m< - g g E g & 3 3
/HMM
M
N
[
~

5200

=0

I

100)

(1

i
PROPOSED LHS ELEVATION

REFER TO TECHNICAL

INFORMATION

SOLAR PANELS TO
REAR ELEVATION,
SUBMITTED

50)
100)

(1

(1

I

PROPOSED REAR ELEVATION

PROPOSED FRONT ELEVATION

REFER TO TECHNICAL

INFORMATION
SUBMITTED

SOLAR PANELS TO
REAR ELEVATION

7923

5308

100)

7923
5200
7 /

(1

PROPOSED RHS ELEVATION

5200

i’

Page 133



AutoCAD SHX Text_502
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_503
REVISIONS

AutoCAD SHX Text_504
CLIENT

AutoCAD SHX Text_505
PROJECT

AutoCAD SHX Text_506
TITLE 

AutoCAD SHX Text_507
DRAWN 

AutoCAD SHX Text_508
CHECKED

AutoCAD SHX Text_509
DRAWING NUMBER

AutoCAD SHX Text_510
SCALE

AutoCAD SHX Text_511
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_512
Consulting Limited is their property. Drawings and 

AutoCAD SHX Text_513
Copyright on all drawings prepared by Morton & Hall

AutoCAD SHX Text_514
forward to the Engineer

AutoCAD SHX Text_515
Regulations and is to obtain completion certificate and

AutoCAD SHX Text_516
by the BCO (or NHBC) as required by the Building 

AutoCAD SHX Text_517
The contractor is to arrange inspections of the works

AutoCAD SHX Text_518
current recommendations.

AutoCAD SHX Text_519
and used or fixed in accordance with the manufacturers

AutoCAD SHX Text_520
All products and materials to be handled, stored, prepared 

AutoCAD SHX Text_521
appropriate, BS or EC marks.

AutoCAD SHX Text_522
British Standards and EOTA standards with, where 

AutoCAD SHX Text_523
Materials products and workmanship to comply with all 

AutoCAD SHX Text_524
recommendations define the quality of the finished work. 

AutoCAD SHX Text_525
good building practice and BS 8000 to the extent that the 

AutoCAD SHX Text_526
specification. All work to be in accordance with 

AutoCAD SHX Text_527
reasonably to be inferred from the drawings and

AutoCAD SHX Text_528
the works and suitable for the purpose stated in or 

AutoCAD SHX Text_529
specified they are to be of the standard appropriate to

AutoCAD SHX Text_530
Where materials, products and workmanship are not fully

AutoCAD SHX Text_531
ask. All dimensions are in mm unless stated otherwise.

AutoCAD SHX Text_532
starts or materials are ordered. If in doubt 

AutoCAD SHX Text_533
Contractor to check all dimensions on site before work

AutoCAD SHX Text_534
consulting the Engineers.

AutoCAD SHX Text_535
Please read, if in doubt ask. Change nothing without

AutoCAD SHX Text_536
without their written permission.

AutoCAD SHX Text_537
designs may not be reproduced in part or in whole 

AutoCAD SHX Text_538
DATE OF ISSUE

AutoCAD SHX Text_539
All finishes, insulation and damp-proofing to architect's 

AutoCAD SHX Text_540
details

AutoCAD SHX Text_541
1 Gordon Avenue, March, Cambridgeshire. PE15 8AJ

AutoCAD SHX Text_542
Tel: 01354 655454 Fax: 01354 660467 E-mail: info@mortonandhall.co.uk Website: www.mortonconsultingengineers.co.uk

AutoCAD SHX Text_543
LABC

AutoCAD SHX Text_544
east anglia

AutoCAD SHX Text_545
LABC

AutoCAD SHX Text_546
east anglia

AutoCAD SHX Text_547
Mr Sharman

AutoCAD SHX Text_548
Sharman Fabrications

AutoCAD SHX Text_549
Gaul Road, March

AutoCAD SHX Text_550
Cambridgehsire

AutoCAD SHX Text_551
PE15 0YY

AutoCAD SHX Text_552
Proposed Elevations

AutoCAD SHX Text_553
G.Boreham

AutoCAD SHX Text_554
Dec 2024

AutoCAD SHX Text_555
As Shown

AutoCAD SHX Text_556
H10015/03

AutoCAD SHX Text_557
PROPOSED FRONT ELEVATION (1:50)

AutoCAD SHX Text_558
PROPOSED RHS ELEVATION (1:100)

AutoCAD SHX Text_559
PROPOSED REAR ELEVATION (1:100)

AutoCAD SHX Text_560
PROPOSED LHS ELEVATION (1:100)

AutoCAD SHX Text_561
A

AutoCAD SHX Text_562
CLIENT COMMENTS

AutoCAD SHX Text_563
DEC 2024

AutoCAD SHX Text_564
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_565
5200

AutoCAD SHX Text_566
7923

AutoCAD SHX Text_567
5308

AutoCAD SHX Text_568
2349

AutoCAD SHX Text_569
3440

AutoCAD SHX Text_570
2683

AutoCAD SHX Text_571
5009

AutoCAD SHX Text_572
5009

AutoCAD SHX Text_573
2683

AutoCAD SHX Text_574
7923

AutoCAD SHX Text_575
5200

AutoCAD SHX Text_576
5308

AutoCAD SHX Text_577
7923

AutoCAD SHX Text_578
5308

AutoCAD SHX Text_579
7923

AutoCAD SHX Text_580
2683

AutoCAD SHX Text_581
5009

AutoCAD SHX Text_582
5200

AutoCAD SHX Text_583
7923

AutoCAD SHX Text_584
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_585
UPDATED FOR PLANNING

AutoCAD SHX Text_586
JAN 2025

AutoCAD SHX Text_587
SOLAR PANELS TO REAR ELEVATION, REFER TO TECHNICAL INFORMATION SUBMITTED

AutoCAD SHX Text_588
SOLAR PANELS TO REAR ELEVATION, REFER TO TECHNICAL INFORMATION SUBMITTED


This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Iltem No: 10
Committee: Planning Committee

Date: 20 August 2025

Report Title:

1.1

1.2

1.3

1.4

1.5

Agenda Item 10

Fenland

Statutory Duties
Purpose / Summary

This report is presented to provide Members with a formal update in respect of
planning application F/YR24/1000/F, which was considered by the Planning
Committee on 28 May 2025. At that meeting, Members resolved to grant planning
permission, subject to conditions, contrary to the Officer recommendation as set out
in the published committee report (reproduced at Appendix 1).

The purpose of this report is to addresses recent legal correspondence received on
behalf of a third party which raises a formal pre-action indication of potential judicial
review proceedings in relation to the Committee’s resolution. As part of this a transcript
of the debate was provided (provided at Appendix 2).

Given the seriousness of the matters raised and the potential legal and procedural
consequences of proceeding to issue a decision notice the Council has not issued the

decision notice.

Where a resolution to grant planning permission has been made by a Committee but
no formal decision notice has yet been issued, the Council has not, in law, determined
the application. Until the decision notice is issued, the authority retains jurisdiction to
reconsider the matter. The Courts have confirmed that, in such circumstances, if there
is a material change in circumstances, Officers must consider whether it remains
lawful and appropriate to proceed to issue the decision or whether the matter should
be referred back to Committee. This principle was clearly established in R (Kides) v
South Cambridgeshire DC [2003] 1 P&CR 19.

The Committee is invited to consider whether, in light of the issues now set out, it
would be appropriate to revisit the resolution to grant planning permission in order to

Page 135

CAMBRIDGESHIRE

Update on Planning Application F/YR24/1000/F and Relevant



ensure that the Council’s position is legally robust, clearly reasoned, and compliant
with its statutory duties as the Local Planning Authority.

Key issues

e Members resolved to grant planning permission contrary to Officer

recommendation due to identified heritage impacts.

e The planning application affects the setting of a Grade Il listed building, engaging
statutory duties under Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and
Conservation Areas) Act 1990. The statutory duty requires “special regard” to
preserving the setting of listed buildings, creating a strong presumption against

granting permission where harm is identified.

e The Council has received formal legal correspondence challenging the lawfulness
of the Committee’s resolution to grant planning permission contrary to Officer

recommendation.

e Independent legal advice has been sought, which raises concerns about the
robustness of the Committee’s reasons and the risk of judicial review if the

decision is not revisited.

e The Committee may still lawfully conclude that planning permission should be
granted, provided that any such decision is underpinned by clear, well-reasoned,
and publicly defensible justifications that fully address the relevant legal

requirements, development plan policies, and material considerations.

e Failure to address these legal and policy requirements risks significant financial
costs to the Council if the decision is subject to judicial review, costs ultimately

borne by the local community through Council Tax.

e The Committee is invited to reconsider the application, applying the relevant
statutory duties, policies, and material considerations, to ensure a lawful and

robust decision.

Recommendations

Page 136



3.1 The recommendation is to refuse planning permission for the reason set out in

section 11 of this report.

Wards Affected All
Forward Plan Reference N/A
Portfolio Holder(s) Clir Mrs D Laws
Report Originator(s) Matthew Leigh
Contact Officer(s) Matthew Leigh - Head of Planning mleigh@fenland.gov.uk
Background Paper(s) N/A
4 Decision-Making Framework and Member Responsibilities

4.1 In determining planning applications, the Planning Committee exercises the
Council’s functions as the Local Planning Authority under the Town and Country
Planning Act 1990 (as amended), together with any relevant subordinate legislation.
In doing so, Members are legally obliged to operate within the statutory framework

that governs all planning decisions.
4.2 In particular, Members of the Committee:

o Must determine planning applications in accordance with the development plan
for the area (in this case, the Fenland Local Plan (2014) the Cambridgeshire
and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Local Plan (2021) and the Wimblington
and Stonea Neighbourhood Plan (Pre-Submission Draft October 2024)), unless
material considerations indicate otherwise, as required by section 38(6) of the
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

o Are required to have proper regard to the Officer’s report, including its
assessment of the development plan policies and all other relevant material
considerations. This includes giving due weight to matters of planning

Page 137


mailto:mleigh@fenland.gov.uk

4.3

5.1

5.2

judgement, technical advice from consultees, and any legal context or
implications referred to in the report.

o Are entitled to form a different conclusion from Officers, provided their reasons
are rational, evidence-based, and capable of withstanding scrutiny. Members
may give differing weight to material considerations, but must ensure that the

reasons for doing so are clearly explained, relevant, and defensible.

o Must also have regard to all other relevant statutory duties beyond the planning
acts. This may include, where applicable, obligations under the Planning (Listed
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990, the Environment Act 2021 and
the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006. These place
additional legal duties on the decision-maker and must be read alongside the

planning legislation.

The law is clear that failure to have regard to these legal requirements, or a failure to
articulate robust and lawful planning reasons for departing from policy or technical
advice, may render a decision unlawful and liable to legal challenge.

Application History

On 28 May 2025, the Planning Committee considered planning application reference
F/YR24/1000/F for the erection of five dwellings and associated works on land to the
rear of 31 Norfolk Street, a Grade Il listed building. The Officer's Report, which set out
the relevant planning policy context, detailed assessment, and recommendation, is

attached at Appendix 1 to this report.
The planning application was recommended for refusal for the following reason:

“The application would result in development within the setting of a Grade Il listed
building, 31 Norfolk Street, and would result in less than substantial harm to this
setting, by virtue of introducing built form into currently undeveloped open land forming
the historic context to the listed building, without adequate justification, and without
any public benefits outweighing this harm. As such, if permitted, the development
would be contrary to Policy LP18 of the Fenland Local Plan (2014) as well as
Paragraphs 213 and 215 of the National Planning Policy Framework.”

Page 138



5.3

5.4

5.5

5.6

5.7

Despite the Officer's recommendation, Members resolved to approve the proposal.
While Members are of course entitled to depart from Officer advice, any such decision
must be based on sound planning grounds, supported by evidence, and capable of
clear articulation. This is particularly important where such a decision engages policies

of recognised importance, such as those relating to heritage assets.

It is well established in case law that, in such circumstances, a general common law
duty to give reasons will arise—particularly where permission is granted in the face of
substantial public opposition, contrary to Officer recommendation, and involving a
significant departure from the development plan or other policies of national

importance.

Following the Committee’s resolution, legal representatives acting on behalf of an
interested third party wrote to the Council on 5 June 2025. Their correspondence
alleged that the Council had failed to lawfully assess and apply the statutory duty under
section 66(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990, and
had not properly addressed the relevant policies within the National Planning Policy

Framework or the local development plan, specifically Policy LP18.

In light of the serious nature of the issues raised, and given the legal and procedural
sensitivities surrounding the determination of applications affecting designated
heritage assets, the Council sought independent legal advice. That advice addresses
the legal robustness of the Committee’s decision and whether the resolution to grant
permission was lawfully made, particularly in light of the concerns raised by the
Council’s Heritage Officer and the Officer Report. The advice is appended at Appendix
3 to this report.

The independent legal advice concludes that there are concerns regarding the
robustness of the Committee’s debate and the reasoning that underpinned the
resolution to grant planning permission. The proposal would result in harm to the
setting of a Grade Il listed building and therefore, the statutory duty under section 66(1)
of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 is engaged. This
duty requires decision-makers to have special regard to the desirability of preserving
the setting of listed buildings, and case law confirms that this creates a strong

Page 139



5.8

5.9

6.1

presumption against the grant of planning permission; this statutory duty must be given
considerable importance and weight in the planning balance.

The advice goes on to state that the public benefits put forward in support of the
development are limited. The provision of five additional dwellings carries only modest
weight in circumstances where the Council can demonstrate a healthy and deliverable
five-year housing land supply. No other compelling countervailing public benefits have
been identified that would clearly and convincingly outweigh the harm to the
designated heritage asset. In such circumstances, the legal opinion advises that the
justification for approving the development is weak and legally vulnerable unless it is
revisited and properly articulated.

The independent legal advice obtained by the Council concludes that the most
appropriate and legally robust course of action would be for Officers to refer the
application back to the Planning Committee for further consideration. This
recommendation does not imply that the Committee is incapable of reaching a lawful
decision to approve the development; rather, it reflects the legal adviser's view that
the reasons articulated during the debate were insufficiently clear or detailed to
support the current resolution. The advice highlights that, as presently recorded in the
transcript, the justification for granting permission lacks the necessary robustness and

is therefore vulnerable to legal challenge.
Considerations

In light of the matters raised in this report, Members are required to reconsider
whether, having regard to the statutory and policy framework, the resolution to grant
planning permission remains appropriate and lawful. Specifically, Members must
consider whether the development would give rise to harm to the setting of the Grade
Il listed building, and if so, whether such harm has been properly identified, weighed,
and justified. This assessment must include consideration of whether the proposal
would conflict with Policy LP18 of the Fenland Local Plan (2014), and, by extension,
whether the application is in accordance with the development plan when read as a
whole, as required by section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act
2004.

Page 140



6.2

6.3

6.4

6.5

To assist Members in undertaking this reassessment, this section sets out a summary
of the relevant statutory duties and policy requirements, including the statutory duty
under section 66(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act
1990, the provisions of Policy LP18 (including criteria (a) to (c)), and the relevant
paragraphs of the National Planning Policy Framework (Chapter 16: paragraphs 212
to 221, and in particular paragraphs 213 and 215). These provisions collectively
establish the legal and policy framework for assessing the impact of development on
designated heritage assets and must be applied rigorously when determining

applications where heritage considerations are engaged.
Section 66 Duty

Section 66(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990
imposes a statutory duty on local planning authorities when considering applications

that affect listed buildings or their settings. It states:

“In considering whether to grant planning permission for development which affects a
listed building or its setting, the local planning authority or, as the case may be, the
Secretary of State shall have special regard to the desirability of preserving the
building or its setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest which

it possesses.”

This statutory duty is not merely procedural; it has substantive weight in the decision-
making process. Its significance was underlined in East Northamptonshire DC &
Barnwell Manor Wind Energy Ltd v Secretary of State for Communities and Local
Government [2015] 1 WLR 45, where the Court of Appeal made clear that when the
section 66 duty is engaged, decision-makers must give considerable importance and
weight” to the desirability of preserving the setting of listed buildings. It is not a simple
planning balance but a presumption in favour of preservation that must materially
influence the outcome unless outweighed by sufficiently powerful countervailing

considerations.

While the Courts have also clarified that some degree of harm to the setting of a listed
building does not automatically render a decision unlawful, provided the statutory duty
is properly applied and appropriately weighed (as in Safe Rottingdean Ltd v Brighton
and Hove City Council [2019] EWHC 2632 (Admin)), the duty remains stringent.

Page 141



6.6

6.7

6.8

6.9

The Planning Encyclopaedia (Commentary to L66.01) summarises the established
position as follows:

“It follows that it is clearly established that a decision which engages the duties in either
s.66(1) or 72(1) will be legally flawed if it does not give effect to those duties, the strong
presumption they create, and fails to accord them °‘considerable importance and
weight’ when weighing up any harm against any benefits or countervailing factors”.

LP18 — The Historic Environment

Policy LP18 of the Fenland Local Plan (2014) sets out the Council’s approach to
conserving and enhancing the historic environment. The policy seeks to ensure that
development proposals affecting designated or non-designated heritage assets are
appropriately assessed, justified, and, where necessary, mitigated. Its overarching aim
is to safeguard the historic environment as a key component of the district’s character,
distinctiveness, and cultural value, while allowing for sustainable development that

respects heritage significance.
The policy is explicit in its requirements. It states that:

“All development proposals that would affect any designated or undesignated heritage

asset will be required to:

(a) describe and assess the significance of the asset and/or its setting to determine its

architectural, historic or archaeological interest; and
(b) identify the impact of the proposed works on the special character of the asset; and

(c) provide a clear justification for the works, especially if these would harm the asset
or its setting, so that the harm can be weighed against public benefits.”

The NPPF

Chapter 16 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) sets out the
Government’s national planning policies for conserving and enhancing the historic
environment. Paragraphs 212 to 221 emphasise the importance of heritage assets as
an irreplaceable resource and require that they be conserved in a manner appropriate

to their significance. Local planning authorities must ensure that decisions reflect the

Page 142



desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of heritage assets and putting

them to viable uses consistent with their conservation.
6.10 Paragraph 213 is particularly relevant in this case. It states:

“When considering the impact of a proposed development on the significance of a
designated heritage asset, great weight should be given to the asset’s conservation
(and the more important the asset, the greater the weight should be). This is
irrespective of whether any potential harm amounts to substantial harm, total loss or

less than substantial harm to its significance.”

6.11 This paragraph reinforces the principle that any harm to the significance of a
designated heritage asset, including harm to its setting, must be treated with great
weight in the planning balance. It is not sufficient to simply acknowledge harm; the
weight attached to that harm must be proportionate and substantial, even if the level

of harm is categorised as “less than substantial.”
6.12 Paragraph 215 further sets out the balancing exercise required in such cases:

“Where a development proposal will lead to less than substantial harm to the
significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm should be weighed against the
public benefits of the proposal including, where appropriate, securing its optimum

viable use.”

6.13 This paragraph does allow for harm to be outweighed by public benefits, but it requires
a demonstrably clear and convincing case to be made. The language of both
paragraphs is consistent with the statutory duty under section 66(1) and national case
law, reaffirming the need for decision-makers to apply considerable importance and
weight to any harm and to ensure that any countervailing benefits are sufficiently

compelling.
PPG

6.14 The Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) provides further detail on the application of
national policy in relation to the historic environment. The guidance under the section
“Conserving and enhancing the historic environment” supports and expands upon the

policies set out in Chapter 16 of the NPPF.

Page 143



6.15 The PPG advises that:

“In determining applications, local planning authorities should take account of the
significance of any heritage asset affected, including any contribution made by its

setting.”

6.16 It also notes that the setting of a heritage asset is not fixed and may change over time.
While public access to the setting can influence significance, it is not a requirement for
the setting to contribute meaningfully to how a heritage asset is experienced or

understood.
6.17 The guidance emphasises that:
“Great weight should be given to the conservation of heritage assets.”

6.18 This applies regardless of the scale of harm. The PPG clarifies that this weight should
be applied consistently and that decision-makers must give “clear and convincing
Justification for any harm or loss.” It goes on to state that the level of detail required in
an application should be proportionate to the asset’s importance but sufficient to

understand the potential impact.
6.19 In relation to ‘significance’ and its important in decision-making the PPG states:

“Heritage assets may be affected by direct physical change or by change in their
setting. Being able to properly assess the nature, extent and importance of the
significance of a heritage asset, and the contribution of its setting, is very important to

understanding the potential impact and acceptability of development proposals.”
Heritage Assessments

6.20 As part of the planning submission, the applicant provided a Heritage Assessment
which sought to identify and assess the significance of the affected heritage assets
and the likely impact of the proposed development upon that significance. The Council
consulted its Conservation Officer, who provided detailed comments on the proposals,
identifying specific areas of concern in relation to the level of harm and the justification

provided. In response, the applicant submitted further information and clarification,

Page 144



which was carefully reviewed. The Conservation Officer subsequently provided

additional comments.

6.21 The Applicant’s Heritage Assessment is attached as Appendix 4. The Council’s
Conservation Officer was formally consulted on the application and provided detailed

comments on 13 February 2025. These are attached as Appendix 5.

6.22 A Heritage Rebuttal (HR) was received by the Council in response to the Conservation
Officers comments. The HR is appended to this report as Appendix 6. A further
response was issued on 9 April 2025 following the submission of additional material
by the applicant. These additional comments are appended in full at Appendix 7 to this
report. The HR concludes that the proposal “responds to the setting of the asset
through a more traditional layout of development, aligned along the western edge of
the site and set away from the listed building. Key views will be preserved, and the
new homes are appropriate in scale, massing and design details, refl ecting the local
character”.

6.23 The Conservation Officer concluded that the proposed development would result in
“less than substantial harm” to the significance of the designated heritage asset and
its setting. The level of harm was categorised as “medium” within that spectrum.
Furthermore, the Conservation Officer advised that the justification provided by the
applicant was insufficient to demonstrate that the identified harm was necessary or
outweighed by meaningful public benefit. As such, the proposal was considered to be
in conflict with Policy LP18 of the Fenland Local Plan (2014) and the relevant
provisions of Chapter 16 of the National Planning Policy Framework.

7 Assessment and Application of the Statutory and Policy Tests

7.1 Having regard to the legal, policy, and procedural framework set out above, and in
light of the heritage advice received, Members should approach the decision-making
process by sequentially addressing the following considerations:

Whether the development would result in harm to the setting of the listed
building

Members are invited to consider and reach a view, based on the submitted material
and professional advice, as to what level of harm, if any, the proposed development

Page 145



would cause to the significance of the Grade Il listed building at 31 Norfolk Street
through changes to its setting. The Conservation Officer has advised that the scheme
would result in less than substantial harm (medium). It should be noted that at the time
of the last application, the transcript evidences that the Committee acknowledged
some level of harm as when going against the Officer recommendation it was stated

“to me does not do sufficient harm to warrant a refusal on this application”.

Whether the statutory and policy duties are properly engaged and applied
Where harm is identified, Members must apply the statutory duty under section 66(1)
of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990, which requires
special regard to be given to the desirability of preserving the setting of the listed
building. This is not a neutral or procedural exercise, it establishes a strong
presumption against granting planning permission where harm is found. That
presumption must be given considerable importance and weight in the planning
balance. Members must also assess the proposal against Policy LP18 of the Fenland
Local Plan and the relevant provisions of Chapter 16 of the NPPF, particularly

paragraphs 213 and 215.

Whether there is clear and convincing justification for the identified harm
If Members accept that there would be less than substantial harm, the next step is to
determine whether that harm is justified. Paragraph 200 of the NPPF confirms that any
harm to a designated heritage asset must require clear and convincing justification.
Paragraph 215 then requires that the harm be weighed against the public benefits of
the proposal. In this case, due to the Council being able to demonstrably a healthy
five-year housing land supply the delivery of five dwellings is of limited public benefit.
No other public benefits of significance have been identified as part of the planning
application process at this time. Members must determine whether the justification and
benefits are sufficient to outweigh the identified harm and the significant hurdle placed
by S.66.

Whether the proposal complies with the development plan when read as a whole
Finally, applying section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004,
Members must determine whether the proposal accords with the development plan
taken as a whole and, if it does not, whether there are other material considerations

that indicate that planning permission should nevertheless be granted. In this case, if

Page 146



8.1

9.1

9.2

10

10.1

Members conclude that the proposal conflicts with Policy LP18 and the harm to the
designated heritage asset is not outweighed by public benefits, then the appropriate

and lawful conclusion would be that planning permission should be refused.
Effect on corporate objectives

The granting of planning permission in conflict with guidance within the NPPF, and the
potential for resultant legal challenge, would impact of the following corporate

objective:

a) Promote and enable housing growth, economic growth and regeneration across

Fenland.
Community impact

Should the Council proceed to issue planning permission on the basis of a resolution
that is open to legal challenge, there is a real risk that it may be required to defend
those proceedings in the High Court. The legal advice obtained indicates that the
current reasoning is insufficiently robust, which exposes the authority to a heightened
risk of judicial review. In such circumstances, the Council could incur significant legal
costs, both in preparing its defence and, if unsuccessful, in meeting the claimant’s

costs as well.

These financial implications would inevitably be borne by the local community, as the
Council’s activities are ultimately funded by residents through Council Tax. The
potential diversion of resources to defend a legally vulnerable decision represents not
only a financial risk but also a reputational one. It could erode public trust in the
planning system and the Council’s decision-making processes.

Conclusions

In making planning decisions, it is essential that Local Planning Authorities adhere not
only to the policies of the development plan and the National Planning Policy
Framework, but also to the statutory duties imposed by legislation such as the
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990. Where heritage assets

are affected, the legal framework requires decision-makers to give considerable

Page 147



importance and weight to any harm, and to ensure that any such harm is clearly and

convincingly justified.

10.2 In this case, the proposal engages section 66(1) of the 1990 Act, and both the case
officer and the Council’'s Conservation Officer have identified less than substantial
harm to the setting of a Grade Il listed building. The Council must therefore, when
determining the planning application undertake a lawful balancing exercise, having full
regard to the requirements of Policy LP18 of the Fenland Local Plan and paragraphs
213 and 215 of the NPPF. The Council must be able to demonstrate that it has properly
assessed the level of harm, considered whether there is adequate justification, and
reached a reasoned conclusion consistent with statute and policy.

10.3 The independent legal advice obtained in response to third-party representations
confirms that the reasons given by Committee in support of their resolution to grant
permission are not currently sufficiently robust to be lawfully relied upon. The opinion
makes clear that this does not prevent the Committee from ultimately approving the
application, but in order to do so lawfully, it would need to articulate a clear and

defensible planning rationale, with proper regard to the statutory heritage duties.

10.4 Given the risks identified, including the potential for legal challenge, the appropriate
and prudent course of action is to return the application to Committee for further
consideration. This will enable Members to revisit the planning balance in light of all
relevant legal and policy duties, and to reach a decision that can be lawfully issued

and robustly defended.
1 Recommendation

11.1 Itis recommended that Planning Committee REFUSE the application for the following

reason.:

1. The application would result in development within the setting of a Grade |l listed
building, 31 Norfolk Street, and would result in less than substantial harm to this
setting, by virtue of introducing built form into currently undeveloped open land
forming the historic context to the listed building, without adequate justification, and

without any public benefits outweighing this harm. As such, if permitted, the

Page 148



development would be contrary to Policy LP18 of the Fenland Local Plan (2014)
as well as Paragraphs 213 and 215 of the National Planning Policy Framework.

Page 149



This page is intentionally left blank



F/YR24/1000/F
Applicant: Mr D Wyatt Agent: Mr Lee Bevens
Construct Reason Ltd L Bevens Associates Ltd

Land West Of 27 Norfolk Street Accessed From, Morley Way, Wimblington,

Cambridgeshire

Erect 5 dwellings with associated garages and the formation of an attenuation
pond

Officer recommendation: Refuse

Reason for Committee: Number of representations contrary to Officer
recommendation

Government Planning Guarantee

Statutory Target Date For Determination: 12 February 2025
EOT in Place: Yes

EOT Expiry: 06 June 2025

Application Fee: £2890

Risk Statement:

This application must be determined by 06.06.2025 otherwise it will be out of time
and therefore negatively affect the performance figures.

1 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1. The application seeks full planning permission for the erection of 5no. storey, 3-
bed properties served via an access off Morley Way.

1.2. The proposal is considered to be acceptable when considered in terms of its
location within the built form of the settlement of Wimblington, which is identified
as a ‘Growth Village’ in Policy LP3 of the Fenland Local Plan (2014).

1.3. The proposed design and layout of the dwellings, along with the palette of
materials, is considered to be in keeping with the surrounding pattern of
development seen along Morley Way and Waggoners Way.

1.4. Further, it is not considered that the proposal would give rise to any
unacceptable amenity impacts, in accordance with Policy LP16 of the Fenland
Local Plan (2014).

1.5. However, it has been identified that the development would result in ‘less than
substantial harm’ to the setting of the adjacent Listed Building, 31 Norfolk Street,
and it is not considered that the public benefits arising from the scheme would
outweigh this harm in the overall planning balance.

Page 151



1.6. The proposal is therefore considered to be unacceptable and it is accordingly
recommended for refusal.

2  SITE DESCRIPTION

2.1. The application site is located at Land West of 27 Norfolk Street, but is accessed
via Morley Way in Wimblington.

2.2. The site comprises an area of undeveloped grassland that is surrounded by
residential properties. There are well-established soft landscaping features that
provide natural screening along the western and southern boundary of the site.
There is a mix of soft and hard landscaping features along the eastern boundary,
although these are less substantial, with the site appearing to sit at a higher level
than the residential properties to the east of the site.

2.3. The site is located entirely in Flood Zone 1 and is at very low risk of surface water
flooding.

2.4. The adjacent building dwelling to the east, 31 Norfolk Street, is a Grade Il Listed
Building.

3 PROPOSAL

3.1. The application seeks full planning permission for the erection of 5 single storey, 3-
bed dwellings. Plots 1-3 & 5 are proposed to have integral garages, whilst Plot 4
benefits from a detached double garage.

3.2. The development is proposed to be served via a new access created onto Morley
Way that will run from north to south down the western side of the site, with the
dwellings situated immediately east of the access road.

3.3. The proposed palette of materials includes a mix of orange and cream facing
brickwork, and a mix of red pantiles and Sandtoft slates.

3.4. The proposed dwellings measure between 5.5m-5.8m in height to the ridge,
between 12m-14m in width, and between 11m-13m in depth.

3.5. An attenuation basin is proposed at the southern end of the site.
3.6. Full plans and associated documents for this application can be found at:

https://www.publicaccess.fenland.gov.uk/publicaccess/

4  SITE PLANNING HISTORY

F/YR24/0051/F | Erect 8 x dwellings (2 x single storey, 2 bed and 6 x | Withdrawn
single storey 3 bed) with associated garages and 19.07.24
the formation of an attenuation pond

5 CONSULTATIONS

5.1. Anglian Water — 03.01.25

Page 152


https://www.publicaccess.fenland.gov.uk/publicaccess/

5.2.

5.3.

We need to inform you that there is a 150mm gravity foul sewer which is crossing
the development site. We have reviewed the submitted Proposed Site Layout
CH23/LBA/630/FP-2-101 revision A which states that there will be 3.0m easement
from either side of the existing foul sewer which is acceptable to Anglian Water. It
is also stated that the existing gate in Morley Way will be relocated to new
southern boundary fence.

So that Anglian Water has clear access to the Anglian Water owned sewer, the
applicant is required to clarify that the proposed gate will not obstruct Anglian
Water’s access to the 150mm sewer for future maintenance and operations to the
sewer.

No objection subject to conditions in relation to Wastewater Treatment & Surface
Water Disposal.

Cambridgeshire County Council Highways — 20.01.25

The applicant is proposing a shared use area at 5.5m wide with a turning head at
the end. This layout and its dimensions are suitable for refuge vehicles to enter
and turn in the proposed road. There is also a suitable existing footway for
pedestrians along Morley Way leading directly to the proposed site. As such all
highway offsite works are already in place and no further mitigation works on the
highway are needed to facilitate this development.

I note that the local residents have concerns regarding the impact of the
construction of this development, on the highway. However, the highways authority
can not object to a development based on how it will be constructed. As all road
legal vehicles are permitted to use the adopted highway. Should the development
gain the benefit planning permission | would suggest a Condition where the
applicant demonstrate how delivers, parking and the site as a whole is manged
including wheel washing facilities for construction traffic.

Cambridgeshire County Council Archaeology — 02.01.25

Our records indicate the development lies in an area of high archaeological
potential. Prior to modern development, cropmarks to the north-west of the
development area showed the presence of a series of irreqular shaped enclosures
(Cambridgeshire Historic Environment Record reference. 11646). Archaeological
investigations have since been undertaken to the north of the cropmarks which
showed a number of remains dating from the Bronze Age to Roman periods
(CHER ref. MCB20356). The earliest activity on the site was a barrow of Bronze
Age to Iron Age date. During the middle Iron Age a farmstead was developed
comprised of post-built structures and field systems.

The Roman period saw the expansion of settlement in the area, with the creation
of a number of enclosures, waterholes and a timber structure (CHER ref.
MCB20356). The Roman settlement is believed to have centred upon a trackway
leading from the cropmark complex to the north, and has been traced in
subsequent archaeological investigations which has revealed similar patterns of
Iron Age to Roman enclosures and settlement (CHER refs. MCB31818). Later
occupation saw the surrounding development area turn to agriculture, with
earthwork remains of ridge and furrow cultivation lying to the west (CHER ref.
02742). To the south-east archaeological investigations revealed evidence for 17th
to 20th century pitting (CHER refs. MCB17779 and MCB16492).

Page 153



5.4.

5.5.

We have commented on the previous application within the same bounds
(F/YR24/0051/F), of which our advice remains the same. Namely that due to the
archaeological potential of the site, a further programme of investigation and
recording is required in order to provide more information regarding the presence
or absence, and condition, of surviving archaeological remains within the
development area, and to establish the need for archaeological mitigation of the
development as necessary.

Environmental Health — 03.01.25

The Environmental Health Team note and accept the submitted information and
have ‘No Objections’ to the proposal.

Given the nature and scale of the proposed development, the issues of primary
concern to this service during the construction phase would be the potential for
noise, dust and possible vibration to adversely impact on the amenity of the
occupiers at the nearest residential properties.

Therefore, this service would welcome a condition requiring the submission of a
robust Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) that shall include
working time restrictions in line with the template for developers, now available on
Fenland District Council’s website at: Construction Environmental Management
Plan: A template for development sites (fenland.gov.uk)

Vibration impact assessment methodology, mitigation measures, monitoring and
recording statements in accordance with the provisions of BS
5228-2:2009+A1:2014 Code of Practice for noise and vibration control on
construction and open sites may also be relevant, as would details of any piling
construction methods / options, as appropriate.

Conservation Officer

Response received 13.02.25

I am of the view that the loss off one of the last remaining parcels of open land on
the edge of the historic parts of the settlement will have a considerable impact on
the setting of the Gl listed 31 Norfolk Street. This is an in-principle objection to the
loss of this grazing land.

The setting of the LB is currently that of a building sat within its spacious grounds
with a verdant and spacious field setting in the backdrop, as it has benefitted from
historically. The change to this setting would be considerable and alter the context
that the Listed building is appreciated and understood.

The development results in less than substantial harm (medium) to the identified
heritage assets, for which national and local heritage policy and guidance points to
a presumption against Councils supporting such development, unless there are
strong public benefits which outweigh the harm identified.

Response received 09.04.25

There is a firm disagreement with the statements made in the rebuttal with regards
to key views and setting being preserved. Furthermore, there is strong
disagreement that the development accords with LP18 and heritage sections of the
NPPF.

Page 154



5.6.

The proposals came forward with little heritage consideration and without a
suitably detailed HIA. The HIA’s have been created after the proposal has been put
together and attempt to justify.

Owing to the impact on setting and the loss of one of the last remaining parcels of
open land adjacent to the historic core of the village, the development will result in
less than substantial harm (medium on the spectrum) and therefore is not deemed
accord with Policy LP18 of the Fenland Local Plan 2014 and relevant heritage
sections of the NPPF.

Finally, para 213 of the NPPF states that any harm to the significance of a
designated heritage asset or its setting should require clear and convincing
Justification for which has not been provided.

Recommendation: Refuse
Wimblington Parish Council — 21.01.25

5 Dwellings off Morley Way This planning application needs to be refused because
it does not comply with a number of FDC Local Planning Policies and NPPF
policies, also there are strong objections from both the local community and the
Parish Council. The planning officer and planning committee are asked to consider
all of the following policies. Wimblington has far exceeded its ‘village threshold’ for
LP12 Part A.

LP2 - Facilitating Health and Wellbeing of Fenland Residents creating sufficient
and the right mix of homes to meet people’s needs, and in the right location

(LP3, LP4 and LP5) - these dwellings are not in the right location, the village does
not need further homes, the health and Well-being of local residents is being
affected due to the lack of sustainable facilities, especially the surgery.

(LP14B) - pluvial flooding is a grave concern in this area which includes a number
of historic listed buildings, non-listed heritage buildings and the village hall (an
asset of value to the community). (LP16) avoiding adverse impacts LP3
Wimblington is no longer a sustainable location and struggles to address local
needs, there is no validated need for more housing at present. Wimblington has
already exceeded a considerable scale of development.

3.4 - Housing Growth and Meeting Housing Need

3.4.2 - Wimblington as a growth village has not been reviewed, the Housing Needs
Assessment done on behalf of the village states that Wimblington has achieved its
growth, it also states the village far exceeds the percentage of bungalows needed.

3.4.3 - Wimblington is no longer a sustainable location and struggles to address
local needs, further housing will only exacerbate these problems.

3.4.4 - There are a number of developments still awaiting completion, the
infrastructure is not coping especially the utilities, residents are suffering because
of this.

4.7 - Rural Areas

4.7.1 - This proposal does not retain the distinctive settlement patterns, it is being
shoehorned into a central part of the village which is of historical value to the
community and the village is no longer a sustainable environment.

Page 155



LP4 - Housing - total target need - 11,000 in 20 years

*Note: Development at Wimblington and Doddington will be appropriate provided
that capacity at, or in the sewerage network leading to, the Waste Water Treatment
Work in Doddington can be addressed. - this has not been addressed and Anglian
Water do not foresee it being addressed in the immediate future. At present there
are major problems with pluvial flooding within areas of the village and this
development will exasperated this. Anglian Water cannot manage the present
water and sewerage problems and there are a further 88 dwellings off March Road
and 21 dwellings off of Willow Gardens that have still to be added to the existing
system WHICH ISN’T COPING. (LP13)

LP5. A recent Housing Need Assessment, now adopted by Parish Council, states
Wimblington village far exceeds the national average in Fenland and England for
built bungalows in our area, there is no need for further housing.

NPPF

Delivering a sufficient supply of homes 61 To determine the minimum number of
homes needed, strategic policies should be informed by a local housing need
assessment - a local housing needs assessment has been completed for
Wimblington.

LP 12 - Rural Areas Development Policy It would not put people or property in
danger from identified risks It will increase vehicle movement around a residential
play area. It will increase the risk of pluvial flooding of peoples properties, increase
the risk of drainage and sewage problem already experienced within the village.

It can be served by sustainable infrastructure provision, such as surface water and
waste water drainage and highways — The infrastructure within the village is
already struggling both with pluvial flooding, sewage coming up through drains and
into peoples properties, drains flooding. The roads in the village are damaged,
cracked and with potholes, due to the increase in traffic especially heavy traffic.

Waggoners Way and Morley Way roads were not constructed to take heavy plant
machinery and vehicles, who will be responsible for the possible deterioration of
the road surface and pathways? The proposal is of a scale and in a location that is
in keeping with the core shape and form of the settlement and will not adversely
harm its character and appearance - this application will adversely harm the
historic, heritage character of the village. It would not result in the loss of important
spaces within the village - the proposed site will remove the open space that helps
retains the important historic elements of the village separate from the new built
area to the north, both listed and non-listed heritage assets surround this open
space.

LP13 - Supporting and Managing the Impact of a Growing District the implications
of constructing this development in the heart of the village are of grave concern to
local residents and the Parish council, the infrastructure is not sufficient to support
or meet all the requirements of the additional growth.

LP 14 - Responding to Climate Change and Managing the Risk of Flooding in
Fenland This development could have devastating consequences on both the
heritage-built area, historic buildings and the village hall. Parish Council has very
recently had to withdraw the option of double depth graves as its cemetery as at a
recent grave digging the contractor struggled to dig the depth as the ground is so
sodden that the sides collapsed despite robust shoring up. He has advised that he
cannot dig double depth in our soil in the future as it would be dangerous.

Page 156



LP16 - Delivering and Protecting High Quality Environments across the District The
proposed site will not make a positive contribution, this site will impose on the
historic character of the centre of the village heritage area, it will not reinforce local
identity or improve the character of the local built environment. It will introduce an
alien environment within the important heritage element of the village.

NPPF - Considering development proposals 112 within this context application for
development should a) give priority first to pedestrian and cycle movements, both
within the scheme and with neighbouring areas - this development will have
consequences on the pedestrian and cycle movements within the neighbouring
areas, this development is to be situated at the end of a quiet cul-de-sac which
incorporates PROW used extensively by local residents and ramblers. c) create
places that are safe, secure and attractive - which minimise the scope for conflict
between pedestrians, cyclists and vehicles, avoid unnecessary street clutter, and
respond to local character and design standards - this site increases the scope of
conflict between pedestrians, cyclist and vehicles in an area of the village that has
always been a quiet street with little traffic. This application is not responding to
local character or designs standards that will sit comfortably in an open space
surrounded by the village's historically built area.

LP 18 - The Historic Environment This development has the potential to harm the
setting and local heritage assets, designated and undesignated, within the heart of
our historic environment in the village centre. It is not just the visible historical
aspects of the village there is also an archaeological heritage below the surface
that needs protecting.

Further Comments

Wimblington is a historic, residential village situated within a unique working
landscape which is slowly being eroded. This application is proposed adjacent to
one of the most popular ‘green spaces’ still available within the centre of our village
that leads off of PROW 236/1. It is being shoehorned into the end of a recorded ‘no
through’ road that is greatly used, safely, by the local community - school children
of all ages, juniors going through to Thomas Eaton school and seniors going
through to the main road to catch the bus through to March and Chatteris. The
cul-de-sac area of bungalows is predominately older residents who enjoy the
relaxed environment surrounding their homes. Constructing 5 un-required
bungalows, with up to a minimum of 10 additional vehicles passing through the
small estate, is going to impact on this quiet purpose-built environment.

The adjacent roads are the epicentre of Wimblington’s historic heritage with a
number of listed buildings and buildings on the villages non-listed heritage assets.
Allowing dwellings in between the heritage, historic environment of village life is not
supported by many of the residents or by the Parish Council. The fact that the
proposed area slopes south/easterly means that there is a possibility that those
important heritage, historic village assets will be put at risk of flooding. There are
already problems within the area of surface flooding, drainage and sewerage back
flooding. LLFA have stated, in regards to the planning application adjacent to this
application, that there is a water course located on the eastern boundary surface,
LLFA also state that ‘if the development is in an area with critical drainage
problems’, which Wimblington is now experiencing, that concern should be raised.
The excess water will travel in a south/easterly direction, there are assets of
heritage importance and our village hall in that direction. Anglian Water have also
stated that they have foul sewer pipes running within the proximity of the site. The
site itself has been highlighted as an area of high archaeological interest and for
that reason should be respected and preserved.

Page 157



5.7.

5.8.

Trying to get construction vehicles onto the proposed site is going to have a
traumatic impact on the residents of both Waggoners Way and Morley Way,
especially those facing directly on to the road with little or no frontage. The mental
stress of having constant heavy vehicles travelling pass their homes, close to cars
parked out on the road and residents walking around the small estate.

Although the actual planning application may comply with a number of FDC Local
Planning Policies and NPPF it needs to be recognised as an invasion in two
different areas of the village. The historic, heritage area of our beautiful village and
the small, quiet, tranquil estate that has appealed to the older resident of the
village. This site sits as a buffer between the more modern bungalow area and the
historic, heritage area of the village, by shoehorning in 5 unnecessary dwellings it
is compacting housing into the heart of the village centre.

It is questionable that this proposed development is sustainable - there has been a
sufficiently large increase in the number of dwellings built in Wimblington over the
past 10 years, which far outreaches the planned target for this ‘growth village’. The
infrastructure within the village already struggles to cope and as such could result
in detrimental impacts to the local community and the environment (surface water
flooding and sewage/waste water back flooding), services are becoming stretched
(doctor’s appointments can mean travelling to other surgeries, for example, many
services can only be accessed at the Ramsey surgery a 22 mile round trip and
many residents do not have their own transport), schooling of senior children
means travelling by vehicle, shopping means travelling by vehicle) employment is
limited locally therefore involves travelling, there is no regular bus service available
for the local community. Travelling by vehicle inevitably means using the busy
A141 and joining this main road can be both hazardous and difficult especially at
busy peak-times. Even service energy providers are struggling to maintain a
consistent flow of energies especially at peak-times.

This planning application is not supported by the local community or the Parish
Council and as such the planning officer and planning committee are asked to
refuse this development and support the local community.

Tree and Landscape Consultant — 03.01.25

The arboricultural report provided demonstrates the existing trees can be present. |
would suggest that the method statement is amended to unsure arboricultural
supervision is present when works in the root protection area are undertaken, so
that if roots are encountered, they will be suitably protected.

The landscape scheme is acceptable with suitable planting for the scheme.
LLFA

Response received 22.01.25

At present we object to the grant of planning permission for the following reasons:

We have reviewed the submitted documents and at present we object to the grant
of planning permission for the following reasons:

1. Pumping

Pumping of surface water is an unsustainable drainage method. Pumps present a
significant residual risk if they are not maintained or fail during a storm event. Our
preference is for gravity discharge to the surface water drainage system, mimicking
the natural drainage of the site and reducing energy consumption as stated in

Page 158



5.9.

paragraph 6.3.5 and 6.3.28 of the Flood and Water Supplementary Planning
Document (SPD).

We require that the applicant attempts to discharge as much surface water runoff
via gravity as possible. This can be achieved through the use of larger areas of
shallow attenuation, alternative SuDS approaches or an amendment to the layout
of the site.

2. Inappropriate on H&S grounds

The maximum depth of the permanent pool should not exceed 2 m and should
normally be a maximum of 1.2 m unless all safety considerations indicate a greater
depth is acceptable. The present design shows a permanent water depth of 3.4m
+, if the pump should fail, which is unacceptable.

Response received 27.02.25

We have reviewed the following documents:

¢ RESPONSE FROM CONSULTANT TO LLFA COMMENTS, MCT Engineering,
14/2

e Indicative Drainage Layout, MTC, Ref: 3087-05 rev G, 27/7/23

e External and Floor Levels, MTC, Ref: 3087-12 rev B, 17/5/24

e SWS Pump Failure Calcs, MTC, Rev B, 23/1/25

e SWS Calculations, MTC, Rev D, 23/1/25

Based on these, as Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) we have no objection in
principle to the proposed development.

The above documents demonstrate that surface water from the proposed
development can be managed through the use of permeable surfacing and
attenuation basin, restricting surface water discharge to 2l/s.

The LLFA is supportive of the use of permeable paving as in addition to controlling
the rate of surface water leaving the site it also provides water quality treatment
which is of particular importance when discharging into a watercourse).

Water quality has been adequately addressed when assessed against the Simple
Index Approach outlined in the CIRIA SuDS Manual.

Conditions requested relating to detailed surface water drainage scheme, scheme
for managing water run-off during construction and maintenance scheme for
surface water drainage.

Local Residents/Interested Parties

Objectors

A total of 78 letters of objection were received from residents of Wimblington. The
comments raised the following points:

- Disruption to residents of Waggoners Way and Morley Way caused by
construction vehicles

- Danger to uses of allocated green space on Morley Way

- Road network too narrow for heavy goods vehicles

- Traffic calming measures will be damaged by construction vehicles

- Insufficient parking provision in the area

- Decrease in value of existing properties

Page 159



6.1.

6.2.

- No need for further homes in Wimblington

- Flood risk on and around the site

- Impact on Listed Buildings

- Wimblington has already experienced considerable scale of development

- Lack of privacy for occupiers of proposed dwellings due to overlooking from
existing dwelling

Supporters
A total of 23 letters of support were received, raising the following points:

- Same developer that originally built our Morley Way and was always intended
to build this land

- Continuity of approach to building

- Some infrastructure already in place on site

- Need for bungalows

STATUTORY DUTY

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires a
planning application to be determined in accordance with the Development Plan
unless material planning considerations indicate otherwise. The Development Plan
for the purposes of this application comprises the adopted Fenland Local Plan
(2014) the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Local Plan
(2021) and the Wimblington and Stonea Neighbourhood Plan (Pre-Submission
Draft October 2024).

Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990
requires Local Planning Authorities when considering development to pay special
attention to preserving a listed building or its setting.

POLICY FRAMEWORK

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2024

Chapter 2 - Achieving sustainable development

Chapter 4 — Decision-making

Chapter 5 — Delivering a sufficient supply of homes

Chapter 8 — Promoting healthy and safe communities

Chapter 9 — Promoting sustainable transport

Chapter 11 — Making effective use of land

Chapter 12 — Achieving well-designed places

Chapter 14 — Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change
Chapter 15 — Conserving and enhancing the natural environment
Chapter 16 - Conserving and enhancing the historic environment

National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)
Determining a Planning Application

National Design Guide 2021
Context

|dentity

Built Form

Movement

Nature

Uses

Homes and Buildings

Page 160



Fenland Local Plan 2014

LP1 — A Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development

LP2 — Facilitating Health and Wellbeing of Fenland Residents

LP3 — Spatial Strategy, the Settlement Hierarchy and the Countryside

LP4 — Housing

LP5 — Meeting Housing Need

LP13 — Supporting and Managing the Impact of a Growing District

LP14 — Responding to Climate Change and Managing the Risk of Flooding in
Fenland

LP15 — Facilitating the Creation of a More Sustainable Transport Network in
Fenland

LP16 — Delivering and Protecting High Quality Environments across the District

LP18 — The Historic Environment

LP19 — The Natural Environment

Wimblington and Stonea Neighbourhood Plan (Pre-Submission Draft
October 2024)

Wimblington & Stonea Parish Council has carried out a pre-submission
consultation on the draft plan, as required by Regulation 14 of the Neighbourhood
Planning (General) Regulations 2012. The draft plan has not yet been submitted
for examination. Given the very early stage which the draft plan is therefore at, it is
considered, in accordance with Paragraph 49 of the NPPF, that the policies of this
should carry very limited weight in decision making. Of relevance to this application
are policies:

- Policy NE1: Protecting the Landscape

- Policy NE2: Biodiversity

- Policy HE1: Protecting and enhancing local heritage assets
- Policy SD1: Development and the Settlement Boundary

- Policy SD3: High-Quality Design

- Policy SD6: Flood Risk

- Policy H1: Housing Mix

-Policy TT1: Car Parking

- Policy C2: Local Green Spaces

Delivering and Protecting High Quality Environments in Fenland SPD 2014
DM3 — Making a Positive Contribution to Local Distinctiveness and character of
the Area

Cambridgeshire Flood and Water SPD 2016

Emerging Local Plan

The Draft Fenland Local Plan (2022) was published for consultation between 25th
August 2022 and 19 October 2022, all comments received will be reviewed and
any changes arising from the consultation will be made to the draft Local Plan.
Given the very early stage which the Plan is therefore at, it is considered, in
accordance with Paragraph 49 of the NPPF, that the policies of this should carry
extremely limited weight in decision making. Of relevance to this application are
policies:

LP1: Settlement Hierarchy

LP2: Spatial Strategy for the Location of Residential Development
LP4: Securing Fenland’s Future

LP7: Design

Page 161



LP8:  Amenity Provision

LP12: Meeting Housing Needs
LP13: Custom and Self Build
LP20: Accessibility and Transport
LP22: Parking Provision

LP23: Historic Environment
LP24: Natural Environment
LP25: Biodiversity Net Gain
LP27: Trees and Planting

LP28: Landscape

8 KEY ISSUES

Principle of Development

Character and appearance

Amenity Impact

Impact on Historic Environment
Flood Risk and Drainage

Parking provision and highway safety
Biodiversity Impact

Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG)

9 BACKGROUND

9.1. The application site was subject to a previous application under reference number
F/YR24/0051/F, which sought planning permission for a scheme of 8no. dwellings.

9.2. This application was subsequently withdrawn and as such, does not represent a
material planning consideration in the determination of this application. However, it
is noted that the scheme has been reduced in scale and amended in layout in an
attempt to address the objections received, primarily from the Conservation Officer
in relation to the impact on the adjacent Listed Building.

9.3. The objections from the Conservation Officer remain. However, this will be
addressed in further detail in the Assessment section of this report.

10 ASSESSMENT
Principle of Development

10.1. The application site is considered to be located within the developed footprint of
the village, within the settlement of Wimblington. Policy LP3 of the Fenland Local
Plan advises that Wimblington is a ‘Growth Village’ and that development within
the existing urban area, such as this location, is appropriate.

10.2. Policy LP12 advises that for villages, new development will be supported where it
contributes to the sustainability of that settlement and does not harm the open
character of the countryside. The site is considered to be within the developed
footprint of the village and therefore would not impact the character of the
countryside.

10.3. This policy also advises that if a proposal within or on the edge of a village, in
conjunction with other development built since 2011 and committed to be built (i.e.
with planning permission) increases the number of dwellings in a growth village by
15% or more, then the proposal should have demonstrable evidence of clear local
community support for the scheme.

Page 162



10.4. Wimblington has already exceeded its 15% threshold. However, an appeal
decision received in respect of an application that was refused purely on this basis
(F/'YR14/0838/0) indicates that the threshold considerations and requirement for
community support should not result in an otherwise acceptable scheme being
refused.

10.5.In this instance, a number of representations have been received, both in support
and against the proposals, with the objections far outhumbering the letters of
support. As such, it cannot be demonstrated that there is clear community support
for the proposals. Notwithstanding that, as per the appeal decision referenced in
paragraph 10.4, the absence of clear community support does not render the
scheme unacceptable in principle in planning terms.

10.6. As such, the principle of this development is considered to be supported by
Policies LP3 and LP12 of the Fenland Local Plan (2014).

Character and appearance

10.7.The application is submitted in Full format and is therefore supported by detailed
drawings of the dwellings proposed and a detailed site layout.

10.8. The submitted site layout plan identifies the development as being an extension of
the existing cul-de-sac, Morley Way, with a spine road that extends from north to
south along the western boundary of the site, with the dwellings located
immediately to the east of this.

10.9. The proposed dwellings are single storey in nature and measures between 5.5m-
5.8m in height to the ridge, between 12m-14m in width, and between 11m-13m in
depth.

10.10. Development along Morley Way is predominantly characterised by bungalows and,
as such, the scale of the proposed dwellings is considered to be appropriate in this
location. This is further reinforced by a palate of materials that is in keeping with
the surrounding area, as set out in paragraph 3.3 of this report.

10.11. The density of development is approximately 10 dwellings per hectare. Whilst this
density of development is relatively low compared to that seen generally on Morley
Way and Waggoners Way, it is not considered that it is so low so as to represent
an inefficient use of land. This is particularly notable when considering that the
development along Norfolk Street to the east is of a much lower density than that
along Morley Way. As such, it can be considered that the development proposed in
this application represents a transition in density between the two.

10.12. Further to this, the plot sizes for each dwelling are generous, therefore avoiding a
cramped form of development in this location. Minimal hardstanding is proposed
throughout the site, with soft landscaping features proposed for retention. It is
considered that this will soften the visual impact of the development and ensure a
reduced impact on the landscape character of the area.

10.13. The proposal is overall considered to be in accordance with the requirements of
Policy LP16 of the Fenland Local Plan (2014).

Amenity Impact

10.14. The site is adjoined by residential dwellings to the east and west. The land
immediately to the west comprises private amenity space for dwellings on March
Road. The proposed units are separated from the western boundary of the site by

Page 163



approximately 10m, thereby offering some separation from the adjoining private
amenity space. Further, there is existing and well-established hedgerow along this
boundary that offers substantial screening and protection for the private amenity
space of the neighbouring properties to the west.

10.15. The land to the east of the application site also comprises of residential properties
on Norfolk Street. The dwellings along Norfolk Street are generally set back from
the public highway and are in close proximity to the boundary with the application
site. The proposed dwellings are separated from the eastern boundary by 26m-
28m, with the nearest residential property, 31 Norfolk Street, separated by a
distance of 36m.

10.16. The topographical survey undertaken of the site states that the ground level of the
site nearest to the adjoining property, 31 Norfolk Street, is 4.54m. The survey
further notes that the ridge height of 31 Norfolk Street stands at 10.79m. Whilst the
ground level on the adjacent site is not specified on the plans, it is clear that the
ground level on the adjacent land is lower than that of the application site.

10.17. The single storey nature of the proposed dwellings and length of rear gardens
backing onto 31 Norfolk Street are considered to be sufficient to avoid any
overlooking impacts or overshadowing impacts on the adjacent dwelling.

10.18. It is noted that there is already a degree of boundary screening along the boundary
with 31 Norfolk Street, but it is suggested that a condition is imposed requiring the
submission of a detailed soft and hard landscaping scheme to ensure that any
impacts are suitably mitigated against whilst retaining appropriate private amenities
for the existing occupiers.

10.19. Further to this, a condition is suggested to remove permitted development rights
from the proposed dwellings for any works permitted under Schedule 2, Part 1,
Classes AA (Construction of additional stories), Class B (Additions to roof), and
Class E (Buildings incidental to the enjoyment of a dwellinghouse).

10.20. The removal of these Permitted Development Rights will ensure the avoidance of
any undue detrimental impacts on the amenities of 31 Norfolk Street through the
further development of the site without first securing planning permission for the
works.

10.21. The concerns raised by neighbouring properties in respect of the impact of the
development during the construction phase in respect of noise and disruption etc.
are noted, however, these are not material planning considerations.
Notwithstanding this, a condition requiring the submission of a CEMP is suggested
to ensure that any impacts arising from the construction phase are mitigated as far
as practicably possible.

10.22. It is overall considered, on balance, that the proposal is in accordance with Policy
LP16 of the Fenland Local Plan (2014) in respect of amenity impacts.

Impact on Historic Environment

10.23. The application site is immediately adjacent to a Grade |l Listed Building, 31
Norfolk Street, which is a residential property situated to the east of the site.
Historic maps show this as a relatively isolated building set within farmland and as
such the open application site immediately to the rear forms part of the setting of
this, reflecting the listed building’s historic relationship with the open countryside.
Setting is defined in the Glossary to the NPPF as “The surroundings in which a

Page 164



heritage asset is experienced. Its extent is not fixed and may change as the asset
and its surroundings evolve”.

10.24. The scheme has been considered by the Council’s Conservation Officer, who has
objected to the application on the basis that the scheme will result in ‘less than
substantial harm’ to the setting of the Listed Building without justification and that
the application is supported by insufficient justification as to the harm caused to the
Heritage Asset, contrary to the NPPF and Fenland Local Plan. Less than
substantial harm is the medium level of harm identified within the NPPF.

10.25. Paragraph 215 of the NPPF states that “Where a development proposal will lead to
less than substantial harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset, this
harm should be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal...”. In this
instance, it is not considered that the benefits arising from the development of only
five market dwellings, when considered in the context of the district’s healthy five
year housing land supply, outweigh the harm which would be caused to the setting
of the Listed Building, and therefore the proposal is considered to be contrary to
Paragraph 215 of the NPPF (2024).

10.26. It is acknowledged that the context in which the listed building is viewed has
changed significantly over time and that it is now seen in a more urban
environment than was the case historically. However, as the Council’s
Conservation Officer sets out in their objection to the application, “Historic England
guidance on setting states that ‘where the significance of a heritage asset has
been compromised in the past by unsympathetic development affecting its setting,
to accord with NPPF policy, strong considerations need to be given to whether
additional change will further detract from the significance of the asset’. Negative
change would include severing the last link between the asset and its historic
setting, as would clearly be the case here”.

10.27. The proposal is therefore considered to be unacceptable, on balance, having
regard to Policy LP18 of the Fenland Local Plan (2014) and the NPPF (2024) and
in the context of the requirements of Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Building
and Conservation Area) Act 1990.

Flood Risk and Drainage

10.28. The application site falls within Flood Zone 1 and is at Very Low Risk of Flooding.
As such, it is considered that there are no issues to consider with regard to Policy
LP14 of the Fenland Local Plan (2014) or Chapter 14 of the NPPF (2024).

10.29. The LLFA were consulted on the application and, after the submission of additional
information and indicative drainage details, have raised no objections to the
proposal, subject to conditions requiring the submission of detailed drainage
measures.

10.30. The LLFA have no objections to the principle that the site is capable of
accommodating the development, providing sufficient drainage and avoiding any
adverse off-site impacts in respect of flood risk.

10.31. The proposal is therefore considered to satisfy the requirements of Policy LP14 of
the Fenland Local Plan (2014) and Chapter 14 of the NPPF (2024) in respect of
Flood Risk and Drainage.

Parking Provision and Highway Safety

Page 165



10.32. The Highway Authority have been consulted on the application and have raised no
objections to the proposal in respect of its impact on highway safety in the locality.

10.33. Whilst the representations made in respect of the impact of the development
during the construction phase are noted, it is not possible to object to a planning
application on these grounds. As such, a condition is suggested requiring the
submission of details of wheel washing facilities and a temporary facilities area to
minimise the highway impact of the development during the construction phase.

10.34. Each plot is considered to benefit from adequate parking and turning provision to
allow vehicles to access the public highway in forward gear, and to avoid on-street
parking that could give rise to any highway safety concerns.

10.35. The proposal is therefore considered to accord with the requirements of Policy
LP15 of the Fenland Local Plan (2014).

Biodiversity Impacts

10.36. The application is supported by a Preliminary Ecological Appraisal prepared by
Philip Parker Associates Ltd (10.06.2024). The report concludes that there will be
no significant biodiversity impacts arising from the development, and that no further
surveys are required subject to the precautionary measures set out in the report
being adhered to during the construction phase.

10.37. Due to the largely built-up nature of the surrounding area, it is considered unlikely
that the site will offer little by way of habitat or biodiversity value that could not be
mitigated against nor have enhancements provided by virtue of the submission of
an appropriate scheme.

10.38. The proposal is therefore considered to be acceptable in terms of its biodiversity
impact, having regard to Policy LP19 of the Fenland Local Plan (2014), subject to
conditions requiring the submission of a full mitigation and enhancement plan.

Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG)

10.39. The Environment Act 2021 requires development proposals to deliver a net gain in
biodiversity following a mitigation hierarchy which is focused on avoiding ecological
harm over minimising, rectifying, reducing and then off-setting. This approach
accords with Local Plan policies LP16 and LP19 which outlines a primary objective
for biodiversity to be conserved or enhanced and provides for the protection of
Protected Species, Priority Species and Priority Habitat.

10.40. In this instance a Biodiversity Gain Condition is required to be approved before
development is begun.

11 CONCLUSIONS

11.1 The application seeks full planning permission for the erection of 5no. storey, 3-
bed properties served via an access off Morley Way.

11.2 Whilst the proposed development accords with the settlement hierarchy of Policy
LP3 of the Local Plan, and the proposed design and layout of the dwellings is
considered to be in keeping with the surrounding pattern of development seen
along Morley Way and Waggoners Way, and it is not considered that the proposal
would give rise to any unacceptable amenity impacts, in accordance with Policy
LP16 of the Fenland Local Plan (2014) the impact on the setting of the adjacent
Grade I listed building is not considered to be acceptable.

Page 166



11.3 It has been identified that ‘less than substantial harm’, which is the medium level of
harm, would occur to this setting, without adequate justification, and, as per
Paragraph 215 of the NPPF, it is not considered that the public benefits arising
from the scheme would, on balance, outweigh this harm.

11.4 The proposal is therefore considered to be unacceptable in planning terms, and it
is accordingly recommended that planning permission is refused on this basis. To
grant the application may be seen as indicative of a failure by the Council to

exercise its duties under Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and
Conservation Areas) Act 1990.

12 RECOMMENDATION

Refuse; for the following reasons:

1. The application would result in development within the setting of a Grade |l
listed building, 31 Norfolk Street, and would result in less than substantial
harm to this setting, by virtue of introducing built form into currently
undeveloped open land forming the historic context to the listed building,
without adequate justification, and without any public benefits outweighing
this harm. As such, if permitted, the development would be contrary to Policy

LP18 of the Fenland Local Plan (2014) as well as Paragraphs 213 and 215
of the National Planning Policy Framework.

Page 167



Created on: 23/12/2024

© Crown Copyright and database
rights 2024 Ordnance Survey 10023778

F/YR24/1000/F

Scale = 1:1,250

Fenland
CAMBRIDGESHIRE

Fenland District Council

Page 168




Scale: 1:500

Om 5 10 15 20 25m 50m

52
Ex
e
3u
57
488
o e *
408
50
i
486
Ringe Ess
% 497
30
47587
BUILDING <
4
30
437
: +%
46
e 2 ;
EXISTING OPEN SPACE
68
27 *
278
A
30 -
0
BULING 7
e
¥ #89
&S
s N
Existing conifers trimmed
back from proposed footpath
Existing foul water drain with
3m easement shown either
side of pipe
473
9232500 Existing gates from Morley. 377
Way relocated to new 252
southier boundary fence 76

39a3H

ATTENUATION POND.,
47

5230000

C AN

\Sche‘ for 8 dyreflings
Ref. F/YR211055/0

7

1

S W
= DETACHED JARAGE

56"

LISTED BUILDING
31 NORFOLK STREET

RIDGE.
079

& eave

ek

THIS DRAWING AND THE BUILDING WORKS DEPICTED ARE THE COPYRIGHT OF

L BEVENS ASSOCIATES ARCHITECTS LTD AND MAY NOT BE REPRODUCED OR AMENDED
EXCEPT BY WRITTEN PERMISSION. NO LIABILITY WILL BE ACCEPTED FOR AMENDMENTS
MADE BY OTHER PERSONS. COPYRIGHT 2024 ©.

ALL MEASUREMENTS SHOULD BE CHECKED ON SITE AND ANY DISCREPANCIES SHOULD
REPORTED TO THE ORIGINATOR.

ALL WORKS TO COMPLY WITH CURRENT CDM REGULATIONS AS APPROPRIATE. IT IS THE
CLIENT'S RESPOSIBILITY TO FULLY COMPLY WITH THE CDM 2015 REGULATIONS INCLUDING
APPOINTING A PRINCIPAL DESIGNER AND PRINCIPAL CONTRACTOR FOR PROJECTS WITH
MORE THAN ONE CONTRACTOR ON SITE.

NO WORKS TO COMMENCE ON SITE UNTIL ALL APPROVALS ARE CONFIRMED IN WRITING.
L BEVENS ASSOCIATES ARCHITECTS LTD ACCEPTS NO LIABILITY IF THIS IS BREACHED.
IT IS THE CONTRACTORS RESPONSIBILITY TO ACCURATELY LOCATE EXISTING SERVICES
PRIOR TO WORKS COMMENCING.

Plot Schedule

Plot 1 - Waveney - 3 bedroom bungalow
Plot 2 - Waveney - 3 bedroom bungalow
Plot 3 - Waveney - 3 bedroom bungalow
Plot 4 - Waltham K - 3 bedroom bungalow
Plot 5 - Waltham KG - 3 bedroom bungalow

Biodiversity enhancements

(Please refer to Preliminary Ecological Appraisal by Philip Parker
Associates Ltd and Soft Landscape Plan by Richard Morrish
Associates for locations of bat and bird boxes, bee bricks and

hedgehog homes)

lintegrated bat boxes inserted on southern and western
elevations and noted as @BB on Site Plan

Integrated swift boxes placed in PAIRS. Inserted on north or north-east

elevations and noted as @SWB on Site Plan

Sparrow terraces integrated into walls. Inserted on north or north-east
elevations and noted as /SPE on Site Plan

Bee Bricks i d into south-western and south-eastern walls of
garages and noted as @BEEB on Site Plan

4'a'a

RevA Sept. 24 Revised following feedback from Heritage

Consultant and scheme reduced to 5
dwellings.

arb
Architects
Registration

Board

REG NO: 0654801

L Bevens Associates Architects Ltd

The Doghouse

10 Cricketers Way

Chatteris

Cambridgeshire

PE16 6UR

Tel: 01354 693969

Mob: 07739 562818

Email: enquiries@Ibevens-associatesltd.co.uk
Web: www.Ibevens-associatesltd.co.uk

o
4!!;

L BEVENS

Associates Lid

Architects

DRAWING PRELIMINARY O CONSTRUCTION []
STATUS

PLANNING [ | FILE COPY O
CLIENT

Construct Reason Ltd

PROJECT
Land South of Morley Way, Wimblington,
Cambridgeshire.

DRAWING TITLE

Proposed Site Layout

SCALE DATE DRAWN CHECKED
1:500 @ A3 August2024 LB
DRAWING NUMBER REVISION

CH23/LBA/630/FP-2-101 A

Page 169


AutoCAD SHX Text_589
EAVE

AutoCAD SHX Text_590
RIDGE

AutoCAD SHX Text_591
7.29

AutoCAD SHX Text_592
6.71

AutoCAD SHX Text_593
4.85

AutoCAD SHX Text_594
4.85

AutoCAD SHX Text_595
4.87

AutoCAD SHX Text_596
4.89

AutoCAD SHX Text_597
4.87

AutoCAD SHX Text_598
4.95

AutoCAD SHX Text_599
4.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_600
5.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_601
SV

AutoCAD SHX Text_602
5.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_603
5.11

AutoCAD SHX Text_604
5.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_605
5.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_606
LARGE CONIFERS

AutoCAD SHX Text_607
5.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_608
BF

AutoCAD SHX Text_609
EDGING ONLY ON SERVICE STRIP NO PATH

AutoCAD SHX Text_610
EAVE

AutoCAD SHX Text_611
8.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_612
EAVE

AutoCAD SHX Text_613
 H E D G E

AutoCAD SHX Text_614
 H E D G E

AutoCAD SHX Text_615
BUSH

AutoCAD SHX Text_616
EAVE

AutoCAD SHX Text_617
EAVE

AutoCAD SHX Text_618
FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text_619
292300.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_620
292325.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_621
4.48

AutoCAD SHX Text_622
4.64

AutoCAD SHX Text_623
4.45

AutoCAD SHX Text_624
4.57

AutoCAD SHX Text_625
4.60

AutoCAD SHX Text_626
4.61

AutoCAD SHX Text_627
4.60

AutoCAD SHX Text_628
4.31

AutoCAD SHX Text_629
4.40

AutoCAD SHX Text_630
4.42

AutoCAD SHX Text_631
4.46

AutoCAD SHX Text_632
4.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_633
4.54

AutoCAD SHX Text_634
4.61

AutoCAD SHX Text_635
4.67

AutoCAD SHX Text_636
4.69

AutoCAD SHX Text_637
4.63

AutoCAD SHX Text_638
4.65

AutoCAD SHX Text_639
4.63

AutoCAD SHX Text_640
4.69

AutoCAD SHX Text_641
4.65

AutoCAD SHX Text_642
4.66

AutoCAD SHX Text_643
4.67

AutoCAD SHX Text_644
4.69

AutoCAD SHX Text_645
4.64

AutoCAD SHX Text_646
4.58

AutoCAD SHX Text_647
4.53

AutoCAD SHX Text_648
4.53

AutoCAD SHX Text_649
4.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_650
4.46

AutoCAD SHX Text_651
4.37

AutoCAD SHX Text_652
4.45

AutoCAD SHX Text_653
4.48

AutoCAD SHX Text_654
4.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_655
4.43

AutoCAD SHX Text_656
4.49

AutoCAD SHX Text_657
4.59

AutoCAD SHX Text_658
4.58

AutoCAD SHX Text_659
4.61

AutoCAD SHX Text_660
4.65

AutoCAD SHX Text_661
4.69

AutoCAD SHX Text_662
4.78

AutoCAD SHX Text_663
4.73

AutoCAD SHX Text_664
4.70

AutoCAD SHX Text_665
4.69

AutoCAD SHX Text_666
4.69

AutoCAD SHX Text_667
4.74

AutoCAD SHX Text_668
4.71

AutoCAD SHX Text_669
4.70

AutoCAD SHX Text_670
4.70

AutoCAD SHX Text_671
4.77

AutoCAD SHX Text_672
4.73

AutoCAD SHX Text_673
4.70

AutoCAD SHX Text_674
4.65

AutoCAD SHX Text_675
4.67

AutoCAD SHX Text_676
4.64

AutoCAD SHX Text_677
4.55

AutoCAD SHX Text_678
4.49

AutoCAD SHX Text_679
4.52

AutoCAD SHX Text_680
4.54

AutoCAD SHX Text_681
4.58

AutoCAD SHX Text_682
4.55

AutoCAD SHX Text_683
4.57

AutoCAD SHX Text_684
4.57

AutoCAD SHX Text_685
4.62

AutoCAD SHX Text_686
4.66

AutoCAD SHX Text_687
4.69

AutoCAD SHX Text_688
4.71

AutoCAD SHX Text_689
4.76

AutoCAD SHX Text_690
4.78

AutoCAD SHX Text_691
4.75

AutoCAD SHX Text_692
4.72

AutoCAD SHX Text_693
4.73

AutoCAD SHX Text_694
4.69

AutoCAD SHX Text_695
4.73

AutoCAD SHX Text_696
4.73

AutoCAD SHX Text_697
4.76

AutoCAD SHX Text_698
4.77

AutoCAD SHX Text_699
4.82

AutoCAD SHX Text_700
4.74

AutoCAD SHX Text_701
4.75

AutoCAD SHX Text_702
4.60

AutoCAD SHX Text_703
4.61

AutoCAD SHX Text_704
4.77

AutoCAD SHX Text_705
4.64

AutoCAD SHX Text_706
4.70

AutoCAD SHX Text_707
4.76

AutoCAD SHX Text_708
4.67

AutoCAD SHX Text_709
4.63

AutoCAD SHX Text_710
4.72

AutoCAD SHX Text_711
4.74

AutoCAD SHX Text_712
4.71

AutoCAD SHX Text_713
4.74

AutoCAD SHX Text_714
4.77

AutoCAD SHX Text_715
4.80

AutoCAD SHX Text_716
4.78

AutoCAD SHX Text_717
4.79

AutoCAD SHX Text_718
4.80

AutoCAD SHX Text_719
4.90

AutoCAD SHX Text_720
4.84

AutoCAD SHX Text_721
4.86

AutoCAD SHX Text_722
4.81

AutoCAD SHX Text_723
4.82

AutoCAD SHX Text_724
4.82

AutoCAD SHX Text_725
4.79

AutoCAD SHX Text_726
4.75

AutoCAD SHX Text_727
4.72

AutoCAD SHX Text_728
4.68

AutoCAD SHX Text_729
4.64

AutoCAD SHX Text_730
4.73

AutoCAD SHX Text_731
4.70

AutoCAD SHX Text_732
4.57

AutoCAD SHX Text_733
4.66

AutoCAD SHX Text_734
4.71

AutoCAD SHX Text_735
4.69

AutoCAD SHX Text_736
4.71

AutoCAD SHX Text_737
4.73

AutoCAD SHX Text_738
4.75

AutoCAD SHX Text_739
4.81

AutoCAD SHX Text_740
4.85

AutoCAD SHX Text_741
4.91

AutoCAD SHX Text_742
4.78

AutoCAD SHX Text_743
RIDGE

AutoCAD SHX Text_744
7.28

AutoCAD SHX Text_745
RIDGE

AutoCAD SHX Text_746
7.29

AutoCAD SHX Text_747
BUILDING

AutoCAD SHX Text_748
BUILDING

AutoCAD SHX Text_749
5.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_750
5.14

AutoCAD SHX Text_751
5.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_752
5.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_753
5.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_754
4.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_755
5.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_756
5.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_757
5.10

AutoCAD SHX Text_758
 H E D G E

AutoCAD SHX Text_759
6.71

AutoCAD SHX Text_760
EAVE

AutoCAD SHX Text_761
6.70

AutoCAD SHX Text_762
RIDGE

AutoCAD SHX Text_763
10.79

AutoCAD SHX Text_764
RIDGE

AutoCAD SHX Text_765
10.96

AutoCAD SHX Text_766
RIDGE

AutoCAD SHX Text_767
10.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_768
RIDGE

AutoCAD SHX Text_769
10.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_770
7.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_771
EAVE

AutoCAD SHX Text_772
7.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_773
EAVE

AutoCAD SHX Text_774
8.60

AutoCAD SHX Text_775
RIDGE

AutoCAD SHX Text_776
11.11

AutoCAD SHX Text_777
RIDGE

AutoCAD SHX Text_778
9.73

AutoCAD SHX Text_779
RIDGE

AutoCAD SHX Text_780
9.69

AutoCAD SHX Text_781
EAVE

AutoCAD SHX Text_782
7.62

AutoCAD SHX Text_783
EAVE

AutoCAD SHX Text_784
7.58

AutoCAD SHX Text_785
RIDGE

AutoCAD SHX Text_786
9.70

AutoCAD SHX Text_787
RIDGE

AutoCAD SHX Text_788
9.70

AutoCAD SHX Text_789
RIDGE

AutoCAD SHX Text_790
10.82

AutoCAD SHX Text_791
RIDGE

AutoCAD SHX Text_792
10.80

AutoCAD SHX Text_793
7.59

AutoCAD SHX Text_794
EAVE

AutoCAD SHX Text_795
7.63

AutoCAD SHX Text_796
EAVE

AutoCAD SHX Text_797
7.63

AutoCAD SHX Text_798
RIDGE

AutoCAD SHX Text_799
10.62

AutoCAD SHX Text_800
RIDGE

AutoCAD SHX Text_801
10.61

AutoCAD SHX Text_802
RIDGE

AutoCAD SHX Text_803
10.62

AutoCAD SHX Text_804
FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text_805
4.59

AutoCAD SHX Text_806
4.63

AutoCAD SHX Text_807
5.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_808
5.04

AutoCAD SHX Text_809
5.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_810
5.10

AutoCAD SHX Text_811
5.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_812
5.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_813
5.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_814
5.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_815
5.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_816
5.03

AutoCAD SHX Text_817
5.03

AutoCAD SHX Text_818
5.04

AutoCAD SHX Text_819
5.19

AutoCAD SHX Text_820
5.24

AutoCAD SHX Text_821
5.28

AutoCAD SHX Text_822
5.25

AutoCAD SHX Text_823
5.19

AutoCAD SHX Text_824
5.17

AutoCAD SHX Text_825
5.15

AutoCAD SHX Text_826
5.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_827
5.04

AutoCAD SHX Text_828
5.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_829
5.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_830
5.16

AutoCAD SHX Text_831
5.15

AutoCAD SHX Text_832
5.14

AutoCAD SHX Text_833
5.04

AutoCAD SHX Text_834
4.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_835
4.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_836
4.96

AutoCAD SHX Text_837
4.93

AutoCAD SHX Text_838
4.91

AutoCAD SHX Text_839
4.91

AutoCAD SHX Text_840
4.92

AutoCAD SHX Text_841
4.93

AutoCAD SHX Text_842
5.16

AutoCAD SHX Text_843
5.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_844
5.14

AutoCAD SHX Text_845
5.19

AutoCAD SHX Text_846
5.24

AutoCAD SHX Text_847
5.26

AutoCAD SHX Text_848
5.27

AutoCAD SHX Text_849
5.27

AutoCAD SHX Text_850
5.25

AutoCAD SHX Text_851
5.21

AutoCAD SHX Text_852
5.11

AutoCAD SHX Text_853
5.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_854
5.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_855
5.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_856
5.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_857
5.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_858
5.10

AutoCAD SHX Text_859
5.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_860
5.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_861
5.11

AutoCAD SHX Text_862
5.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_863
4.91

AutoCAD SHX Text_864
4.90

AutoCAD SHX Text_865
4.92

AutoCAD SHX Text_866
4.93

AutoCAD SHX Text_867
4.94

AutoCAD SHX Text_868
4.95

AutoCAD SHX Text_869
4.96

AutoCAD SHX Text_870
4.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_871
5.01

AutoCAD SHX Text_872
5.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_873
5.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_874
4.96

AutoCAD SHX Text_875
4.96

AutoCAD SHX Text_876
FH

AutoCAD SHX Text_877
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_878
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_879
H14.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_880
S8.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_881
G2.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_882
H5.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_883
S2.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_884
G0.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_885
H5.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_886
S2.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_887
G0.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_888
H5.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_889
S2.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_890
G0.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_891
H5.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_892
S2.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_893
G0.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_894
H0.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_895
S0.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_896
G0.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_897
H5.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_898
S2.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_899
G0.60

AutoCAD SHX Text_900
H7.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_901
S2.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_902
G0.60

AutoCAD SHX Text_903
H7.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_904
S2.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_905
G0.60

AutoCAD SHX Text_906
H8.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_907
S2.50

AutoCAD SHX Text_908
G0.70

AutoCAD SHX Text_909
5.15

AutoCAD SHX Text_910
5.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_911
5.10

AutoCAD SHX Text_912
5.09

AutoCAD SHX Text_913
4.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_914
4.96

AutoCAD SHX Text_915
5.04

AutoCAD SHX Text_916
5.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_917
5.03

AutoCAD SHX Text_918
5.03

AutoCAD SHX Text_919
5.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_920
4.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_921
4.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_922
5.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_923
5.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_924
4.30

AutoCAD SHX Text_925
4.35

AutoCAD SHX Text_926
4.46

AutoCAD SHX Text_927
4.42

AutoCAD SHX Text_928
4.51

AutoCAD SHX Text_929
4.54

AutoCAD SHX Text_930
4.66

AutoCAD SHX Text_931
4.72

AutoCAD SHX Text_932
4.60

AutoCAD SHX Text_933
4.69

AutoCAD SHX Text_934
4.64

AutoCAD SHX Text_935
4.68

AutoCAD SHX Text_936
4.75

AutoCAD SHX Text_937
4.78

AutoCAD SHX Text_938
4.89

AutoCAD SHX Text_939
5.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_940
4.92

AutoCAD SHX Text_941
4.76

AutoCAD SHX Text_942
4.75

AutoCAD SHX Text_943
4.68

AutoCAD SHX Text_944
4.87

AutoCAD SHX Text_945
4.82

AutoCAD SHX Text_946
4.86

AutoCAD SHX Text_947
5.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_948
5.03

AutoCAD SHX Text_949
4.90

AutoCAD SHX Text_950
4.78

AutoCAD SHX Text_951
4.87

AutoCAD SHX Text_952
4.86

AutoCAD SHX Text_953
4.91

AutoCAD SHX Text_954
4.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_955
5.01

AutoCAD SHX Text_956
5.09

AutoCAD SHX Text_957
5.14

AutoCAD SHX Text_958
5.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_959
5.09

AutoCAD SHX Text_960
5.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_961
4.92

AutoCAD SHX Text_962
4.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_963
4.88

AutoCAD SHX Text_964
4.94

AutoCAD SHX Text_965
5.11

AutoCAD SHX Text_966
5.17

AutoCAD SHX Text_967
5.18

AutoCAD SHX Text_968
5.14

AutoCAD SHX Text_969
5.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_970
5.09

AutoCAD SHX Text_971
5.22

AutoCAD SHX Text_972
5.22

AutoCAD SHX Text_973
5.21

AutoCAD SHX Text_974
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_975
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_976
HERRAS FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text_977
G

AutoCAD SHX Text_978
5.18

AutoCAD SHX Text_979
G

AutoCAD SHX Text_980
4.91

AutoCAD SHX Text_981
G

AutoCAD SHX Text_982
4.91

AutoCAD SHX Text_983
G

AutoCAD SHX Text_984
4.91

AutoCAD SHX Text_985
G

AutoCAD SHX Text_986
4.91

AutoCAD SHX Text_987
5.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_988
5.15

AutoCAD SHX Text_989
5.19

AutoCAD SHX Text_990
5.22

AutoCAD SHX Text_991
5.21

AutoCAD SHX Text_992
5.23

AutoCAD SHX Text_993
5.22

AutoCAD SHX Text_994
5.18

AutoCAD SHX Text_995
5.15

AutoCAD SHX Text_996
5.15

AutoCAD SHX Text_997
5.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_998
5.10

AutoCAD SHX Text_999
5.09

AutoCAD SHX Text_1000
5.09

AutoCAD SHX Text_1001
5.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_1002
5.14

AutoCAD SHX Text_1003
5.15

AutoCAD SHX Text_1004
5.16

AutoCAD SHX Text_1005
5.18

AutoCAD SHX Text_1006
5.19

AutoCAD SHX Text_1007
5.22

AutoCAD SHX Text_1008
5.28

AutoCAD SHX Text_1009
5.34

AutoCAD SHX Text_1010
5.33

AutoCAD SHX Text_1011
5.29

AutoCAD SHX Text_1012
5.25

AutoCAD SHX Text_1013
5.17

AutoCAD SHX Text_1014
4.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_1015
4.01

AutoCAD SHX Text_1016
4.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_1017
4.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_1018
4.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_1019
4.04

AutoCAD SHX Text_1020
4.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_1021
4.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_1022
4.30

AutoCAD SHX Text_1023
4.75

AutoCAD SHX Text_1024
4.70

AutoCAD SHX Text_1025
4.75

AutoCAD SHX Text_1026
4.75

AutoCAD SHX Text_1027
4.78

AutoCAD SHX Text_1028
4.69

AutoCAD SHX Text_1029
4.61

AutoCAD SHX Text_1030
5.18

AutoCAD SHX Text_1031
5.15

AutoCAD SHX Text_1032
5.15

AutoCAD SHX Text_1033
5.18

AutoCAD SHX Text_1034
FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1035
5.19

AutoCAD SHX Text_1036
5.31

AutoCAD SHX Text_1037
FENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1038
5.25

AutoCAD SHX Text_1039
4.93

AutoCAD SHX Text_1040
4.95

AutoCAD SHX Text_1041
5.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_1042
5.04

AutoCAD SHX Text_1043
CATV

AutoCAD SHX Text_1044
CATV

AutoCAD SHX Text_1045
CATV

AutoCAD SHX Text_1046
CATV


Colour to be agreed with Local

Authority
Facing brickwork to be agreed

Colour to match main

Single concrete pantile.

Colour to be agreed with

Local Authority

3 course reconstituted stone
head with keystone feature
UPVC Flush casement windows.
with Local Authority

roof.
2 course reconstitued

Concrete ridge tile.

UPVC fascia board.

Colour to be agreed
with local Authority.
stone cill

SIDE

FRONT

— Indicative position of PV panels

SIDE

REAR

BUNGALOW TYPE '"WAVENEY'
floor area 83.36m?(897ft?)

CONSTRUGT

Beaver House

Northern Road
Sudbury

REASON

L

Suffolk CO10 6XQ

Sudbury 01787 376241

IVIITED)

ington,
idgeshire.

Land South of Morley Way,

W

imbl
Cambr

JOB TITLE

Plot 1 - Planning Drawing

DRAWING TITLE

BY

DETAILS

DATE

DESIGN BY

LB

DRAWN BY

REV

DATE

REV

SCALES

1:100 @ A2

DRAWING NoCH23/LBA/63O/FP—2-1O3

{ A~
{~

{~~A
{~~A
A

fAAAA

Attt

A AAAAA

e vs v v v we
AAAAAAA
fAAAAAAA
A AAAAAA
{AAAAAAA
AAAAAAA
A AAAAAA
A AAAAAA
fAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAA
A AAAAAA
A AAAAAA
AAAAAAA

e

\wwwwww

(

K959 45 941

SN

988 CY WII{gl

20008 107 7]

vaS SNSRI N RRRRRRRR.
NSNS N PR R RRRR R

AL N AR RRRERRAS

NSRS N PR R R RN RRRRA|

AN NN N PR R AR RRR A

SRS N AR RN RRRRRRRRE
SN NN N R RRRRRRRRRRREA|
SRS NN N AR RN RRRRRRRRE
SRS N AR RN RRRRRRRRE
NSNS N R RRRRRRRRRRRRA|
SRS N NN N AR RN RRRRRRRRE
SRS N RN RN RRRRRRTA|
SRS N AR RRRRRRRRE
SRS N NN N AR RN RRRRRRRRE
SRS N RN RN RRRRRRRA|
SRS NN N AR RN RRRRRRRRE
SRS N NN N AR RN RRRRRRRRE
SNSRI N RN RN RRRRRRRA|
SN NN NN R AR RRRRRRRRRRRRE

fAAAAAAA
fAAAAAAAA

 AAAAAAAAAAA
fAAAAAAAAAAA

f AAAAAAAAAAAAA

AAAAAAAAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAAAAAAA

T T T T T T T T T T T T e T T T
f AAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAA
f AAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAA
A AAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAA
A AAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAA
f AAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAA
A AAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAA
A AAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAA
{AAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAA
f AAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAA
A AAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAA
A AAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAA
f AAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAA
A AAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAA

 AAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAA
fAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAA
f AAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAA

J T ) )))

§ 95999900300

SO0Y WYY
33008 WYY

SN N RRRRRRRI

SNSRI N RRRRRRRR
NSNS N PR RRRRRRRR:

A
A

Htr
Ht
{~

SN N R RRRRRRRRI
O8O OSSO 0TI I Y
SN N R RRRRRRRRI

G O O G O €

I~~~ I~~~
U NS SN N N N SN S SN SN SN SN SN
R R R R R R ey
Rt aladav W NN N NS T
I~~~ I~~~
N~~~
R R R R R R ey
I~~~ I~~~
U NS SN N N N SN S SN SN SN SN SN

S asav U SN SN SN S SN SN SN
Rt et el e v N NN NN T

N

Bedroom

Bath

’rE\.S.

Kitchen

al

Garage

Sitting

Bedroom

Bedroom

ROOFPLAN

FLOORPLAN

Page 170




BY

LB

REASON
LIVITED

CONSTRUCT

DESIGN BY
DRAWN BY

BUNGALOW TYPE 'WAVENEY'
floor area 83.36m?(897ft?2)

Plots 2 & 3 - Planning Drawing
1:100 @ A2

Northern Road

Suffolk CO10 6XQ

Sudbury 01787 376241
Land South of Morley Way,
Wimblington,
Cambridgeshire.

Beaver House
Sudbury

DRAWING NoCH23/LBA/63O/FP_2_1O4

JOB TITLE
DRAWING TITLE

REV | DATE
SCALES

HHHbhh m ¢ IR e
stz | (EEE) st e
- \ i i

m i s 2

il ) o o e e <

Ja) HHHHHHH O i e w

_ il H i e o

S | ....................... S HHHHHHHHHHHHHHHHHHHHHHH HHHHHHHHHHHHHHHHHHH_:::::::::::: @)

..................... NG >

Garage

Indicative position of PV panels

e
Sitting
Bedroom

Kitchen

Bedroom

FLOORPLAN

FRONT

REAR
Bedroom
Bath
v

> 1 1 1 T T 1 1 1 1
L 71T T T T T T T T T T

Concrete ridge tile.

¢
)
38 @
2o g8 o
s £ £2 >
@ B 2 s &
= T €E @
IS ° . B2 s 3 2
g T _ 23 = ER £ =2 e =
5% s 0 E £5 g o =z xB
= o2 g S o8 23 T D 2 S £
5 S S SRQE 52 8% £ ¢gs§
] 8 © oS 83 = g8 22
13 =] g2o< @ < 3 S @ S =
w2 = = 3 _£w
2 8=z SLe73 3% T2z g5 S8
5 585 o058 E§2 055 £¢ 23
B 25 >3 ¢ 332 >2£ 325¢
35 S 53 asE 3 g ass 85 8E
o e »n © < SO0 = ™ < S50 v w =

Page 171




2.1 abed

Concrete ridge ile.
Colour to match main
roof.

=
{~
{~

Single concrete pantile.
Colour to be agreed with
Local Authority

UPVC fascia board.
Colour to be agreed

NS 5SS IR TINT0990T

=
{~
A
A~
{~
{ A
A
A~
{~
A
A~
{~
{ A
A
A~
{~
A
A
A~
{ A
A

§9998099009970%
(0980090009
(0980090009
§9990990099
(0980090009
(0980090009

with local Authority.

(9000008000
(9998008090
(9998008090
(900900830809

Q0000 099080009%

3 course i stone
head with keystone feature

UPVC Flush casement windows.
Colour to be agreed with Local
Authority

2 course

§099099T997%
(0980980098009
§9980990099099
(00 T0TT0TTTTT

(098009009909

—

stone cill
Facing brickwork to be agreed
with Local Authority

=1 |

=

FRONT

— Indicative position of PV panels

TR 03 003003 TTITTRTTIe Hﬂmﬂ

§ 0080008000009

§ 9900000000009
§ 00008 000TT00%

BEDROOM. 1.

> KITCHEN

D AC.

. \IZ BATH

BEDROOM. 2.

FLOORPLAN

LOUNGE

BUNGALOW TYPE 'WALTHAM K’
floor area 95.29m?(1025f+t2?)

A~
fAAAA

A AAAA
{AAAAA
A AAAA
A AAAA
A AAAA
A AAAA
A AAAA

RRRE,
RERE
RERR
RRRE,
RERE
R
RERE,
RERE
IR
RERE,
RERR,
IR
RERE,
RERR,
N
RERE,
RERE
IR
RERE,
RERR,
IR
RERE,
RERR,
IR
RERE,
RERR,
IR
RERE,
RERR,
IR

{

IRRRE

CCCCCCCCC (|

L W L W L W W W W

JRRRRRRRRRRRRRRERRS A

{7

JRRRRRRRERRL
JJJ)))

JRRRRA|

(

)
)

Beaver House ans.I.nllc.I.
Northern Road
EASON

Suffolk CO10 6XQ

Sudbury 01787 376241 TE@

BEDROOM. 3.

§99098080%T
§99498089%F
§99498089%F

nssnsssnsssnilz
'
»

§9809009008000%9C

)
S 00 00TTOTTCTTTTTTTTTTITTT )22)@))22))2))2 IRRRN)

JOB TITLE

Land South of Morley Way,
Wimblington,
Cambridgeshire.

NI ) ) ) )) I )II NI IIII NI

e
NSNS N N N N N
r~ I~~~
re~ A~~~ I~~~
NSNS N N N N N
NI SN SN N N
NSNS SN N
NSNS N NN
A~~~k
NSNS

~e i~

NN

N,

DRAWING TITLE

Plot 4 - Planning Drawing

A~AAAAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAAAAAA
I AAAAAAAAAAAAA
I AAAAAAAAAAAAA
A~AeAAAeAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAAAAAA
I AAAAAAAAAAAAA
A~AeAAAeAAAAAAAA
AAAAAAAAAAAAA
I AAAAAAAAAAAAA
I AAAAAAAAAAAAA
A~AeAAAeAAAAAAAA
A A A A A A A A A A A A A

REV | DATE DETAILS BY

ROOF PLAN

SCALES DESIGN BY DATE

1:.100 @ A2

DRAWN BY

LB

DRAWING No. REV

CH23/LBA/630/FP-2-105




B
Y

HHHV
||||||| A
HHHH ]
HHHH n
||II| ]
|I|I| ]
III- ]
Illu L]
I-II ]
|||||| l/
i -
RV -
W §
E
— :
o
Rm
A an
a g
2
.m -
5 )
M) I
Hz
A?_
- N
.%om, sn
2 r—
W S EE
S w =
R o
N o
(O]
mm = 3 >
rR % m W
S = - ™ >
%m wm N =
BWMk ™ m
= —
%m nvu, .M o] o
C .
n m Wm,m m
a d.meJ m :
nm.m
I mmm -m
il S c
W HH_____ - - S )
-||||- TT 1 @
/a) -Hu : n -
L - - I}
—_ : , 2 . : V
T -||||. T _.mm M &
___ |IIII- TT Wu ” M
F‘. ____||||- = ! o)
___||| | M < s
T __||. | M a) a
___ _|. 1 ] H ]
_____ H 1M HHHHll O
_____ | H S
i i Iy HHH-- =
\ . . 0
_____ ___1 ||||| H w
- _____ |||||| i N D_|
__1 ™
____ _____ i H m < L
- Iy & S
___._._.- ........... ; oz o 2
”||||. S A
-||||- = <
-||||. ! = o
T o 1
E -||||. ___ 0 g
-HHHH ||HHHHHH ____ : m B
”||||- = ? o
________ ___
nv -HH H | _______ oc
I -||||. i ________ :
-||||. i _________ 2
il i __________ s
ku L H a
T |H
:
= i
I5
Mm | H
mm |H
mm _n_||
me m T | H ____________
5 wm . .::.1‘3:::.
f,m g
wm WP IIIIIIIIIII
%wm - I ___________
23 ©% . N .w ||||||||| T _________
mwmmm O 0o ___ _______
mmm 3 ¢ m ||||||| ____ _____
mmm E mm _ |||||| _____ ___ ___________
mmg,my mm R ||||| ______ T _________
mmm mm ||||_______ _______
8% mm 3 3 F |||_______ _____
mm 2 M u _____ ___
ume s ___
mmmw
smm 3
£ |
____________
__________
”. ________
z . ______
S _ o
DDn
w
) =
L :
X
5 -~
> e M <
< =
a4 ] -
A ]3 F
W 3
(a4 S | D) W w
(@]
@
r _U D
. 7 x s
g 3 -
X
3
<
M (U]
S
o
: ¢
o
<
(U}
—
M
-
a
m
O
-
w

P

a

ge 17
3




MEETING TRANSCRIPT

F/YR24/1000/F - Land West of 27 Norfolk Street
Accessed from Morley Way, Wimblington, Cambridgeshire

In attendance at meeting on: 28" May 2025

Councillors:
Charlie Marks (Vice-Chairman), lan Benney, Mrs Jan French, Roy Gerstner, Elisabeth
Sennitt Clough, Mark Purser

Officers & Council Staff:
David Rowen, Alan Davies, Tom Donnelly, Stephen Turnbull, Jo Goodrum

Speakers:
Steve Dubois (Local Resident, Objector), Amy Richardson (on behalf of Agent)

Speaker Transcription Para

Chair That proposal has been passed. | will now hand over to Tom Donnelly to 1.
present FYR 24-1000F Agenda Item Number 8.

Tom Thank you, Chairman. So this is a full application seeking the erection of five | 2.

Donnelly dwellings with associated garages and the formation of an attenuation pond.

The location plan and aerial photograph identifies the site as being an area of
green space surrounded by residential dwellings with relatively high density
development present on Morley Way to the north, with much lower
development — density development to the east and west.

On this slide we can see the relationship to the site with the adjacent listed
building which is 31 Norfolk Street, which is highlighted in blue immediately
adjacent to the eastern boundary of the site. The submitted site plan identifies
a linear form of development running from north to south within the site, with
the access road running tight up against the western boundary of the site.

So we've had four sets of elevation plans submitted, which are the four house
types across the five plots. All of the dwellings are single storey in nature and
a palette of materials which match the existing development on Morley Way to
the north. We also have a street scene drawing, viewing the development as
seen from the east of the site. You may just be able to make out the dotted
lines above plot 3 and immediately to the left of plot 2, which identify the rough
outline of the listed building behind the site and an associated outbuilding on
that site also.

So image 1, we have an internal view of the site taken from the north-western
corner looking towards the boundary shared with the adjacent listed building.
Image 2 taken from the same location is a view down the site looking from
north to south. Image 3 has been taken from an area of open space
immediately north of the site which also shows an example of the existing
development on Morley Way and also showing that the site is currently fenced
off from public view and access. And finally, image 4 taken from the driveway
of the listed building 31 Norfolk Street looking towards the application site in
the backdrop there.

In terms of assessment of the application, it's been found to be acceptable in
terms of principle, design and appearance, amenity impact, highway safety

Page 174



and flood risk. However, it is Officers' opinion that the development would
result in less than substantial harm to the adjacent listed buildings, however,
with insufficient benefits arising from the scheme to outweigh the harm
caused. The Council's Conservation Officer has considered the proposal and
has concluded that this harm would arise through the loss of open space
which has historically contributed to the historic setting of the listed building.

As such, it's considered that the proposal is unacceptable in planning terms on
the basis of the impact on the designated heritage asset, and it's accordingly
being recommended for refusal. Thank you.

Chair Thank you, Tom. We have two speakers on this application. Firstly, | would 3.
like to invite Steve Dubois, an objector, to make his presentation to the
Committee. Okay, gentlemen there, you have five minutes to make your
presentation.

Steve Okay. So good afternoon, my name is Steve Dubois. | live at 31 Norfolk Street, | 4.

Dubois the listed building that borders the proposed development. | oppose the

proposal and welcome the Planning Officer's recommendation to refuse.

Now whether or not you agree with the heritage assessment, when it comes to
evaluating the recommendation, we are all bound by the same guiding
principles, that great weight should be given to the asset's conservation, that
the Local Planning Authority shall have special regard to the desirability of
preserving the building and its settings, and whilst those are a matter for the
Committee, the NPPF also states that where a development proposal will lead
to less than substantial harm to the significance of a designated heritage
asset, as is the case with 31 Norfolk Street, this harm should be weighed
against the public benefit of the proposal.

So what are the benefits of the proposal? Can | have the next slide, please?
Increased housing stock, obviously. Opportunity to monetise an under-
developed — or undeveloped, sorry, parcel of land. And out of due diligence, |
would also look to consider the key themes from the 23 letters of support that
were provided and weigh these up against the harm to the listed building and
the loss of green space. Given more time, | would touch on the increased fire
risk — it is a thatched property — the loss of privacy and the lack of community
support, as evidenced by the 78 letters of objection.

Can | have the next slide, please? | appreciate that the FDC are working on a
new plan, but as a designated growth village, Wimblington has reached nearly
three times its target set in 2014. There is no economic merit in building a
further five homes. There is a significant pipeline of activity or building or
developments in Wimblington and the wider March area to keep much of the
local construction industry busy for quite some time. Building what is an area
favoured by older residents, there is no educational merit. The proposed
development would do very little to address the under-subscription of the
Thomas Eaton Local Primary School. It has no social merit, it offers no
affordable housing and potentially compounds already stretched medical
services.

Can | have the next slide, please? I've lived in the village for 25 years. When
we moved in, we could see our house from March Road. The hedges were
much, much lower and looking west, we could see the big skies and fen
sunsets from our patio. That is the traditional context in which 31 Norfolk
Street should be appreciated. Figure 1 not only shows the growth in housing,
but the erosion of green spaces within the heart of the village.

Page 175



Can | have the next slide, please? Figure 2 provides an aerial view of the
proposed site, the circle at 31 Norfolk Street for reference. This is how the plot
stands today, the modern Morley Way development to the west, the green
amenity to the north acting as a buffer between the old and the new, in line
with Wimblington and Stonea Design Guidance and Codes, which stipulates,
and | quote, "New developments in proximity to designated and non-
designated heritage assets must propose green screenings to mitigate any
unpleasant visual impact whilst also preserving key views."

So in light of that statement, now consider the impact of the proposal on 31
Norfolk Street. If | could have the next slide. Now, I'm no CAD technician, but
whilst | made every effort to draw things to scale, my Photoshop skills have
their limitations. So returning to those letters of support, many reference the
scheme as being an extension of Morley Way. There is no disputing that
access is from Morley Way, but viewed from the air, figure 3 clearly shows it to
be a standalone development. It is not a benefit.

Can | have the next slide please? Supporters also place significant weight on
having the same developer as Morley Way. When we talk about a buffer
between old and new, Construct Reasons Ltd were the ones responsible for
the siting of the green amenity, now an asset of community value, between
Morley Way and the heritage part of the village. You can see it in figure 4. Can
I have the next slide or back, please? | think we may have gone ahead. Thank
you. That says figure 4. That same developer is now proposing to develop a
site that is closer to the listed building than the very buffer they created some
20 years earlier. It is simply incongruous and is not a benefit.

Finally, supporters of the scheme also believe that there is a need for more
bungalows in Wimbledon. The proposed development is for five three-
bedroom bungalows. Yet, the Wimblington and Stonea Housing Needs
Assessment of January 23 stated that the village far exceeds the national
average for built bungalows and suggests that the greater proportion of
dwellings are delivered as two-bedroom dwellings with an emphasis on
affordable housing. This is not a benefit.

The Fenland plan calls for a presumption in favour of sustainable
development. It talks of growth that is not for its own sake. The only true
benefit of this proposal is the monetisation of an undeveloped parcel of land
and that is not a public benefit. It is growth for its own sake. To conclude, in
line with NPPF guidelines, there is no clear and convincing justification or
public benefit that outweighs the harm to the setting of the listed building. To
draw any other conclusion would be irrational. Thank you.

Chair Thank you. | would now like to invite Members to put questions to Mr Dubois. 5.
If you would like to ask a question, please can you raise your hand? Starting
with Clir Sennitt Clough.
Clir Sennitt | Thank you Chair. Hello, Chair. I'd just like to — 6.
Clough
F1 Sorry, can you just turn your microphone on? 7.
Clir Sennitt | Hello, start again. The word harm is used quite a lot and everybody has a 8.
Clough different interpretation of what harm means. | wondered if you could just
unpack that term in regard to your own experience of what you think that will
mean in relation to this development next to your property?
Steve Look, I'm not a planning expert and | would defer that question to the planning | 9.

Page 176



Dubois experts, the very same people who have offered or proposed a refusal. But in
this case, it is certainly in my opinion a view that we have got a heritage and a
legacy in terms of that property that stood there for over 200 years in an open
space and then all of a sudden we're now going to enclose that space.
There is a connection, and if you look at some of the other documentation,
there is a connection between that property and the other listed building at
Addison Road and that's the field that separates those two. So there is very
much a connection between that field and the property at 31 Norfolk Street. I'd
invite the planning experts to answer what is a technical question.
Chair Clir Sennitt Clough, | suggest you put your question to Officers in a moment. 10.
Clir Bennie. Sorry.
ClIr Sennitt . 11.
Clough
Chair Yes, certainly, sorry. 12.
Clir Sennitt | | appreciate that there is a technical aspect. | was asking the question from 13.
Clough your own personal experience. That was all. I'm well aware of what harm
means in terms of what the Planning Officer meant. | meant from your own
perspective. Thank you.
Steve Thank you, CliIr Clough. | did say that with greater time, | would touch on other | 14.
Dubois factors. That house has been there for 200 years. It is a listed building. It does
not have the modern amenities in terms of things like soundproofing, there is
no double glazing for example, it is a one and a half elevation building, so
effectively, you know, upstairs is plasterboard and thatch. You can literally
hear everything outside. It is dependent on its isolation for modern living, not —
it is not conducive to being in an environment with a sort of housing density
that you would have as part of a modern development. | think building that
close to it is not conducive to that house.
Clir Sennitt | Just to come back on that. Thank you. I'm glad that | asked again because 15.
Clough that is the sort of information | wanted to hear, as I'm keeping an open mind on
this application. | really wanted to hear from your own perspective, so thank
you.
Chair Clir Benney. 16.
Clir Benney | Good afternoon. You bought this house obviously some time ago. Was the 17.
field whatever part of the land that was associated with that house?
Steve No, certainly not in our lifetime. That was always part of the farm behind it | 18.
Dubois think, and again the Planning Officers may have further information. I think
there is definitely a relationship between that and the house at Addison House
with the other listed property, and there may well have been historically a
connection between those two properties.
Clir Benney | So that the house, was it — | know it could go back far further than you can 19.
remember — was that field ever associated with this house? Has somebody
sold the land off separately to the house? Is it a separate piece of land or...?
Steve It was always a separate piece of land, but obviously whilst ownership was 20.
Dubois different, the location — it has always been in context of that land.
Clir Benney | Okay. Thank you very much. 21.
Chair Thank you. A couple of questions from myself. Could we go back to the slide 22.
where we had the imposed — that one, thank you very much. What distance
from your property, you talk about noise, do you believe they will be built?
Steve | think the plan is marked up. | think the plan is marked up. | think from 23.
Dubois memory —is it 36 meters | think?
Chair 36, yes. Sorry. Okay, yeah, 36. And the second one — and second question, 24,
proximity to the other buildings around you, is that within the same distance?
Steve It's a good question. So clearly the road to the right is Norfolk Street. It 25.

Page 177



Dubois

formerly was the High Street. The nearest building is about 25 meters away
and that's the back of the garage, so it's probably a good 30 meters to Norfolk
Street.

Chair

Thank you. So the new proposed buildings would be 36 meters from the back
of their properties as well.

206.

Steve
Dubois

No, that's incorrect because the thing about 31 Norfolk Street is that it is set
back in its plot, whereas every other house along Norfolk Street is running
adjacent to the street. So the one house that is most affected and nearest to
the development is the listed building, the thatched property at 31 Norfolk
Street.

27.

Chair

Sorry. So just to clarify, you are saying that the existing properties are 25
metres from your property. The new proposed properties would be 36 metres
from — and they are the rear of the properties.

28.

Steve
Dubois

Yeah. So just to clarify, my neighbours to the front of the property, where
incidentally we have secondary double glazing, they are roughly 25 meters
and they are, you know, in line with the road. This development is at the rear
of the house and that would be effectively 36 meters away where we don't
have those kinds of measures.

Might | just add whilst we're on that subject, one of the things about having a
thatched property is that things like Guy Fawkes night are not the greatest
time of year, right? We do have — in our insurance we're not allowed to have
any incineration or burn anything within 100 meters of or on our property
within 100 meters, right? It's a clause within our insurance.

Those back gardens will literally be the other side of the hedge. | cannot stop
people from having barbecues, from setting off fireworks, from incineration,
and potentially | have certainly got two if not three properties that would be
incredibly close to that thatched property.

29.

Chair

If I could come back on that, but you also have, as you've said previously,
within 25 metres existing properties who also could have barbecues, fires or
whatever, so you already have that existing problem. So would you agree?

30.

Steve
Dubois

| would also agree and, look, the owners of the land have had bonfires on that
land in their time. They have set them much further back than this proposed
development, but | can assure you that on one occasion we had to call the fire
— it only takes one occasion, right? If needs be, | can go and find the date for
you, but yeah, it would be incredibly concerning and these are a lot, a lot
closer than some 50 meters away that the owners might have previously had
bonfires on.

31.

Chair

Thank you. Any further questions? Thank you very much.

32.

Steve
Dubois

Thank you.

33.

Chair

I would now like to invite Amy Richardson on behalf of the agent to make her
presentation to the Committee. You also have five minutes.

34.

Amy
Richardson

Thank you, Chairman, Members. We've worked closely with the Planning
Officer, Tom Donnelly, throughout the planning process and dealt with any
issues proactively. As noted in his report, the scheme complies with policy
LP3 of the Local Plan, provides a scheme that is in keeping with the
surrounding pattern of development in Morley Way and Waggoners Way and
does not give rise to any unacceptable amenity impacts in accordance with
policy LP16 and the scheme also accords with policy LP12. The Officer even
refers to the fact that the plot sizes are generous and avoid a cramped form of
development while still making an efficient use of the land.

35.

Page 178



The main issue here is the impact on the listed building at 31 Norfolk Street.
As Members will be aware from the Officer report, the previous scheme for
eight bungalows was withdrawn to try and address the impact of development
on the listed property and the scheme has been reduced to only five
bungalows with frontage development onto a private road. The road will
remain private and not be offered for adoption. All issues around drainage for
the development have been addressed in the planning process and the Lead
Local Flood Authority have no objections to the scheme.

Members should be made aware of the fact that the original listing to 31
Norfolk Street only referred to three windows which face east, that's the front
elevation of the property, towards Norfolk Street and part of the original
rectangular shaped cottage. More recent additions have been added to the
western side of the property together with a detached garage.

There are no first floor windows in the listed building facing towards the
application site and as we've just heard, the nearest bungalows in the
development are over 36 metres away from the listed building. We've added
photographs of the listed building which confirm that there are no windows
facing the development. These are taken from estate agents' particulars, as
the property is currently on the market.

Our Heritage Consultant has tried to address the concerns raised by the
Conservation Officer, noting amongst things that the village of Wimblington
has significantly changed over the last 100 years from a much smaller village
to a growth village and noting there is nothing to suggest that 31 Norfolk Street
has had a direct functional connection with the site such as grazing or
farmland. The site is not known to have ever been grazing land and the asset
is not located within open countryside or on the edge of the village but instead
surrounded by residential development within the heart of the village.

The grounds of the listed building primarily extend to the east towards Norfolk
Street where the majority of the bedroom windows face, suggesting that the
property is clearly orientated towards the east and this has formed its primary
amenity space. It's considered that the Conservation Officer has given undue
weight to the contribution the site makes to the setting of the listed building
and has failed to acknowledge the current setting asset as experienced in,
which is one of residential built form.

The proposed layout was amended to offer a single line of dwellings to the far
west of the site and provide greater distances to the listed building within the
spaces between each dwelling, helping ensuring that the dwellings do not
appear as a solid wall of development and with a variety of roofscapes helping
to break up the massing.

Members should also be aware that the District Council are looking to sell the
open space in Morley Way — sorry, could you just skip to the last one, thank
you — that the applicants provided as part of the original Morley Way
development This will take away the nearby public open space and will no
doubt be subject to residential development, removing current green space.

We would ask Members to look at the benefits of this scheme and what it can
provide and largely the supporting nature of the Planning Officers comments
and go against the Conservation Officer's recommendations. Thank you.

Chair

Thank you. | would now like to invite Members to put questions to Ms

36.

Page 179



Richardson. If you would like to ask a question, please raise your hand. Clir
French.

ClIr French

Thank you, Chair. | noticed Anglia Water, excuse me, Anglia Water do have —
thank you. | notice Anglia Water have concerns. Have you addressed these
concerns?

37.

Amy
Richardson

Yes, there aren't any drainage concerns anymore, it's been dealt with.

38.

Chair

Okay. Thank you very much. | would now like to invite Members to put
questions to Officers. Officers are getting away very lightly then. Okay. Thank
you, everyone.

I would now like to invite Members to debate the item in respect of the material
planning considerations relevant to the application. If you would like to speak,
please raise your hand. Clir Gerstner.

39.

Clir
Gerstner

Thank you. | think it's going to be a difficult one in the respect that we have a
heritage site here. We have a green field site that's nearby. | have
reservations about the impact on noise and amenity in respect for the
questions you brought, Chairman. 25 metres and 36 metres | think was the
quoted distances away. Where do we value our heritage, is the question that
needs to be asked. It looks to be a well thought out, designed development.
Thank you.

40.

Chair

Clir Benney.

41.

Clir Benney

Thank you, Chairman. Yeabh, sitting here listening to the speaker's views, see
what he says, but equally, if this was any other development, the distance
between houses is 21 metres. We've got 36 here. | think the developer has
worked to try and mitigate the harm to the historic building, nor should a
historic building be a block to development. It's a piece of land, it's well within
the build form of Wilmington.

These houses — I've been at Morley Way several times, often with Clir French
when we've done site visits, we've looked at other things down there when
we've been down there to look at stuff. And this piece of land is — and land
usage is what we're looking at here today is. Is this land suitable to build on?

| do take on board the comments about fire risk of a thatched cottage, but
that's a risk you take when you buy a thatched cottage. that could come from
anywhere. That doesn't necessarily mean if it does catch fire that it's going to
come from these five dwellings. There is a everywhere in
everything you buy.

This piece of land from what the speaker was saying has no connection to this
house. And | think this has been well planned out. | think consideration has
certainly been given to keep the distance away from the heritage asset. We
have certainly passed other applications that have been a lot closer to a
heritage asset. There was one in Whittlesea we passed a few years ago and
the Committee at that point decided that we would build closer to that.

So | think that, you know, it's a district wide policy that we've got and we have
passed stuff there before near a heritage asset. | think looking at the size of
green that is left there, | think there is sufficient there to safeguard the heritage
asset and provide the homes that Fenland so much needs.

42.

Chair

Thank you. Clir Sennitt Clough.

43.

ClIr Sennitt
Clough

Thank you, Chair. | agree with the points raised by the two Members so far. It
is a difficult one because | think that the bungalows look of a very nice design.

44,

Page 180



They are some distance away. Somebody mentioned about the 25 meters
versus 36 or whatever it is. | mean, there's a point at which I'm thinking, well,
do we need to add more properties to surround this historic building though? |
keep coming back to LP18.

I'm obviously still deciding myself, but it is a difficult one, weighing up the value
of this thatched building with the need for bungalows. And obviously, as was
stated, Wilmington is a growth village, but its growth has been reached. So I'm
very much sort of undecided at the moment.

Chair

Thank you. Clir Gerstner.

45.

Clir
Gerstner

Just one more time. There seems to be a good break between the
development and the listed building. It doesn't seem to me to be
overdeveloped at all. You know, they look to be, I'd say, good form, good
planned buildings. | think there's a need for that type of development — type of
building and it looks to be quite desirable. | think the distance is acceptable,
you know. Whether that field was part of the heritage of that building, we don't
know and it really doesn't make much difference at this moment in time. But |
think there's still a good break there between that development and the listed
building.

46.

Chair

Thank you. Clir Purser.

47.

ClIr Purser

Thank you, Mr Chairman. Yeah, | had to wander down there and had a look
around the site and what have you, and while | understand there's a need for
the development, there's a need for the bungalows and it's all well planned out
there, there is another side of it from my perspective on that, which we actually
had a look at another site some time ago, and the fact that a lot of the people
who actually live there already are actually quite older people, retired people
and what have you.

And the heavy traffic going through there to actually develop the site could
have a detrimental effect to their own properties that are down there. And |
think there's a — I'm let's believe there's a possibility of a flooding issue there,
but I'm concerned for those people who actually live down there with the
disturbance and they actually have their own living down there at the moment.
Thank you.

48.

Chair

Thank you. Clir French followed by Clir Benny.

49.

ClIr French

Thank you, Chairman. | listened to what Clir Purser has said. What you've just
stated really isn't a planning merit. The question I'd like to answer has — as
Elizabeth pointed out, policy LP18, were English Heritage involved in any
discussions?

50.

Chair

| believe that would be a question to Officers. Would you like me to ask
Officers now? Are you happy to...?

51.

David
Rowen

Yeah, through you, Chairman, so English Heritage or Historic England are
only consulted on certain applications, so development within the setting of a
Grade I listed building would not be an application that would be consulted
upon.

52.

ClIr French

Thank you.

53.

Chair

Clir Benney.

54.

Clir Benney

Yeah, thank you, Chairman. | think this could be a lot worse. We turn this
down today and you could get this come back with it full of houses. | think this
is truly is a compromise and compromise is where we try and be, and
compromises never seem to please anybody. But we have got a good fire
break there and we have got a good break for sound. | mean, if this was any
other development, it would be 21 meters and you wouldn't be able to build
between — closer than that. And if this gets refused, this could come back with

55.

Page 181



more and even closer ties to it. | think this is a — this is the compromise.

I understand what the applicant says, but nobody ever wants anything built
near them, do they? And, you know, you can always come up with a thousand
reasons why you shouldn't. But in truth, looking at this, | think, you know, look
at the bungalows. They are bungalows and you never see them
empty. As soon as they're built, they sell. and that proves a need for it. And
you know, | personally think this is an application worthy of support.

Chair

Thank you. | quite agree. | mean | look at it and think to myself, like | do with
most applications, would | want to live there? And actually, yes, in both
properties. | don't think, you know, with the bungalows built, you're going to
have any overlooking problems. It's not as though we're putting up five
bedroom houses or anything. Noise wise, the likelihood is if they're going to be
bungalows, they're going to be older people anyway.

The likelihood of them having fires and bonfires and fireworks and stuff |
guess is fairly negligible, but you know, there is always that risk, but in saying
that, there's the same risk around all the other properties as well. At the
moment, from what | can see, I'm still not 100% mind made up, but at the
moment | am leaning more to pass this application. Any further debate? Clir
Sennitt Clough.

56.

ClIr Sennitt
Clough

Thank you, Chair. | just wanted to say that there was a comment made about
if we refuse and the future of the site and da-da-da-da, | think we just have to
stick to the application that's in front of us today. | still haven't made my mind
up, but | think, you know, we just need to focus on what we think of this
application rather than think about what would happen down the road.

57.

Chair

Thank you. Any further comments for debate? No? Okay. Thank you,
Members. Does any Officer have any points of clarification?

58.

David
Rowen

Yeah. Thank you, Chair. So | think just to pick up on a few of the issues that
Members have raised, so in terms of the separation distances, | think some of
the distances that have been referenced are sort of amenity standards, so in
terms of distances between properties, in terms of overlooking, etc.

We're not looking at amenity here, we're looking at the setting of the listed
building. Within the report there is the definition of setting that's given by
Historic England and that setting varies from listed building to listed building.
So in some instances, you will potentially have new build very close to a listed
building because that reflects the historic pattern of development, etc.

Here, it's considered that the setting is the open space around that building
and that encroaching into that open space is what's detrimentally impacting
upon that setting. Whether that land has been in the ownership of the building,
the listed building historically, is not particularly relevant. Land that is not — that
is in separate ownerships, multiple separate ownerships, can still form part of
the setting of a listed building. So that is the pertinent issue.

If Members are minded to grant the application, | would remind the Committee
of the legal duty, again set out in the Officer report, within the 1990 Listed
Building Act, that essentially Local Planning Authorities when considering
development should pay special attention to preserving a listed building or its
setting. So the lawful duty on the Council is to give great weight to preserving
the setting of a listed building.

If Members are minded to grant the application, however, within that context |

59.

Page 182



would perhaps advise that any reason for doing that needs to be sort of clearly
articulated and clearly set out in respect of the public interest sort of benefit or
balance that's set out within the NPPF, so there's a sort of clear decision
making trail almost that you have to go through to ensure that it's a robust and
unchallengeable decision. I'm not sure whether there's anything that the Legal
Officer would want to add to that in terms of the duty in law.

Stephen
Turnbull

Thank you. Through you, Chair, yes, what David just said is correct, that there
is a legal duty to pay special — that's the word they use — special attention,
special regard to preserving the setting of a listed building. So if Members
decide that this proposal can proceed notwithstanding some degree of harm to
that setting, then they must explain whether they think that level of harm is low
enough to justify the proposal or whether there's a countervailing public benefit
to overcome the harm that's involved.

And just to repeat a point that was raised earlier, that setting is not the same
as ownership, so the two are completely separate concepts. So the setting of
a building transcends its ownership and ownership is irrelevant. So the fact
that this field is not owned by the same people as the listed building has
nothing — no relevance at all to the test that should be applied. Thank you.

60.

Chair

Any further questions to Officers? Or to Stephen? No? Okay. Do | have a
proposal to go with the Officers' recommendation to refuse planning
permission? Clir Sennitt Clough. Do | have a seconder for this
recommendation? No? Okay. Do we still need to go to the vote on this, as we
haven't got a seconder? We can't. Right. Okay, fine. So that proposal has now
failed. So do we have a proposal to go against Officers' recommendation?
Please raise your hand. Clir Benney.

61.

Clir Benney

Yeah, Chairman. | propose that we go against Officers' recommendation on
this one and approve the application. | don't think it does any serious
detrimental harm to the setting of the listed building. There is still sufficient
space around it not to harm it. It's a very subjective answer, as David has
already pointed out, there's no set distances for this. If there were, it would be
very clear cut. It depends on each building individually.

And we need houses in Fenland. As Councillors, we know what this is costing
in terms of emergency accommodation because we have not got enough
houses in this district. We've got people living in bed and breakfasts and they
won't move into those houses, but somebody will move out of a small house to
move into a bigger house and that will create homes because we are
desperate. We are so, so desperate. | know that houses are being built here,
but we as a Council have a legal responsibility to provide homes for people,
and truthfully, we are struggling as a Council to do this.

So if there is public need, go and ask anybody who lives in bed and breakfasts
and ask them if there's a need for housing. | feel there is. | feel that the
distances between this and the listed building are sufficient that it won't cause
harm in terms of noise, no more than the other residents that live near that
property. In terms of construction traffic, not a material planning consideration.
We pass stuff every day with it. There's building materials go past people's
houses, that's not a consideration.

And | just feel that, you know, in terms of land usage, this is what this piece of
land is for. It's never going to be agricultural, it will be built on at some point,
and this scheme does provide a buffer zone between here and that house. So
I'm quite comfortable with approving this application, Mr Chairman.

62.

Page 183



Chair Thank you, Clir Benney. Could we just be very clear on the planning reasons, | 63.
obviously having heard what the Legal Officer has said, as to why we believe
we should go against this?
Clir Benney | | think I've already done that, Mr Chairman. 64.
Stephen Well, I've heard what was said, yeah, | think to characterise what Clir Benney | 65.
Turnbull said, your view is there's no harm to the setting or if there is some harm, that's
counterbalanced by public benéefits.
Clir Benney | Whenever you build something, it changes the character of the area. Whether | 66.
that is harm, or whether that is benefit is in the eye of the beholder. And
truthfully, this to me does not do sufficient harm to warrant a refusal on this
application.
David Through you, Chairman, that's the reason that Clir Benney's given, so | think 67.
Rowen that's the one on which the Committee need to vote.
Chair Thank you. As the proposal is to go against Officers' recommendation and you | 68.
have provided planning reasons for the proposal, do | have a seconder? Clir
Gerstner. We will now go to the vote. If you support the new proposal, please
raise your hand.
F1 That's five votes, Chairman. 69.
Chair If you're against the new proposal, please raise your hand. 70.
F1 One vote, Chairman. 71.
Chair Conditions to Officers, yeah, not too onerous. Do you want to see — ClIr 72.
Benney, do you want to see the conditions? No? Okay. Okay. The Committee
has decided to go against Officers' recommendation and grant planning.

Page 184



Document is Restricted

Page 191



This page is intentionally left blank



November 2024

Heritage Statement

Morley Way, Wimblington

B




z0g abed

Project number: 24.121

Version Prepared by Checked and issued

1 Emma Healey IHBC, AssocRTPI Jenni Mason, IHBC, November 2024

2 Emma Healey IHBC, AssocRTPI Jenni Mason, IHBC, November 2024
COPYRIGHT

The contents of this document must not be copied or reproduced in whole or in part without the written consent of JB Heritage Consulting Limited.

JB Heritage Consulting Limited. Registered in England and Wales. Registered number: 13063265. Registered office: BCS, Windsor House, Station Court, Great Shelford, Cambridge, CB22 5NE.



£0¢ abed

CONTENTS

1.0 Introduction

2.0 Site Context

3.0 Legislation, Policies and Guidance
4.0 Statement of Significance

50 Heritage Impact Assessment

6.0 Conclusions

November 2024




0z abed

Heritage Statement

1.0

11

1.2.

13.

1.4.

Introduction

This Heritage Statement has been prepared
on behalf of the Applicant to accompany
the submission of a planning application for
the erection of five homes, with access from
Morley Way, landscaping and associated
infrastructure. The site is located to the south
of Morley Way, Wimblington, March.

The Site is adjacent to Grade Il listed 31, Norfolk
Street.

The purpose of this Heritage Statement is to
describe the heritage significance of those
assets potentially affected by the proposed
development and assess the heritage impact.
It has been informed by desk-top research and
a site visit made on 2nd October 2024.

The scope of this report deals only with the
above-ground heritage constraints.



G0z abed

2.0

Site Context

Heritage designations

2.

2.2.

2.3.

Heritage assets are defined in Annex 2 of the
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)
(2023) as:

A building, monument, site, place, area or
landscape identified as having a degree
of significance meriting consideration in
planning decision, because of its heritage
interest. It includes designated heritage assets
and assets identified by the local planning
authority (including local listing).

The Site is located adjacent to several
designated heritage assets. A site visit and
initial background research has confirmed
that very few of these assets would have the
potential to be impacted by the proposals by
virtue of the separation distance, intervening
built form, landscape and vegetation features
and the nature of these assets. As such only
Grade |l listed 31 Norfolk Street (NHLE 1126585)
will be taken forward for assessment.

The restricted scope of designated heritage
assets considered to be potentially affected
is supported by the Conservation Officer’s
comments on the previous withdrawn
application on the Site (ref.: F/YR24/0051/F).

Non-designated heritage designations

2.4.

Fenland District Council does not yet have an
adopted Local Heritage List of non-designated
heritage assets. There are currently no
buildings or structures nominated within the
village for the Cambridgeshire's Local Heritage

November 2024

L 4
»

ol

31 Norfolk Street

The Site ¥
(|
]

by

]

[}
[}
’

- L

= 6and 8 Narfiwlk
Street %

Addison House

Fig. 1. Heritage asset plan. Listed buildings marked in blue, and the Site outlined in white.
©Google 2024 ©Getmapping plc, Infoterra Ltd & Bluesky Maxar Technologies, The Geolnformation Group

2.5.

List. There were also none identified through identified in the previous application.
the previous application (ref.: F/YR24/0051/F).

An online search of the Cambridgeshire
Historic Environment Record via Heritage
Gateway did not identify any assets that
would have the potential to be impacted by
the development proposals. None have been

5



90¢ abed

Heritage Statement

3.0

3.

Legislation, Policies and Guidance

This section sets out a summary of the core
heritage decision-making framework. It is not
intended to be exhaustive.

Legislation

3.2.

3.3

3.4,

3.5

The Planning (Listed Buildings and
Conservation Areas) Act 1990 establishes
powers to designate listed buildings and
conservation areas together with a statutory
duty to consider the impacts of proposed
developmentin the determination of planning
applications.

Section 1 makes provision for the Secretary of
State to compile lists of buildings of special
architectural or historic interest. Section 5
defines a ‘listed building’ to include any object
or structure fixed to the building, and any
object or structure within the curtilage of the
building which forms part of the land and has
done so since before Ist July 1948.

Section 16 requires local planning authorities
to have special regard to the desirability of
preserving the building or its setting or any
features of special architectural or historic
interest which it possesses when considering
whether to grant applications for listed
building consent.

Section 66 establishes a duty with respect to
the determination of planning applications.
In considering whether to grant planning
permission which affects a listed building or
its setting, local planning authorities shall have
special regard to the desirability of preserving

3.6.

3.7.

3.8.

the building or its setting or any features of
special architectural or historic interest which
it possesses.

Section 69 of the Act establishes powers for
local planning authorities to designate areas
of special architectural or historic interest the
character or appearance of which it is desirable
to preserve or enhance as conservation areas.

Section 72 establishes a general duty in the
exercise of planning functions with respect
to any buildings or other land within a
conservation area to pay special attention to
the desirability of preserving or enhancing the
character or appearance of that area.

Scheduled Monuments are  statutorily
protected through the Ancient Monument
and Archaeological Act 1979. The setting of
Scheduled Monuments are protected through
local and national planning policy.

Local Plan

39.

3.10.

The Council will protect,
seek opportunities to enhance the historic
environment throughout Fenland. This will be
achieved through

The Development Plan comprises the Fenland
Local Plan (2014), Cambridgeshire and
Peterborough Minerals and Waste Plan (2021)
and ‘made’ Neighbourhood Plans.

The principal historic environment policy is
LP18 The Historic Environment of the Fenland
Local Plan (2014), which reads as follows:

conserve and

the consideration of applications for
6

planning permission and listed building
consent;

the use of planning obligations to secure
the enhancement of the significance of any
heritage asset,

where development might impact on that
significance (including impact on setting);

keeping up-to-date and implementing
conservation area appraisals and
management plans, and

using such up to date information in the
determination of planning applications;

making use of Article 4 Directions, where
appropriate, to prevent unsympathetic
alterations to buildings in conservation
areas;

the preparation and maintenance of a list of
buildings and other heritage assets of local
importance;

steps to reduce the number of heritage
assets in Fenland on English Heritage's
Heritage at Risk Register; and

the use of grant schemes, as resources
permit, to safeguard heritage assets at risk
and encourage sympathetic maintenance
and restoration of listed buildings and
historic shop fronts.

All development proposals that would affect any
designated or undesignated heritage asset will



10z abed

be required to:

(a) describe and assess the significance of
the asset andfor its setting to determine
its architectural, historic or archaeological
interest; and

(b) identify the impact of the proposed works
on the special character of the asset; and

(c) provide a clear justification for the works,
especially if these would harm the asset or
its setting, so that the harm can be weighed
against public benefits.

The level of detail required should be
proportionate to the asset's importance and
sufficient to understand the potential impact of
the proposal on its significance and/or setting.

All development proposals that would affect a
heritage asset will be determined in accordance
with local policy in this Plan and national policy
in the National Planning Policy Framework.
Where permission is granted, a programme
of work and/or the implementation of any
necessary mitigation measures may be secured
by condition or as part of a planning obligation
in order to minimise any adverse impact.

National Planning Policy

KRIR

312.

National planning policy is established in the
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)
(2023). Chapter 16 (paragraphs 195-214) sets
out policy guidance for development affecting
the historic environment.

Paragraph 195 recognises that heritage assets

3.13.

314.

3.15.

are an irreplaceable resource and should be
conserved in a manner that is appropriate
to their significance such that they can be
enjoyed by existing and future generations.

Paragraph 200 requires applicants to describe
the heritage significance of any heritage
assets affected by a proposed development,
including the contribution made by their
setting. This should be proportionate to the
assets’ importance, and no more than is
required to understand the potential nature of
the impact on that significance. Paragraph 196
requireslocal planning authoritiestoassessthe
significance of any heritage assets potentially
affected to avoid or minimise conflict between
the heritage asset's conservation and any
aspect of the proposed development.

Paragraph 203 states that in determining
planning applications, local planning
authorities should take account of: the
desirability of sustaining and enhancing the
significance of heritage assets and putting
them to viable uses consistent with their
conservation; the positive contribution
that conservation of heritage assets can
make to sustainable communities; and the
desirability of new development making a
positive contribution to local character and
distinctiveness.

Paragraphs 205 onwards provide guidance for
considering the potential impacts. Paragraph
199 states that when considering the impact of
a proposal on the significance of a designated
heritage asset, great weight should be given
to the asset’s conservation. This should be
proportionate to its significance, the more
important the asset, the greater the weight
7

3le.

307.

3.18.

3.19.

November 2024

should be. This is irrespective of whether the
harm is substantial, total loss, or less than
substantial.

Paragraph 206 goes on to state that any
harm to, or loss of, the significance of a
designated heritage asset, including through
development within its setting, should require
clear and convincing justification.

Paragraphs 206 and 207 deal with instances
of substantial harm to a designated heritage
asset. Development causing substantial
harm should be refused unless it can be
demonstrated that the substantial harm or
total loss is necessary to achieve substantial
public benefits that outweigh the harm or
loss, or other criteria are met. Paragraph 208
guides that where a development would lead
to less than substantial harm to a designated
heritage asset, the harm should be weighed
against the public benefits of the proposal,
including where appropriate, securing its
optimum viable use.

Paragraph 209 deals with non-designated
heritage assets. It guides that the effect
on the significance of a non-designated
heritage asst should be taken in to account. A
balanced judgement will be required having
regard to the scale of any harm or loss and the
significance of the heritage asset.

Paragraph 212 encourages local planning
authorities to look for opportunities for new
development within conservation areas and
the setting of heritage assets to enhance
or better reveal their significance. Those
proposals that preserve elements of the
setting that make a positive contribution to



80¢ abed

Heritage Statement

the asset should be treated favourably.

Guidance and Best Practice

3.20.

3.21.

3.22.

3.23.

Interpretation of the NPPF is provided by the
Planning Practice Guidance (PPG). This is a
digital guidance note divided into a series of
chapters which is subject to regular review;
the historic environment chapter was last
updated in July 2019.

The historic environment chapter guides that
understanding the significance of a heritage
asset and its setting from an early stage in
the design process can help to inform the
development of proposals which avoid or
minimise harm (paragraph 8). Paragraph 13
provides further guidance on setting, making
clear that setting is not only related to visual
attributes but other environmental factors
such as noise, dust, smell and vibration as well
as the relationship between places.

Paragraph 15 recognises that sustaining
heritage assets in private hands often requires
an incentive for their active conservation. It
goes on to note that putting heritage assets
to a viable use is likely to lead to investment
in their maintenance and thereby support
their long-term conservation. It goes on
to state that harmful development may
sometimes be justified in the interests of
realising the optimum viable use of an asset,
notwithstanding the loss of significance
caused, and provided the harm is minimised.

Paragraph 18 provides guidance on assessing
harm. It is clear that proposed development
may have no impact or may enhance an asset’s
significance such that no harm is caused.

3.24.

Where development would be harmful to a
designated heritage asset, this needs to be
categorised as either ‘less than substantial’
or ‘substantial’ harm. The level of harm can
vary within these two categories. It goes to
elaborate that substantial harm is a ‘high test’
and therefore is unlikely to arise in many cases.
This harm may arise from works to the asset or
from development within its setting.

Historic England has produced a series of
best practice guidance notes to assist in the
identification of assets, assessing significance
and managing change. Those of particular
relevance include:
Conservation Principles, Policies
and Guidance for the Sustainable
Management of the Historic Environment
(2008)
Managing Significance in Decision-Taking
in the Historic Environment: Historic
Environment Good Practice Advice in
Planning: 2 (2015)
The Setting of Heritage Assets: Historic
Environment Good Practice Advice in
Planning Note 3 (Second Edition) (2017)
Statements of Significance: Analysing
Significance in Heritage Assets Historic
England Advice Note 12 (2019)



60¢ abed

4.0 Brief History and Statement of Significance

Brief history of the Site and surrounding area

4. The Site is located within the village of
Wimblington to the south of Morley Way.
The village historically formed a hamlet of
the larger parish of Doddington. It became
a separate parish in 1874 with a new church
opening the same year.

4.2, TheTithe Mapdating to1840 depictsthevillage,
and shows that the Site appears to partially fall
across two land parcels labelled 506 and 511.
506 is shown partially divided by a dotted line
from the property to the north of it, this is 31
Norfolk Street. It is labelled as a “Close” in the
apportionment. Land parcel 511 is labelled as
a “Millfield” within the apportionment. Both
areas are noted in the apportionment as being
owned by John Horsey Waddington Esquire
and occupied by John Eaton who also both
own and occupy plot 507 which is a “Close”
attached to 31 Norfolk Street.

4.3. The surrounding village is shown with built
form constructed in a linear pattern along
the main roads of the village that stem from
the “Turnpike Road”. The wider area is shown
divided into parcels of land.

4.4, The Ordnance Survey (OS) map dated 1887

depicts the Site as part of an open area of an

‘L' shaped field on the edge of the main village

development. Plots 511 and 506 from the Tithe

Map appear as one.

4.5. The map shows an increase of built form
throughout the village, focussed on the High
Street, Fullers Lane and Addison Road.

Fig. 2 Tithe Map, published 1840. Site outlined in blue. Ac-
cessed via The Genealogist, 23.10.24.

\ = "ﬁﬁ =3 (]
| Methoddint € )
1 Wea g Wliﬁ
429 @ \
1884
aa e e
= i <

—— L X
Fig. 3 Ordnance Survey Map, surveyed 1886 and published
1887, accessed via National Library of Scotland, 23.10.24. Site
outlined in blue.

4.6. There s little change to the Site or surrounding
areainthe 1902 OS Map. The OS Map published
in 1926 highlights the continued development

9

November 2024

of the surrounding area. A row of terraced
housing is shown immediately south of 31
Norfolk Street, occupying part of its former
plot (as depicted on earlier maps). The plot
of 31 Norfolk Street is features a small area
to the rear and immediately north and east
of the property Its primary amenity spaces
has historically been focussed to the east.
The map also captures the continued linear
development within the core of the village and
also to the west along March Road.

Wimbli

Fig. 4 Ordnance Survey Map, surveyed 1925 and published
1926, accessed via National Library of Scotland, 23.10.24. Site
outlined in blue.

© Crown copyright and database rights 2024 Ordnance Survey ACO0008

4.7. The OS Map published in 1952 shows the
character of the Site unchanged, appearing as
part of an enclosed field. The map also depicts
the continued development of the Vvillage,
built form is now more frequent along March
Road to the west of the Site and King Street to
the north-east.



0Tz 9abed

Heritage Statement

Fig. 5 Ordnance Survey Map, surveyed 1950 and published
1952, accessed via National Library of Scotland, 23.10.24.

PR

Fig. 6 Historic England Aerial View, RAF/543/2409, flown 16
September 1963, accessed via Historic England, 23.10.24.

4.9.

An aerial view was taken of the Site in 1963,
shows the amalgamation of the Site with a
parcel of land to the north and north-west and
the loss of historic field boundaries with the
amalgamation of smaller fields. The start of the
Eaton Estate residential development can be
seen to the north-east of the Site, highlighting
the gradual expansion of the village.

The OS Map published in 1983 depicts the Site
as part of an upside down ‘L' shape, combined
with the parcel to the north-west. To the south
of the Site are a series of buildings which are
thought to be part of a yard of agricultural
buildings. The map depicts the increased
developmentaround Eaton Estatetothe north-
east and more centrally within the village,

Fig. 7 Ordnance Survey Map, published 1983, accessed via
Promap, 23.10.24.

10

4.10.

east of Norfolk Street. This new development
comprises a mix of built form, however much
of this is single storey bungalows. The map
also depicts industrial development to the
south-west of the Site, west of March Road.

An aerial view of the Site taken in 1999
continues to depict the Site as part of the
‘L' shaped field. It is shown predominantly
grassed, to the south, where there is access
from Addison Road, is a yard with agricultural
/storage buildings.

Fig. 8 Aerial Image of the Site, taken in 1999, accessed via
Google Earth, 23.10.24. Site outlined in blue.

4.1

An aerial view from 2003 depicts the division
of the Site from the parcel to the north-
west which has been developed. The Site is
shown as a cleared yard area with very little
greenery. The building from the previous
view still appears on the map to the south
of the Site. The image also depicts extensive
change to the north of the Site through the
development of bungalows on Morley Way.



TTZ abed

Fig. 9 Aerial Image of the Site, taken in 2003, accessed via
Google Earth, 23.10.24. Site outlined in blue.

4.12.

4.13.

4.14.

The area immediately to the north of the Site is
shown with built form, perhaps relating to the
construction of the Morley Way development.

The 2007 aerial view depicts the completion of
the Morley Way site which provides access to
the Site from the north. The Site itself is shown
as a grassed area of land associated with
the buildings to the south, forming a yard.
The Site is shown surrounded by residential
development.

The aerial views of the Site depict the built
form to the south of the Site until 2021 when
some of the buildings closer to the Site were
demolished. In these images, whilst grassed,
the Site appears as part of the yard.

Today, the Site comprises a small enclosed
parcel of grassed land surrounded by
residential development.

4.15.
Fig. 10 Aerial Image of the Site, taken in 2007, accessed via 416
Google Earth, 23.10.24. Site outlined in blue. o
4.17.

Fig. 11 Aerial Image of the Site, taken in 2024, accessed via
Google Earth, 23.10.24. Site outlined in blue.

M

November 2024

Statement of significance

Introduction

Determining significance is a professional
judgement taking into account the
designation status, desk-top research and
fieldwork. The assessment should seek to
understand the nature, extent and level of
significance, and should be proportionate
to the relative importance of the asset
(Historic England, ‘Managing Significance in
Decision-Taking in the Historic Environment:
Historic Environment Good Practice Advice in
Planning: 2' [2015] p. 2.)

Annex 2 of the NPPF defines significance
as ‘the value of a heritage asset to this and
future generations because of its heritage
interest’. This interest may be archaeological,
architectural, artistic or historic. An
understanding of significance must therefore
derive from the heritage interest/s of the
heritage asset.

The ‘Historic environment’ chapter of the PPG
provides a definition for these interests as
follows (Paragraph: 006):

archaeological interest: As defined in the
Glossary to the National Planning Policy
Framework, there will be archaeological
interest in a heritage asset if it holds, or
potentially holds, evidence of past human
activity worthy of expert investigation at
some point.

architectural and artistic interest: These
are interests in the design and general
aesthetics of a place. They can arise from



212z abed

Heritage Statement

4.18.

conscious design or fortuitously from
the way the heritage asset has evolved.
More specifically, architectural interest
is an interest in the art or science of the
design, construction, craftsmanship and
decoration of buildings and structures of
all types. Artistic interest is an interest in
other human creative skill, like sculpture.
historic interest: An interest in past lives
and events (including pre-historic).
Heritage assets can illustrate or be
associated with them. Heritage assets
with historic interest not only provide a
material record of our nation’s history,
but can also provide meaning for
communities derived from their collective
experience of a place and can symbolise
wider values such as faith and cultural
identity.

Significance derives not only from the heritage
interests of the asset itself, but also from the
contribution made by its setting. The setting
of a heritage asset is defined in Annex 2 of the
NPPF as:

The surroundings in which a heritage asset is
experienced. Its extent is not fixed and may
change as the asset and its surroundings
evolve. Elements of a setting may make
a positive or negative contribution to the
significance of an asset, may affect the ability
to appreciate that significance or may be
neutral.

31 Norfolk Street

4.19.

The asset was first listed at Grade Il in February
1985. It was built in the late 18th/ early 19th

4.20.

4.21.

Setting

4.22.

4.23.

century, constructed in red and gault brick
with a long straw thatched roof. The building
is of a single storey with an attic and features
end stacks. It is an ‘L' shaped building and
the cartographic evidence suggests it was
originally a rectangular form parallel to the
road and then later extended in the early 20th
century with a rear wing. The planning history
also indicates a two storey extension was
approved in 1988 (ref.: F/1320/87/LB).

There are simplistic vernacular features
including the glazed front door, three-light
windowsinsegmentalbrickarchesand dormer
windows with leaded lights. Architecturally,
the building is distinctly vernacular,employing
typical and local materials and techniques
of the period in its design, and as such it has
moderate architectural interest.

There are also moderate levels of historic
interest in the asset as one of the earlier
surviving houses within the village which can
help us to understand its historic development
and common construction techniques from
the time.

The asset is located on the west side of Norfolk
Street, set towards the rear of a large plot. The
original range of the building is parallel to
the road with the extension perpendicular to
the main range extending towards the rear.
Adjacent to the house is a double garage
constructed in the late 20th century. The house
and garage are immediately surrounded by a
gravelled area to provide parking and access,
the gravelled drive extends to the road.

To the rear is a small garden, contained by a

12

4.24.

Fig. 12 31 Norfolk Street viewed from the Site, taken 02.10.24.

fence and large hedge. To the front, there
is a larger private garden extending to the
public highway and surrounded by a tall
hedge. These features to both the front and
rear of the property help to create a distinctly
domestic and enclosed character to the
private residence. Given the position of the
house and intervening vegetation, there are
limited views of the house from Norfolk Street,
further enforcing this private character.

Beyond its private curtilage, the asset has
a residential setting, defined by its location
in the centre of the village, surrounded by a
range of built form varying in date and style.
The cartographic evidence has shown how the
setting of the asset has changed significantly
over time through the continued expansion of
Wimblington and infilling of development, on
all sides of the asset. It also demonstrated the
changestoownership and plot size of the asset
over time which whilst still large today, has
considerably decreased from its 19th century
form. Whilst the asset once experienced a

i

i !



€1z abed

ot + L

Fig. 13 31 Norfolk Street viewed from the Norfolk Street into
the plot, taken 02.10.24.

4.25.

4.26.

more open agricultural character to the west
this has since changed through the 20th
century.

The Site is located to the west of the asset.
It is a small parcel of land which is currently
grassed but historically has been used as a
yard through the 20th century, associated
with buildings to the south (Fig. 14). The Site is
divided from the asset by a boarded fence and
tall, well-established hedgerow.

The Site appears to have once formed part
of the land parcel associated with 31 Norfolk
Street, sharing both owner and occupier on
the Tithe Map. However, the cartographic
evidence demonstrates that the majority of
the Site was within land parcel 511 (Millfield) on
the Tithe Map rather than directly associated
to 31 Norfolk Street. As such, the majority of the
plot has always been separate. Furthermore,
there is no evidence within the historic

4.27.

4.28.

4.29.

record to suggest that 31 Norfolk Street had
a direct functional connection with the Site
such as grazing land or farmland. The Site is
described as a “Close” and “Millfield” in the
Tithe apportionment.

As set out within the history of the Site,
the area surrounding 31 Norfolk Street has
changed significantly throughout the second
half of the 20th century through residential
expansion in the area. The outlook of 31 Norfolk
Street to the west would once have been more
open land, including the Site, this is now more
clearly defined by surrounding residential
development. Given the context of the Site
today, it provides a positive contribution to the
asset by virtue of its open character, however,
the ability to understand the asset within an
agricultural, rural context is much changed,
limiting the contribution of the Site.

Given the proximity between the Site and
the asset, there are views between the two.
From the Site, the rear of the asset is partially
visible over the fence and hedge which form
its western boundary, dividing it from the
Site. This view is primarily of the more recent
extension and lesser significant rear elevation.

There are no designed views between the site
and the listed building. The property is clearly
orientated towards the east and this has
historically formed its primary amenity space;
any functional connection with the land to the
west which encompasses the site has been
separate to the domestic usage of the cottage,
as evidenced by the form and orientation of
the property which ‘turns its back’ to the land
to the west.

13

November 2024

i

Fig. 14 The yard character to the south of the Site, taken
02.10.24.

Fig. 15 Taken towards the south of the Site looking north, 31
Norfolk Street visible on the right of the image, taken 02.10.24.



¥T¢ abed

Heritage Statement

4.30.

4.31.

From outside 31 Norfolk Street, standing on
the public footpath, there are no views towards
the Site. From this location, there are also no
views of the Site seen in conjunction with the
asset.

Access was not obtained to 31 Norfolk Street
which is a private property. Given the height of
the fence and hedgerow (which are above 6ft),
it can be assumed that there will be limited
views from the asset looking towards the
Site, limited to those from upper floors. This
accentuates that the property is purposefully
excluding views of the Site and there is no
direct visual relationship between the two,
and never has been.

14



GTz abed

5.0

Heritage Impact Assessment

Planning History

51

The Site has been the subject of a previous
planning application, validated in January
2024 (ref: F/YR24/0051/F) which proposed
to “Erect 8 dwellings (2 x single storey, 2 bed
and 6 x single storey, 3 bed) with associated
garages and the formation of an attenuation
pond”. The application was withdrawn in July
2024.

Fig. 16 Previous Proposed site layout for application F/
YR24/0051/F, produced December 2023. Produced by L Bev-
ens Associates Architects Ltd.

52.

In relation to the scheme, the Conservation
Officer provided the following commentary
(comments dated 20.02.24):

53.

5.4.

55.

“The site forms a paddock/grazing land which
has historically been the edge of settlement/
commencement of the open countryside to
the rear of Norfolk Street and Addison Road. It
therefore reflects and represents a last link to
the agricultural landscape setting of Norfolk
Street and the setting the Listed Building (31
Norfolk Street) enjoys.

Development here would represent a
cumulative detrimental impact to the setting
of the listed building (31 Norfolk Street) the
principal of which is considered harmful.”

The comments acknowledged the 20th
century changes to its setting including the
impact of Morley Way and changes along
Norfolk Street, however concluded that there
was a potential cumulative impact.

The comments suggest there are vantage
points along Norfolk Street in which the
dwellings would be visible. Particular concerns
were raised in relation to the submitted plots 3
and 4 and their visibility from the street. There
were also concerns raised in relation to Plots 1
and 2 and views from Morley Way towards 31
Norfolk Street being obstructed.

The conclusion was as follows:

“Iam of the view that the loss off one of the last
remaining parcels of open land on the edge of
the historic parts of the settlement will have a
considerable impact on the setting of the Gll
listed 31 Norfolk Street. This is an in-principle
objection to the loss of this grazing land.

The developoment results in less than
substantial harm (medium) to the identified

15

5.6.

November 2024

heritage assets, for which national and local
heritage policy and guidance points to a
presumption against Councils supporting
such development, unless there are strong
public benefits which outweigh the harm
identified.

Furthermore, the heritage statement that is a
requirement of both the NPPF and the Local
Plan does not satisfactorily assess the impacts
upon the setting of the Gl listed building that
is approx. 14.3m from the proposed plots 3 and
4 and views from the Morley Way public realm.
The statement concludes ‘that appropriate
measures have been taken with the proposed
site layout to minimise the impact on the
Listed Building’ It is not clear what these
measures are. The statement is therefore fails
to assess the relationship and impacts of this
development on designated heritage assets.”

The proposals were amended following these
comments, however the amendments were
notconsidered to be materialandthe objection
from the conservation officer remained.

Proposed development

5.7.

58.

The proposed scheme has been fully
reconsidered in response to the conservation
officer comments. A key change has been the
reduction of the number of units on the site
to 5 no. dwellings, with access from Morley
Way, including landscaping and associated
infrastructure.

The access road of the development will
continue from Morley Way along the western
boundary of the Site. Five single storey 3 bed



9Tz abed

Heritage Statement

bungalows will be constructed fronting the
road. They will be set back behind a small front
garden with a much larger garden space for
each plot to the rear. Each dwelling will have
either an attached or detached garage.

There will be an attenuation

pond to the

vTUUTUT

[Elxlzrelm

[y N7

RevA

B @D

[

Fig. 17 Proposed site layout for application. Produced by L
Bevens Associates Architects Ltd.

510.

south of the Site and landscaping throughout.
The dwellings will be constructed in brick with
reconstituted stone features. The roof material
will be a mix of concrete pantiles and slates.

A number of amendments have been made
to the proposals to address concerns with the
previous scheme identified in the conservation
officer's comments. These include:
Reduction in number of dwellings from 8
to 5 to form a more traditional layout of
development;
Shifting of built form to the west of
the Site, away from 31 Norfolk Street
alleviating previous concerns about Plots
3and 4;
Removing built form from the north of
the Site to alleviate previous concerns
about Plots1and 2; and
Amendments to the detailing to respond
to the local vernacular.

Heritage Impact assessment

Impact on 31 Norfolk Street

511

512.

As set out in Section 4, whilst the Site'’s existing
open character reflects the more rural aspect
of the property historically to the west, the
asset’'s setting is now predominantly 20th
century residential development.

The comments on the previous application
suggest the Site was historically grazing land
in the setting of 31 Norfolk Street, there is no
known record that confirms this associative
use. In addition, the comments refer to this
parcel of land as a historic edge of settlement.
The cartographic record has demonstrated
that the development along March Road is

16

5.13.

514.

5.15.

visible on the Tithe Map and continues to
increase, with the early/mid 20th century
showing regular development to the west
of the Site. The Site has not formed part of
the edge character of the village for over 100
years and this is therefore not an appreciable
characteristic of the listed building's setting,
and has not been for some considerable time.

Taking into consideration the comments
on the previous application, the positioning
and layout of development has been located
towards the western boundary of the Site. The
proposed dwellings are generously-spaced
within individual plots with large areas to
the rear (east) of the dwellings. This helps to
creates a greater separation between the
built form proposed and 31 Norfolk Street.
The intervening distance will be utilised as
private garden space which will retain an
open element to the character of the Site. The
density of the development is responsive to
its surroundings and incorporates the village
development character.

The scale and height of the proposals
responds to the local character. It is single
storey throughout the Site with small
attached or detached garages associated
with each property. This responds to the
prevailing modest and single storey scale of
the surrounding area and also ensures all the
proposed built form remains subservient to 31
Norfolk Street.

A photo montage visual provided in Figure
18 shows the Site as developed following the
proposed plans. This clearly demonstrates the
set back of development along the western
boundary and separation from 31 Norfolk



Street. It highlights the preservation of the
green character of the Site towards the rear of
the proposed properties in closest proximity to

provision of additional native vegetation
throughout, particularly to the north, south-
east and western boundaries. This reflects the

the asset. green character of the Site and this area of the
village.

5l6. The proposals will be enhanced by the

| gt %

Fig. 18 Photomontage of the proposed development. Produced by L Bevens Associates Architects Ltd.

17

/T2 abed

2 A "-._"'!l- :\ :- o ) pesmraee s o
Fig. 19 Garage of 31 Norfolk Street. The style is replicated in
the garages of the proposed design.

517.

5.18.

November 2024

The materials and design of the proposed
dwellings have been chosen to create variety
within the Site, whilst also drawing inspiration
from the existing built form within the
local area. This references and connects to
the existing village character ensuring the
development works coherently with the
neighbouring Morley Way and also more
widely within the historic settlement.

The design of the dwellings takes a traditional
approach. There are design features such as a
keystone which reference the local character.
The gables of the proposed dwellings respond
to the gabled form of many of the properties
in the surrounding area including 31 Norfolk
Street.



81z abed

Heritage Statement

Fig. 20 House on March Road. The style of stone keystones
and materials are replicated in the proposed dwellings.

5719.

The conservation officer comments from the
previous application raised concerns about
viewpoints towards the Site from Norfolk
Street. Images were included within the
comments however it must be noted these
are not taken from the public highway in
Norfolk Street but rather within the curtilage
of 31 Norfolk Street. The views over the fence
towards the Site have also been taken at an
elevated position. A site visit has confirmed
that there will be limited to no visibility of the
Site from Norfolk Street itself as a result of the
dense vegetation and boundary treatment of

the property. There are currently no publicly
accessible views on Norfolk Street in which the
Site can be currently appreciated alongside
31 Norfolk Street. Therefore, given the limited
height of the proposed dwellings, there will be
limited if any views of the proposed dwellings
from Norfolk Street.

il

Fig. 22 View of the asset from Norfolk Street, taken 02.10.24.

18

5.20.

In addition, the site visit also confirmed the
lack of visibility of 31 Norfolk Street from the
end of Morley Way, another view point referred
to by the conservation officer. In its current
form, there are glimpsed views of 31 Norfolk
Street over the top of the fence and beyond the
mature vegetation. Through the positioning of
built form within the proposals, these views
will be retained.

Fig. 23 View from the green at Morley Way towards the Site
and 31 Norfolk Street (outlined in blue), taken 02.10.24.

5.21.

Irrespective  of views, the proposals will
introduce additional built form within
proximity of the identified heritage asset.
However, the site is currently appreciated in
the context of the surrounding residential
and bungalow development and it is much
changed from its historic more rural character.
The Site provides a limited contribution to how
the asset is experienced. Through the careful
consideration of design, massing, layout,
landscaping and materials, the proposed
development is considered to preserve the
setting of 31 Norfolk Street.



6T¢ abed

6.0

6.1

6.2.

6.3.

6.4.

6.5.

Conclusions

This Heritage Statement has been produced
to accompany the planning application for the
erection of five single storey dwellings with
associated landscaping and infrastructure at
land to the south of Morley Way.

The previous sections of the report have
demonstrated that this scheme will not result
in an adverse impact on the setting of 31
Norfolk Street.

The proposals have taken into consideration
comments made on the previously withdrawn
scheme to ensure the proposed built
form better responds to the setting of the
asset through a more traditional layout of
development, aligned along the western
edge of the site and set away from the listed
building. Key views will be preserved, and the
new homes are appropriate in scale, massing
and design details

The proposals represent an opportunity to
deliver residential development which reflects
the green, rural character of the village in a
sensitive manner. In line with the objectives
of para 203 of the NPPF, the development
has responded to the local character and
distinctiveness of the village.

The proposals are also considered to be in
accordance with LP18 The Historic Environment
of the Fenland Local Plan, in addition to the
policy tests set out in the 1990 Act and Chapter
16 of the NPPF.

19

November 2024




CONSERVATION REFERRAL COMMENTS

Application Ref: F/'YR24/1000/F

Address: Land West Of 27 Norfolk Street Wimblington Cambridgeshire
DC Case Officer: T Donnelly

Conservation Officer: S Falco

Date: 13/02/2025

Proposal:
Erect 5 dwellings with associated garages and the formation of an attenuation pond

Considerations:

1. Consideration is given to the impact of the proposal on the architectural and historic
interests with special regard paid to the desirability of preserving listed buildings and
their setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest which it
possesses according to the duty in law under S16 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and
Conservation Areas) Act 1990.

2. Consideration is given to the impact of the proposal on the architectural and historic
interests of Non-Designated Heritage Assets with special regard paid to the desirability
of preserving the building or its setting or any features of special architectural or historic
interest which it possesses.

3. Due regard is given to relevant planning history.

4. Comments are made with due regard to Section 16 of the National Planning Policy
Framework, 2023, specifically, paragraphs 201, 203, 205, 206, and 208.

Revised Application F/YR24/1000/F:
Erect 5 dwellings with associated garages and the formation of an attenuation pond.

The previous application was withdrawn and has been resubmitted under current planning
ref: F/YR24/1000/F for a reduced number of dwellings of 5 in number rather than 8.

Rather than two lines of dwellings with a roadway through the centre of the site, the
proposal is for a single line of dwellings with the roadway to the far west of the site.

Page 220



The result of this revision is that the site is being less intensively developed with greater
distances between the proposed and the Gll listed cottage known as 27 Norfolk Street.
However, results in the effect of a wall of development in the backdrop of the listed

building, which changes its setting from one of open countryside to that of residential
development.

The historic maps below show the listed building and the open agrarian landscape setting it

has benefitted from and had a very strong relationship with historically. The open setting
allows the building to be appreciated within its historic context.

amge -
.3

]t

"‘

b :
" -

Fig 2;-Early C20 map of area

Page 221



The setting has changed somewhat in the C20 whereby the listed building no longer stands
isolated, with C20 dwellings fronting Norfolk Street now flanking the listed building,
however, 31 Norfolk Street (GlI) still retains a spacious plot and its contextual setting with
Norfolk Street and the open grazing land to the rear (the develoment site).

The modern housing development of Morley Way, has had some impact on the wider
settting and appreciation of both 31 Norfolk Street and Addison House, by changing the
historic morphology of the settlement and how these historic buildings are understood in
thieir context, however, this is more distant than the current proposal where those setting
impacts would be directly behind and therefore magnifying the impact.

Historic England guidance on setting states that you should consider the effect of cumulative
impact on setting: “Cumulative change, where the significance of a heritage asset has been
compromised in the past by unsympathetic development affecting its setting, to accord with
NPPF policies consideration still needs to be given to whether additional change will further
detract from, or can enhance, the significance of the asset. Negative change could include
severing the last link between an asset and its original setting” (p4 of The Setting of Heritage
Assets: Historic Environment Good Practice Advice in Planning Note 3 (Second Edition)).

There has previously been and remains an in-principal objection to the loss of this historic
area of paddock / grazing land to development, which benefits the setting of a number of
nearby heritage assets and the general historic settlement layout and its agrarian land uses.

The opinion that this historically important undeveloped land should not be developed with
piecemeal residential encroachment is consistent with the views of the previous
conservation officer who commented the following on an adjacent application relating to
the redevelopment of the farmyard to the south under app ref:

‘Therefore, when a full planning permission application comes forward the
development should be clearly designed to fall within the existing yard and in such a
way, as to not allow for the possibility of further development (for example, linking
up with Morley Way) as this kind of piecemeal development would affect the ability
to appreciate the significance of the nearby listed buildings’.

It should be noted that there are vantage points from the front of 27 Norfolk Street and
from the rear of the listed building. The proposed dwellings, despite their greater distance
from the listed building would remain visible in the backdrop of these views and intrude on
the appreciation of the listed building which at present is appreciated with no development
in the backdrop, for which is has benefitted from historically. A considerable amount of its
significance is derived from a rural cottage with open land surrounding it. As a result of this
development, that setting and significance will be impacted upon.

Page 222



-k l:'l_:):!:h B gl £ 5 4 w1 T ke e
: : |- —n, *
Fig 3: Yellow arrows denoting views from curtilage of Gll listed Building (31 Norfolk Street) to proposed plots 2, 3 and 4 which
are of comparable height to Listed Building. Red arrows denote current views from the public realm of Morley Way where the

listed building is appreciated from the rear in context with the historic open landscape of the grazing land to the rear.

This gives rise to a strong objection as to the impact the development will have upon the
setting and historical associations of 31 Norfolk Street with the open countryside.

The proposed dwellings are considered to be of comparable height to the existing listed
building and the ground levels of the proposed development site is noticeably higher than
the ground levels of the listed building. As such, the presence of the proposed development
(taking into consideration their respective heights), are considered to unacceptably intrude
on and clutter the surroundings and backdrop of the listed building and impact detrimentally
on its setting and its appreciation in views towards it from various vantage points.

Page 223



Fig 4: Views through to the development site and roposed deIIings in close proximity

Fig 5: Views through to the development site and proposed dwellings in proximity

Fig 6: Views through to the development site and proposed dwellings in close proximity

Page 224



Fig 7: View towards development site within garden of Listed Building. The presence of modern development from the garden
would impact on setting also

Fig 8: View along shared boundary of Listed Building and Proposed Development showing very close proximity

Conclusion:

| am of the view that the loss off one of the last remaining parcels of open land on the edge
of the historic parts of the settlement will have a considerable impact on the setting of the
Gll listed 31 Norfolk Street. This is an in-principle objection to the loss of this grazing land.

Page 225



The setting of the LB is currently that of a building sat within its spacious grounds with a
verdant and spacious field setting in the backdrop, as it has benefitted from historically. The
change to this setting would be considerable and alter the context that the Listed building is
appreciated and understood.

The development results in less than substantial harm (medium) to the identified heritage
assets, for which national and local heritage policy and guidance points to a presumption
against Councils supporting such development, unless there are strong public benefits which
outweigh the harm identified.

RECCOMENDATION: Objection - Refuse

Page 226



March 2025

Heritage Rebuttal

"Erect 5 dwellings with associated garages and the formation
of an attenuation pond" at the Land West of 27 Norfolk
Street, accessed from Morley Way (ref.: F/YR24/1000/F)

.]3




Project Number: 24.121

Version: 1

Date Issued: March 2025

Author: Emmma Healey IHBC AssocRTPI, reviewed by Jenni Mason IHBC

COPYRIGHT

No part of this document may be copied or reproduced without the written consent of IJB Heritage Consulting Limited.

JB Heritage Consulting Limited. Registered in England and Wales. Registered number: 13063265. Registered office: BCS, Windsor
House, Station Court, Great Shelford, Cambridge, CB22 5NE.

Page 228



1.0

11

1.2.

1.3.

1.4.

1.5.

1.6.

2.0

21

2.2.

2.3.

2.4.

March 2025

Introduction

This Heritage Rebuttal has been prepared on behalf of the applicant to support the live application (ref.:
F/YR24/1000/F) relating to the Land West of 27 Norfolk Street, accessed from Morley Way to "Erect 5
dwellings with associated garages and the formation of an attenuation pond".

The Site comprises a small enclosed parcel of grassed land surrounded by residential development. The
only heritage asset deemed to have the potential to be impacted by the proposals is Grade Il listed 31
Norfolk Street (NHLE 1126585). This has been established by the Conservation Officer's comments on

the previous withdrawn application on the Site (ref.: F/YR24/0051/F).

As part of the formal consultation for this application, comments were received by the Conservation
Officer for Fenland District Council who has objected to the proposals stating that: "The development
results in less than substantial harm (medium) to the identified heritage assets, for which national
and local heritage policy and guidance points to a presumption against Councils supporting such
development, unless there are strong public benefits which outweigh the harm identified." The detailed
comments raise concerns in relation to the setting of 31 Norfolk Street, specifically the loss off one of
the last remaining parcels of open land (misunderstood to be grazing land) on the edge of the historic
settlement and the loss of the "verdant and spacious field setting in the backdrop" of 31 Norfolk Street.

This rebuttal has been specifically written in reference to these comments, providing additional
assessment of these issues. It should be read in conjunction with the submitted Heritage Statement
which sets out the baseline and heritage impact assessment in more detail.

Whilst it is recognised that the National Planning Policy Framework has been updated following the
submission of the application, the content within the Chapter 16 relating to heritage has not changed and
therefore the amended numbering has not been repeated here for reasons of brevity.

This note will summarise the heritage baseline before considering the concerns raised by the conservation
officer in turn.

Heritage Baseline

The Heritage Statement set out a statement of significance of 31 Norfolk Street and a detailed history
of the Site including a map regression which will not be repeated fully here but referenced to aid in the
discussion of the conservation officer's comments.

The conservation officer's comments state: "The historic maps below show the listed building and
the open agrarian landscape setting it has benefited from and had a very strong relationship with
historically. The open setting allows the building to be appreciated within its historic context." The
maps reproduced in the Conservation Officer's comments are dated by them to the early 20th century;
the National Library of Scotland confirms they date from 1903 and 1887 respectively.

Whilst it is acknowledged these maps show the listed building within a more open setting, they show
a snapshot in time of a much smaller village that has changed significantly over the last century. This
is partially acknowledged in the comments which state: "The setting has changed somewhat in the
C20 whereby the listed building no longer stands isolated, with C20 dwellings fronting Norfolk Street
now flanking the listed building, however, 31 Norfolk Street (Gll) still retains a spacious plot and its
contextual setting with Norfolk Street and the open grazing land to the rear (the development site)."
There are also continued references throughout the comments to the asset being set within "open
countryside".

As set out within the Heritage Statement, there is no evidence within the historic record to suggest that
31 Norfolk Street had a direct functional connection with the Site such as grazing land or farmland. The
Site is described as a “Close” and “Millfield” in the Tithe apportionment. The aerial views combined with
the map evidence help to showcase the changing setting of 31 Norfolk Street as the village developed
through the 20th century, particularly evident along Norfolk Street and March Road to the rear of 31
Norfolk Street and the Site where a line of development formed. By the early 2000s, the aerial views

3

Page 229



Heritage Rebuttal

depict both the Site and 31 Norfolk Street largely surrounded by residential development. The Site itself
is also shown as a cleared yard with no vegetation in the aerial images. Historically and today, the Site
is not known to have ever been grazing land. The asset is not located within open countryside or on
the edge of the village but surrounded by residential development in the heart of the village. The Tithe
and OS maps clearly show development (albeit limited) along the road to the west, demonstrating that

historically this asset has never been at the edge of the village.

2.5. The conservation officer's commments on the asset being located within a "spacious plot". The map

regression within the Heritage Statement highlighted that the plot of 31 Norfolk Street has historically
only extended very minimally to the rear (west) on the boundary of the site, with a slightly larger extent
to the north, but its grounds primarily extend to the east, towards Norfolk Street. The property is clearly
orientated towards the east and this has historically formed its primary amenity space; any functional
connection with the land to the west which encompasses the site has been separate to the domestic
usage of the cottage, as evidenced by the form and orientation of the property which ‘turns its back’ to
the land to the west.

2.6. The comments state: "..this historic area of paddock / grazing land ... benefits the setting of a number
of nearby heritage assets and the general historic settlement layout and its agrarian land uses." There
is particular mention of Grade Il listed Addison House which is located to the south of the Site. Addison
House has historically been separated by intervening built form, as shown on the historic maps within
the Heritage Statement and indeed the two maps used within the conservation officer's comments.
In addition to this, the consented scheme for eight dwellings (ref.: F/YR21/1055/0) will be constructed
in between this asset and the Site, clearly removing any contribution the site may have possibly made
to the wider setting of Addison House. For these reasons, it is not considered that this parcel of land
contributes to our appreciation and understanding of Addison House.

2.7. It is considered that the conservation officer has given undue weight to the contribution the Site
makes to the setting of 31 Norfolk Street and has failed to acknowledge the current setting the asset is

experienced in is one of residential built form.
3.0 Heritage Impact Assessment and Conclusions
Heritage Impact Assessment

3 The conservation officer's comments acknowledge the amendments made from the previously
submitted scheme: "Rather than two lines of dwellings with a roadway through the centre of the site,
the proposal is for a single line of dwellings with the roadway to the far west of the site. The result of
this revision is that the site is being less intensively developed with greater distances between the
proposed and the Gll listed cottage known as 31 Norfolk Street.” We welcome the recognition of this
change as careful consideration has been given to reduce the number of dwellings within the Site from
the previous scheme. However, the comments go on to state that the proposals: "..results in the effect
of a wall of development in the backdrop of the listed building, which changes its setting from one of
open countryside to that of residential development."”

3.2. We consider that this comment fails to acknowledge the layout of the proposed development with the
spaces between each dwelling which helps to ensure the proposed dwellings do not appear as a solid
wall of development but reflects the surrounding character in the area. This also fails to recognise the
variety in the roofscape which helps to break up the massing of the dwellings, particularly when viewed
from 31 Norfolk Street. Furthermore, as set out above, it is evident in the map regression and assessment
of significance and setting that 31 Norfolk Street does not have an "open countryside" setting but already
exists within a residential setting of the existing residential built form.

3.3. The conservation officer refers back to their comments on the approved scheme to the south (ref: F/
YR21/1055/0) with reference to the conjoining of the approved scheme and this development which is
under consideration, in particular the reference of this residential development linking up to Morley
Way. An attenuation pond has been located within the southern portion of this Site, separating this Site
from the approved development to the south. This helps to keep the two areas of proposed residential
development separate and prevent the merging of the two. Whilst this Site will add further residential
development to this area of the village, the large plots and spacing of the proposed layout will respect

4

Page 230



March 2025

Fig. TImage within property boundary of 31 Norfolk Street, taken from Conservation Officers comments (fig. 4). Houses on
March Road visible to the rear, circled in blue.

Fig. 2 Image within property boundary of 31 Norfolk Street, courtesy of conservation officer. CGl of roofscape of proposed
dwellings.

Page 231



Heritage Rebuttal

Fig. 3 Image within property boundary of 31 Norfolk Street to the rear, taken from Conservation Officers comments (fig. 7).
Morley Way visible in the views, circled in blue.

Fig. 4 Image within property boundary of 31 Norfolk Street to the rear, courtesy of conservation officer. CGl of roofscape of
proposed dwellings.

6

Page 232



March 2025

the historic layout within the village.

3.4, The comments state that ".there are vantage points from the front of 27 Norfolk Street and from
the rear of the listed building. The proposed dwellings, despite their greater distance from the listed
building would remain visible in the backdrop of these views and intrude on the appreciation of
the listed building which at present is appreciated with no development in the backdrop, for which
is has benefited from historically. A considerable amount of its significance is derived from a rural
cottage with open land surrounding it. As a result of this development, that setting and significance
will be impacted upon.” Firstly, it is important to establish that the reference to "no development in
the backdrop" is incorrect and fails to acknowledge the residential development that is viewed behind
31 Norfolk Street. The images within the conservation officer's comments (Figs. 4 and 7 within the
comments, reproduced as Figs. 1 and 3 within this note) both include a view taken from within the
property boundary of 31 Norfolk Street and clearly show that residential development of March Road
and Morley Way is visible in these views. In addition, it must be emphasised that from outside 31 Norfolk
Street, standing on the public footpath, there are no views towards the Site. From this location, there are
also no views of the Site seen in conjunction with the asset. Views only exist from within the property
boundary.

3.5, The conservation officer's images use arrows to highlight where the proposed dwellings are thought
to be visible. The client has prepared some CGl images of these specific view points to show where the
proposed development would actually be seen. The CGls produced by the applicant demonstrate that
the roofscape of the proposed dwellings will be visible in conjunction with 31 Norfolk Street, however
given the considerable separation distance, this is limited to one or two dwellings in each view and
with a view of only the traditional gabled roof forms of the buildings which do not detract from our
appreciation of the asset which is already seen and experienced alongside residential development.
The proposed design of the dwellings is also not dissimilar from the character and form of ancillary
outbuildings found in service yards and areas such as this. Certainly from the property, the view across
the roofscape is not overtly domestic or dominant in character.

3.6. The conservation officer's comments note: "The proposed dwellings are considered to be of comparable
height to the existing listed building and the ground levels of the proposed development site is noticeably
higher than the ground levels of the listed building. As such, the presence of the proposed development
(taking into consideration their respective heights), are considered to unacceptably intrude on and
clutter the surroundings and backdrop of the listed building and impact detrimentally on its setting
and its appreciation in views towards it from various vantage points.” Whilst it is true that the proposed
dwellings are of comparable heights to 31 Norfolk Street, the dwellings have been designed to sit lower
than 31 Norfolk Street which has a ridge height of 10.96m with the proposed dwellings at 10.41m. The
comments suggest that there is a substantial height difference as a result of the ground levels; the
submitted section of the Site (Figure 5) highlights that this difference is minimal and not perceptible on
the ground. Furthermore, the CGls highlight the proposed dwellings will not clutter the backdrop of the
listed building but simply be partially visible through the gaps in planting over the boundary fence seen
within the context of surrounding residential built form.

31 NORFOLK STREET

PROPOSED CROSS SECTION THROUGH SITE SHOWING
RELATIONSHIP OF HEIGHTS WITH LISTED BUILDING AT 31
NORFOLK STREET

Fig. 5 Cross Section of the proposed dwelling and 31 Norfolk Street showing ridge heights and separation distance.

Page 233



Heritage Rebuttal

}

Fig. 6 Image from the viewpoint at Morley Way across to 31 Norfolk Street with the rear of the proposed dwellings marked by
orange cones.

3.7. In addition to the view points from the listed building to the Site, the conservation officer's comments
included a view point of "current views from the public realm of Morley Way where the listed building is
appreciated from the rear in context with the historic open landscape of the grazing land to the rear."
Currently this view is considerably screened by the 1.8m fence which separates the Site from Morley Way,
limiting views towards the listed building from this area. Consideration has been given to this viewpoint
through the design and layout of the scheme with the line of built form set back, preserving the view
towards the asset (as shown in Figure 6).

Conclusions
3.8. The conservation officer's commments conclude:

"..the loss off one of the last remaining parcels of open land on the edge of the historic parts of the
settlement will have a considerable impact on the setting of the Gl listed 31 Norfolk Street. This is an
in-principle objection to the loss of this grazing land. The setting of the LB is currently that of a building
sat within its spacious grounds with a verdant and spacious field setting in the backdrop, as it has
benefited from historically. The change to this setting would be considerable and alter the context that
the Listed building is appreciated and understood. The development results in less than substantial
harm (medium) to the identified heritage assets, for which national and local heritage policy and
guidance points to a presumption against Councils supporting such development, unless there are
strong public benefits which outweigh the harm identified.”

As set out above, the description of the Site as "grazing land" (which evidence suggests it has never been)
and part of the "verdant and spacious field setting" of 31 Norfolk Street aggrandises the importance of
the Site to the setting of the listed building which today is more readily appreciated within the context
of residential development which surrounds the asset and is symbolic of the evolving village throughout
the 20th century. It is considered that the conservation officer's comments have failed to recognise the
current setting of the listed building and the most important aspects of its setting which have historically
and today focussed towards the east.

39. To conclude, the proposals have taken into consideration comments made on the previously withdrawn
scheme to ensure the proposed built form better responds to the setting of the asset through a more

8

Page 234



March 2025

traditional layout of development, aligned along the western edge of the site and set away from the
listed building. Key views will be preserved, and the new homes are appropriate in scale, massing and
design details, reflecting the local character.

3.10. The proposals represent an opportunity to deliver residential development which respects the green,
rural character of the village in a sensitive manner. In line with the objectives of para 203 of the NPPF, the

development has responded to the local character and distinctiveness of the village.

3. The proposals are also considered to be in accordance with LP18 The Historic Environment of the Fenland
Local Plan, in addition to the policy tests set out in the 1990 Act and Chapter 16 of the NPPF.

Page 235



I~

CONSERVATION REFERRAL COMMENTS

Application Ref: F/YR24/1000/F

Address: Land West Of 27 Norfolk Street Accessed from Morley Way, Wimblington
DC Case Officer: T Donnelly

Conservation Officer: S Falco

Date: 09/04/2025

The below is in response to the submitted rebuttal to the FDC Conservation
objections, by the applicant’s heritage consultant.

The comments have clearly been made to support the application and choose to take a
different view of the assessed impacts surrounding the proposal.

The CGI images within the rebuttal clearly show that the current open backdrop that
this GII listed cottage has benefitted from historically and how its setting will indeed
be eroded by the presence of suburban development in close quarters. Essentially
replacing open backdrop that has formed the setting of the listed building historically.

The view in figure 1 (below) of the rebuttal shows an open backdrop with a distant
farmhouse and mature trees. Figure 2 CGI clearly shows the roofscape of modern
development in a continuous line in the backdrop setting of this heritage asset. In my
professional opinion, the rebuttal unintentionally highlights the harm, rather than
negating. The CGI clearly shows a wall of development directly behind the key views
of the listed building that interrupts its longstanding setting.

Page 236



Fig. 1 imoge within property boundory of 31 Morfolk Street, taken from Conservation Office,
Muarch food visible to the rear, circled in blue.

rs comments (fig. 4] Houses an

Fig. 2 Image within property boundany of 31 Norfolk Street, courtesy of consenartion officer. CGl of roofscape of proposed
dwellings.

Fig 4 and 5 below, although to a lesser extent owing to the existing building in the
backdrop, still highlights the close quarters and impact on setting that would result
from this development. It should also be noted that the existing backdrop building

shown in fig 4 is circa 80m from the listed building, not circa 30m as will be the case
with the proposed (fig 5).

Page 237



Fig. 3 Imag in property boundary of 31 Morfolk Street To the rear, taken from Consenvation Officers comments (fig. 71
Morley Way wisible in the views, circled in biue,

Fig. 4 Image within property boundary of 31 Norfolk Street to the rear, courtesy of consenvation officer. G of roofscape of

-

The statement raises that ‘the conservation comments fail to acknowledge the layout
of the proposed development, with the spaces between each dwelling’. When referring
to the wall of development that the rebuttal seeks to dismiss, I refer to the string of
houses with attached pitched roof garages, with less than a meter between each,
running in a continuous line directly behind the listed building. This acts to negatively
alter the setting of the LB, by eclosing views that are currently open and providing a
positive setting to the listed building.

Page 238



The open agrairan land that the development is proposed is considered to be an
important buffer in preserving the setting of the listed building.

The Morley Way development has indeed impacted the setting to a degree, but this
current development proposal is located immediately to the rear of the listed building
and therefore the additional impacts on the setting of the listed building are magnified.

Historic England guidance on setting states that ‘where the signifciance of a hertiage
asset has been compromised in the past by unsympathetic development affecting its
setting, to accord with NPPF policy, stong considerations need to be given to whether
additonal change will further detract from the singificance of the asset’. Negative
change would inlcude severing the last link between the asset and its historic setting,
as would clearly be the case here.

It is considered that the author to the report has given insufficient weght to the
contribution the historic area of open land makes to the setting of 31 Norfolk Street
and indeed the edge of the historic settlment.

The rebuttal states that the OS mapping is a ‘snapshot in time of a much smaller
village that has changed substantially over the last century’. Whilst there has been
considerable growth and change, the immediate backdrop setting to the rear of the
listed building has changed little.

Regarding the historic relationship between the host listed building and the agrarian
land to the rear. Whilst there is no evidence of historic combined ownership, there is a
clear and longstanding relationship and setting that this Listed Building has benefitted
from historically, for which the rebuttal fails to consider.

Conclusions:

To conclude, there is a firm disagreement with the statements made in the rebuttal
with regards to key views and setting being preserved. Furthermore, there is strong
disagreement that the development accords with LP18 and heritage sections of the
NPPF.

The proposals came forward with little heritage consideration and without a suitably
detailed HIA. The HIA’s have been created after the proposal has been put together
and attempt to justify.

Owing to the impact on setting and the loss of one of the last remaining parcels of
open land adjacent to the historic core of the village, the development will result in
less than substantial harm (medium on the spectrum) and therefore is not deemed
accord with Policy LP18 of the Fenland Local Plan 2014 and relevant heritage
sections of the NPPF.

Page 239



Finally, para 213 of the NPPF states that any harm to the significance of a designated
heritage asset or its setting should require clear and convincing justification for which
has not been provided.

Recommendation: Refuse

Page 240



Agenda ltem No: 1
Committee: Planning Committee

Date: 20 August 2025

Report Title:

1.1

1.2

1.3

1.4

1.5

Agenda Item 11

Fenland

Statutory Duties

Purpose / Summary

This report is presented to provide Members with a formal update in respect of
planning application F/YR25/0328/F, which was considered by the Planning
Committee on 25 June 2025. At that meeting, Members resolved to grant planning
permission, subject to conditions, contrary to the Officer recommendation as set out
in the published committee report (reproduced at Appendix 1).

This report has been prepared with the purpose of providing Members with an update

which, in Officers’ view, is considered material to the determination of the application.

Where a resolution to grant planning permission has been made by a Committee but
no formal decision notice has yet been issued, the Council has not, in law, determined
the application. Until such time as the decision notice is issued, the Local Planning

Authority retains jurisdiction to reconsider the matter.

The Courts have confirmed that, in these circumstances, if there is a material change
in relevant considerations, Officers must assess whether it remains lawful and
appropriate to proceed to issue the decision as previously resolved, or whether the
application should be referred back to Committee. This principle is well established in
case law, most notably in R (Kides) v South Cambridgeshire DC [2003] 1 P&CR 19.

In practical terms, this means that where a material change in circumstances arises
following the Committee’s resolution to grant planning permission, but before the
formal decision notice has been issued, the implied authority for Officers to issue the
decision no longer applies. In such cases, the application therefore, is required to be
referred back to Committee for further consideration.

Page 241

CAMBRIDGESHIRE

Update on Planning Application F/YR25/0328/F and Relevant



1.6

The Committee is invited to consider whether, in light of the issues now set out, it
would be appropriate to revisit the resolution to grant planning permission in order to
ensure that the Council’s position is legally robust, clearly reasoned, and compliant

with its statutory duties as the Local Planning Authority.
Key issues

e Members resolved to grant planning permission contrary to Officer

recommendation due to identified heritage impacts.

e The planning application affects the setting of a Grade Il listed building, engaging
statutory duties under Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and
Conservation Areas) Act 1990. The statutory duty requires “special regard” to
preserving the setting of listed buildings, creating a strong presumption against

granting permission where harm is identified.

e The Council has received formal legal correspondence challenging the lawfulness
of the Committee’s resolution to grant planning permission for an application that
affects the setting of a Grade Il listed building contrary to Officer recommendation

for a different application.

e Independent legal advice has been sought, for the other application, which raises
concerns about the robustness of the Committee’s reasons and the risk of judicial

review if the decision is not revisited.

e Whilst the legal opinion does not relate specifically to this application, it addresses
legal matters that are directly comparable to those relevant to the assessment of
this proposal and the planning balance previously undertaken by Members. As
such, it constitutes a material consideration in the determination of the application.

e The Committee may still lawfully conclude that planning permission should be
granted, provided that any such decision is underpinned by clear, well-reasoned,
and publicly defensible justifications that fully address the relevant legal

requirements, development plan policies, and material considerations.

Page 242



3.1

4.1

4.2

e Failure to address these legal and policy requirements risks the Council making
an unlawful decision. This decision would be vulnerable to a judicial review and

the associated costs ultimately borne by the local community through Council Tax.

e The Committee is invited to reconsider the application, applying the relevant
statutory duties, policies, and material considerations, to ensure a lawful and

robust decision.
Recommendations

The recommendation is to refuse planning permission for the reason set out in

section 11 of this report.

Wards Affected All

Forward Plan Reference N/A

Portfolio Holder(s) Cllir Mrs D Laws

Report Originator(s) Matthew Leigh

Contact Officer(s) Matthew Leigh - Head of Planning mleigh@fenland.gov.uk
Background Paper(s) N/A

Decision-Making Framework and Member Responsibilities

In determining planning applications, the Planning Committee exercises the
Council’s functions as the Local Planning Authority under the Town and Country
Planning Act 1990 (as amended), together with any relevant subordinate legislation.
In doing so, Members are legally obliged to operate within the statutory framework

that governs all planning decisions.

In particular, Members of the Committee:

Page 243


mailto:mleigh@fenland.gov.uk

4.3

5.1

o Must determine planning applications in accordance with the development plan
for the area (in this case, the Fenland Local Plan (2014) the Cambridgeshire
and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Local Plan (2021) and the Wimblington
and Stonea Neighbourhood Plan (Pre-Submission Draft October 2024)), unless
material considerations indicate otherwise, as required by section 38(6) of the

Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

o Are required to have proper regard to the Officer’s report, including its
assessment of the development plan policies and all other relevant material
considerations. This includes giving due weight to matters of planning
judgement, technical advice from consultees, and any legal context or

implications referred to in the report.

o Are entitled to form a different conclusion from Officers, provided their reasons
are rational, evidence-based, and capable of withstanding scrutiny. Members
may give differing weight to material considerations, but must ensure that the

reasons for doing so are clearly explained, relevant, and defensible.

. Must also have regard to all other relevant statutory duties beyond the planning
acts. This may include, where applicable, obligations under the Planning (Listed
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990, the Environment Act 2021 and
the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006. These place
additional legal duties on the decision-maker and must be read alongside the

planning legislation.

The law is clear that failure to have regard to these legal requirements, or a failure to
articulate robust and lawful planning reasons for departing from policy or technical

advice, may render a decision unlawful and liable to legal challenge.
Application History

On 25 June 2025, the Planning Committee considered planning application reference
F/Y R25/0328/F for the erection of a dwelling to the rear of 108 High Street, a Grade
Il listed building. The Officer's Report, which set out the relevant planning policy
context, detailed assessment, and recommendation, is attached at Appendix 1 to this

report.

Page 244



5.2

5.3

5.4

The planning application was recommended for refusal for the following reasons:

“1. The application would result in development within the setting of a Grade Il
listed building, 108 High Street, and would result in less than substantial harm
to this setting and the Conservation Area, by virtue of introducing built form into
currently undeveloped open land forming the historic context to the listed
building, separating the Listed Building from its historic curtilage, without
adequate justification, and without any public benefits outweighing this harm.
The linear curtilage of the site is an important historic feature and its loss would
also introduce harm to the character and historic settlement of the Conservation
Area. This harm is exacerbated by the modern design of the proposed dwelling,

which does not seek to respect or reflect the design of the host Listed Building.

As such, if permitted, the development would be contrary to Policy H2 of the
March Neighbourhood Plan 2017, Policy LP16 and LP18 of the Fenland Local
Plan 2014 as well as Paragraphs 213 and 215 of the National Planning Policy

Framework.

2. Policy LP15 of the Fenland Local Plan (2014) requires that developments
provide "well designed, safe and convenient access for all". The access drive
itself is of limited width, as little as 2.9 metres at the narrowest point. The
increase in traffic proposed as a result of the application, combined with the
narrowness of the access road would result in an access drive that fails to meet
the above requirements of policy H2 of the March Neighbourhood Plan 2017 or
Policy LP15 of the Fenland Local Plan (2014).”

Despite the Officer's recommendation, Members resolved to approve the proposal.
While Members are of course entitled to depart from Officer advice, any such decision
must be based on sound planning grounds, supported by evidence, and capable of
clear articulation. This is particularly important where such a decision engages policies

of recognised importance, such as those relating to heritage assets.

It is well established in case law that, in such circumstances, a general common law
duty to give reasons will arise, particularly where permission is granted in the face of
substantial public opposition, contrary to Officer recommendation, and involving a

Page 245



5.5

5.6

5.7

5.8

significant departure from the development plan or other policies of national
importance.

Following the Committee’s resolution to grant planning permission, the Council
received independent legal advice for a different application. This advice was sort in
response to allegations that the Planning Committee had failed to lawfully assess and
apply its statutory duty under section 66(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and
Conservation Areas) Act 1990. The advice also addressed concerns that the
Committee had not properly considered relevant national and local planning policies,
including the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy LP18 of the Local Plan,
when resolving to grant planning permission contrary to the Officer recommendation.

The advice is appended at Appendix 2 to this report.

The independent legal advice concludes that there are concerns regarding the
robustness of the Committee’s debate and the reasoning that underpinned the
resolution to grant planning permission. The proposal would result in harm to the
setting of a Grade Il listed building and therefore, the statutory duty under section 66(1)
of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 is engaged. This
duty requires decision-makers to have special regard to the desirability of preserving
the setting of listed buildings, and case law confirms that this creates a strong
presumption against the grant of planning permission; this statutory duty must be given

considerable importance and weight in the planning balance.

The advice goes on to state that the public benefits put forward in support of the
development are limited. The provision of five additional dwellings carries only modest
weight in circumstances where the Council can demonstrate a healthy and deliverable
five-year housing land supply. No other compelling countervailing public benefits have
been identified that would clearly and convincingly outweigh the harm to the
designated heritage asset. In such circumstances, the legal opinion advises that the
justification for approving the development is weak and legally vulnerable unless it is

revisited and properly articulated.

The independent legal advice obtained by the Council concludes that the most
appropriate and legally robust course of action would be for Officers to refer the

application back to the Planning Committee for further consideration. This

Page 246



recommendation does not imply that the Committee is incapable of reaching a lawful
decision to approve the development; rather, it reflects the legal adviser's view that
the reasons articulated during the debate were insufficiently clear or detailed to
support the current resolution. The advice highlights that, as presently recorded in the
transcript, the justification for granting permission lacks the necessary robustness and
is therefore vulnerable to legal challenge.

5.9  Whilst the legal opinion obtained does not relate specifically to the application site, it
addresses key legal principles that are directly relevant to the issues arising in this
case. In particular, it reinforces the requirement under section 66(1) of the Planning
(Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 that where harm to the setting of
a listed building is identified, that harm must be given considerable importance and
weight, and can only be outweighed by public benefits that are sufficient to justify the
harm. The opinion notes that if the development of five dwellings on an adjacent site
was found to cause harm to the setting of a listed building, and the benefits of those
dwellings were not sufficient to outweigh that harm. Therefore, it would not be
consistent to conclude that a single dwelling, located within the curtilage of the listed
building itself, would give rise to a greater degree of harm but not be capable of being
justified by comparatively fewer public benefits. The legal principles underpinning both

applications are, in Officers’ view, materially the same.

5.10 It is well established that Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990
(as amended) requires a planning authority, when dealing with a planning application,
to have regard to all material considerations. This duty clearly extends to any new and
relevant material considerations that arise between the Committee’s resolution and
the issuing of the Decision Notice. Such considerations must be fully weighed by the

decision-maker prior to final determination.

5.11 This principle is reinforced by the judgment in Kides v South Cambridgeshire District
Council [2003], which provides clarity on the interpretation of section 70(2). The Court
held that the phrase ‘dealing with’ an application encompasses all actions undertaken
by or on behalf of the planning authority that bear in any way on the application,
whether directly or indirectly. In temporal terms, the authority begins dealing with an

application upon its receipt and normally concludes upon issuing the decision notice.

Page 247



5.12 The judgment further clarifies the definition of a ‘material consideration’ as any factor
relevant to whether the application should be granted or refused. Material
considerations must have some weight in the decision-making process one way or the
other. In other words, it must be a factor which has some weight in the decision-making
process, although plainly it may not be determinative. The test must, of course, be an
objective one in the sense that the choice of material considerations must be a rational

one, and the considerations chosen must be rationally related to land use issues.

5.13 The above decision provides clear guidelines in relation to where new material
considerations arise before the decision notice is issued. Stating ‘where the delegated
officer who is about to sign the decision notice becomes aware (or ought reasonably
to have become aware) of a new material consideration, section 70(2) requires that
the authority have regard to that consideration before finally determining the
application. In such a situation, therefore, the authority of the delegated officer must
be such as to require him to refer the matter back to committee for reconsideration in
the light of the new consideration. If he fails to do so, the authority will be in breach of

its statutory duty’.

5.14 In developing his position, he further stated that ‘an authority’s duty to “have regard to
material considerations is not to be elevated into a formal requirement that in every
case where a new material consideration arises after the passing of a resolution (in
principle) to grant planning permission but before the issue of the decision notice there

has to be a specific referral of the application back to committee.”

5.15 The effect of the judgment in Kides is that, where a new material consideration arises
after a Committee has resolved to grant planning permission but before the decision
notice has been issued, section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990
requires the Local Planning Authority to have regard to that consideration before finally
determining the application. Where such a matter has not been considered by the
Committee, the authority cannot lawfully proceed to issue the decision under
delegated powers, and the implied delegation to Officers falls away. In such
circumstances, the application must be returned to Committee for further

consideration.

Page 248



5.16 In light of the above, whilst the independent legal opinion obtained does not relate
specifically to this application it is regarded as a material consideration of significant
weight in the determination of this application. It must be carefully considered by the

decision-maker in the context of the application’s merits and the planning balance.
6 Considerations

6.1 In light of the matters raised in this report, Members are required to reconsider
whether, having regard to the statutory and policy framework, the resolution to grant
planning permission remains appropriate and lawful. Specifically, Members must
consider whether the development would give rise to harm to the setting of the Grade
Il listed building, and if so, whether such harm has been properly identified, weighed,
and justified. This assessment must include consideration of whether the proposal
would conflict with Policy LP18 of the Fenland Local Plan (2014), and, by extension,
whether the application is in accordance with the development plan when read as a
whole, as required by section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act
2004.

6.2 Reason for Refusal 2, which concerns the adequacy of the access arrangements, is
not relevant to the independent legal advice and the associated planning balance
where harm to heritage assets is identified. As there has been no change in
circumstances or new material considerations relating to this issue, the report does

not revisit or seek to alter the position in respect of Reason for Refusal 2.

6.3 To assist Members in undertaking this reassessment, this section sets out a summary
of the relevant statutory duties and policy requirements, including the statutory duty
under section 66(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act
1990, the provisions of Policy LP18 (including criteria (a) to (c)), and the relevant
paragraphs of the National Planning Policy Framework (Chapter 16: paragraphs 212
to 221, and in particular paragraphs 213 and 215). These provisions collectively
establish the legal and policy framework for assessing the impact of development on
designated heritage assets and must be applied rigorously when determining

applications where heritage considerations are engaged.

Section 66 Duty

Page 249



6.4

6.5

6.6

6.7

Section 66(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990
imposes a statutory duty on local planning authorities when considering applications

that affect listed buildings or their settings. It states:

“In considering whether to grant planning permission for development which affects a
listed building or its setting, the local planning authority or, as the case may be, the
Secretary of State shall have special regard to the desirability of preserving the
building or its setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest which

it possesses.”

This statutory duty is not merely procedural; it has substantive weight in the decision-
making process. Its significance was underlined in East Northamptonshire DC &
Barnwell Manor Wind Energy Ltd v Secretary of State for Communities and Local
Government [2015] 1 WLR 45, where the Court of Appeal made clear that when the
section 66 duty is engaged, decision-makers must give considerable importance and
weight” to the desirability of preserving the setting of listed buildings. It is not a simple
planning balance but a presumption in favour of preservation that must materially
influence the outcome unless outweighed by sufficiently powerful countervailing

considerations.

While the Courts have also clarified that some degree of harm to the setting of a listed
building does not automatically render a decision unlawful, provided the statutory duty
is properly applied and appropriately weighed (as in Safe Rottingdean Ltd v Brighton
and Hove City Council [2019] EWHC 2632 (Admin)), the duty remains stringent.

The Planning Encyclopaedia (Commentary to L66.01) summarises the established

position as follows:

“It follows that it is clearly established that a decision which engages the duties in either
s.66(1) or 72(1) will be legally flawed if it does not give effect to those duties, the strong
presumption they create, and fails to accord them ‘considerable importance and

weight’ when weighing up any harm against any benefits or countervailing factors”.

LP18 — The Historic Environment

Page 250



6.8 Policy LP18 of the Fenland Local Plan (2014) sets out the Council’s approach to
conserving and enhancing the historic environment. The policy seeks to ensure that
development proposals affecting designated or non-designated heritage assets are
appropriately assessed, justified, and, where necessary, mitigated. Its overarching aim
is to safeguard the historic environment as a key component of the district’s character,
distinctiveness, and cultural value, while allowing for sustainable development that

respects heritage significance.
6.9 The policy is explicit in its requirements. It states that:

“All development proposals that would affect any designated or undesignated heritage
asset will be required to:

(a) describe and assess the significance of the asset and/or its setting to determine its

architectural, historic or archaeological interest; and
(b) identify the impact of the proposed works on the special character of the asset; and

(c) provide a clear justification for the works, especially if these would harm the asset

or its setting, so that the harm can be weighed against public benefits.”
The NPPF

6.10 Chapter 16 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) sets out the
Government’s national planning policies for conserving and enhancing the historic
environment. Paragraphs 212 to 221 emphasise the importance of heritage assets as
an irreplaceable resource and require that they be conserved in a manner appropriate
to their significance. Local planning authorities must ensure that decisions reflect the
desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of heritage assets and putting

them to viable uses consistent with their conservation.
6.11 Paragraph 213 is particularly relevant in this case. It states:

“When considering the impact of a proposed development on the significance of a
designated heritage asset, great weight should be given to the asset’s conservation

(and the more important the asset, the greater the weight should be). This is

Page 251



irrespective of whether any potential harm amounts to substantial harm, total loss or
less than substantial harm to its significance.”

6.12 This paragraph reinforces the principle that any harm to the significance of a
designated heritage asset, including harm to its setting, must be treated with great
weight in the planning balance. It is not sufficient to simply acknowledge harm; the
weight attached to that harm must be proportionate and substantial, even if the level

of harm is categorised as ‘“less than substantial.”
6.13 Paragraph 215 further sets out the balancing exercise required in such cases:

“‘Where a development proposal will lead to less than substantial harm to the
significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm should be weighed against the
public benefits of the proposal including, where appropriate, securing its optimum

viable use.”

6.14 This paragraph does allow for harm to be outweighed by public benefits, but it requires
a demonstrably clear and convincing case to be made. The language of both
paragraphs is consistent with the statutory duty under section 66(1) and national case
law, reaffirming the need for decision-makers to apply considerable importance and
weight to any harm and to ensure that any countervailing benefits are sufficiently
compelling.

PPG

6.15 The Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) provides further detail on the application of
national policy in relation to the historic environment. The guidance under the section
“Conserving and enhancing the historic environment” supports and expands upon the
policies set out in Chapter 16 of the NPPF.

6.16 The PPG advises that:

“In determining applications, local planning authorities should take account of the
significance of any heritage asset affected, including any contribution made by its

setting.”

Page 252



6.17 It also notes that the setting of a heritage asset is not fixed and may change over time.
While public access to the setting can influence significance, it is not a requirement for
the setting to contribute meaningfully to how a heritage asset is experienced or

understood.
6.18 The guidance emphasises that:
“Great weight should be given to the conservation of heritage assets.”

6.19 This applies regardless of the scale of harm. The PPG clarifies that this weight should
be applied consistently and that decision-makers must give “clear and convincing
Justification for any harm or loss.” It goes on to state that the level of detail required in
an application should be proportionate to the asset’s importance but sufficient to

understand the potential impact.
6.20 In relation to ‘significance’ and its important in decision-making the PPG states:

“Heritage assets may be affected by direct physical change or by change in their
setting. Being able to properly assess the nature, extent and importance of the
significance of a heritage asset, and the contribution of its setting, is very important to

understanding the potential impact and acceptability of development proposals.”
Heritage Assessments

6.21 As part of the planning submission, the applicant provided a Design & Access
Statement and Heritage Statement which sought to identify and assess the
significance of the affected heritage assets and the likely impact of the proposed
development upon that significance. The Council consulted its Conservation Officer,
who provided detailed comments on the proposals, identifying specific areas of

concern in relation to the level of harm and the justification provided.

6.22 The Applicant’s Design & Access Statement and Heritage Statement is attached as
Appendix 3. The report accepts that the development would have an effect of the
Grade Il Listed Building but suggest that it would be minimal.

6.23 The Council’s Conservation Officer was formally consulted on the application and

provided detailed comments on 5 June 2025. These are attached as Appendix 4.

Page 253



6.24 The Conservation Officer concluded that the proposed development would result in
“less than substantial harm” to the significance of the designated heritage asset and
its setting. The level of harm was categorised as “medium” within that spectrum.
Furthermore, the Conservation Officer advised that the justification provided by the
applicant was insufficient to demonstrate that the there are no public benefits (only
private benefits) a result of the proposal, making the development contrary to both
national and local planning policy. As such, the proposal was considered to be in
conflict with Policy LP18 of the Fenland Local Plan (2014) and the relevant provisions

of Chapter 16 of the National Planning Policy Framework.
7 Assessment and Application of the Statutory and Policy Tests

7.1 Having regard to the legal, policy, and procedural framework set out above, and in
light of the heritage advice received, Members should approach the decision-making

process by sequentially addressing the following considerations:

Whether the development would result in harm to the setting of the listed
building

Members are invited to consider and reach a view, based on the submitted material
and professional advice, as to what level of harm, if any, the proposed development
would cause to the significance of the Grade Il listed building at 108 High Street
through changes to its setting. The Conservation Officer has advised that the scheme
would result in less than substantial harm (medium). 1t should be noted that at the time
of the last application Members stated that “very much at the lower end scale of harm
and they also feel that there is consistency when taking into account the other

applications in the vicinity, that will weigh more in favour than that of the public benefit”.

Whether the statutory and policy duties are properly engaged and applied
Where harm is identified, Members must apply the statutory duty under section 66(1)
of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990, which requires
special regard to be given to the desirability of preserving the setting of the listed
building. This is not a neutral or procedural exercise, it establishes a strong
presumption against granting planning permission where harm is found. That
presumption must be given considerable importance and weight in the planning

balance. Members must also assess the proposal against Policy LP18 of the Fenland

Page 254



8.1

Local Plan and the relevant provisions of Chapter 16 of the NPPF, particularly
paragraphs 213 and 215.

Whether there is clear and convincing justification for the identified harm
If Members accept that there would be less than substantial harm, the next step is to
determine whether that harm is justified. Paragraph 200 of the NPPF confirms that any
harm to a designated heritage asset must require clear and convincing justification.
Paragraph 215 then requires that the harm be weighed against the public benefits of
the proposal. In this case, due to the Council being able to demonstrably a healthy
five-year housing land supply the delivery of a single dwelling is of very limited public
benefit. No other public benefits of significance have been identified as part of the
planning application process at this time. Members must determine whether the
justification and benefits are sufficient to outweigh the identified harm and the

significant hurdle placed by S.66.

Whether the proposal complies with the development plan when read as a whole
Finally, applying section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004,
Members must determine whether the proposal accords with the development plan
taken as a whole and, if it does not, whether there are other material considerations
that indicate that planning permission should nevertheless be granted. In this case, if
Members conclude that the proposal conflicts with Policy LP18 and the harm to the
designated heritage asset is not outweighed by public benefits, then the appropriate

and lawful conclusion would be that planning permission should be refused.
Effect on corporate objectives

The granting of planning permission in conflict with guidance within the NPPF, and the
potential for resultant legal challenge, would impact of the following corporate

objective:

a) Promote and enable housing growth, economic growth and regeneration across

Fenland.

Community impact

Page 255



9.1

9.2

10

10.1

10.2

10.3

Should the Council proceed to issue planning permission on the basis of a resolution
that is open to legal challenge. The legal advice obtained for a different site indicates
that the current reasoning, the benefits of a single dwelling, is insufficiently robust. This

would mean that the Council are vulnerable to legal challenge.

The financial implications of a legal challenge would inevitably be borne by the local
community, as the Council’s activities are ultimately funded by residents through
Council Tax. The potential diversion of resources to defend a legally vulnerable
decision represents not only a financial risk but also a reputational one. It could erode

public trust in the planning system and the Council’s decision-making processes.
Conclusions

In making planning decisions, it is essential that Local Planning Authorities adhere not
only to the policies of the development plan and the National Planning Policy
Framework, but also to the statutory duties imposed by legislation such as the
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990. Where heritage assets
are affected, the legal framework requires decision-makers to give considerable
importance and weight to any harm, and to ensure that any such harm is clearly and

convincingly justified.

In this case, the proposal engages section 66(1) of the 1990 Act, and both the case
officer and the Council’'s Conservation Officer have identified less than substantial
harm to the setting of a Grade Il listed building. The Council must therefore, when
determining the planning application undertake a lawful balancing exercise, having full
regard to the requirements of Policy LP18 of the Fenland Local Plan and paragraphs
213 and 215 of the NPPF. The Council must be able to demonstrate that it has properly
assessed the level of harm, considered whether there is adequate justification, and

reached a reasoned conclusion consistent with statute and policy.

The independent legal advice obtained in response to a different site confirms that the
heavily indicates that reasoning given by Committee in support of their resolution to
grant permission is not currently sufficiently robust to be lawfully relied upon. This does
not prevent the Committee from ultimately approving the application, but in order to do
so lawfully, it would need to articulate a clear and defensible planning rationale, with

proper regard to the statutory heritage duties.

Page 256



10.4 Given the new material consideration the correct course of action is to return the

11

11.1

application to Committee for further consideration. This will enable Members to revisit
the planning balance in light of all relevant legal and policy duties, and to reach a

decision that can be lawfully issued and robustly defended.
Recommendation

It is recommended that Planning Committee REFUSE the application for the following

reason.

1. The application would result in development within the setting of a Grade I
listed building, 108 High Street, and would result in less than substantial harm
to this setting and the Conservation Area, by virtue of introducing built form into
currently undeveloped open land forming the historic context to the listed
building, separating the Listed Building from its historic curtilage, without
adequate justification, and without any public benefits outweighing this harm.
The linear curtilage of the site is an important historic feature and its loss would
also introduce harm to the character and historic settlement of the Conservation
Area. This harm is exacerbated by the modern design of the proposed dwelling,

which does not seek to respect or reflect the design of the host Listed Building.

As such, if permitted, the development would be contrary to Policy H2 of the
March Neighbourhood Plan 2017, Policy LP16 and LP18 of the Fenland Local
Plan 2014 as well as Paragraphs 213 and 215 of the National Planning Policy

Framework.

Page 257



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 9

F/YR25/0328/F

Applicant: Mr John Clark Agent : Mr R Papworth
Morton & Hall Consulting Ltd

108 High Street, March, Cambridgeshire, PE15 9LP

Erect 1 x self-build/custom build dwelling involving demolition of shed within a
Conservation Area

Officer recommendation: Refuse

Reason for Committee: Number of representations contrary to Officer
recommendation

1 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1 The application seeks full permission for the erection of one self-build/custom
build dwelling involving demolition of shed within a Conservation Area.

1.2 The proposed development would result in the subdivision of the existing curtilage
of No. 108, which forms the setting of the Grade Il Listed Building. The carving up
of the plot would introduce harm to this setting and to the Conservation Area,
exacerbated by the unsympathetic appearance of the proposed dwelling. The
application does not include clear or convincing justification to justify the harm
introduced, nor does the development provide any public benefit. The
development is therefore considered contrary to Policy H2 of the March
Neighbourhood Plan 2017, Policies LP16 and LP18 of the Fenland Local Plan and
Paragraphs 213 and 215 of the NPPF.

1.3 The proposed development would also utilise the existing access associated with
No. 108. The access drive itself is of limited width, as little as 2.9 metres at the
narrowest point. The increase in traffic proposed as a result of the application,
combined with the narrowness of the access road would result in an access drive
that fails to meet the requirements of Policy H2 of the March Neighbourhood Plan
2017 and Policy LP15 of the Fenland Local Plan 2014.

1.4 The Council can demonstrate that the number of permissions for self/custom
builds currently exceeds identified demand. The Council can also demonstrate an
excess of a five-year supply of available housing land. Very limited weight should
therefore be given to these factors when considering the planning balance.

1.5 As such, the application is recommended for refusal.

2  SITE DESCRIPTION

2.1 The application site is situated on the eastern side of High Street, within the
market town of March. The site is also situated within March Conservation Area.

PagB@ge 259



2.2

2.3

24

3.1

3.2

3.3

3.4

3.5

5.1

5.2

The dwelling to the front of the site is a Grade Il Listed Building and adjacent
Grade Il and Grade II* Listed Buildings are situated to south of the application site.

The Maze (108 High Street) was listed on 16" December 1974. The dwelling on
site is a mid C18 and C19 2-storey, L shaped dwelling constructed of a narrow
gault brick.

To the rear of the dwelling is a long linear rear garden, with an existing

summer house situated adjacent to the northern boundary of the site. An existing
shed is situated adjacent to the southern boundary of the site. The rear garden of
the site is enclosed by a mixture of brick built walls and close boarded fencing.
There is an existing 14 metre high (approx) tree within the rear garden.

The application site is situated within Flood Zone 1.

PROPOSAL

This application seeks to erect one dwelling, including the demolition of the
existing shed.

The proposed dwelling would be a 3 bedroom, U-shaped dwelling. The dwelling
would have a width of 14.9 metres and a maximum depth of 16 metres. The roof
proposed would be dual-pitched with an eaves height of 2.6 metres and a ridge
height of 5 metres.

The materials proposed to the dwelling include a Traditional Brick and Stone
Cambourne Buff Brick, Photovoltaic Tiles/Slate Tiles, Cream uPVC joinery and
Black Cast Aluminium Gutters and Downpipes.

Access to the site would be via the existing access serving No. 108, with parking
and turning detailed on the proposed site plan. 2 parking spaces are also detailed
to the front of the proposed dwelling. Private amenity space would be situated to
the rear of the proposed dwelling.

Full plans and associated documents for this application can be found at:
https://www.publicaccess.fenland.gov.uk/publicaccess/

SITE PLANNING HISTORY

Reference Description Decision
24/0050/PREAPP Erect 1x dwelling Unfavourable
CONSULTATIONS

March Town Council
Recommendation: Approval.
CCC Highways

The highways authority objects to this application and would recommend refusal
for the following reasons:

PagB8ge 260




5.3

5.4

5.5

5.6

5.7

5.8

* The existing vehicle access with the highway is not sufficiently wide enough to
allow two vehicles to pass simultaneously. The current accepted standard access
width by the highway authority is 5m for a min of 6m in to the curtilage of the
property. If approved vehicles will have to stop and manoeuvre on the highway to
allow others vehicles entering/leaving the property. This would likely therefore lead
to the determent of safety for users of the highway and highways safety.

CCC Archaeology
No comment or requirement for the scheme.
FDC Conservation Officer

Raised an objection to the scheme and recommended that the application be
refused. The Conservation Officer highlighted that the proposed development
would erode the long linear curtilage, which forms the setting of the Grade Il Listed
Building, thus resulting in harm to the setting of the Listed Building and setting a
precedent for further development.

The Conservation Officer also raised concerns regarding the substantial reduction
in curtilage and the awkward development layout and noted that the design of the
development does not respect or reflect the setting of the host Listed Building.

Within their comments, the Conservation Officer acknowledges that whilst most of
the application site is shielded from public view, the impact upon setting of private
areas is also a factor for consideration when assessing the impact of a
development upon the Conservation Area. The linear curtilage of the application
site and neighbouring sites is an important historic feature. The development is
also considered to therefore cause harm to the character and historic settlement
form of the Conservation Area.

FDC Environmental Health

No objections to the scheme, however, have recommended a working times
condition due to close proximity of existing noise sensitive receptors.

FDC Ecology

No objections to the application. Suggested informatives regarding vegetation
clearance and bats.

FDC Tree Consultant

Raised no objections to the scheme, however acknowledged that no arboricultural
assessment had been submitted. Recommended a pre-commencement condition
be secured requiring an Arboricultural Impact Assessment and Tree Protection
Plan to be submitted.

Historic England

No advice provided. Suggest seeking views of specialist conservation and
archaeological advisors.

PagB8ge 261



5.9 Environment Agency
No objection to the proposed development on flood risk grounds.
5.10 Local Residents/Interested Parties

14 letters of support were received with regard to this application (three from Jobs
Lane and High Street, two from Station Road and one each from The Causeway,
Binnimoor Road, The Avenue, Elwyndene Road, Stonecross Way and St Peters
Road, March). The reasons for support are summarised as follows:

- Ideal site for development

- Would not introduce overlooking
- Character

- Flooding

- Private amenity space

- Proximity to Town Centre

6 STATUTORY DUTY

6.1 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires a
planning application to be determined in accordance with the Development Plan
unless material planning considerations indicate otherwise. The Development Plan
for the purposes of this application comprises the adopted Fenland Local Plan
(2014) the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Local Plan
(2021) and the March Neighbourhood Plan (2017).

6.2 Sections 66 and 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act
1990 require Local Planning Authorities when considering development to pay
special attention to preserving a listed building or its setting and to the desirability
of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of a conservation area.

7  POLICY FRAMEWORK

7.1 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2024
Chapter 2 - Achieving sustainable development
Chapter 4 — Decision-making
Chapter 12 — Achieving well-designed places
Chapter 14 — Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change
Chapter 15 — Conserving and enhancing the natural environment
Chapter 16 - Conserving and enhancing the historic environment

7.2 National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)
Determining a Planning Application

7.3 National Design Guide 2021
Context
Identity
Built Form

7.4 Fenland Local Plan 2014

LP1— A Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development
LP2 — Facilitating Health and Wellbeing of Fenland Residents

PagBage 262



7.5

7.6

9.1

9.2

LP3 — Spatial Strategy, the Settlement Hierarchy and the Countryside

LP4 — Housing

LP14 — Responding to Climate Change and Managing the Risk of Flooding in
Fenland

LP15 — Facilitating the Creation of a More Sustainable Transport Network in
Fenland

LP16 — Delivering and Protecting High Quality Environments across the District

LP18 — The Historic Environment

LP19 — The Natural Environment

March Neighbourhood Plan 2017
H2 — Windfall Development

Emerging Local Plan

The Draft Fenland Local Plan (2022) was published for consultation between 25th
August 2022 and 19 October 2022, all comments received will be reviewed and
any changes arising from the consultation will be made to the draft Local Plan.
Given the very early stage which the Plan is therefore at, it is considered, in
accordance with Paragraph 49 of the NPPF, that the policies of this should carry
extremely limited weight in decision making. Of relevance to this application are
policies:

LP1: Settlement Hierarchy

LP2:  Spatial Strategy for the Location of Residential Development
LP5:  Health and Wellbeing

LP7: Design

LP8: Amenity Provision

LP22: Parking Provision

LP23: Historic Environment

LP24: Natural Environment

LP25: Biodiversity Net Gain

LP32: Flood and Water Management

KEY ISSUES

Principle of Development

Self-build and Five-Year Land Supply

Design, Appearance and Impact on Historic Environment
Residential Amenity

Access and Parking

Flood Risk

Ecology and Trees

Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG)

BACKGROUND

Pre-application advice was sought in August 2024, for the erection of a dwelling
within the rear garden of 104 High Street. The design and layout of the proposed
development under this application differ from that submitted under the pre-app.

Notwithstanding this, the advice provided within this pre-application noted that the
subdivision of the site would result in harm to the setting of the Listed Building due
to the substantial erosion of historic linear curtilage, as well as setting a precedent
for further development within the gardens of the adjacent Listed Buildings.

PagBage 263



9.3 Additionally, in the interests of transparency it should be noted that the applicant is
an elected Member of Fenland District Council.

10 ASSESSMENT
Principle of Development

10.1 The application site is located within the settlement of March which is identified
within the Settlement Hierarchy as a Market Town. Market Towns are identified
within Policy LP3 as the focus for housing growth, therefore, the principle of
residential development is considered acceptable, in view of planning policy.
Policy H2 of the March Neighbourhood Plan 2017 supports the provision of
residential development.

10.2 It should be noted that this point of general principle is subject to broader planning
policy and other material considerations which are discussed in more detail in the
following sections.

Self-build and Five-Year Land Supply

10.3 Policy LP5, Part C of the Fenland Local Plan seeks to provide, in appropriate
circumstances, housing solutions that meet market expectations including self
build homes, which is supported by para 62 of the NPPF. Under Section 1 of the
Self Build and Custom Housebuilding Act 2015, local authorities are required to
keep a register of those seeking to acquire serviced plots in the area for their own
self-build and custom house building. They are also subject to duties under
sections 2 and 2A of the Act to have regard to this and to give enough suitable
development permissions to meet the identified demand. Weight would therefore
be given to this, the amount dependant on identified demand. The proposal is for
a self/custom build dwelling, however the Council can currently demonstrate that
the number of permissions given for self/custom builds exceeds identified
demand, and as such very limited weight can be afforded to this.

10.4 Additionally, at present the Council can demonstrate in excess of a five-year
supply of available housing land and therefore very limited weight can be afforded
to the delivery of housing when considering the planning balance.

Design, Appearance and Impact on Historic Environment

10.5 Policy LP16 and LP18 of the Fenland Local Plan support the principle of
development subject to development respecting and enhancing the character and
identity of the surrounding area and that the development does not have any
adverse impacts on the surrounding Conservation Area or introduce harm to the
setting of Listed Buildings.

10.6 Policy H2(f) of the March Neighbourhood Plan 2017 requires developments to be
of a high standard of design.

10.7 Paragraph 213 of the NPPF states that ‘Any harm to, or loss of, the significance of

a designated heritage asset (from its alteration or destruction, or from
development within its setting), should require clear and convincing justification’.

PagB8ge 264



10.8 Paragraph 215 of the NPPF states that ‘Where a development proposal will lead to
less than substantial harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset, this
harm should be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal including,
where appropriate, securing its optimum viable use.

10.9 Setting of a heritage asset is defined within the NPPF as ‘The surroundings in
which a heritage asset is experienced. Its extent is not fixed and may change as
the asset and its surroundings evolve. Elements of a setting may make a positive
or negative contribution to the significance of an asset, may affect the ability to
appreciate that significance or may be neutral.’

10.10 The setting of a Listed Building encompasses the surrounding environment in
which the building is experienced and appreciated, including both its visual and
physical context. The application site is situated within existing garden land,
associated with a Grade Il Listed Building, 108 High Street. The proposed
development would therefore be situated within the setting of this Listed Building.

10.11 The proposed development within the garden land of No. 108, including the
erection of fencing and creation of a driveway would carve up the existing plot,
removing a substantial amount of private amenity space and eroding the long
linear curtilage, which forms part of the setting of the Grade Il Listed Building.

10.12 Whilst it is acknowledged that the original setting of the listed building has been
truncated during the mid to late C20, with the construction of the modern housing
estate to the rear of the site, in comparison to the adjacent Listed Buildings at No
110 and 112, the proposed development would be the furthest incursion into the
curtilage of these Listed Buildings. The loss of the long linear curtilage associated
with the dwelling is therefore considered to introduce harm to the setting of the
Listed Building.

10.13 The proposed development would be somewhat obscured from view from the
wider public realm, when considering the impact upon the Conservation Area, both
public views and the impact on the setting of private areas are factors to be
considered. Consideration should be given to the morphology of the built form of
the Conservation Area. In this case, the linear curtilage of the application site and
neighbouring sites is an important historic feature. It is therefore also considered
that the development would introduce harm to the character and historic
settlement form of the March Conservation Area.

10.14 In terms of the design of the dwelling, the proposed development would be a
modern bungalow, with cladded gables which does not respect or reflect the
design of the host Listed Building. As such, the unsympathetic design of the
proposal is considered to introduce further harm to the setting of the Listed
Building.

10.15 Where a development proposal would lead to less than substantial harm to the
significance of a designated heritage asset, the harm should be weighed against
the public benefits of the proposal, as set out within Paragraph 215 of the NPPF.
The application is for a self-build/custom dwelling for the applicants to live in, this
is not considered to be clear or convincing justification to justify the harm
introduced to the significance of the Listed Building. The private occupation of the
development does also not provide any public benefit which would justify the harm
introduced.

PagB@ge 265



10.16 As such, the proposed backland development, which would introduce a modern
style dwelling, is considered to significantly erode what is left of the historic linear
curtilage of the Listed Building to the detriment to historic layout and setting,
introducing harm to the setting of the Listed Building and the character of the
March Conservation Area. The development is therefore considered to be contrary
to Policy H2(f) of the March Neighbourhood Plan 2017, Policies LP16 and LP18 of
the Fenland Local Plan and Paragraphs 213 and 215 of the NPPF.

Residential Amenity

10.17 Policy H2(a) of the March Neighbourhood Plan 2017 requires developments to
consider levels of light, privacy and private amenity space for the occupants of the
proposed dwellings.

10.18 Policies LP2 and LP16 of the Fenland Local Plan seek to ensure that
development does not detrimentally impact upon the residential amenity of
neighbouring or future occupiers.

10.19 Neighbouring buildings are situated to the north, east, south-east, south and west
of the application site. To the north of the site is the Three Lions Sports Bar &
Restaurant. The proposed dwelling would not adversely impact upon this
neighbouring property.

10.20 To the east of the site is private amenity space, which appears to be associated
with No. 46 Elwyndene Road. The proposed development would retain a
clearance of approximately 10 metres between the rear elevation of the dwelling,
and the eastern boundary of the site. Due to the single-storey nature of the
dwelling, the retained clearance and the presence of a 1.8 metre high close
boarded fence, it is unlikely that the proposed development would introduce any
adverse overbearing, overshadowing or overlooking impacts upon this
neighbouring amenity space.

10.21 The dwelling to the south-east of the site, 38 Stonecross Way, would be situated
approximately 7.6 metres from the proposed dwelling. Whilst the proposed
development would be somewhat visible to this neighbouring property, it is unlikely
to introduce any adverse overbearing, overshadowing or overlooking impacts due
to the single-storey nature of development and existing boundary treatments.

10.22 With regard to the dwelling to the south of the development, the proposed
dwelling would be situated adjacent to private amenity space associated with this
dwelling. Similarly, given the existing 2.7m high brick wall separating the sites and
the single-storey nature of development, it is unlikely that any adverse
overbearing, overshadowing or overlooking impacts would be introduced.

10.23 The host dwelling to the west of the site, 108 High Street, would be situated
approximately 61 metres from the proposed dwelling and therefore it is unlikely
that this dwelling would be adversely affected.

10.24 With regard to bin collection, it is acknowledged that bin storage will be in excess
of the recommended 30m drag distance between storage and collection areas.
However, given that this arrangement has been accepted for other dwellings along
High Street, it would in part, be inconsistent to raise issue with this aspect. It does
however have to be acknowledged that this element carries negative weight to be
applied in the planning balance.

PagB@ge 266



10.25 The scheme is therefore considered to be compliant with Policy H2 of the March
Neighbourhood Plan 2017 and Policies LP2 and LP16 of the Fenland Local Plan
2014 in this regard.

Access and Parking

10.26 Policy H2(d) of the March Neighbourhood Plan 2017 requires development to
include a safe and vehicular access that would not result in severe impacts on the
road network.

10.27 Policy LP15 of the Fenland Local Plan 2014 requires development to provide well
designed, safe and convenient access for all and well-designed car parking in
accordance with Appendix A.

10.28 The submitted site plan indicates the provision of 2 parking spaces and turning
space for both the proposed dwelling and the host dwelling on site. This is
considered to be acceptable.

10.29 The proposed development would utilise the existing access to No. 108, including
the provision of a driveway to the new dwelling. The existing access at its
narrowest point measures approximately 2.9 metres.

10.30 CCC Highways have been consulted on this application and have raised an
objection to the scheme on the basis that the access is not wide enough to allow
two vehicles to pass simultaneously. If approved the Highway Authority have
concerns that “vehicles will have to stop and manoeuvre on the highway to allow
others vehicles entering/leaving the property. This would likely therefore lead to
the determent of safety for users of the highway and highways safety”.

10.31 The applicant has submitted a statement in response to these comments,
essentially highlighting the number of similar constrained accesses in the vicinity
as well as planning permission which have been granted. These permissions
appear to be based on somewhat historic decisions, pre-dating the current local
plan. Notwithstanding this, each application should be considered on its own
merits, it is considered that allowing further potentially unsafe accesses to
proliferate in this location is not acceptable, especially given the highway
authority’s concerns regarding this proposal.

10.32 As such, the intensification of the narrow access through the provision of an
additional dwelling would exacerbate the potential for conflict between vehicles
using the access. As such, the application has failed to demonstrate that it is able
to provide convenient and safe access for the proposed dwelling and is therefore
considered contrary to Policy H2(d) of the March Neighbourhood Plan 2017 and
Policy LP15 of the Fenland Local Plan 2014.

Flood Risk

10.33 The proposal is located within Flood Zone 1 and issues of surface water disposal
will be considered under Building Regulations

Ecology and Trees
10.34 The application is accompanied by a Preliminary Ecological Appraisal Report. The

report concludes that the habitats on site are of low conservation value and that
no further surveys are required. Mitigation measures are suggested which could

PagBage 267



be conditioned should permission be granted. Consultation was undertaken with
the FDC Ecology Officer who raised no objections to the application, subject to
suggested informatives and a condition requiring biodiversity enhancement.

10.35 Consultation was also undertaken with the FDC Tree Officer who confirmed that
the proposed development could be implemented without detriment to the retained
trees, however this would be subject to pre commencement conditions should
permission be granted to ensure an Arboricultural Impact Assessment and Tree
Protection Plan are submitted and approved by the LPA.

10.36 As such, there are no issues to address with regard to Policy LP19 in this regard.
Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG)

10.37 The Environment Act 2021 requires development proposals to deliver a net gain
in biodiversity following a mitigation hierarchy which is focused on avoiding
ecological harm over minimising, rectifying, reducing and then off-setting. This
approach accords with Local Plan policies LP16 and LP19 which outlines a
primary objective for biodiversity to be conserved or enhanced and provides for
the protection of Protected Species, Priority Species and Priority Habitat.

10.38 There are statutory exemptions, transitional arrangements and requirements
relating to irreplaceable habitat which mean that the biodiversity gain condition
does not always apply. In this instance, one or more of the exemptions /
transitional arrangements are considered to apply and a Biodiversity Gain
Condition is not required to be approved before development is begun because
the nature of the development being self / custom build is exempt from statutory
net gain.

11 CONCLUSIONS

11.1 The application seeks full permission for the erection of one self-build/custom build
dwelling involving demolition of shed within a Conservation Area.

11.2 The Council can demonstrate that the number of permissions for self/custom
builds currently exceeds identified demand. The Council can also demonstrate an
excess of a five-year supply of available housing land. Very limited weight should
therefore be given to these factors when considering the planning balance.

11.3 Whilst the proposed development accords with the settlement hierarchy of Policy
LP3 of the Local Plan, both the unsympathetic design and the subdivision of the
existing curtilage of No. 108, would introduce harm to the setting of the Grade Il
Listed Building and the character of the March Conservation Area. The application
does not include clear or convincing justification to justify the harm introduced, nor
does the development provide any public benefit to outweigh that harm and is
therefore considered to be contrary to Policy H2 of the March Neighbourhood Plan
2017, Policies LP16 and LP18 of the Fenland Local Plan and Paragraphs 213 and
215 of the NPPF.

11.4 In addition to the above, the proposed utilisation of the existing access is
considered unacceptable due to the increase of traffic proposed and the
narrowness of the existing access road which would result in unacceptable
highway safety impacts. While the development would provide some economic
and social benefits through the delivery of a single dwelling in a largely
sustainable location these would inherently be limited given the scale of

PagB@ge 268



development and would not outweigh the harm identified to heritage and highway
safety. The application is therefore considered to be contrary to Policy H2 of the
March Neighbourhood Plan 2017 and Policy LP15 of the Fenland Local Plan
2014.

12 RECOMMENDATION

12. Refuse; for the following reasons:

1 The application would result in development within the setting of a Grade |l
listed building, 108 High Street, and would result in less than substantial
harm to this setting and the Conservation Area, by virtue of introducing built
form into currently undeveloped open land forming the historic context to the
listed building, separating the Listed Building from its historic curtilage,
without adequate justification, and without any public benefits outweighing
this harm. The linear curtilage of the site is an important historic feature and
its loss would also introduce harm to the character and historic settlement of
the Conservation Area. This harm is exacerbated by the modern design of
the proposed dwelling, which does not seek to respect or reflect the design
of the host Listed Building

As such, if permitted, the development would be contrary to Policy H2 of the
March Neighbourhood Plan 2017, Policy LP16 and LP18 of the Fenland
Local Plan 2014 as well as Paragraphs 213 and 215 of the National
Planning Policy Framework.

2 Policy LP15 of the Fenland Local Plan (2014) requires that developments
provide "well designed, safe and convenient access for all'. The access
drive itself is of limited width, as little as 2.9 metres at the narrowest point.
The increase in traffic proposed as a result of the application, combined with
the narrowness of the access road would result in an access drive that fails
to meet the above requirements of policy H2 of the March Neighbourhood
Plan 2017 or Policy LP15 of the Fenland Local Plan (2014).

PagB@ge 269



g el 1t0 9 7to 11 .
t40m"" ABBEYGATE ™2 o,
S sd000 %% st [~
" LA 1to 10 to o
=. 6
". s fom M (Q‘l
N N ER e F e S L er ouse
| Usher S
) House
' Coutt lo © L s
Confer Post | Plac [l e
Centre - gg, Pine Forest
oo The Firs  Holly Tree
© : I
» L = Little Firs L] é
| . ilverbirch D
4.0m "‘| ‘\ © 406 I{
S . %9a_ |9 40 |[[38a
S ! 13 5
! Vo 1 3 L
) <> n ]—\
-\—\-'\n‘\wc Orchard E[ o | [l:
N\e\‘ﬂod\stu . Lodge X L
'- Restcot | [ e L
=] | ] [HL o
s m ~_—10 |
- < |18 L4om

Elwyn

Orchard

Created on: 29/04/2025 FIYR25/0328/F N Ferﬂaﬂd
CAMBRIDGESHIRE
ﬁgh?sggoz‘%nocrgﬁz:ggtg:ri:; zaob;zs;ws Scale = 1:1,250 Fenland District Council

PagPage 270



Created on: 29/04/2025 FIYR25I0328/F = Fel’ﬂaﬂd

CAMBRIDGESHIRE

© Crown Copyright and database .
rights 2025 Ordnance Survey 10023778 Scale = 1:1,250 Fenland District Council

PagPage 271



z
g

100)say

Page 272



€0/ 19201LH SR
s T (oz:1) (001:1) (o01:1)
— 80L°ON OL S3LVO M3N (Q3HSNOW3Q 38 OL Q3HS) (Q3HSNOW3Q 38 OL Q3HS)
e hisl NOILYAIT3 ¥V3d ONILSIX3 NOILYATI3 SH1 ONILSIX3

S2US3S }9841S

pasodold % bunsix3
d16 Gl3d ‘sqwo)d _— T —
YoUDW T
1294 UBIH 8oL o O oo |
S9ZDN |yl
OO T IN (00L:1) (ooL:1)
(Q3IHSNOW3A 38 OL Q3HS) (Q3HSINOW3a 39 0L Aa3Hs)
pr—— = NOILYA313 LNO¥4 ONILSIX3 NV1d 300714 ONNOYS ONILSIXI
® e
Buipiing
1510 puekios " ?
—— e G139
497099 ¥SE| ©4 i Yoy
prs wnony uosies |
f BEENENT MILONLSENLTENG (0g:1)
(Q3HSMONW3A 39 0L 3ON34) a3Hs
NOILVAI T3 3ON34 ¥v3y ONILSIX3
o oS
TZ0Z 8av SINGNNDD SEanNvia | v |

(00z:1)
INIOS 13FYLS 03S040¥d

oolA0] [ooUoo|l | oUDUO] Uo oolUon|l [E2UC]o
JIvi3a 31vo Amwmﬁ}vﬁ d3s0d0ydd =—p—p—0p— _— D D D D D Djm _H_ [l _H_ [J

L/p01 O

SOLOHd 3N3JS 13341S ONILSIX3

(05:1)
TVL3a 3ONIH ¥ISWIL
HOIH W8 | Q3SOdodd

(002:1)
3IN3OS 13FYLS ONILSIXI

57 pus
U} A9 painbai S0 (9BHN o)
SOk B4y Jo Suojoadsu; a6l

SlenopINUDL 6L L1 89UBP
paindeid ‘paiols ‘palpuDy aq o}

/vo1

“ci0oubU3 5
Jnoum Bujou aBuoyy o anop U
ajoyn ) Jo pod Uy paony

pup sBumo.g Apadasd i
IPH % UOLOW Aq paibdesd sl

Page 103

Page 273




"0/ 19201H SR
g e
o pr—

upb|d4 400|4

punois pasodoid

d16 Sl3d ‘squod
YoUDW

yoa4S UbiH 801
9ZDW B8y]

DD P IN

. Em,_..:.E..,_am?a_sm
Spieiy uBisoq

R TE

e
#5#53 4210 9L onueny uopion |

REENONT MRS ENLTINGD

ava SNOISIAZY

S20z 8N SINGWWOD SINAMD | ¥

Jaaubu3 iy o} piomiay
PuB 310011e> UoRaIdWo UIIG0 03 SI PUD SuONINGaY

BUIPIING au) Aq paunbes so (JEHN o) 008 aU Ad
SO BU} Jo SUOKIRdSUL BBUDLID & S| JB3BAUGD Ayl

“SUOIYDPUBLILO98) JUaLIND
S16JNIPINUDL 6UY LM G3UDPIOSID Ul PBXI) JO POST PUD
paindeid ‘paioys ‘PalpUDY 2q 0} Siouajow pup syanpaid iy

“SJow 03 Jo_S@ *230udo:

Jo Uy paols osodNd aU) Jo) SIDING PUD BXIOM SLp
o} Sjoudoddo paopuiS Bl Jo 99 O} 91D Aauy payoads
Ay 10U 210 chysudwpion pUD S1anpod ‘SIDLSIOW SIS

“ciaoupU3

Jnoum Bujou aBuoyy o anop U
“uojssjuiied usy

ajoym uy Jo pod uy pacnpoudas oq

0 o subp
o SEum Kustend i s pe Bunimsuo)
10173 Uovion R pasodeid SSLMEIS 10 o Iubucdes

(001:1)

NV1d 4008 Q3S0d0Odd

(05:1)
NYId 80074 ANNO¥D d3SOJ0yd

L NOILYAT3

, <

|

715 S SRR

~———00L—f=}

? S NOWVAFT3
9 NOILYAZT3 .HV

18Mviodds AR
INENE 50T

Au 7| NolvAZ13

4
o]
001 1—=t

¢ NOOY(38

T

€ NOILVAZT3

Page 104

Page 274




suoljpAs|3 pasodoiyd

d16 Sl3d ‘squo)d
YoUDW

yoa4S UbiH 801
9ZDW B8y]

MDD 1IN

PEmE——"
spiemy ubisoq
j Buipiing

e V8 GL3d

3] o
#5#53 4210 9L onueny uopion |

REENONT MRS ENLTINGD

ava SNOISIAZY
5202 a9V SINGWNOO SINAMD |
S20Z M SINIWNOD SNV | B
5202 HaY SINGWWOD SHINNYTd | O

Jaaubu3 iy o} piomiay
2 uonaidwios wiGe o3 SipuS SuonDInSy

“SUOIYDPUBLILO98) JUaLIND
S16JNIPINUDL 6UY LM G3UDPIOSID Ul PBXI) JO POST PUD
paindeid ‘paioys ‘PalpUDY 2q 0} Siouajow pup syanpaid iy

“©UOW D3 Jo S@ *ejoudoiddo

Pup_SBUmMDIP S} Wiol} paLISjuL 3q 0} Alqoucspas

o U paiols ssodind au) Jo} SIDING PUD SXIOM B
o} Sjoudoddo paopuiS Bl Jo 99 O} 91D Aauy payoads
Ay 10U 210 chysudwpion pUD S1anpod ‘SIDLSIOW SIS

‘sSpMIBLY Pajp}s SSSUN WL | D SUGUBLUP [ly MED
QN0 Uy Ji '8[D3% J0U O ‘PaapI0 D S|DLEIOW Jo SHDIE
’iom 910/39 2YS UO SUGISUSWIP D IRUD O} IOIPDIUSY
“ssaoupu:

Jnoum Bujou aBuoyy o fanop U
“Uojssjuied USUM JiBty oL

aoyn uy Jo pod uy pacnpodas oq jou Aow suBiSap
pup sBump.g Apadid Jau S| payLE Bupnsue)

b % UCLOW AQ pe.odesd SBUMD. Uo ubuAdod

o
20/1920 ﬁm,é _— (0s:1)
(¥ NOILVAT3)
py— NOILYAT13 SH1 d3S0doyd

WNNNINATY 1SVYO MOV18 : S3dIdNMOQ ANV Sd31LNO
OAdN AV3YD = AY3NIOP
S3TL 3IVIS/STTL JIVLITOAOLOHd : 400

44N8 3INJNOGNVD 3INOLS ANV MO8 TVNOILAVHL - STIVM

STIVIS3LVIN

(os:1)
(€ NOILYATT3)
NOILVAT3 ¥v3¥ J3S0d0yd

(0s:1)
(2 NOILYAT13)
NOILVAZT3 SHY (03S0d0¥d

(ooL:1)
(9 NOILVAT3)
NOILVAT13 03S0d0¥d

(001:1)
(S NOILVAI3)
NOILVAF13 03S0d0¥d

SSVI0 QALSON SSV19 QALSONA

(0G:1)
(1 NOLLYAT3)

NOILVAIT3 INO¥4 03S0d0dd

oniaavD
3 SvIon

oNIIaYTD
U4 sv1onod

3n4 aanane
207 HOVIE:

Page 275

Page 105



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 283



This page is intentionally left blank



Morton & Hall Consulting Limited

Consulting Structural Engineers & Building Design

Email: info@mortonandhall.co.uk Website: www.mortonandhall.co.uk

Your ref:

Our ref:
Date:

1.0

2.0

3.0

4.0

5.0

6.0

H10261/MH/mh
27 March 2025

DESIGN & ACCESS STATEMENT and HERITAGE STATEMENT

FOR PROPOSED RESIDENTIAL DWELLING
WITHIN THE GROUNDS OF A GRADE II LISTED BUILDING
THE MAZE, 108 HIGH STREET, MARCH
CAMBS, PE15 9LP
INTRODUCTION
It is proposed to submit a Full Planning Application to Fenland District

Council for the erection of a single storey dwelling within the grounds of 108
High Street, March.

Documents with the application include a Heritage Statement, Biodiversity
Checklist, Design & Access Statement, Ecology Survey, Self Build
Exemption, Flood Map and existing and proposed planning drawings.

FLOOD RISK
This site is located within Flood Zone 1, on the Environment Agency current
flood map.

CONSERVATION AREA/LISTED BUILDING

This site is within the March Conservation Area and within the grounds of a
Grade II Listed Building this being The Maze, 108 High Street, March,
Cambs, PE15 9LP.

VEGETATION
Within the grounds of 108 High Street, there is a Sycamore tree which does
have permission ref F/YR18/0809/TRCA for the crown be reduced by 30%.

This tree is in excess of 10m from the proposed dwelling and therefore an
Arboricultural Report is not required.

There is no other vegetation over the site.

DRAINS/RIVERS
There are no open water courses within the site or open ditches immediately
adjacent the site.

BOUNDARY TREATMENTS
Existing boundary treatments generally comprises of masonry walls
particularly to the south and a fence to the eastern boundary which is to be

1 Gordon Avenue
March
Cambridgeshire
PE15 8AJ

Tel: 01354 655454

V.AT 876 0014 34
Reg: 5525923

Page 293



7.0

8.0

removed and relocated. To the northern boundary a fence/brick wall.

DRAINAGE
The current Environment Agency flood amp does not indicate any annual likelihood of
surface water flooding at this site.

Within the High Street there is an Anglian Water Foul Sewer together with all associated
infrastructure.

Ground conditions at the site are generally March Sands & Gravels which would give
good drainage to rain water soakaways.

A foul water connection would be made towards the eastern side of the site.

ACCESS
Access to this site is via High Street.

There is an existing access which serves this property and reference should be made to
the design drawing for the geometry of the access.

The site at present allows for numbers of vehicles to enter and exit the site in a forward
gear with adequate parking and turning within the site.

This proposal is for a single further dwelling on a site where there could be no further
development and therefore the proposal is to only introduce a single dwelling off this
access.

Parking and turning is shown for the existing property for a minimum of 3 cars.

The proposed property would require 2 car parking spaces with associated turning, which
is shown on the design drawing.

High Street to the front of the site is a 30mph zone.

Where there are existing gates set back from the main road, as a result of this proposal
these will be removed.

Generally, along this section of High Street the ground, pavement and road are generally
level allowing good visibility in both directions.

Boundary treatments comprise of the adjacent property Norland House, which is also a
Grade II Listed building of a brick wall no greater than 0.6m in height. This wall would
need to be maintained as this is a Grade Il Listed building and could not simply be
increased in height which would hamper visibility.

Therefore, the visibility splay to the south would be satisfactory.
The visibility to the north back into March Town Centre, is within the applicants

ownership and is open rail and these can be amended as necessary if required by the
Highway Department.

Page 294



9.0

10.0

11.0

12.0

13.0

Along this section of High Street, there is also a continuous white line indicating the
established access.

It should also be noted that on this side if High Street, this is a relatively wide footpath.

ECOLOGY
An Ecology Report has been undertaken for this site and is attached with the application.

The site would be Biodiversity Net Gain exempt as this would be a self-build proposal.

DEMOLITION
There is an existing outbuilding within the site, which is not original and is to be
demolished as part of the proposal.

A plan and elevations are shown on the existing drawings in this regard.

This is not an original building built with the main Grade II Listed house and has no
historic or architectural merit.

EXISTING SITE
The existing site is set within the built up form of March within March Conservation
Area.

Access to the site is via High Street, which is an established access.
This site to the east, south and west is surrounded by residential development.
To the north there is a Public House car park.

This site has long been established as residential usage with the principal property being
Grade II Listed.

The site already has infrastructure from High Street.

There is a Sycamore tree at the site. However, this would not be affected by the works
and permission is ready been given by Fenland District Council.

The site itself is generally level.

STREET SCENE
This proposal is extremely unlikely to be seen from High Street.

The dwelling is set well back from the High Street, which abuts development at
Elwyndene beyond the east of the site.

This proposal therefore would not affect the character of the Conservation Area when
viewed from High Street.

BIN COLLECTION
At present Fenland District Councils Bin Lorry does not enter the site.

Page 295



14.0

15.0

16.0

This proposal would also mean that the bin lorry would not enter the site.

The proposal would still also the existing and new property to have 3 bins each, with
these wheeled to the entrance on selection bin collection days. There is adequate room
for these to be collected to ensure the bin lorry does not need to enter the site.

This is in line with the current situation at the site.

SITE HISTORY
The following site history was noted on Fenland District Councils Public Access.

F/YR18/0809/TRCA ~ Works to 1No Sycamore tree within a Conservation Area.
Approval was given for the crown to be reduced by 30%.

F/0401/82/LB ~ Demolition of one chimney and re slating of roof at 106 High Street,
March.
This is a 40 year old permission for various works to the Listed
Building.

No other planning history was found on the public access/

AMOUNT OF DEVELOPMENT
This proposal is for a single storey residential dwelling.

No further development of residential dwellings can be made within the site.

FENLANDS CURRENT LOCAL PLAN 2014
Fenlands Current Local Plan was approved in 1014 and is 11 years old.

Within Fenlands Local Plan the following policies would apply.

Policy LP3
Under this policy March is listed as one of the main four market towns where Fenland

District Council wishes for growth.

The proposal would therefore comply with this policy as it is situated within the built up
form of March.

Policy LP16
This policy deals with delivering and protecting high quality environments across the

district.

The proposal in our opinion would not have a detrimental effect on the heritage asset
which is a Grade II Listed building.

There is considerable distance between the single storey proposal dwelling which is less
than 5m in height and the Grade II Listed building.

Page 296



17.0

Although the proposal would be Biodiversity Net Gain exempt due to this being a self-
build, the proposal would allow for bat boxes, bird boxes and owl boxes to enhance
Ecology at the site.

The proposal also has a greater than a third garden area and also leaves a substantial
garden area to the listed building.

There is a single tree on site which is to remain and is in excess of 10m from the proposed
dwelling.

There are no open water bodies immediately adjacent or within the site.

The proposal would not impact the amenity of neighbouring users as to the north of the
site there is a public car park for the Public House, to the east there is a further residential
garden. To the south this is also a garden/property which is Grade II Listed and to the
west there is the existing Grade II Listed building.

This proposal does have a large amount of plot area to garden as well as leaving a
substantial garden to the existing property.

The proposal if approved would be constructed in accordance with Building Regulations
in terms of security measures to assist in deterring crime.

The proposal would also be constructed in accordance with Part M of the Building
Regulations.

About this site there are no landfill or adverse noise from industrial sites.

The proposal is for residential usage which would not have an adverse impact on adjacent
properties.

The proposal is not a riverside setting. However, the proposal will be incorporating
Ecology features.

The proposal would not threaten the operational viability of existing near by or adjoining
businesses, or employment by introducing sensitive residential development into an

industrial area.

The site is already set within the built up form of March surrounded by residential
development.

LAYOUT
The layout of the site is shown on the design drawings.

This proposal is for a single dwelling as no further dwellings could be set within the site.

The proposal then allows for a substantial garden area for the Grade II Listed building to
remain.

Page 297



18.0

19.0

20.0

SUSTAINABILITY
The aim of the site will be to utilise recycled materials as well as renewable recourses
which are likely.

All materials will be sourced locally.

This would include for timber from sustainable forest, utilising locally available
demolition and material to be used for patios, hardstandings, temporary access road and
bases.

The proposal is for a high quality residential development.

ENERGY PERFORMANCE

The dwelling is hoping to achieve an A rating on Energy Performance, giving the high
insulation values for the property which would be in accordance with Building
Regulations and likely to be 10% higher than required.

CHARACTER OF THE AREA
The character of the area is generally built up residential dwellings set within March
Conservation Area.

It should be noted that immediately north of this site there is a Public House with a car
park about the rear of the site and a beer garden beyond the northern boundary.

This has long been established as a Public House.

To the south of this site there is a Grade II Listed Building, Norland House, which does
have further wings situated on the southern boundary and a further one and a half storey
detached outbuilding that were given permission to be converted to residential usage,
towards the central section of the neighbouring site.

Beyond this there is a further Grade II Listed Building which is a Fish and Chip Shop,
which was given permission by Fenland District Council as a Grade II Listed Building to
be further extended about the rear for residential properties which have been built out.

It should be noted that beyond the rear of these line of Grade II Listed Buildings,
residential developments of Elwyndene and Stonecross Way have been allowed, which
are a mixture of single, one and a half and two storey dwellings, which over the years
have slowly been built out towards the line of these listed buildings.

Further to the north of this site, there are also further Grade II Listed buildings where
development has been allowed to the east of these including Former Minstrels Nightclub,
which is a Grade II Listed Building at 30-40 High Street, March, where residential two
storey properties were allowed abutting the Grade II Listed building and a further block
of two and a half storey flats was allowed in the grounds of the Grade Il Listed building.

Immediately to the north of this a further Grade II Listed Building did have a large garden
extending to the east, however a line of residential dwellings has been approved and built
out all in the former grounds of this Grade II Listed building.

Page 298



21.0

NATIONAL PLANNING POLICY FRAMEWORK DECEMBER 2024
The National Planning Policy Framework is in favour of sustainable development.

Paragraph 12 of the NPPF states:

‘The presumption in favour of sustainable development does not change the statutory
status of the development plan as the starting point for decision-making. Where a
planning application conflicts with an up-to-date development plan (including any
neighbourhood plans that form part of the development plan), permission should not
usually be granted. Local planning authorities may take decisions that depart from an
up-to-date development plan, but only if material considerations in a particular case
indicate that the plan should not be followed.’

Fenland’s Local Plan is dated 2014 and is ten years old. The emerging plan is not
approved by the inspectorate.

Paragraph 115 of the NPPF states:

‘In assessing sites that may be allocated for development in plans, or specific applications

for development, it should be ensured that:

a) sustainable transport modes are prioritised taking account of the vision for the site,
the type of development and its location,

b) safe and suitable access to the site can be achieved for all users;

¢) the design of streets, parking areas, other transport elements and the content of
associated standards reflects current national guidance, including the National
Design Guide and the National Model Design Code * ; and

d) any significant impacts from the development on the transport network (in terms of
capacity and congestion), or on highway safety, can be cost effectively mitigated to
an acceptable degree through a vision-led approach.’

Paragraph 127 of the NPPF states:

‘Planning policies and decisions need to reflect changes in the demand for land. They
should be informed by regular reviews of both the land allocated or development plans,
and of land availability. Where the local planning authority considers there to be no
reasonable prospect of an application coming forward for the use allocated in a plan,

a) It should, as part of plan updates, reallocate the land for a more deliverable use that
can help to address identified needs (or if appropriate, deallocate a site which is
undeveloped)

b) In the interim, prior to updating the plan, application for alternative uses on the land
should be supported, where the proposed use would contribute to meeting an unmet
need for development in the area.’

Paragraph 187 of the NPPF advises:

‘Planning policies and decisions should contribute to and enhance the natural and local
environment by:

a) protecting and enhancing valued landscapes
b) recognising the intrinsic character and beauty of the countryside

Page 299



22.0

23.0

24.0

¢) maintaining the character of the undeveloped coast

d) minimising impacts on and providing net gains for biodiversity

e) preventing new and existing development from contributing to, being put at
unacceptable risk from, or being adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of soil,
air, water or noise pollution or land instability

) remediating and mitigating despoiled, degraded, derelict, contaminated and
unstable land, where appropriate.’

HISTORIC ENGLAND LISTING
The Grade II Listed Building was first listed on the 16™°" December 1974.

List entry number is 1287723.

The grid reference for this property is TL41664 96222.
The listing describes the property as a

“House, mid C18 and C19. Narrow gault brick with red brick to quoins, partly obscured
by later render to front wall. Side walls have English bond brickwork. Steeply pitched
roof of Welsh slate and end stacks (rebuilt). L-plan. Two storeys. Raised and moulded
surrounds to three sixteen pane hung sashes. Three similar windows at ground floor and
two doorways. The doorway to right hand has late C18 panelled door. Left hand doorway
has later door but early C19 rectangular fanlight with glazing bars. Kitchen wing at rear.
Inside: Plan of hall and stairbay flanked by two rooms with further room to left hand.
Staircase, c1750, open string of four flights with enriched tapering columns as balusters
and square newels with sunken panels and moulded rail. Three doorways at ground floor
in vound headed arches with raised surrounds and scrolled keyblocks with bead
enrichment. Raised and fielded panelled doors. Original fireplaces also of narrow red
and yellow gault brick.”

WHAT IMPACT WILL THE PROPOSAL ON THE SIGNIFICANCE OF THE
HERITAGE ASSETS AND SETTING EFFECTING BE

The proposal would have minimal effect of the Grade II Listed Building which is set to
the west of the proposal.

This is a substantial listed building which would be unaffected and no works are required
to the building as part of this application.

This proposal is single storey which would not detract from the substantial listed building.

HAS THE PROPOSAL TAKING INTO ACCOUNT THE NATURE OF THE
HERITAGE ASSETS.

The proposal has taken into account the heritage assets by minimising there proposal to
single storey which is clearly significantly different from the Grade II Listed Buildings to
the west of this site, which are two and two and a half storey substantial buildings.

Good quality materials will be utilised as part of this proposal which would be agreed via
a condition.

Page 300



25.0

26.0

27.0

EXISTING HERITAGE ASSETS
The existing heritage assets are in a line of Grade II Listed Buildings to the west of this
site.

This site and the listed buildings are within March Conservation Area.

Beyond the east of this site there are all newer developments of approximately 20 years
in age and 60 years in age.

The proposal would not impact the line of Grade II substantial Listed Buildings as it is
set a considerable distance from the buildings allowing for a substantial garden and
parking area, similar to existing with the existing parking area to the listed building being
maintained as existing, together with the existing gravel areas being maintained as
existing.

The dwelling could even appear subservient to the Grade II Listed Building, although set
a considerable distance away and could be more in keeping with the adjacent Elwyndene
development of the 1960°s/70s.

ADJACENT HERITAGE ASSETS

To the west of this site there are a line of Grade II Listed Buildings which would be 106
High Street which is a Public House, 108 High Street which is part of this proposed site,
110 High Street and 112 High Street with these being Grade II Listed Buildings.

It should be noted that 112 High Street, has been allowed to extend about the rear of the
Grade II Listed Building even attach to the listed building by Fenland District Council.

CONCLUSION
This site is within the built up form of March.

The site complies with Policy LP3 of Fenlands Local Plan as it is set within the growth
town of March.

The site is located all within flood zone 1.

There is no vegetation within 10m of the proposed dwelling.

The property does have greater than a third plot area to garden.

The proposal as well as the existing building would still have adequate parking and
turning for 2 spaces for the proposed dwelling and greater than 3 spaces for the existing
building.

The site benefits from an existing access on to High Street which is a 30mph road.

The proposal is single storey with no overlooking and maintains the character of the listed
building as this is set within a considerable distance from the Grade II Listed Building.

There will be no overshadowing onto neighbouring properties from the proposal, this
being single storey and set well away from adjacent residential properties.

Page 301



The majority of the principal openings are set on the front and rear elevations with limited
openings on each side elevation.

External materials can be agreed via a Condition with the Planning Officer.
A landscaping scheme can also be conditioned if required.

It should be noted that the existing rear grounds of the Grade II Listed Building are
majorly gravel areas and not lawn. Therefore, the proposal is not using garden area.

The proposal is therefore policy compliant.

This proposal does not require any work to the Grade II Listed building or the access to
the Grade II Listed building from High Street.

The proposal leaves a substantial garden area to the Grade 11 Listed Building and parking
area.

The proposal would not be detrimental to the Conservation Area and cannot be seen from
the street scene.

A Heritage Statement is required with this proposal as part of National Planning Policy
Framework, which has been incorporated into this Design & Access Statement.

Page 302



I~

CONSERVATION REFERRAL COMMENTS

Application Ref: F/YR25/0328/F

Address: 108 High Street March Cambridgeshire

DC Case Officer: K Crow

Conservation Officer: S Falco

Date: 03/06/2025

Proposal:
Erect 1x dwelling involving demolition of shed within a Conservation Area

Considerations:

1.

o

Consideration is given to the impact of the proposal on the architectural and
historic interests with special regard paid to the desirability of preserving
listed buildings and their setting or any features of special architectural or
historic interest which it possesses according to the duty in law under S16 of
the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990.

Consideration is given to the impact of this proposal on the character and
appearance of March Conservation Area with special attention paid to the
desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of that area
according to the duty in law under S72 Planning (Listed Buildings and
Conservation Areas) Act 1990.

Consideration is given to the impact of the proposal on the architectural and
historic interests of a Non-Designated Heritage Asset with special regard paid
to the desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any features of
special architectural or historic interest which it possesses.

Comments are made with due regard to Section 16 of the National Planning
Policy Framework, 2023, specifically, paragraphs 201, 203, 205, 206, and 208

A heritage statement has been submitted with the application that just about
meets the requirements of 207 of the NPPF.

Due regard is given to relevant planning history.

Page 303



Comments:

The land proposed to be developed is garden backland within the curtilage of a GII
listed building. As previously mentioned under in comments pertaining to a pre-
application enquiry for residential development proposals under 24/0050/PREAPP,
that such backland development and hiving off from listed building curtilages should
only take place in exceptional circumstances where harm can be robustly justified or
outweighed by strong public benefits.

As can be seen from the early C20 OS map below, the land has formed a long linear
curtilage, likely since the construction of the building. The curtilage has already been
substantially truncated during the mid to late C20 with the construction of modern
estate housing to the rear, as have a number of neighbouring listed buildings.

P A T e A o
‘... 20 4 Proviescas ).y .
it ”wa—r,

\ = A Tz

5

The neighbouring listed buildings no’s 110 and 112 have estate development
enroaching slightly further up the garden than the host property. However, this
proposal would bring this proposed development the furthest incursion in to the
curtilage of all when considered against the adjacent listed buildings.

There is a particaular concern that this proposal will result harm to the setting of the
Listed Building, as well as resulting in a precedent for further development within the
gardens of these listed buildings.

Page 304



Putting aside the negative impact on the setting of the listed building and its
characteritically long linear plot that has been trucated substantially already. The host
listed building is large and is considered to require a suitably proportionate curtilage.
When taking into consideration the amount of garden proposed to be taken for the
new dwelling, as well as a substantial amount taken for the purposes of for an access
driveway, this results in substantial reduction in curtilage and an awkward
development layout.

Whilst the proposal will take up less space the previous pre-app proposal, the impacts
on the remaining historic linear curtilage and setting of this listed building remain
particualrly unacceptable.

Design:

The design of the strcuture considered on its own, is a basic modern bungalow form
with the gables awkwardly dressed in cladding, as a contrived nod to an agricultural
building, but fails to do so. As such, the building design does not seek to respect or
reflect the setting of the host listed building.

Conclusion:

There is strong concern that the proposal substantially erodes what is left of the
historic linear curtilage to the rear of this listed building.

There is also strong concern that carving up the plot with modern fencing to create a
driveway significantly impacts the historic setting of the rear of this listed building
and gives rise to a precendent for similar harmful development proposals for the
adjacent listed buildings.

There is considered to be a medium level of less than substantial harm as a result of
the proposals. Taking para 205 of the NPPF into account — ‘When considering the
impact of a proposed development on the significance of a designated heritage asset,
great weight should be given to the asset’s conservation (and the more important the

Page 305



asset, the greater the weight should be). This is irrespective of whether any potential
harm amounts to substantial harm, total loss or less than substantial harm to its
significance’, the presumption should be for refusal.

Taking para 206 into consideration - Any harm to, or loss of, the significance of a
designated heritage asset (from its alteration or destruction, or from development
within its setting), should require clear and convincing justification. There is no clear
and convincing justification submitted to outweigh the harm as part of this proposal.

Para 207 is not relevant as it related to substantial harm - i.e. entire loss of the
designated heritage asset.

Taking para 208 into account - Where a development proposal will lead to less than
substantial harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm should
be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal including, where appropriate,
securing its optimum viable use.

There are deemed to be no public benefits (only private) to arise as a result of
approving this proposal, making the development contrary to both national and local
planning policy.

There is a strong heritage objection to the principle of any backland residential
development by way of splitting the historic curtilage of this listed building and the
resultant detriment to historic layout and setting.

RECCOMENDATION: Object — Refuse

Page 306



Agenda Iltem 13

Document is Restricted

Page 307



This page is intentionally left blank



	Agenda
	2 Previous Minutes
	5 F/YR25/0149/FDC<br/>2 Broad Street, March<br/>Demolition of existing building and erect a max 2.4m fence in a conservation area
	Officer Report 25-0149  FINAL without signature box
	928072-FDC Location Plan-
	899928-Drawing-EXISTING SITE PLAN
	959125-Drawing-EXISTING FLOOR PLAN
	930082-Drawing-EXISTING ELEVATIONS 
	899935-Drawing-LOCATION PLAN, PROPOSED SITE PLAN AND FENCE ELEVATION
	Sheets and Views
	P100 - Post Demo Plan



	6 F/YR25/0111/O<br/>Land North West of Cobble House, Gull Road, Guyhirn<br/>Erect up to 24 dwellings (outline application with all matters reserved)
	F-YR25-0111-O Committee Report TO MS
	FDC Location Plan
	Indicative Site Plan
	Sheets and Views
	SE-1490-PP1000D - Outline



	7 F/YR25/0473/O<br/>Land South of 4 - 16 Back Road, Gorefield<br/>Erect up to 9 x dwellings (outline application with all matters reserved)
	25 0473 FINAL
	25 0473 FDC Loc Plan
	25 0473 Site Plan
	Sheets and Views
	SE-2055 - SS1000A



	8 F/YR25/0280/VOC<br/>Land North and West of 47 Fridaybridge Road, Elm<br/>Variation of conditions 3 (External Materials and Detailing), 4 (Surface Water Drainage), 5 (Construction Surface Water Run-Off), 9 (External Lighting), 15 (CEMP: Biodiversity), 18 (Hard and Soft Landscaping), 21 (Levels and Cross Sections) and 23 (Approved Plans and Documents) of Planning Permission F/YR21/0339/F (Conversion of existing barns to 2 x two storey dwellings and erection of 8 x two storey dwellings with garaging (and associated works including demolition of existing dwelling)) to allow change in design
	25 0280 Ctte Report FINAL
	25 0280 FDC Loc Plan
	25 0280 Site Plan
	Sheets and Views
	7009-PL04



	9 F/YR25/0156/F<br/>Sharman Fabrications, Gaul Farm, Gaul Road, March<br/>Erect 1 x self-build/custom build dwelling and erect 1 x storage shed involving demolition of existing shed and stable (B2)
	YR25-0156-F committee report aug FINAL kc
	929292-FDC Location Plan-
	916445-Drawing-PROPOSED SITE PLAN
	Sheets and Views
	Model


	916446-Drawing-STREET SCENE
	Sheets and Views
	Model


	916443-Drawing-SHED - PROPOSED ELEVATIONS, FLOOR PLANS AND SECTION
	Sheets and Views
	Model


	916449-Drawing-PROPOSED FLOOR PLANS AND SECTION
	Sheets and Views
	Model


	916450-Drawing-PROPOSED ELEVATIONS
	Sheets and Views
	Model



	10 F/YR24/1000/F<br/>Update on Planning Application F/YR24/1000/F and Relevant Statutory Duties<br/>Land West Of 27 Norfolk Street Accessed From, Morley Way, Wimblington<br/>Erect 5 dwellings with associated garages and the formation of an attenuation pond
	Appendices 1 and 2
	Appendix 1
	24 1000 Ctte Report FINAL
	24 1000 FDC Loc Plan
	24 1000 Site Plans
	Sheets and Views
	A3 Portrait Site Layout


	24 1000 Plot 1
	Sheets and Views
	Model


	24 1000 Plot 2
	Sheets and Views
	Model


	24 1000 Plot 4
	Sheets and Views
	Model


	24 1000 Plot 5
	Sheets and Views
	Model



	24 1000 FDC Loc Plan
	24 1000 Plot 1
	Sheets and Views
	Model


	24 1000 Plot 2
	Sheets and Views
	Model


	24 1000 Plot 4
	Sheets and Views
	Model


	24 1000 Plot 5
	Sheets and Views
	Model


	24 1000 Site Plans
	Sheets and Views
	A3 Portrait Site Layout


	Appendix 2

	Appendix 3-Confidential
	Appendices 4 to 7
	Appendix 4
	Appendix 5
	Appendix 6
	Appendix 7


	11 F/YR25/0328/F<br/>Update on Planning Application F/YR25/0328/F and Relevant Statutory Duties<br/>108 High Street, March<br/>Erect 1 x self-build/custom build dwelling involving demolition of shed within a Conservation Area
	Appendix 1 plus plans
	Appendix 1
	947443-FDC Location Plan-
	947445-FDC Aerial Photo-
	943997-Drawing-LOCATION PLAN; EXISTING AND PROPOSED SITE PLANS
	Sheets and Views
	Model


	943999-Drawing-EXISTING AND PROPOSED STREET SCENE; EXISTING SHED AND PROPOSED FENCING
	Sheets and Views
	Model


	942423-Drawing-PROPOSED FLOOR AND ROOF PLANS
	Sheets and Views
	Model


	944059-Drawing-PROPOSED ELEVATIONS
	Sheets and Views
	Model



	Appendix 2- Confidential
	Appendices 3 and 4
	Appendix 3
	Appendix 4


	13 CONFIDENTIAL: Previous Minutes



